

Government & Education | Economics & Public Finance | Health & Human Services | Nonprofits & Communities

October 18, 2016

Tompkins County Legislature Governor Daniel Tompkins Building 121 East Court Street Ithaca, NY 14850

Dear Members of the Legislature:

CGR (Center for Governmental Research) is pleased to respond to your Request for Proposals: Criminal Justice/Jail Population Trend Needs Assessment. We believe our extensive depth and breadth of knowledge and experience in New York and nationally—dealing with comprehensive criminal justice systems assessments, jail assessments, assessments of alternatives to incarceration, and development of a wide range of options designed to limit the numbers of jail beds needed consistent with public safety—make us eminently qualified to successfully guide Tompkins County through the comprehensive process outlined in the RFP.

We are excited about the opportunity to work in collaboration with you and your colleagues to produce a set of options and recommendations backed by solid, objective analyses that will provide the County with fact-based evidence and implications to shape your decisions about the future of your jail and the criminal justice programs and practices that help shape the jail inmate population.

For your assistance, we provide the following information about our organization:

Proposer Name: CGR (Center for Governmental Research, Inc.)

Main Business Address: 1 South Washington Street, Suite 400

City, State and Zip Code: Rochester, NY 14614

Telephone Number: 585-325-6360

Person Authorizing Proposal: Joseph Stefko, President and CEO

Phone Number and Email of Person Authorizing Proposal: 585-327-7065.

jstefko@cgr.org

Primary Author of Proposal/Project Director: Donald E. Pryor, 585-327-7067, dpryor@cgr.org

Type of Organization: CGR is an independent nonprofit organized under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. We recently celebrated our 100th anniversary. More details about our organization and relevant experience are provided in the proposal and on our website: www.cgr.org.



Included with this transmittal letter is our formal proposal. As requested, our cost/budget proposal has been separately submitted to the County Finance Department's Purchasing Division.

We look forward to the opportunity to discuss our proposal with you in more detail, and hopefully to the opportunity to work closely together on this important project, should we be selected. Thank you very much for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Joseph Stefko

President and CEO



Proposed Criminal Justice/Jail Population Trend Needs Assessment for Tompkins County, NY

October, 2016

Prepared for:

Tompkins County

Prepared by:

Donald Pryor and Peter Nabozny Project Directors



© CGR Inc. 2016 - All Rights Reserved

Table of Contents

Introduction: Background and Context	1
Proposed Project Approach	
Liaison with County	
Interviews with Key Criminal Justice Officials	
Quantitative Analyses	
Final Report and Recommendations	
Project Timeline	7
CGR Qualifications and Experience	
Relevant Criminal Justice Experience	
Kev Project Staff	9



Introduction: Background and Context

CGR (Center for Governmental Research) is pleased to submit this proposal to conduct a needs assessment of the Tompkins County criminal justice system and an assessment of jail inmate population trends and future jail population projections. The proposal is submitted in response to the County's Request for Proposals entitled "Criminal Justice/Jail Population Trend Needs Assessment" issued September 21, 2016.

Tompkins County has demonstrated a historic and continually-evolving commitment to diverting individuals wherever possible from incarceration, having developed an array of preventive and restorative justice programs and alternatives to incarceration (ATI) provided through programs operated by the County and via various community-based organizations. CGR's experience suggests that Tompkins can proudly list itself among leaders in counties of its size in its commitment to ATIs and related efforts to limit the size of its jail inmate population.

Nonetheless, despite such initiatives, the County jail population consistently exceeds the jail's capacity of 82 beds. In response, the State Commission of Correction in 2009 granted Tompkins County a temporary variance allowing an additional 18 beds to be utilized, increasing the total jail capacity to 100. Even with this temporary expanded capacity, limitations created by classification requirements have forced the County to transfer inmates to other jail facilities in the region. In 2015, an average of almost 10 inmates per day—often females—were boarded out to other jails. Boarding-out has cost the County an average of more than \$250,000 annually in recent years.

While acknowledging the County's exemplary track record of support for ATIs and related reform initiatives, the State Commission of Correction has recently directed the County to reduce its daily inmate population to a level that can be routinely accommodated by its 82-bed facility, with no continuing variance, or to expand the jail capacity to meet a larger potential future inmate population. Prior to making any definitive decisions, the County has chosen to undertake the requested assessment of criminal justice practices and jail population trends and future projections.

CGR anticipates that the following are among the key issues to be addressed by the proposed study, based on RFP specifications:

- An overview of criminal justice policies, programs and practices currently in place, and of interactions between the various components of the system, with particular focus on how those programs and practices impact on the jail inmate population;
- Historical analysis of trends in jail census/average daily populations and characteristics of the Tompkins County jail population, including changes over



- time in the numbers and types of jail bookings, sentenced vs. unsentenced population, average length of stay, bail amounts, and types of release;
- Examination of sentenced and unsentenced populations in the jail to identify
 potential ways of facilitating expeditious processing of cases—and to determine if
 other options could be developed or expanded to reduce these populations;
- Review and analysis of the impact of current ATI programs in the County, including recent statistical trends;
- Analysis of historic demographic and crime pattern trends compared with trends in numbers and characteristics of jail inmates over time, and analysis of future population projections and their likely impact on future jail inmate populations, and analysis of jail classification requirements and their impact on boarding-out trends, and the cost and social implications of these boarding-out practices;
- Assessment of the impact of existing and potential future ATI programs and other criminal justice programs and practices on (1) time spent by defendants at various stages in the criminal justice system, including in the jail, and (2) future system and jail staffing, space and costs to the County taxpayers;
- Identification of any opportunities for enhancement of existing alternatives programs and system practices, and/or new programs and practices that may help reduce or limit the size of the jail inmate population in the future;
- Based on information from the above, determination of the impact of existing programs and practices throughout the criminal justice system, and of changing demographics, on the County's jail population to date, and likely in the future.

CGR has extensive experience in New York and nationally addressing issues related to criminal justice, alternatives-to-incarceration, and projected jail population assessments, and will bring that accumulated knowledge and awareness of options to this project to help facilitate County decision-making.

Proposed Project Approach

CGR understands that the primary focus of the proposed project is on assessing the size of the jail facility necessary to meet future needs of the County in the most cost-effective manner possible. To do this, it will be important to assess the jail inmate population in the context of the various policies, practices and decisions made throughout the criminal justice system that ultimately impact on who is jailed, and for how long. Accordingly, CGR will include an assessment of the criminal justice system practices and ATI programs in place within the County, and their past and likely future impact on the jail population. Our proposed approach will involve a combination of



qualitative information, obtained in interview and focus group discussions, and quantitative analysis of empirical data obtained from the jail, courts and ATI programs.

The proposed research methodology outlined below assumes that the County will provide access to the current and historical data needed, in consistent and readily-usable form, as outlined in the County's "Responses to Vendor Questions," and that the County will facilitate the scheduling of and access to those identified to be interviewed by CGR. The proposed project methodology includes the following components:

Liaison with County

It is CGR's experience that projects are most effective and likely to meet clients' needs and expectations if there is a small project oversight committee. This group could serve as a sounding board for CGR to (1) provide advice during the project and address any unanticipated problems that might arise, (2) assure access to the most appropriate stakeholders for interviews and access to key information, and (3) respond to draft CGR materials, including especially the initial draft report. We note in the resolution authorizing this study the provision for appointment of a Jail Variance Committee to provide legislative oversight and policy direction, and it may well be that that committee would carry out this proposed project steering committee role.

We anticipate meeting with the steering committee within the project's first two weeks to (1) flesh out a more detailed work plan and project schedule, (2) agree upon a preliminary list of key contacts to interview, and (3) begin the process of accessing key jail and related criminal justice data needed to begin the analytical process. Additional meetings would be scheduled as needed during the project.

Interviews with Key Criminal Justice Officials

CGR proposes to interview a number of key County policymakers, law enforcement and criminal justice officials to help us understand the interrelationships between system components, and potential improvements in the system going forward, with particular emphasis on how decisions and practices can impact on the future jail population. During the interview discussions, we anticipate addressing issues such as:

- current criminal justice system practices and interactions between system components that may impact on the size and nature of the County's jail population, and how those practices and interactions could be improved to further limit the jail inmate population consistent with community safety;
- the extent to which ATI programs are currently used, and the types of individual and case circumstances under which alternatives are and are not considered for use in the County at the present time;



- assumptions about how much jail time per typical case is actually saved for those who are approved for inclusion and participation in each alternative program;
- areas with the greatest potential for productive change in the operations of existing alternative programs and criminal justice practices that might be beneficial in helping them more efficiently and cost effectively reduce the jail inmate population in the future, and specific suggestions for changes;
- the potential for expanded use of ATI programs and of proposed new initiatives in the County to limit or reduce the jail population in the future.
- using these discussions to request specific data from appropriate officials that would enhance the quantitative data analyses used in other study components.

Among those we would anticipate interviewing would be the following: County Administrator, Chair of the County Legislature, key members of the Legislature's Public Safety Committee, the Sheriff, Jail Administrator, selected members of key law enforcement agencies, Probation Director, selected judges, representatives from ATI programs, the District Attorney, Public Defender, and leaders of relevant County agencies with connections to the jail (e.g., mental health, substance abuse, social services, etc.). We anticipate scheduling a total of up to 30 meetings, including a combination of individual interviews and group discussions. A final list of specific individuals to be interviewed, and a more detailed set of questions to be raised in those discussions, will be finalized in early discussions with the project liaison/steering committee as part of developing the more detailed work plan.

Quantitative Analyses

In addition to analysis of the interplay of decisions made within the various components of the law enforcement and criminal justice systems, and at the cross-sections where those various systems and decisions come together, local programs and practices will be placed in the context of state legislation and regulations affecting local corrections policies and practices. We will review relevant existing laws and regulations, as well as the potential impact of any pending legislation or future proposals under active consideration at the state level.

The important information obtained from key stakeholders and review of state policies and regulations will be compared and interpreted in the context of extensive quantitative analyses. We anticipate analyzing previous reports; historical trend data from the jail, ATI and related programs, and courts; as well as demographic and crime pattern trends over the past several years; and projections for the future, including:

Jail Data - We will analyze data over the past five to ten years, on the numbers and characteristics of the County's jail population. We will assess trends in the numbers of



sentenced and unsentenced jail inmates with different characteristics, such as charges; those in jail on local charges vs. for reasons related to state policies and practices; those detained for how long with various amounts of bail; differences among inmates from different types of courts; cases with mental health or substance abuse issues; release status; and average length of stay. We will meet early in the study with the Sheriff and Jail Administrator to finalize arrangements concerning what data will be readily available, and in what form, for analysis. Trend analyses should shed important light on various criminal justice practices in place in the County and state that impact on the jail, and should yield clues as to possible system/policy and programmatic changes that might be considered for future implementation.

ATI Programs - Assuming the availability of appropriate data, CGR will calculate the annual number of days spent in jail for each of the past several years for those involved in each ATI program—days spent in jail prior to the person being released to an ATI program, as well as any jail time spent in addition to an alternative sentencing court disposition. These total jail days would represent a theoretical potential for additional jail days that could be saved in the future if certain changes could be made in existing ATI programs. We will determine the likelihood of such changes being implemented and estimate the potential impact such changes could have in further reducing jail days in the future.

In addition, we will estimate the number of actual "jail days avoided" as a direct result of each ATI program. These estimates will be applied across the total number of cases in each program each year to determine the estimated number of additional jail days that the County would have experienced had the specific ATI program not been in place. We will also consider, based on such totals, whether expansion of any program to serve more participants could result in further saved jail days in the future. As part of such analyses, we will estimate proportions of inmates in the past who could have been affected, with less resulting jail time spent, had they been eligible for ATI programs had different criteria and program resources been in place. We will suggest what combination of circumstances would need to be in place for such expansions to occur, and the potential probability, costs and benefits of such expansion. In addition, we will estimate the impact of potential additional ATI programs and other planned and potential new initiatives on future jail inmate rates.

Courts and Prosecutor Data - To the extent appropriate data are available, we will analyze trends in the numbers and types of cases prosecuted by the District Attorney's office, and the disposition of those cases. Assuming CGR receives appropriate data, trends in numbers of criminal cases prosecuted, their release status, case dispositions and sentences, including jail time, will be analyzed. To the extent possible, we will determine the amount of time cases remain open prior to disposition, with particular focus on the amounts of time needed to prosecute and reach disposition of cases involving defendants who remain in jail during some or all of the period of time



needed to reach case disposition. These data may provide helpful insights concerning ways in which possible efficiencies and other modifications in overall system policies and practices could impact the jail population in the future.

Demographic and Crime Pattern Trends - To provide perspective to the trends in jail, ATI and court data, and to help forecast likely future trends, we also will undertake analyses of relevant demographic and crime data. Specifically, we will analyze County population trends and future projections, including numbers of residents within various age ranges, with particular focus on changes in the numbers of people within the most and least historically-crime-prone age ranges. In addition, we will examine trends in arrest and conviction data, and correlate those with jail occupancy data to determine the extent to which jail population trends are or are not a function of criminal history patterns, compared with other possible contributing factors.

CGR will integrate the findings from these various research approaches to assess the impact of various factors on past jail census rates, and will use these analyses to develop estimates of how those numbers can be affected in the future under various circumstances and potential changes in policies, programs and practices.

Final Report and Recommendations

CGR's final report will include a summary of the study findings about ATI programs and criminal justice practices, with particular emphasis on their implications for the number of jail cells likely to be needed in the future. Findings, implications and specific recommendations will focus on what can be done to limit the number of jail cells necessary to meet current and projected future needs in Tompkins County, comparing likely trends in five-year intervals if current programs and practices remain in effect with projected jail inmate trends over those same intervals if potential and recommended program, policy and practice changes are put into effect.

The report will discuss ways to make ATI programs and overall criminal justice system practices more cost effective and efficient, consistent with public safety assurances. Recommendations will include the possible need for, and value of, adding new alternatives and/or expanding existing programs. The report will discuss the likely implications of implementing, or not implementing, specific recommendations.

The potential impact will also be discussed of implementing various community-based initiatives such as additional substance abuse rehab beds, an acute detox facility, re-entry programs, new initiatives to enroll former inmates in local colleges, limits on the use of bail, and other possible community initiatives. Any possible changes in the purpose and mission of the jail, and any related implications, will also be addressed.



The report and its recommendations will pay particular attention to such key issues as space, staffing and cost implications of any new or expanded programs or practices. In addition to the summary written report, CGR will make presentations of the findings and implications to the Legislature's Jail Study Committee and full Legislature.

Project Timeline

CGR is available to begin the project as of the estimated start date of December 1. We estimate that the project will be completed, including final report, within no more than six months from project startup. A detailed work plan will be developed and discussed with the project steering committee within the first two weeks of project startup.

CGR Qualifications and Experience

CGR is an independent, nonpartisan nonprofit organized under section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Founded in 1915, CGR has just celebrated its 100th year of experience as an award-winning provider of research and analysis. We inform and empower leaders through fact-based, objective third-party research and analysis, and practical recommendations. Our breadth of experience and reputation for independence make us a trusted and valuable resource.

We offer targeted research and analysis designed to identify practical, realistic solutions. We are also skilled at strategic planning and facilitation, helping governments and organizations make informed, rational consensus decisions about complex issues. For more information about CGR and our diverse experience and staff, please check out our website at www.cgr.org.

Relevant Criminal Justice Experience

Selected examples of our relevant criminal justice and needs assessment experience are provided below and on our website.

• Strengthening Criminal and Juvenile Justice Practices in Chemung County. CGR assessed Chemung County's criminal and juvenile justice system practices and their impact on the County jail population. CGR identified seven key strategies involving ATI and other approaches that the County could use to reduce the average jail census by at least 60 inmates per day, saving County taxpayers more than \$1.1 million annually. In addition, we identified nearly \$250,000 in additional savings the County could achieve by changing the way it assigns defense attorneys in Family and criminal courts, along with other improvements across systems. Most of the recommendations were implemented, and the study subsequently



- won the Most Distinguished Research award from the national Governmental Research Association. The study report is appended to our proposal.
- Strengthening Alternatives to Incarceration Programs in Steuben County. This study determined that the costs of incarceration in Steuben were unnecessarily high, in part because of insufficient use of ATI programs and other inefficient system practices. A reduction of at least 30 jail inmates per day and savings to taxpayers of at least \$875,000 a year were the projected impacts of our recommendations. In addition, recommendations were made resulting in net additional revenues, of \$350,000 or more per year through expanded boarding-in of prisoners from other counties and federal prisons. Steuben County used our study to help ensure that the size of a planned new facility would be limited but sufficient to ensure that it would be able to meet local needs for many years in the future, while also generating a source of revenues from boarding in prisoners. The study report is appended.
- Assessment of Alternative to Incarceration Programs in Ontario County. The evaluation focused on the extent to which alternative programs were being effectively used, their impact on the County's jail population, and how they could be used more effectively in the future. Recommendations resulted in streamlining and integrating systems at less cost to County taxpayers, and helped forestall the potential need to expand the local jail in the next few years. Recommended improvements enabled the County to avoid estimated construction costs of about \$2.5 million and to save annual operating costs between \$750,000 and \$900,000.
- Jail Construction Studies in Multiple Counties. During the 1990s when many
 counties were considering building new jails, or expanding existing ones, CGR
 consulted with approximately 15 counties across New York concerning whether
 the additional jail cells were needed or not, and if so, how many. An integral part
 of these assessments involved detailed reviews of alternatives to incarceration, and
 their impact on needed jail cells.
- Assessment of Pretrial Release Practices Across NYS. CGR conducted a threeyear study of pretrial release practices in New York State and nationally. This study was conducted at the request of state and national agencies.
- Incarceration and Recidivism Among Women Offenders. CGR's analyses resulted in recommendations to expand use of alternatives to incarceration, particularly among first-time non-violent offenders, to help reduce the rates of incarceration and recidivism among women in local jails and state prisons.
- Strengthening Police-Community Relations in Rochester. CGR completed a detailed analysis of police-community relations in Rochester. Among its various aspects, the study focused on relationships of the police department with the



courts and District Attorney's office. One component of the study was an analysis of the impact of Drug Court as it relates to the police department's efforts to address drug-related problems in Rochester. The study recommended a variety of new approaches, policies and practices to improve police-community relationships and public safety within the city.

Additional Needs Assessment Studies. In addition to CGR's extensive experience
in criminal and juvenile justice and law enforcement and jail assessments, we have
also conducted numerous other types of countywide and statewide needs
assessments in New York and elsewhere, including such varied topics as public
health comprehensive services, youth services, public nursing homes, mental
health services, and services for those needing independent living supports. For
more details on CGR's portfolio, visit our website at www.cgr.org.

The following references are familiar with CGR's experience and work on two of the above-referenced projects completed in recent years:

Michael Krusen

County of Chemung Deputy County Executive 203 Lake Street, Elmira, NY 14902 607-737-2031 mkrusen@co.chemung.ny.us

Mark Alger

County of Steuben County Manager 3 East Pulteney Square, Bath, NY 14810 607-664-2245 MarkA@co.steuben.ny.us

Key Project Staff

This project would be directed by **Dr. Donald Pryor, CGR Principal** in charge of human services and criminal justice analyses. He will be the liaison with the County, and be involved in the design and oversight of the analyses, conducting key interviews, developing recommendations and the final report, and making presentations. Dr. Pryor is recognized as a national expert on jail needs assessment, ATI and related criminal justice programs. His landmark pretrial diversion evaluation and cost-benefit study was cited by both state and national organizations as a model evaluation. Dr. Pryor was subsequently hired to direct research and consultation for the national Pretrial Services Resource Center (now Pretrial Justice Institute), where for three years he consulted on various criminal justice alternative programs and policies, at local, state and federal levels. He authored numerous national reports, monographs



and articles on practices, policies and research findings related to alternatives to prosecution and to incarceration. Since leaving the Resource Center, Dr. Pryor has conducted numerous criminal justice needs assessments and policy analyses at CGR.

In addition to his extensive statewide and national experience with criminal justice and ATI assessments, he has also directed numerous other evaluations and policy analyses at the local, state and national levels. Four of Don's studies have won annual Most Distinguished Research Awards from the national Governmental Research Association, including the award for the comprehensive assessment of criminal and juvenile justice systems and jail populations in Chemung County. He previously directed research for the national Pretrial Services Resource Center and conducted research for Xerox Corporation and the General Motors Institute. He received his M.S. and Ph.D. degrees in Industrial Psychology from Purdue University.

Peter Nabozny, MPA and CGR Associate Principal, will play a key role in the day-to-day oversight of this project, and will conduct much of the data analyses for the study. Mr. Nabozny joined CGR in 2014 with strong financial management, program development and project management expertise, and a demonstrated ability to evaluate diverse programs in different sectors. He has significant experience evaluating juvenile justice programs, and will apply that expertise to this study. He will also be involved in field work, and will help integrate the findings of the study into the final recommendations and report. Prior to joining CGR, Pete was Assistant Commissioner of Research and Evaluation at New York City's Administration for Children's Services (ACS), the agency responsible for all child welfare, juvenile justice, and early care and education services. He led evaluation efforts for child protective services, preventive services, and juvenile justice programs while there. Mr. Nabozny earned his Masters in public and nonprofit administration at NYU's Robert F. Wagner School of Public Service, and his undergraduate degree from the University of Rochester.

Paul Bishop, MPA and CGR Associate Principal for Government Management and Public Safety, will apply his extensive public safety experience to his key role in doing field work and data analyses for this study, as well as helping craft the project's recommendations. Paul specializes in government efficiency, consolidation and shared services, public safety operations and emergency medical services. Recently he has directed an operational analysis of the Dryden Police Department, an evaluation of law enforcement merger for three communities in Pennsylvania, and an operational analysis of the Watkins Glen Police Department. He was previously the Manager of EMS Education at Monroe Community College for 10 years. His expertise includes program assessment and strategic planning. He earned his B.A. from the University of Rochester and an MPA from the College at Brockport, State University of New York.



COUNTY OF TOMPKINS GENERAL CONDITIONS

AFFIDAVIT OF NON-COLLUSION

NAME OF RESPONDER: Center for Governmental Research, Inc. PHONE NO.: 585-325-6360
BUSINESS ADDRESS: 1 South Washington Street, Suite 400 EMAIL: jstefko@cgr.org
Rochester, NY 14614
I hereby attest that I am the person responsible within my firm for the final decision as to the price(s) and amount of the proposal, or If not, that I have written authorization, enclosed herewith, from that person to make the statements set out below on his/her behalf and on behalf of my company.
I further attest that:
1. The prices in this bid/proposal have been arrived at independently without collusion, consultation, communication, or agreement, for the purpose of restricting competition with any other contractor, responder or potential bidder; and
2. Neither the price(s), nor the amount of this bid/proposal, have been disclosed to any other firm or person who is a responder or potential responder on this project, and will not be so disclosed prior to bid/proposal opening; and
3. No attempt has been made or will be made to solicit, cause or induce any company or person to refrain from responding to this RFB/RFP, or to submit a bid/proposal higher than the proposal of this company, or any
intentionally high or non-competitive bid/proposal or other complementary proposal; and 4. The bid/proposal of my company is made in good faith and not pursuant to any agreement or discussion with, or
inducement from any firm or person to submit a complementary proposal; and
5. My company has not offered or entered into a subcontract or agreement regarding the purchase of materials or services from any other company or person, offerer, promised or paid cash of anything of any value to any company or person, whether in connection with this or any other project, in consideration for an agreement or promise by a company or person to refrain from responding to this RFB/RFP or to submit a complementary bid/proposal on this
6. My company has not accepted or been promised any subcontract or agreement regarding the sale of materials or services to any company or person, and has not been promised or paid cash or anything of value by and company or person, whether in connection with this or any project, in consideration for my company submitting a complementary bid/proposal or agreeing to do so on this project; and have made a diligent inquiry of all members, officers, employees, and agents of my company with responsibilities relating to the preparation, approval or submission of my company's proposal on this project and have been advised by each of them that he or she has not participated in any communication, consultation, discussion, agreement, collusion act or other conduct inconsistent with any statements and representations made in this affidavit.
 By submission of this proposal I certify that I have read, am familiar with, and will comply with any and all segments of these specifications.
The person signing this proposal, under the penalties of perjury, affirms the truth thereof.
Signature & Company Position:
Print Name & Company Position: Joseph Stefko, President and CEO
Company Name: Center for Governmental Research, Inc.
Date Signed 10/11/2016 Federal I.D. Number 16-0754774

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION CLAUSE

During the performance of this agreement, the Contractor hereby agrees as follows:

- (a) The **Contractor** will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of age, creed, race, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, marital status, disability, military status, arrest record, conviction record, and domestic violence victim status. Such action shall be taken with reference, but not be limited, to: recruitment, employment, job assignment, promotion, upgrading, demotion, transfer, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training or retraining, including apprenticeship and on-the-job training.
- (b) The **Contractor** will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has or is bound by a collective bargaining or other agreement or understanding, a notice, to be provided by the State Commissioner for Human Rights, advising such labor union or representative of the contractor's agreement under clauses (a) through (f) hereinafter called "non-discrimination clauses". If the contractor was directed to do so by the contracting agency as part of the bid or negotiation of this contract, the contractor shall request such labor union or representative to furnish him with as written statement that such labor union or representative either will affirmatively cooperate, within the limits of its legal and contractual authority, in the implementation of the policy and provisions of these non-discrimination clauses or that it consents and agrees that recruitment, employment and the terms and conditions of employment under this contract shall be in accordance with the purposes and provisions of these non-discrimination clauses. If such labor union or representative fails or refuses to comply with such a request that it furnish such a statement, the contractor shall promptly notify the State Commission for Human Rights of such failure or refusal.
- (c) The **Contractor** will post and keep posted in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the State Commission for Human Rights setting forth the substance of the provisions of clauses (a) and (b) and such provisions of the State's and local Tompkins County Laws against discrimination as the State Commission for Human Rights shall determine.
- (d) The **Contractor** will state, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the contractor, that all qualified applicants will be afforded equal employment opportunities without discrimination because of race, creed, color or national origin.
- (e) The **Contractor** will comply with the provisions of Sections 291-299 of the Executive Law and the Civil Rights Law, will furnish all information and reports deemed necessary by the State Commission for Human Rights under these non-discrimination clauses and such sections of the Executive Law, and will permit access to his books, records and accounts by the State Commission for Human Rights, the Attorney General and the Industrial Commissioner for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with these non-discrimination clauses and such sections of the Executive Law and Civil Rights Law.
- (f) This contract may be forthwith cancelled, terminated or suspended, in whole or in part, by the contracting agency upon the basis of a finding made by the State Commission for Human Rights that the Contractor may be declared ineligible for future contracts made by or on behalf of the State or a public authority or agency of the State, until he satisfies the State Commission for Human Rights that he has established and is carrying out a program in conformity with the provisions of these non-discrimination clauses. Such finding shall be made by the State Commission for Human Rights after conciliation efforts by the Commission have failed to achieve compliance with these non-discrimination clauses and after a verified complaint has been filed with the Commission, notice thereof has been given to the Contractor and opportunity has been afforded him to be heard publicly before three members of the Commission. Such sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked independently of or in addition to sanctions and remedies otherwise provided by law. The Contractor will include the provisions of clauses (a) through (f) in every subcontract or purchase order in such a manner that such provisions be performed within the State of New York. The Contractor will take such action in enforcing such provisions of such subcontract or purchase order as the contracting agency may direct, including sanctions or remedies for noncompliance. If the Contractor becomes involved in or is threatened with litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the contracting agency, the Contractor shall promptly so notify the Attorney General, requesting him to intervene and protect the interests of the State of New York.

GENERAL CONDITIONS ACCEPTED BY:

Firm:	Center for Governmental Research	
By:	A V	
Date:	10/11/2016	
Гitle:	Joseph Stefko, President and CEO	



CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY) 10/3/2016

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER	CONTACT Tricia Haenle	
First Niagara Risk Management, Inc	PHONE (A/C, No, Ext): (585) 546-3747 FAX (A/C, No): (585) 42	24-2798
777 Canal View Blvd, Suite 100	E-MAIL ADDRESS: Tricia.Haenle@fnrm.com	
	INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE	NAIC #
Rochester NY 14623	INSURER A Harleysville Insurance Company of	33235
INSURED	INSURER B: Harleysville Worcester Insurance	26182
Center for Governmental Research, Inc.	INSURERC Hartford Ins Co/Midwest	37478
1 South Washington St	INSURER D:	
Suite 400	INSURER E :	
Rochester NY 14614	INSURER F:	

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:16-17 Liability REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR LTR		TYPE OF INSURANCE	ADDL SUBR	POLICY NUMBER	POLICY EFF (MM/DD/YYYY)	POLICY EXP (MM/DD/YYYY)	LIMIT	S	
A	х	CLAIMS-MADE X OCCUR					EACH OCCURRENCE DAMAGE TO RENTED PREMISES (Ea occurrence)	\$	1,000,000
				MPA0000035114H	10/1/2016	10/1/2017	MED EXP (Any one person)	\$	20,000
							PERSONAL & ADV INJURY	\$	1,000,000
	GEN	L'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:					GENERAL AGGREGATE	\$	3,000,000
	X	POLICY PRO- JECT LOC			Carlotte Charles Charl		PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG	\$	3,000,000
		OTHER:			- 10 -1270 1177		Employee Benefits	\$	1,000,000
	AUT	OMOBILE LIABILITY					COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT (Ea accident)	\$	1,000,000
A		ANY AUTO		BA00000035114H 10/1/201			BODILY INJURY (Per person)	\$	
^		ALL OWNED SCHEDULED AUTOS	BA00000035114H		10/1/2016	10/1/2017	BODILY INJURY (Per accident)	\$	
	x	HIRED AUTOS X NON-OWNED AUTOS					PROPERTY DAMAGE (Per accident)	\$	
								\$	
	х	UMBRELLA LIAB OCCUR					EACH OCCURRENCE	\$	3,000,000
В		EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE					AGGREGATE	\$	3,000,000
		DED X RETENTION\$ 10,000		СМВ00000035115Н	10/1/2016	10/1/2017		\$	
		RKERS COMPENSATION EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY					X PER OTH- STATUTE ER		
	ANY	PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE CER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?	N/A		() = = - /\		E.L. EACH ACCIDENT	\$	1,000,000
C	(Mar	idatory in NH)		01WECGC1631	12/31/2015	12/31/2016	E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE	\$	1,000,000
	DES	s, describe under CRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below					E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT	\$	1,000,000
A	Pre	ofessional Liability		MPA00000035114H	10/1/2016	10/1/2017	Per Occurrence		1,000,000
							Aggregate		3,000,000
		A DECEMBER OF THE PROPERTY OF							

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)
Proof of Insurance

CERTIFICATE HOLDER	CANCELLATION
Center for Governmental Research, Inc. 1 South Washington St Suite 400	SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.
Rochester, NY 14614	AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
	M. Ponetto / MURENI

© 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

Tompkins County Vendor Responsibility Questionnaire

VENDOR IS: X₁ PRIME CONTRACTOR	□ SUB-CONTRACTOR
IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 16-0754774	WEBSITE ADDRESS: www.cgr.org
VENDOR'S LEGAL BUSINESS NAME:	D/B/A – DOING BUISNESS AS:
Center for Governmental Research, Inc.	(if applicable)
,	
ADDRESS OF PRIMARY PLACE OF BUSINESS:	ADDRESS OF PRIMARY PLACE OF BUSINESS IN NEW YORK
1 South Washington Street, Suite 400	STATE (if different):
Rochester, NY 14614	
Troublester, Training	
TELEPHONE: 585-325-6360	TELEPHONE:
FAX: 888-388-8521	FAX:
AUTHORIZED CONTACT FOR THIS QUESTIONNAIRE:	
NAME: Joseph Stefko	
TITLE: President and CEO	
TELEPHONE: 585-327-7065	
EMAIL: jstefko@cgr.org	
LIST ALL OF THE VENDOR'S PRINCIPLE OWNERS: N/A as	CGR is a 501(c)(3) Not-for-Profit Corporation
NAME:	TITLE:
NAME:	TITLE:
A DETAILED EXPLANATION IS RQUIRED FOR EACH QUESTIC	DN ANSWERED WITH A "YES" AND MUST BE PROVIDED AS
	OU MUST PROVIDE ADEQUATE DETAILS OR DOCUMENTS TO
AID THE COUNTY IN MAKING A DETERMINATION OF VENDO	
TO MATCH THE QUESTION NUMBER.	
	ST FIVE (5) YEARS, ANY OTHER BUSINESS NAME, FEIN, OR ther business name(s), Federal Employer Identification Number(s) or
D/B/A other than those Listed Above? List all o	
	X ₀ NO
	MANAGERIAL OR CONSULTING CAPACITY TO THE VENDOR,
SERVED AS:	HO NOW SERVE OR IN THE PAST ONE (1) YEARS HAVE
a) An elected or appointed public official or officer?	YES NO
	the organization and position elected or appointed to, and dates of
service.	G
b) An officer of any political party organization in Tompki	ns County, whether paid or unpaid? □ YES XNO capacity and the official political position held with applicable service
dates.	capacity and the official political position held with applicable service
3. WITHIN THE PAST FIVE (5) YEARS HAS THE VENDOR	R, ANY INDIVIDUAL(S) SERVING IN A MANAGERIAL OR
	FICER(S), MAJOR STOCKHOLDER(S), AFFILIATE OR ANY
PERSON INVOLVED IN THE BIDDING OR CONTRACT	
2. Been disqualified for cause as a bidder on any permit,	eral authority in connection with a contract or contracting process; license, concession franchise or lease;
3. Entered into an agreement to a voluntary exclusion from	om bidding/contracting;
4. Been subject to an administrative proceeding or civil	action seeking specific performance or restitution in connection with
any local, state, or federal government contract; 5. Been depied an award of a local, state or federal gove	rnment contract, had a contract suspended or had a contract terminated
for non-responsibility; or	minoni contract, nau a contract suspended of had a contract terminated
	pended or terminated for cause prior to the completion of the term of
the contract. □YES XNO	

Been indicted, convicted, received a judgment against them or a grant of immunity for any business related conducting constituting a crime under local, state or federal including but not limited to, fraud, extortion, bribery, racketeering, price-

XNO

fixing, bid collusion or any crime related to truthfulness and/or business conduct?

YES

	 Been issued a citation, notice, violation order, or are pending an administrative hearing or proceeding or determination of violations of:
	1. Federal, state or local health laws, rules or regulations. YES YNO
4.	IN THE PAST THREE (3) YEARS, HAS THE VENDOR OR ITS AFFILIATES HAD ANY CLAIMS, JUDGMENTS, INJUNCTIONS, LIENS, FINES OR PENALTIES SECURED BY ANY GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY? Indicate if this is applicable to the submitting vendor or affiliate. State whether the situation(s) was a claim, judgment, injunction, lien or other with an explanation. Provide the name(s) and address(es) of the agency, the amount of the original and outstanding balance. If any of these items are open, unsatisfied, indicate the status of each item as "open" or "unsatisfied". YES X NO
5.	DURING THE PAST THREE (3) YEARS, HAS THE VENDOR FAILED TO: a) File any returns or pay any applicable federal, state or city taxes? Identify the taxing jurisdiction, type of tax, liability year(s), and tax liability amount the vendor failed to file/pay and the current status of the liability. YES NO
	b) File returns or pay New York State unemployment insurance? Indicate the year(s) the vendor failed to file/pay the insurance and the current status of the liability. X NO
	c) Property Tax Indicate the year(s) the vendor failed to file. YES XNO
6.	HAVE ANY BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS BEEN INITIATED BY OR AGAINST THE VENDOR OR IT'S AFFILIATES WITHIN THE PAST SEVEN (7) YEARS (WHETHER OR NOT CLOSED) OR IS ANY BANKRUPTCY PROCEDDING PENDING BY OR AGAINST THE VENDOR OR IT'S AFFILIATES REGARDLESS OF THE DATE OF FILING? Indicate if this is applicable to the submitting vendor or affiliate. If it is an affiliate, include the affiliate's name and FEIN. Provide the court name, address and docket number. Indicate if the proceedings have been initiated, remain pending, or have been closed. If closed, provide the date closed. YES NO
 7.	IS THE VENDOR CURRENTLY INSOLVENT, ORDOES VENDOR CURRENTLY HAVE REASON TO BELIEVE THAT AN INVOLUNTARY BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING MAY BE BROUGHT AGAINST IT? Provide financial information to support the vendor's current position, for example, Current Ration, Debt Ration, Age of Accounts Payable, Cash Flow and any documents that will provide the agency with an understanding of the vendor's situation. YES YNO
 8.	IN THE PAST FIVE (5) YEARS, HAS THE VENDOR OR ANY AFFILIATES: a) Defaulted or been terminated on, or had its surety called upon to complete any contract (public or private) awarded; Indicate if this is applicable to the submitting vendor or affiliate. Detail the situation(s) that gave rise to the negative action, any corrective action taken by the vendor and the name of the contracting agency. YES X NO

TOMPKINS COUNTY VENDOR RESPONSIBILITY QUESTIONNAIRE

FEIN# 16-0754774

111

CERTIFICATION:

The undersigned: recognizes that this questionnaire is submitted for the express purpose of assisting Tompkins County in making a determination regarding an award of contract or approval of a subcontract; acknowledges that the County may in its discretion, by means which it may choose, verify the truth and accuracy of all statements made herein; acknowledges that intentional submission of false or misleading information may constitute a felony under Penal Law Section 210.40 or a misdemeanor under Penal Law Section 210.35 or Section 210.45, and may also be punishable by a fine and/or imprisonment of up to five years under 18 USC Section 1001 and may result in contract termination; and states that the information submitted in this questionnaire and any attached pages is true, accurate and complete.

The undersigned certifies that he/she:

- Has not altered the content of the questions in the questionnaire in any manner;
- Has read and understands all of the items contained in the questionnaire and any pages attached by the submitting vendor;
- Has supplied full and complete responses to each item therein to the best of his/her knowledge, information and belief:
- Is knowledgeable about submitting vendor's business and operations;
- Understands that Tompkins County will rely on the information supplied in the questionnaire when entering into a contract with the vendor;

 Is under duty to notify the Tompkins County Purchasing Division of any material changes to the vendor's responses.

Name of Business: Center for Governmental Research, Inc.	Signature of XXXXX	VAV
Address: 1 South Washington Street, Suite 400	President and CEO Printed Name of Signator	ry Deseph Stefko
City, State, Zip Rochester, NY 14614	Title	President and CEO

Sworn before me this // day of OCTOBER, 20/6;

Notary Public

SUSAN M. BARNES
Notary Public, State of New York
No. 01BA5063176
Qualified in Monroe County
Commission Expires July 15, 20

SUSAN M BARNES

Signature 10/11/2016

Date

TOMPKINS COUNTY CERTIFICATION OF EXPERIENCE

(THIS FORM MUST BE COMPLETED BY BIDDER)

Joseph Stefko	HEREBY CERTIFY THAT (COMPANY) Center for Governmental
Research, Inc.	PERFORMED THE FOLLOWING WORK WITHIN THE LAST THREE YEARS:
	CONTACT NAME: Sam Teresi, Mayor
ADDRESS: City Hall, 200 East Third Stre	et, Jamestown, NY 14701
TELEPHONE: 716-483-7600	EMAIL: teresi@cityofjamestownny.com
TYPE OF WORK PERFORMED:	stown Police Department and Chautauqua County Sheriff's Office engaged
	I impacts of a plan for consolidated city and county law enforcement functions.
NAME OF BUSINESS: Rochester Institute of	Technology CONTACT NAME: John Klofas, Professor
ADDRESS: 93 Lomb Memorial Drive, Ro	chester, NY 14623
TELEPHONE:585-475-2423	Technology CONTACT NAME: John Klofas, Professor chester, NY 14623 EMAIL: jmkgcj@rit.edu
For the bast severa	al years, CGR has served as the external evaluator for Rochester, NY's Gun Involved
TYPE OF WORK PERFORMED:	inded effort to reduce and prevent shootings and fire-arm related homicide.
NAME OF BUSINESS: Dutchess County	William O'Neil, Deputy County ExecutiveCONTACT NAME:
22 Market Street Poughke	agneig NV 12601
ADDRESS: 22 Warket Street, 1 Sugrike TELEPHONE: 845-486-2000	EMAIL: woneil@dutchessny.gov
	easibility study of merging the Departments of Health and Mental Hygiene within Dutchess
\ <u>\</u>	aseline of current services, including mental health and substance abuse services in the county jail.
NAME OF BUSINESS: CenterStateCEO	CONTACT NAME: Robert Simpson, CEO
ADDRESS: 115 W. Fayette Street, Syra	
TELEPHONE: 315-470-1800	EMAIL: rsimpson@centerstateceo.com
The Onondaga Co	ounty Commission on Local Government Modernization engaged CGR to provide
TYPE OF WORK PERFORMED: analytical and planning assistance for a municipal	al reorganizational effort spanning 36 governments.
NAME OF BUSINESS: Schuyler County	CONTACT NAME: Timothy O'Hearn, County Administrator
ADDRESS: 105 Ninth Street, Unit 37,	
** ** ***	EMAIL: tohearn@co.schuyler.ny.us
	ed to provide a baseline review, review options, and determine the impact
of shared services between Schuyler and Yate	es Counties.

ATTACHMENT A Attach to Tompkins County contracts as of November 2014

Contractor's Representation—Livable Wage Policy

<u>Livable Wage Policy:</u> By policy, Tompkins County must "consider the wage levels and benefits, particularly health care, provided by contractors when awarding bids or negotiating contracts, and to encourage the payment of livable wages whenever practical and reasonable."

Paying the living wage rate to all employees directly involved in providing the contracted County service is not mandatory. However, the attainment of a broadly-applied living wage is a County goal and is therefore an important consideration applied by the County when reviewing contract proposals.

The Current Living Wage: The Living Wage in Tompkins County is computed by the Alternatives Federal Credit Union and is currently \$13.77 per hour if the employer contributes at least half the cost of an employee's health insurance/benefit cost and \$14.34 per hour if the employer does not make such a contribution. The rate will be adjusted again in May 2017.

Requirement of All Contractors: As a part of its proposal or contract representations, a prospective service contractor must advise the County whether it will pay the AFCU livable wage rate to all Covered Employees directly involved in the provision of the contracted service, including employees of any subcontractor engaged to assist in providing the service.

Additionally, contractors are asked to estimate the number of employees who will be directly involved in the provision of the contracted service. If not all employees are going to be paid the Living Wage, contractors are asked to estimate how many full-time, and how many part-time, covered employees will NOT be paid the living wage.

<u>Covered Employees</u> include all full- and part-time employees, other than those Excluded Employees described below, who are directly involved in the provision of the contracted service, including employees of sub-contractors engaged to assist in providing the service.

Excluded Employees are:

- Employees under the age of 18
- Seasonal or temporary employees (90 days or less)
- Employees in a probationary status (90 days or less)
- Those employed in a sheltered or supported work environment
- Employees participating in a limited-duration (90 day) job training program
- Employees participating in an academic work-study or academic internship program
- Volunteers
- Employees participating in mandated welfare-to-work programs
- Employees paid pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement

Contractor's Living Wage Representation
1. Approximately how many Covered Employees, including employees of any subcontractor involved in providing the service, will be involved in the provision of the contracted service? 13
2. Will all Covered Employees, including employees of any subcontractors directly involved in the provision of County services, be paid at least the living wage?
X Yes No
3. If the answer is "No", approximately how many covered employees will NOT be paid at the living wage?
Full-time Part-time
Contractor Name: Center for Governmental Research, Inc.

If you answered "Yes" to the Living Wage Representation and are awarded the County contract, you will be expected to maintain all employees directly involved in the provision of services under this contract at or above the living wage as of the time of execution of the contract for the duration of the contract.

If you answered "No," your response will be among the considerations applied by the County in making its contract award. As a part of contract negotiations, the County may request additional information from you regarding the basis of this response.

BID/PROPOSAL SIGN-OFF SHEET

BID/PROPOSAL TITLE: Criminal Justce/Jail Population Trend Needs Assessment

Please check off and sign for items below and submit this required sheet with your bid/proposal response; the bid/proposal may be rejected if the required documents are not included with the response.

		DONE	INITIALS
1.	Bid/Proposal enclosed	X	X
2.	Non-Collusive Certificate enclosed	X	48
3.	Anti-Discrimination Clause enclosed	X	18
4.	Insurance Binder enclosed	X	185
5.	Vendor Responsibility Form enclosed	X	No.
6.	Bidder Qualification Form enclosed	X	16
7.	Livable Wage Form enclosed	X	(K)
8.	Addenda (if issued) received	X	98
	List Addendum # and dates		
	#1 - 10/12/2016		

By signing below the respondent is certifying that:

- 1. All information provided herein is true and correct to the best of their knowledge.
- 2. The respondent has read and understands the specifications in their entirety and that the response is made in accordance therewith, and;
- 3. The respondent possesses the capabilities, resources, and personnel necessary to provide efficient and successful service to the County, and;
- 4. The respondent will be held responsible for any and all discrepancies, errors, etc. in the discounts or rebates which are discovered during the contract term or up to and including three (3) fiscal years following the County's annual audit.
- 5. The respondent agrees to all terms and conditions as provided within the specifications.

Joseph Stefko	
Name/Title of Authorized Perso	n Submitting Bid
Center for Governmental Re	esearch, Inc.
Firm or Corporation Making Bio	1
1 South Washington Street,	Suite 400, Rochester, NY 14614
Address	
585-327-7065	888-388-8521
Telephone jstefko@cgr.org	Fax
Email Address for Contact Person	on
(Remit to address if different th	an above))
76/	
Signature of Authorized Person	Submitting Bid



STRENGTHENING CRIMINAL **JUSTICE SYSTEM PRACTICES IN** CHEMUNG COUNTY, NY

Prepared for: **Chemung County Executive and Legislature**

Donald E. Pryor **Project Director**

One South Washington Street Suite 400 Rochester, NY 14614 Phone: (585) 325-6360

Fax: (585) 325-2612

100 State Street Suite 930 Albany, NY 12207 Phone: (518) 432-9428 Fax: (518) 432-9489

www.cgr.org

May, 2006

© Copyright CGR Inc. 2006 All Rights Reserved

STRENGTHENING CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM PRACTICES IN CHEMUNG COUNTY, NY

May, 2006

SUMMARY

CGR (Center for Governmental Research Inc.) was hired by Chemung County to assess the County's criminal and juvenile justice system practices, including its alternatives to incarceration (ATI) programs, and to determine their impact on the County's jail and detention populations.

In early 2005, Chemung County jail bookings had reached 10-year highs, and jail overtime costs were escalating. County officials were concerned that the criminal justice system was too fragmented, and in need of better methods for measuring overall performance and outcomes. This report addresses ways to improve the system and to reduce the jail population.

County officials also asked CGR to assess programs initiated in recent years to divert as many young people as possible from extensive involvement in the juvenile justice system. A separate report (An Assessment of the Chemung County, NY, Juvenile Justice System) was also completed in May 2006 to address those issues.

During our investigation, CGR held interviews and group discussions with more than 75 key policymakers and criminal and juvenile justice officials and staff. We also analyzed a wide range of quantitative data from the State, County, courts, jail, Probation, and other areas. We were impressed with the willingness of County staff to share insights and information and found that one of the particular strengths of the County is an interest in exploring new approaches.

Major Conclusions and Recommendations ...

The study resulted in the following major conclusions and recommendations:

Significant, cost-effective reductions in the jail population are achievable. Using seven key strategies, CGR conservatively estimates the County can reduce the daily jail population by an average of at least 60 inmates each day. This reduction equates to 21,900 fewer inmate days annually. A reduction in inmates of this magnitude represents, over the course of a year, a 29% reduction in the average daily jail census from 2005 levels (from 205 to 145).

The table below lists the seven strategies and the estimated reductions associated with each one:

Proposed inmatereduction strategies should reduce the average population in the jail by at least 60 inmates each day, or 21,900 inmate days per year—a 29% reduction from 2005 levels.

Proposed Inmate-Reduction Strategies & Estimated Jail Bed Days Saved

^{*} Strategies 1, 2 and 4 may involve some overlaps with reductions achieved through other strategies; thus ranges are given that reflect potential for duplication.

CGR notes the reductions outlined in the table do not take into account the potential for additional jail bed savings through even more comprehensive implementation of electronic home monitoring, which we recommend occur over time. The table also does not include the potential for jail bed savings that may result from the County's current effort to revamp its Work Order program. We estimate an additional 1-2 jail beds a day, on average,

Implementing the seven strategies could lead to benefits to local taxpayers of more than \$1.1 million a year in added revenues and/or reduced jail expenditures as a result of reducing the average daily jail census by about 60 beds a night.

The County can also save nearly a quarter million dollars by changing the way it assigns defense attorneys in Family Court. Hiring two new defense attorneys, one each in the Public Defender and Public Advocate offices (and a part-time support person for each office), would cost about \$160,600, compared with an estimated \$400,000 in Assigned Counsel Family Court costs that could be eliminated.

- can ultimately be saved as a result of the proposed restructuring of that program.
- ❖ Implementing the seven strategies outlined in the table could lead to benefits to local taxpayers of more than \$1.1 million a year in added revenues and/or reduced jail expenditures. The actual estimated savings depends upon which of the following three options the County decides to pursue:
- 1) Close two or more jail units, for an estimated savings of \$500,000.
- 2) Use two-thirds of the jail beds saved to house inmates from other counties and/or the federal government, at \$80 per inmate per night. An average of 40 additional boarded-in inmates per night throughout the year would generate an estimated \$1,168,000 annually, once the seven strategies were fully implemented.
- 3) Implement a combination of Options #1 and #2 by closing one unit and boarding in 30 additional inmates. Closing the unit would result in a savings of \$250,000, and new board-ins would add estimated revenues of \$876,000. The net result would be a combined taxpayer benefit of \$1,126,000 per year.
 - In addition to the savings outlined, the seven strategies are likely to lead to additional taxpayer benefits resulting from the County not having to hire all of the new corrections staff the State has mandated. The NYS Commission of Correction has ordered the County to create eight new positions to meet State jail standards, based on the jail's existing configuration and population. Three of these positions have already been filled, but it is likely that the requirement for the remaining five would be negated (or at least reduced) depending upon decisions/timeframes regarding the seven suggested strategies. Possible additional savings may accrue from reduced overtime as a result of the reduced jail population.
- ❖ The County can save nearly a quarter million dollars annually by hiring two additional defense attorneys, one each in the Public Defender (PD) and Public Advocate (PA) offices (and a part-time secretary for each office) to represent cases in Family Court that are now represented by Assigned Counsel. The total cost for additional staff would be about \$160,600, compared with the estimated \$400,000 Assigned Counsel Family Court costs that could be eliminated as a result of the proposed PD/PA attorneys.

Other Major Recommendations

In addition to these core conclusions and recommendations, other major recommendations include:

- The County should hire a full-time Criminal Justice System Coordinator to oversee the process of reviewing our report findings and recommendations, establish a process to determine the County's highest priorities, develop a strategic action plan, and monitor implementation of the plan. This person should be in or directly report to the County Executive's office. (Note: CGR recommends in its companion report on the juvenile system that the same person also oversee changes/improvements in that system.)
- The Criminal Justice Council should be reactivated and strengthened, and guide the process for implementing system changes.
- ❖ The District Attorney (DA) should hold discussions with the Public Defender, Public Advocate, County and City Court judges, and representatives of the justice courts to define ways to more effectively expedite cases between lower courts and County Court. The potential for expanding use of Superior Court Informations (SCIs) as an alternative in some cases to Grand Jury Indictments should be part of these discussions.
- The DA should routinely and promptly screen arrest cases in order to: a) expedite case processing, b) establish priorities for prosecution, c) establish guidelines for sentencing (including, where appropriate, expanded use of alternatives to incarceration), and d) reduce the numbers of cases that fail to meet prosecution deadlines.
- The DA should improve communications and training with law enforcement officials about what is needed in arrest documents and evidence in order to ensure that cases meet standards necessary for effective prosecution.
- ❖ DA, PD, and PA internal management systems are inadequate and should be upgraded. Each office should establish improved internal case-tracking and performance evaluation systems. The DA should also hire an office manager to improve office efficiency and more effectively manage the flow of cases in the office. Consideration should be given to adding at least a part-time assistant DA to help with the high volume of cases in City Court.

Reducing jail bed costs requires that PSIs for defendants in custody be expedited, and that courts reduce the time between completion of a PSI report and the sentencing date. CGR suggests 20 days to complete these PSIs and 14 days from PSI completion to sentencing.

- Probation should guarantee completion of pre-sentence investigations (PSIs) within 20 days for defendants in custody. The work should be done by a Probation Officer on a .5 FTE basis.
- Courts should reduce from 24 days to 14 days the time it takes to sentence the average case following completion of a PSI report.
- ❖ Judges should request PSIs only when absolutely required, and when they have legitimate needs to obtain more information before pronouncing sentences. Wherever possible, "short form" or "conditions of Probation" PSI reports should be utilized. PSI reports should explicitly encourage use of ATI sentencing options wherever possible, especially as recommended expansions and modifications of programs are fully implemented.
- There is a wide variation between courts and between judges within the same courts in various practices, case processing times, setting bail, and use of alternatives to incarceration. Courts and judges/justices should examine their practices and consider changes that can be made to strengthen the processing of cases throughout the justice system.
- ❖ Project for Bail (P4B), which functions as the County's pre-trial release program, should remain an independent agency, but it should operate as a formal contract agency with the County, with agreed-upon performance standards against which the agency will be judged on an annual basis. It should be housed in a County facility, and receive additional funding to ensure adequate staff salaries and support systems.
- ❖ P4B should institute a series of changes designed to strengthen the program: a) expansion of the defendant pool considered for release, with fewer automatic exclusions; b) more explicit, less cautious recommendations regarding release; c) greater visibility overall and more visibility in key justice courts; d) a restructuring of staff hours to increase program impact; e) significant improvements in internal management systems (i.e., upgrading computer systems and making them compatible with both the County system and the jail's management information system); and f) periodic review and/or reassessment of defendants who remain in custody.
- * Work Order (WO), an ATI and/or sentencing option that has been a stand-alone program in the County, should become a

Probation program. WO needs to supervise participants better, add more work sites, and take steps to restore the program's credibility. A Probation Officer on a .5 FTE basis should direct WO, splitting time with expediting PSIs for defendants in custody (see above).

- Probation recently instituted a model for its Intensive Supervision Program (ISP) for supervising high-risk offenders that involves two dedicated officers with ISP-only caseloads. This model should be maintained, and should lead to reductions in the sentenced jail inmate population.
- Since the County currently utilizes electronic home monitoring (EHM) with just its juvenile population—and only 51% of the available capacity was used between 2000 and 2005—the unused capacity should be shifted to the adult criminal population. A pilot project should be undertaken, and if successful, EHM should be expanded. This is likely, when fully implemented, to necessitate one additional FTE in Probation.
 - ◆ Staff now providing coordination for Drug Court participants do not have adequate time to expedite initial screening for eligibility or for adequate supervision of all participants. Ideally, Probation should have one full-time officer dedicated to direct case supervision, and the County should urge the State to add one more staff person to the Coordinator function to help facilitate the introduction of the City Drug Court program. More Probation resources may be needed if the new City Drug Court grows significantly.
- ❖ To reduce unnecessary days spent in jail by individuals ultimately admitted to Drug Court, the County must expedite access to treatment. This will likely require putting in place new processes to ensure continuation of Medicaid coverage for those in custody so inmates can be admitted into treatment immediately upon admission to Drug Court.
- Enhanced staffing recommended for ATI programs should be covered through the addition of one new Probation position and reallocation of responsibilities among existing Probation staff, as a result of internal strategic planning and rethinking the Department has been doing concerning caseloads and reallocation of staff resources.

Creating an electronic home monitoring process for adults in the criminal system will lead, CGR believes, to the most significant reductions in jail beds of any of the 7 strategies. A pilot program should be instituted utilizing unused capacity now dedicated to juveniles.

The County and its individual criminal justice agencies and programs should set up much more intentional systems and processes to monitor performance and outcomes, in order to determine the impact of new policies and practices.

Context for Some Key Recommendations

CGR found that the first and easiest step the County can take is to address procedures that are causing people to be detained longer than necessary prior to their release from jail. We found, for example:

- ❖ In a typical week, at least four defendants are remanded to the jail on misdemeanor or violation charges, have no holds, and bail set at \$500 or less − and yet remain in jail an average of 12 days each (totaling 2,500 jail days annually) before ultimately being released.
- There are instances where bail was not set, there were no holds and no subsequent incarceration sentences, and the defendants were ultimately released by court order, yet only after spending months in jail. The cases we identified averaged 80 days in jail.

Other factors have also impacted the jail in recent years:

- ❖ There are disproportionately large numbers of defendants remanded to the jail on misdemeanor and violation charges. If, for example, misdemeanors were remanded to the County jail at the same rate as in neighboring Steuben, the Chemung jail would need to house 53 fewer inmates each night. Analysis shows one fifth of remands to the jail from the City are for minor violation charges.
- ❖ The County is mandated to house state parole violators (at low daily reimbursement of \$35), and their numbers are so high (in 2005, the average was 22 a day) that they are a significant, undesired, costly contributor to the County's jail population.
- Significant income has been earned as a result of dramatically stepping up the amount of "boarding in" of inmates Chemung does for other counties, with boarded-in inmates filling empty cells in staffed units. Board-in revenues grew from less than \$4,000 in 2001 to more than \$400,000 last year.

If misdemeanors were remanded to the County jail at the same rate as in neighboring Steuben, the jail would house 53 fewer inmates a night. Making greater use of appearance tickets in Elmira would further reduce jail admissions, since one fifth of all remands from City Court are for minor violation charges.

Arrests, Jail Admissions & Daily Census Trends

Both County jail admissions and the average daily jail population have grown in recent years at rates that outpaced arrest rates.

CGR conservatively estimates that about 125 defendants a year are released from jail after 45 days due to lack of timely prosecution. If the jail time for these individuals could be cut in half, almost 8 fewer persons would need to be housed in jail every night.

With the exception of 2004, when arrests were up, total felony and misdemeanor arrests in the County have remained relatively stable since 2001. Both jail admissions and the average daily jail population, however, have grown in recent years at rates that outpaced arrest rates. Although most defendants remanded to the jail are released within days, we found the average inmate spends about 25 days per admission in jail including subsequent sentences. Of particular note:

- Cases often sit in jail or remain on court calendars for long periods of time because the DA's office fails to prosecute in a timely fashion.
 - CGR conservatively estimates that about 125 defendants a year are released from jail after 45 days due to lack of timely prosecution. If the jail time for these individuals could be cut in half, almost eight fewer persons would need to be housed in jail every night.
 - ◆ Defense attorneys are often willing to wait, counseling their clients to "sit tight" and spend unsentenced time in jail because it may result in a better outcome, i.e., a better plea agreement and sentence than they would obtain otherwise, or even a dismissal of the case. Thus, the DA and defense attorney, along with the defendant and in many cases the judge, are making decisions that, in essence, "sentence" defendants to "unsentenced" jail time, deemed to meet the needs and best interests of all parties—except, of course, those of the jail and local taxpayers.
- ❖ Pre-sentence investigations, based on available resources in Probation, typically take seven weeks to complete. On average, it takes another 24 days from the time a PSI is completed until a person is sentenced in court. Shortening by 24 days the time an inmate spends in the jail pre-sentence, awaiting PSI completion, and reducing the time between PSI completions and sentencing dates to no more than two weeks, could reduce the jail population by almost 16 inmates every night. Recommending ATIs as part of PSIs more often could further reduce the jail population.
- ❖ Individuals released prior to the disposition of their cases are not generally detained for lengthy periods, but the significant volume of defendants who are detained for even a few days—combined with those who are released but only after one or two months as

Unsentenced Inmates

Unsentenced inmates fueled growth in the average jail population between 2001 and 2005: up by 51%, while the overall daily jail population grew 31%.

Sentenced Inmates

More Chemung residents are sentenced to jail on traffic and violation charges than on felony charges.

Impact of 3 Key System Components

District Attorney's Office

unsentenced inmates—adds up to significant numbers of beds occupied daily, even before factoring in sentenced inmates.

On any given day, two-thirds of the County jail population is typically made up of unsentenced inmates. Indeed, this group of inmates fueled growth in the average jail population between 2001 and 2005. They grew by 51% during this period, while the overall daily jail population grew by 31%.

Of unsentenced inmates in the past three years, 55% were admitted on misdemeanor charges, 28% on pending felony charges, and 18% on a variety of less serious charges such as violations or vehicle and traffic offenses.

Chemung County has significantly higher rates of incarcerating people on misdemeanor and violation charges than neighboring Steuben County. Defendants arrested on misdemeanor charges are more than 2.5 times more likely to be jailed predisposition in Chemung than in Steuben. In Chemung, there are six times more unsentenced defendants in jail on traffic infractions and violation charges than in Steuben.

Sentences are disproportionately meted out to defendants convicted of lesser offenses. Although the vast majority of sentenced inmates are serving time for misdemeanors, only 12% are in jail for felonies, while 22% are sentenced to jail on minor traffic infractions and violation charges. As with unsentenced cases, six times more Chemung residents are sentenced to jail for minor charges than in neighboring Steuben.

Almost a third of all jail *sentences* were ordered in justice courts, while about one-fourth of all unsentenced jail admissions originated in those courts.

Various component parts of the County's criminal justice system play pivotal roles when it comes to impacting the jail population. We highlight three: District Attorney, Defense Counsel and Courts.

Most cases prosecuted by the DA involve Grand Jury Indictments, and only a small fraction are prosecuted using SCIs. The latter involve a collaborative process that is designed to move felony arrest cases more rapidly through the criminal justice system, but Chemung opts for SCIs at a rate that puts it among the lowest of any county in the state. A case handled via SCI in the County takes

one month, while prosecutions involving Grand Jury Indictments take four or more months. Other key findings:

The ratio of dispositions to felony arrests suggests that a growing number of felony arrests are simply not being prosecuted. (Dispositions reflect all cases that were prosecuted, including successful convictions, and cases that were dismissed or resulted in acquittals.) The data suggest both law enforcement agencies and the DA's office may need to strengthen procedures to ensure more "good arrests" that hold up under prosecution.

The proportion of dispositions resulting in convictions declined from about 82% in 2000 to 77% in 2003 and 2004.

- ❖ At the County Court level, the proportion of convictions reached via pleas declined from 95% in 2000 to 79% in 2004. During the same period, more County Court cases went to trial, increasing from 17 in 2000 to 49 in 2004.
- ❖ Cases dismissed at both lower and County Court levels have increased. As recently as 1999, about 10% of all felony arrest dispositions were dismissals. In three of the four most recent years, between 18% and 20% were dismissals.
- Opportunities appear to exist for more extensive use of alternatives to incarceration, especially for misdemeanor and violation charges, to help reduce the jail population.
- CGR found numerous other issues stem from the following:
 - Inadequate initial screening of cases, and inefficient allocation of resources to address prosecutorial needs in a timely way;
 - Poor communications within the DA's office and between DA staff, defense attorneys and police officers;
 - Young assistant DAs learning through on-the-job training with little backup support or guidance;
 - Lack of an effective electronic method for processing and tracking the progress of misdemeanor and violation cases, resulting in heavy reliance on cumbersome paper records and cases getting "lost" in the system.

dispositions resulting in convictions declined from about 82% in 2000 to 77% in 2003 and 2004.

The proportion of

Defense Counsel – PD & PA Offices The PD and PA offices are responsible for cases that qualify for indigent defense coverage. The two provide virtually identical

services but not for the same individuals. For example, when there is one case with two defendants, the PD's office can represent only one, and the PA typically can represent the other.

Although the information that was available was inconsistent, it appears that the PD office defended about 75% of all felony arrests in the County over the past four years, and represented about 60% of all misdemeanors in recent years.

Available data indicate that overall defense costs—impacted since 2004 by both NYS-mandated increases in reimbursement rates for Assigned Counsel (AC) and the opening of the new PA office—have not yet been reduced as a result of having the PA office. Although there are hopeful signs the PA office is beginning to reduce AC criminal costs, the AC Family Court costs continue to escalate. There are no uniform standards for determining eligibility for ACs, and judges often make the determinations based on cursory information. Family Court cases are the major driver of Assigned Counsel costs. While overall AC costs increased by 83% between 2003 and 2004, Family Court AC costs grew by 147%. The latter now cost taxpayers more than \$430,000 a year.

Felony cases represent a relatively small proportion of all cases in the County but the attorney and court staff resources these cases require, their impact on the jail, and their impact on lower courts before they are prosecuted at County Court, are all out of proportion to their numbers. Based on an analysis of all cases filed in the final quarter of 2004:

- The average amount of time between lower court arraignment (where three-quarters of felonies start) and ultimate disposition of a case was more than nine months, and about a quarter of all cases took more than a year. Processing time for defendants in custody was shorter, but averaged seven months.
- For the average case, three months were spent in lower court prior to filing in County Court with 25% of cases staying at the lower court five months or longer. A contributing problem is that multiple courts are covered by assistants in the DA office (as is true for PD/PA offices), which can lead to attorneys not being present at court appearances, in turn leading to adjournments and further delays at lower court levels.

Family Court cases are the major driver of Assigned Counsel costs. More than \$430,000 have been spent on Family Court AC costs in each of the past two years.

Courts

Delays prevent speedy disposition of felony cases, and they are attributable to a variety of systemic issues across all components of the criminal justice system.

- * The time a case remained in a lower court was significantly less if the defendant was in custody, since there is a legal requirement for prosecution to begin within 45 days in such cases. However, many defendants remained in custody right up to, or in some cases beyond, this deadline.
- Once cases do reach (or if they begin in) County Court, it takes, on average, almost six months from filing to sentencing. CGR found: a) significant time differences—an average of 50 calendar days—between judges, b) much of the time is spent awaiting PSIs.

By far the highest volume of criminal cases originates in Elmira City Court. At least 55% of all felony arrests and 70% of all misdemeanor arrests in the County originate in this court. Overall, about 11% of City Court cases (including lesser charges such as violations) remain in custody prior to disposition, and others are released only after being detained for several days on relatively high bail amounts. Judges in City Court usually set relatively low bail amounts, but also frequently set bail at the high end. About 35% of unsentenced inmates from City Court have either no bail set or bail amounts of \$5,000 to \$10,000 or more.

Jail sentences outnumber probation sentences in City Court by 3.6 to 1, suggesting relatively few viable sentencing ATI options available to City Court judges in the past. This should begin to change if the report's recommendations are fully implemented.

In recent years, City Court judges have been processing and disposing of cases more rapidly than in the past, particularly for defendants in custody.

There is wide variation in justice court practices, but in the aggregate, felony cases initiated in the town/village courts typically take longer than City Court cases to reach County Court for prosecutions; justice courts are also least likely to make use of Project for Bail in making release/custody decisions; and they tend to take more time from PSI completion to sentencing than other courts.

City Court Cases

About 35% of unsentenced inmates from City Court have either no bail set or bail amounts of \$5,000 to \$10,000 or more.

Justice Courts

Specific Impact of ATI Programs and Drug Court on the Jail

ATI programs and the Drug Courts already impact the jail population but some have even greater potential to reduce the average daily jail census in the future. Some key findings, by program:

Project for Bail

P4B is generally well respected and has an enviable failure-to-appear in court rate (less than 5%). If P4B did not exist, we estimate that as many as 56, but more realistically 14 to 28 additional beds, would be needed in the jail every night.

Some judges and justices, however, indicated a willingness to use the program more often if they had more information about P4B release recommendations, which currently are simple assessments of eligibility, often not delivered in person or in writing. Of defendants assessed by the program as "eligible," only about 55% were actually released to P4B by the courts. For justice courts, that percentage was less than 40%.

In 2005 P4B interviewed 55% of all defendants, which was down from 70% in 2004. We believe the program may be missing opportunities to interview more potential candidates, as well as opportunities to safely release some defendants as a result of ignoring relatively frequently the "point scores" from its own assessments—in favor of a more "gut-level" approach to eligibility determinations. With recommended changes, CGR believes the program could help make possible a further reduction of at least five fewer inmates per night within the next year.

Work Order

In recent years Work Order has had minimal impact on reducing the jail population. It has been used about 90% of the time as a sentencing option (i.e., penalty), rather than in lieu of incarceration. Over a recent five-year period only 55% of assigned hours were actually completed. For the same period of time there was considerable erosion in use of the program by County and City Court judges. With recommended changes in the program, it has the potential to help reduce the sentenced jail population by perhaps one or two inmates per night.

ISP

In 2005, 15 of 26 individuals in this program were identified by Probation officials as having been diverted from the County jail. If just under half of them complete the program successfully, the program will have reduced the jail census an average of more than four inmates per day. There is now expanded dedicated focus on ISP caseloads, and it seems reasonable to assume that by 2007, there will be at least nine fewer sentenced inmates in the jail each night as a result, with no added costs to the County.

Drug Courts

An average of 107 days elapsed from the date that incarcerated defendants were initially referred to the Drug Court for consideration, to final admission to treatment. Most of the defendants involved spent that entire time in jail, and were only released when they were formally admitted to treatment.

If proposed changes in the Drug Court screening and admissions process are implemented, it should be possible to save at least 900 jail days per year (2.4 beds per day).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	i
Major Conclusions and Recommendations	
Other Major Recommendations	
Context for	
Some Key Recommendations	
Arrests, Jail Admissions & Daily Census Trends	
Unsentenced Inmates	
Sentenced Inmates	
Impact of 3 Key System Components	
District Attorney's Office	
Courts	
City Court Cases	
Justice Courts	
Specific Impact of ATI Programs and Drug Court on the Jail	xiii
Table of Contents	xv
Acknowledgments	XX
Staff Team	
1. Background and Context	
The Context	
Focus of the Study	
Methodology	
2. Changing Arrest Patterns in Chemung County	4
Relatively Stable Overall Arrest Rates	4
More Felony, Fewer Misdemeanor Arrests	4
3. Recent Increases in Jail Population	6
Growth in Inmates Exceeds Arrest Growth Rate	6
Jail Population Far Exceeds Neighboring County with Similar Arrest Patterns	7
Biggest Growth in Unsentenced Population	7
Major Expansion in Boarding-in Inmates	
Growth in Parole Violator Inmates	
Future Options	
Growth in Jail Overtime	
Profile of Inmates Remanded to Jail (Unsentenced Inmates)	
TO THE OF THE HIGGS INCHIDENCE TO SUIL CONSULTED TO THE HIGGS AND	13

	Referral Courts	14
	Bail Amounts	
	Time in Jail Prior to Release	16
	Holds Preventing Release	
	Low-Hanging Fruit: Early Reductions in Jail Population	17
	Few Inmates Are Sentenced to Incarceration	
	Disproportionate Incarceration of Lesser Offenses	19
	Unsentenced Jail Admissions	19
	Sentenced Jail Inmates	
	Sentencing Patterns	
	Key Questions and Observations	22
4	. The Impact of the District Attorney	24
	Prosecution of Felony Arrests	24
	Under-Use of SCIs	
	SCIs Can Significantly Expedite Case Processing Time	26
	Outcomes of Felony Arrest Cases	
	Declining Dispositions and Convictions	
	Declining Sentenced Incarceration Rates for Felony Arrests	29
	Rate of Alternative Sentences Increasing	
	DA Practices	30
	Staffing and Other Resources	30
	Concerns with Management of Office	32
	Inconsistent Communications	33
	Dearth of Consistent Standards, Training and Accountability	34
	Lack of Screening and Strategic Approach to Cases	34
	Outmoded Technology	35
	Too Many Cases "Thrown Out"	36
	45-Day Motions to Release Defendants from Jail	36
	Case Dismissals for Failure to Prosecute	38
	DA-Defense Attorney Working Relationships	39
	Expanded Use of SCIs?	39
	Need for Strengthened Relationship with Law Enforcement Officials	41
	Community Prosecution Program	41
	Key Questions and Observations	42
5	. Costs and Impact of Defense Counsel	44
	Overview of Public Defense Function	44
	Growth in Public Defense Function	
	Full-Time PD Staff Increases, but Remains Below DA Staffing	
	Creation of Public Advocate's Office	
	County Defense and DA Staff Now More Equal	
	Case Volume Appears to be Increasing	
	Overall Defense Costs Un Since New Rates Imposed	50

	Increased Costs Not Yet Offset by PA Office	50
	Family Court Major Contributor to Defense Cost Increases	
	Impact of New Public Advocate Function	52
	Further Investment May be Needed in Public Defense System	
	Investing to Save Significant Dollars	
	Potential Value of Central Screening Function	
	Public Defender-DA Working Relationships	
	Key Questions and Observations	57
6.	Impact of Existing Court Practices	59
	County Court Felony Cases	60
	Long Delays Processing Felony Cases	61
	Jail Custody Cases Expedited	62
	Lengthy Delays in Lower Courts	
	Almost 6 Months to Process Average Case in County Court	
	Issues Affecting Court Delays	64
	Relationship Between Detention and Sentencing	66
	City Court Cases	
	Most Arrests for Misdemeanors and Violations	
	Release/Custody Status	
	Dispositions and Sentences of Cases	
	Time to Disposition of Cases	
	Issues Facing City Court	
	Pre-Sentence Investigations	
	PSIs Increasingly for City Court and for Defendants Not in Custody	
	Time Needed to Complete PSIs and Sentences	
	PSIs Expedited for Defendants in Custody	
	Potential for Saving Jail Days	
	Justice Courts	
	Key Questions and Observations	
	Impact of Alternatives to Incarceration Programs	
O	verall Probation Perspective	80
P	roject for Bail	83
	Impact of P4B on Court Decisions	85

Judicial Acceptance of P4B Recommendation	ons 86
Significant Differences by Court and Judge	88
Program Success Rates	
Relatively "Safe" Releases?	91
,	92
	efendants93
	P4B 93
	4B?93
	lants with History of Non-Compliance and
	94
9 9	
Impact on Jail	
Average Days on Release	
Wide Range of Estimates of Jail Days Save	
Likely Future Impact	
Work Order/Community Service Sente	encing98
Loss of Program Credibility	
Dwindling Program Impact	
Program Impact on Jail	
WO Future Being Planned	101
Intensive Supervision Program	102
Program Size Has Varied	102
Users of ISP in 2005	
Program Impact on Jail	103
Time Spent in Local Jail While on ISP	
Projected Future of ISP Program	
Electronic Home Monitoring	105
Drug Courts	107
County Drug Court	
Program Enrollment	
Program Impact	
Impact on Jail	
Concerns with Drug Court	
City Drug Court	
Key Questions and Observations	
8. Conclusions and Recommendations	
Overall Conclusion	
Recommended Jail Inmate- Reduction Strate	•
Recommended Coordination of Implementati	
District Attorney Recommendations	122

Defense Attorney Recommendations	125
Court Improvement Recommendations	
Pre-Sentence Investigation Recommendations	130
Recommendations Specific to ATI Programs	
Project for Bail	132
Work Order	
Intensive Supervision Program	138
Electronic Home Monitoring	139
Drug Court	140
Summary of Implications of Recommendations for Probation Staffing	142

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

CGR gratefully acknowledges the leadership of the Chemung County Executive Thomas Santulli and the County Legislature in undertaking this important study to strengthen criminal justice system practices in the County. We are also appreciative of the support we received from the Honorable Judith O'Shea, Administrative Judge for the Sixth Judicial District. As a result of their collective leadership, we found widespread support throughout the County and in the locally-based NYS court system for our efforts, which involved not only extensive staff time for interviews, but substantial effort on the part of many individuals to compile data for CGR analyses.

There were many County staff members who put in extra effort to ensure the success of this study. We are deeply indebted to Deputy County Executive Michael Krusen for his support and guidance. We are especially appreciative of the superb logistical support provided by Administrative Assistant Tammy Narde, who also did extensive data gathering work for us at the County Court level.

Other individuals who went the extra measure to assist in data gathering included: Budget & Research Director Steve Hoover; Elmira City Court Clerk Theresa Seeyle; Jail Superintendent Daniel Mandell; Drug Court Coordinator Annette Lagonegro; Project for Bail Director Jodi Stroell and Deputy Director Judy Smith; County Court Clerk John Buturla; Probation Director John Sutton, Senior Probation Officer Eileen Messing and Criminal Court Probation Supervisor Thomas Bruner; District Attorney John Trice; Public Defender Paul Corradini; Public Advocate Richard Rich; and Family Court Clerk Rebecca Kelley.

Thanks also to the many department heads; judges; magistrates; legislators; assistant district and defense attorneys; and other key staff who were so gracious in giving us their time, insights and suggestions for improvements. What we learned from them is incorporated into this report. We were impressed with the suggestions they made and are grateful for their generous contributions.

Staff Team

Donald E. Pryor, CGR's Director of Human Services Analysis, directed this project and wrote the report. Vicki Brown codirected the project, collaborated on much of the field research and analysis, and drafted portions of the report. Kate McCloskey, Sarah Boyce and Jen Syverud made major contributions to the data analyses that were critical to our conclusions.

1. BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

CGR (Center for Governmental Research Inc.) was hired by Chemung County to assess the County's criminal and juvenile justice system practices, including its alternatives to incarceration (ATI) programs, and to determine their impact on the County's jail and detention populations.

The Context

As this study began in 2005, Chemung County jail bookings had reached 10-year highs within the previous two years, and overtime costs of operating the jail had been escalating. At the same time, the County Executive and the Legislature, as well as some of the leading officials of the County's criminal justice system, were expressing frustrations with the status quo, suggesting that the system and many of its component parts were fragmented and not functioning as effectively as they should be in the public's overall best interests. Officials suggested that the various components of the system should be able to work and communicate more effectively and efficiently, and more cost effectively, with better measurable outcomes, than had been the case in recent years.

Although the project's primary emphasis was on finding ways to strengthen and streamline components of the criminal justice system, the County was also interested in addressing issues related to the detention and out-of-home placements of young people involved in the County's juvenile justice system—with a particular focus on assessing the impact of various initiatives designed in recent years to divert as many youth as possible from extensive involvement in that system. For a discussion of those issues, see the separate report entitled *An Assessment of the Chemung County, NY Juvenile Justice System*.

Focus of the Study

At the request of the County, the following key issues were addressed during the criminal justice study discussed in this report:

- A broad overview of criminal justice programs, providers and practices currently in place, and of interactions between the various components of the systems;
- Analysis of recent trends in numbers and characteristics of the Chemung County jail population, including changes in the

- numbers and types of jail bookings, and related costs of jail overtime and jail-related revenues;
- Examination of sentenced and pre-sentenced populations in the jail, and of the processing of cases within the various Justice, City and County Court levels;
- Review and analysis of current Alternatives to Incarceration (ATI) programs operated or funded by the County;
- Determination of the impact of existing programs and practices throughout the criminal justice system on the County's jail population to date, and likely in the future;
- Assessment of the impact of existing programs and practices on (1) time spent by defendants in the justice system, (2) system staffing and other resources, (3) efficiencies within the system, and (4) costs to the system and taxpayers within the County;
- Examination of opportunities for enhancement of existing alternatives programs, and identification of opportunities for new or modified programs and practices for County consideration;
- * Recommendations to build on strengths of the existing system while creating new opportunities to develop more integrated approaches to the provision of criminal justice services that are consistent with the public's needs for public safety and protection provided in the most efficient, cost-effective manner possible.

Among the key questions addressed by the study were the following: Are there opportunities to reduce the future costs to local taxpayers of the jail and other parts of the criminal justice system? At the same time can the County institute strategic changes to improve the functioning and working relationships of the various components of the overall system? CGR views the study as an opportunity for Chemung County to affirm and build on the significant strengths of its existing programs and practices, while identifying strategic, cost-effective improvements to prepare for the needs of the future.

Methodology

CGR's assessment focused on obtaining a clear understanding of the range and impact of criminal justice system practices and programs currently in place within Chemung County. Our approach combined qualitative information, obtained in detailed interviews and group discussions, with quantitative analysis of

- empirical data, obtained from New York State and from the County jail, various other County agencies and programs, and the courts.
- ❖ Much of the information that shaped CGR's understanding of the programs and practices currently in place, and many of the ideas and insights that helped us reach our conclusions recommendations, were derived from extensive interviews and group discussions with more than 75 key policymakers and criminal justice officials. Those interviewed included the County Executive and Deputy County Executive; the Chair of the County Legislature; the Chair of the Legislature's Corrections and Law Enforcement Committee; Supreme, County, Family and City Court judges; 12 magistrates/representatives from the town/ village Justice Courts; the Sheriff (previous and current) and Jail Superintendent; Director of Probation; the District Attorney; the Public Defender and Public Advocate; Court administrators, clerks and other key court officials; Commissioner of Human Services; Director of Community Mental Health Services; Director of Budget and Research; and selected key staff from major agencies, County and City Drug Courts, and alternative programs (including Project for Bail, Work Order/Community Service and Adult Intensive Supervision).
- ❖ A wide range of quantitative data were analyzed from the NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, NYS Commission of Correction, NYS Office of Court Administration, County and City Courts, the County jail, and the various agencies and programs included in the study. Where possible, comparisons were made between Chemung and other counties, and data were compared over several years in order to determine trends and their implications.
- ❖ The analyses of the quantitative/empirical data and of the information obtained in the interviews are summarized in this report. Based on those analyses, CGR developed a series of conclusions, implications and recommendations for the County's consideration. Those conclusions and recommendations are summarized in the report's concluding chapter.

2. CHANGING ARREST PATTERNS IN CHEMUNG COUNTY

In order to put the discussion of criminal justice practices, ATI programs, and jail inmate trends in perspective, it is first important to examine the recent patterns in criminal activity in Chemung County. Since arrests drive what happens in the rest of the criminal justice system, it is instructive to analyze arrest totals for recent years. Table 1 below indicates the number of reported adult arrests in the County from 1999 through 2005.

Table 1: Felony and Misdemeanor Adult Arrests in Chemung County, 1999 - 2005

Year	Total Arrests	Felonies	Misdemeanors
1999	2,643	553	2,090
2000	2,712	635	2,077
2001	2,485	543	1,942
2002	2,520	575	1,945
2003	2,483	573	1,910
2004	2,753	629	2,124
2005	2,499	632	1,867

Source: NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, "Adult Arrests, Chemung County: 1994 – 2005."

Relatively Stable Overall Arrest Rates

Total Chemung arrests remained relatively constant 2001- 2005, except for an increase in 2004. Arrests in most surrounding counties declined during those years.

More Felony, Fewer Misdemeanor Arrests In four of the five years since 2000, the number of arrests in Chemung County averaged about 2,500 annually, with little variation from year to year. The one exception was 2004, when arrests exceeded 2,750, before declining again in 2005 to just under 2,500. The relative stability in arrest patterns was consistent with the pattern of relatively little change statewide (outside New York City) from year to year during that period.

Closer to home, in the four New York counties bordering Chemung (Steuben, Schuyler, Tompkins, Tioga), total arrests during the seven-year period from 1999 – 2005 typically declined, except for an increase in 2005 in Steuben, following years of declining arrests in that county.

Although overall arrest totals have remained relatively stable in Chemung in recent years, there have been shifts in the level of charges. With the exception of 2004, when misdemeanor arrests in Chemung reached a seven-year high before falling back to a

seven-year low in 2005, arrests on misdemeanor charges have consistently declined in Chemung since 1999. This pattern of generally-declining misdemeanor arrests is consistent with misdemeanor arrest profiles in the non-NYC portion of the state, and in Chemung's four contiguous neighbors (except for a 2005 increase in Steuben).

However, felony arrests *increased* in the past two years in Chemung to more than 600 per year, after three years well below 600. In 2005, felonies accounted for 25.3% of all arrests in the County—a 12-year percentage high. This recent increase in felony arrests is consistent with statewide and regional patterns (except for a 2005 decline in Schuyler County). On the other hand, *violent* felony arrests in Chemung have remained stable at about 140 per year, with little year-to-year fluctuation since 2000.

Bottom line: Except for increases in the year 2004, overall arrest rates have remained relatively stable since 2001 in Chemung County, with a pattern of declining misdemeanor arrests, and increases in the past two years in felony arrests. For the most part, felony arrests in Chemung in the past two years have increased at more rapid rates, and recent misdemeanor declines have been at lower rates, than in contiguous counties. We will make reference to these reported arrest rates in subsequent chapters in the context of analyzing the numbers of defendants who wind up before judges with criminal charges and, of those, who wind up in jail.

In 2004, both misdemeanor and felony arrests increased in Chemung. Felony arrests remained high in 2005, while misdemeanors declined to a sevenyear low.

3. RECENT INCREASES IN JAIL POPULATION

Following a reduction in the County's jail population in 2001, the number of annual admissions and the average daily inmate population have both grown since then, outpacing the rate of growth in the annual arrests throughout the County.

Growth in Inmates Exceeds Arrest Growth Rate

As indicated in Table 2 below, the number of jail admissions, and the average daily inmate population (census) both grew as the number of arrests and felony arrests increased between 1999 and 2000, and declined with declining arrests in 2001. However, in 2002 and 2003, as arrests remained relatively constant (and felony arrests increased by about 6%), the number of jail admissions grew by about 11% and the average daily population increased by almost 20%. Both jail population indicators continued to grow as total arrests and felony arrests increased in 2004, but when arrests declined again in 2005 (though *felony* arrests remained virtually unchanged), the average daily jail population continued to increase.

County jail admissions and the average daily jail population have grown at rates that outpace arrest rates.

In 2005, the jail was housing an average of 21 more inmates *each day* than it was just two years earlier, even though the total number of arrests in 2005 and 2003 were nearly identical. *Clearly, since 2001, the jail population has grown faster than the County's arrest rate.* Only the number of *felony* arrests appears to be directly correlated to increases and decreases in the numbers in jail, and even that does not explain the continuing growth in the daily jail population in 2005, when felony arrests remained constant.

Table 2: Chemung County Arrests and Jail Inmate Population, 1999 – 2005

Year	Total	Felony	Jail	Avg. Daily
Tear	Arrests	Arrests	Admissions	Jail Census
1999	2,643	553	2,638	191
2000	2,712	635	2,734	195
2001	2,485	543	2,511	157
2002	2,520	575	2,793	188
2003	2,483	573	2,771	184
2004	2,753	629	3,224	201
2005	2,499	632	3,029	205

Source: Chemung County Jail; NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services. Note: Includes parole violators and boarded-in inmates from other counties.

A further indication of the growth in the jail population in recent years is the fact that as recently as 2001, at no single time during the year did the population on any given day exceed 196. By 2004 and 2005, the *average* daily population throughout the year exceeded the single-day high of just three years earlier, and as many as 242 inmates, the jail's virtual capacity, were housed on a single day during both 2004 and 2005. Moreover, in five separate months during both 2004 and 2005, the jail population *every single day* met or exceeded the one-day high for all of 2001.

Jail Population Far Exceeds Neighboring County with Similar Arrest Patterns

Chemung incarcerates far more inmates per arrest than does Steuben County.

Biggest Growth in Unsentenced Population

Over the past five years, Chemung County has experienced somewhat higher arrest patterns than in neighboring Steuben, yet much higher rates of incarceration. Chemung has averaged about 300 more arrests per year (14% higher than Steuben), and has averaged 590 felony arrests per year, just 1.5% more than the average of 581 in Steuben (though an average of about 28% more violent felony arrests per year). However, during those same five years, Chemung has admitted more than twice as many people into its jail each year than has Steuben. In effect, in each of the past five years, Chemung has incarcerated just over one inmate per each arrest, compared to Steuben County, which has incarcerated about one inmate for every two arrests. The impact of the multiple decisions made throughout the criminal justice system which lead to such booking practices (as discussed in subsequent chapters) is clearly demonstrated each day in the jail: Chemung's average jail population during those five years has averaged about 40 more inmates every day than in Steuben (including Steuben inmates boarded out to other counties). The effect of different levels of charges on incarceration patterns is discussed in more detail later in this chapter.

As shown in Table 3, the increases in the average daily population have been fueled primarily by substantial increases in recent years among the unsentenced inmate population. While the sentenced inmate census has remained relatively stable since 2001 (averaging between 64 and 68 inmates daily each year, except for an increase to 76 in 2004, presumably explained by the increase in both misdemeanor and felony arrests that year), the unsentenced population has increased significantly during that time.

The total average daily population for which the County jail was responsible (including a handful of boarded-out prisoners) grew by Unsentenced inmates account for about 2/3 of the jail's daily population, and are largely responsible for the significant growth in the jail population in recent years.

an average of 48 inmates between 2001 and 2005 (from 157 to 205, a 31% increase). Most of that increase was accounted for by the unsentenced population, which increased by 51% during that same period, from an average of 93 to 140 per day in 2005. Unsentenced inmates represented 59% of the average jail population in 2001; by 2005 that proportion had increased to 68%. In other words, two-thirds of the jail population on any given day are typically awaiting disposition of their cases and have not been convicted or sentenced on the charge that was responsible for their admission into the jail.

Table 3: Chemung County Jail Average Daily Population, 2001 – 2005, by Selected Categories of Jail Inmates

Inmates	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	1st half	Last qtr.
						2005	2005
Total	157	188	184	201	205	212	198
Unsentenced	93	121	118	125	140	143	142
Sentenced	64	68	66	76	64	69	56
State-Ready	2	5	2	2	3	3	3
Parole Violators	12	20	18	16	22	22	22
Boarded-In	0	1	5	7	14	23	8
Boarded-Out	2	4	3	1.5	1	2	0

Source: NYS Commission of Correction Daily Population Count Reporting System.

NOTE: Only selected subsets of categories are included in the table. State-Ready, Parole Violators, and Boarded-In are all subsets included in Unsentenced and Sentenced totals. "Boarded-in" refers to inmates housed by Chemung County at the request of other counties, and is separate from housing provided for federal, state-ready and parole violator inmates. "Boarded-out" refers to inmates housed in other county jails at the request of Chemung County, often due to classification limitations in the local jail. Unsentenced + Sentenced may vary slightly from Total population figures due to rounding errors. The full year of 2005 is included, but segments of the year are also shown to indicate changes from the first half to the latter part of the year.

It is also clear from the data in Table 3 that the average daily jail population was considerably lower toward the end of 2005 than it had been earlier in the year. The unsentenced population did not change, but there were substantial reductions in the numbers of sentenced inmates late in the year. It is not known whether this reduction represents systematic, conscious changes in prosecutorial and/or sentencing decisions and practices, or whether these numbers reflect simply a temporary reduction in sentenced inmates. Data from previous years suggest, however, that the daily jail population does tend historically to be lower

toward the end of the year, prior to increasing again in the next year. Indeed, the average daily population has begun to increase again in the first two months of 2006.

Chemung's growing proportion of unsentenced inmates is also apparent in monthly comparisons with all non-NYC counties in the state. In most months in 2005 and early 2006, two-thirds or more of Chemung's inmates have been unsentenced, with proportions typically similar to or slightly *higher* than the statewide average. Moreover, Chemung's unsentenced inmate proportion each month typically exceeds that of the jails in the four counties which share borders with Chemung.

Major Expansion in Boarding-in Inmates

The jail has increasingly boarded in inmates from other counties, with 7 times more inmate days and revenues in 2005 than in 2002.

As indicated in Table 3, Chemung County has also experienced a significant growth in recent years in the numbers of inmates it houses for other county jails. From less than one a day in 2001, the number has steadily grown to an average of 14 per day in 2005, with an average of 23 during the first half of the year and a single-night high of 46 inmates early in the year. Although the numbers had declined to about 8 per night by the latter part of the year, boarding-in prisoners represented a significant source of revenue for the jail in 2005. As indicated in Table 4 below, the numbers of inmates, boarding-in days, and revenues have all grown dramatically since 2001.

Table 4: Growth in Boarding-In Inmates and Revenues, Chemung County Jail, 2001 - 2005

Year	# of Inmates	# of Days	Revenues
2001	9	53	\$3,981
2002	10	728	\$54,632
2003	123	1,970	\$147,752
2004	214	3,301	\$247,574
2005	186	5,064	\$405,120

Source: Chemung County Jail

The extent to which the County uses its jail as a source of revenue is, to some extent, within its direct control. If it can free up enough cells not otherwise occupied with County inmates, it can then make a conscious decision to market the availability of jail beds to other jurisdictions. Either because of conscious decisions by Chemung officials to reduce the number of board-in inmates, or because of fewer requests, the numbers, as indicated in Table 3,

were substantially lower later in the year than had been the case when demand was high early in 2005.

Growth in Parole Violator Inmates

An average of 22 parole violators were housed in the jail each night in 2005, up from 12 in 2001. The County has no control over the number and length of stay of these state-mandated inmates.

The County makes conscious choices to house inmates from other counties as a source of revenues, at an average of \$80 per night per inmate. However, with less choice, the County has also experienced growth in the numbers of parole violators it houses. As indicated in Table 3, the average daily number of parole violators housed by the jail has varied up and down from year to year, but the average has been consistently higher each year than in 2001. The jail housed 174 such violators in 2005—up from 101 in 2001 and a previous high of 147 in 2004. The County has little say in how parole violation cases are prosecuted, so has little control over how long the inmates awaiting disposition of the cases must stay in the jail. Although these inmates are violators of parole following release from state prisons, increasing numbers of such violators are housed in the local jail awaiting resolution of the violation in the courts (which typically takes several weeks if not months). They can be housed locally even if, as is often the case, there are no local charges accompanying the violation.

These inmates do represent a stream of income for the County—an average of more than \$200,000 each of the past several years (including almost \$275,000 in 2005), but the daily rate paid by the state (\$35) is significantly less than what the County is able to charge other counties, and they are inmates over whom the local jail and criminal justice system have little direct control. Thus these prisoners, who are technically the responsibility of the NYS Division of Correctional Services, represent a mandated, significant, and undesired contributor to the growth in recent years of the County's jail population.

Future Options

If the County were able to find ways to reduce its resident sentenced and unsentenced inmate populations, and to reduce or at least limit the numbers of parole violators in the jail, it would have the option, should it choose and should a significant market exist, to house more prisoners from other counties and/or from federal prisons, at income of \$80 per night. Only an average of six federal prisoners have been housed for limited periods of time by Chemung County in each of the past three years, but the Sheriff's office has maintained connections with federal prison officials in the hopes that significant numbers of federal inmates might be

housed at some point in the future in the Chemung jail. Recommendations concerning expanded boarding-in of federal and other county inmates are discussed later in the report.

Growth in Jail Overtime

Between 2002 and 2005, the jail experienced a dramatic increase in the amount of overtime paid to corrections officers in the jail. Table 5 indicates growth in the number of overtime hours and resulting costs in just three years.

Table 5: Growth in Overtime in County Jail, 2002 - 2005

Year	Overtime Hours	Overtime Costs
2002	24,441	\$435,136
2003	23,922	\$457,012
2004	34,053	\$693,586
2005	39,419	\$841,434

Source: Chemung County Budget Office

The number of jail-related overtime hours increased by almost 15,000 (61%) between 2002 and 2005, and the resulting overtime costs almost doubled. Overtime costs represented 8% of the entire jail expenditures in 2002; by 2005 OT accounted for 16% of the jail's actual costs. And the 2006 budget projects that the costs of jail overtime will continue to grow, to more than \$975,000.

Jail and budget officials indicate that no overtime is needed to cover any additional inmates housed in the jail from other counties. Although boarding-in revenues and overtime costs have been increasing simultaneously in recent years, officials indicate that the additional board-in prisoners have had no impact on driving up overtime costs. Rather, they make the point that the added inmates are absorbed into areas of the jail where no additional staffing is needed, and that the revenues they generate help to offset the added overtime costs that would exist with or without the additional inmates being housed from other counties.

Three new staff positions have recently been created in the jail, and five more have been recommended by the NYS Commission of Correction. No decisions have yet been made about how many of those positions will be created. Jail officials indicate that they believe filling the positions would help to reduce the need for so much overtime in the future. Although that is likely to be true, it also appears from reviewing the categories of overtime hours that

Jail overtime costs have almost doubled since 2002, and now represent 16% of total jail costs.

at least a quarter of the hours would not be affected by hiring additional staff. The major increases in OT hours are in the categories of Illness, Training and "New Post Open." The other largest category of overtime cost is allocated to "Inmate 24-hour coverage." Based on our study, which did not include an analysis of jail staffing patterns, CGR is not in a position to comment on the merits of the recommended additional staff positions, or to say how those might impact on reduced overtime pay in the future. But presumably OT costs related to a new post could be reduced or eliminated if a post or unit of the jail could be closed through reduction in the jail population. We do comment later in the report on allocation of resources within the jail and other programs that could be of value in helping to reduce the jail population, and in the process have an impact on overall jail staffing in the future.

Age, Gender and Race/Ethnicity of Jail Inmates

Descriptive information about inmates was available from the County jail on an annual basis for all new inmates admitted during the course of 2003, 2004 and 2005.¹ Additional information was available, based on extensive analyses of four "snapshots" of the jail population, conducted by CGR with the assistance and cooperation of County jail officials. The snapshots focused on tracking characteristics and dispositions of all inmates admitted to the jail during three representative weeks in March and June 2004 and January 2005, plus a separate snapshot of all inmates currently in the jail (new admissions plus previously-admitted cases) as of a particular day in January 2005. Together these snapshots provided detailed information on 501 sentenced and unsentenced inmates.

The information presented in the remaining sections of this chapter is based on a combination of the 2003 – 2005 annual jail reports as well as the snapshot data. For 2003, 2004 and 2005 combined (with no significant differences from year to year), the following characteristics can be noted about all new admissions to the Chemung jail:

The large majority of all inmates are white, although almost a third are classified by the jail as black, with less than 1% "other." About

¹ "Chemung County Jail Sheriff's Annual Report for the Calendar Years 2003, 2004 and 2005." Other data were obtained from additional reports provided by the jail.

Number of female jail inmates has increased in recent years, from an average of 20/day in 2001 to 30 in 2005, necessitating opening a new unit in the jail.

3% of the inmates during the three years were identified as Hispanic.

- About 18% of the County's jail inmates each year are women. Females account for a slightly higher proportion of the unsentenced population—about 19%—compared with about 15% of all sentenced inmates. Between 2001 and 2003, about 475 women each year were admitted to the jail. In the last two years, almost 600 women were booked into the jail each year. In 2001, there was an average of 20 female inmates per day in the jail; by 2005 that average had increased to 30 for the entire year, and an average of about 36 in the first half of the year (and as many as 48 in one night). This increase has necessitated the addition of a new female unit within the jail, at added personnel and overtime costs.
- Using the jail's age groupings, the following breakdowns have consistently appeared over the past three years:
 - About 13% of the inmates were between the ages of 16 and 18 when admitted.
 - About 43% were between the ages of 19 and 29.
 - A little over 20% were between 30 and 39; each year from 2000 through 2004 there were 600 or more inmates in this age range, but the number dropped below 550 in 2005.
 - About 20% were between 40 and 54. This age group has grown the most in recent years: In 2000, there were 362 in this age range (14% of the total inmates), and by 2005 there were 557 (21% of the total).
 - About 2% were 55 and older.

Profile of Inmates Remanded to Jail (Unsentenced Inmates)

As noted above, on any given day, about two-thirds of the Chemung County jail's population is typically made up of unsentenced inmates (remanded to the jail prior to disposition of their cases, as distinct from those convicted and sentenced to the jail). But over the course of a year, the proportion is even higher. Focusing strictly on the 8,044 new admissions of County residents to the jail during the last three years (2003 - 2005), 87% entered the jail unsentenced, with the other 13% (1,050) entering as a result of jail sentences (not having been incarcerated at the time their cases were disposed of and their sentences determined).

Referral Courts

About 60% of all remands to the jail each year have cases pending in Elmira City Court. Almost a quarter have cases in the justice courts.

Of the almost 7,000 new admissions remanded to the jail (unsentenced) over the past three years, 28% were admitted with pending felony charges, 54.5% were admitted on misdemeanor charges, and 17.5% had various lesser charges, such as violations or vehicle and traffic offenses.

Given the volume of cases coming through the Elmira City Court, it is not surprising that the majority of cases remanded to the jail were initiated in that court. Court data are not presented in the Sheriff's annual jail reports, so data on courts comes from the snapshot sample. Given that the variables in the snapshot data that could be compared directly with full-year data from the jail were very consistent, it seems reasonable to project that the sample data on other variables is representative of what we would have found if we had had access to data for all jail admissions. Thus it seems reasonable to conclude that the 59% of remanded cases in our sample with cases pending in City Court is probably a realistic estimate of the proportion of all unsentenced cases in the jail during a typical year.

Another 18% of the unsentenced cases were remanded from County Court, including some unknown proportion of those who were initially remanded to the jail on a felony charge by a lower court and continued by County Court when the case was subsequently arraigned at that level. The only other courts that remanded significant numbers of defendants to the jail during our snapshot periods were the following justice courts: Southport, 7%; village of Horseheads, 5%; and Big Flats, 4%.

The relatively small number of admissions from the justice courts is consistent with the comments from most of the justices/magistrates interviewed as part of the study who indicated that they remand relatively few defendants to the jail, except in "the most serious cases," cases where a defendant may not have community ties, or where the justice prefers to incarcerate a defendant for a "short period of time to get his attention or to sober him up." Nonetheless, 23% of all remands to the jail have cases pending in the justice courts, even if the numbers from most individual courts have been relatively small. Thus, with an average of more than 2,300 remands involving County residents each year, 23% adds up to a significant number of admissions—about 550 per year (and when additional admissions for jail sentences are added to the

remand numbers, justice courts account for about 670 inmates in the jail per year).²

One-fifth of all remands to the jail from City Court are for minor violation charges.

Bail Amounts

Defendants were detained without bail in 27% of the remanded cases, but most bails are set at \$500 or less. Some courts frequently set relatively high bail or no bail.

Of those cases remanded to jail on violation and vehicle and traffic charges, about three-quarters were detained by Elmira City Court. Indeed, 21% of all cases remanded from City Court were for such relatively minor charges. This number may be larger than it would otherwise be if greater use were made in the city of appearance tickets in lieu of admission to jail.

In about 27% of the unsentenced cases in our sample, no bail was set. City Court, County Court and the Big Flats justice court were the most likely courts to detain defendants without bail. Although the data are not clear in each case why defendants were held without bail, reasons appear to include: the seriousness of charges and/or perceived risk of flight, holds from other charges and, in some of the lower court cases, because of legal restrictions placed on the ability of lower court judges to set bail on certain felony cases, and on cases in which the defendant had two or more prior felony convictions. Whatever the reasons, this relatively large proportion defendants detained without even the possibility of making bail, in some cases with relatively minor charges, raises questions as to whether there may be ways of expediting a bail review in at least some of these types of cases in the future, in order to safely release at least some such defendants (see further discussion below of potential releases of cases without holds or detainers).

In cases in which bail was set, the amounts were typically relatively low. The average bail in our sample across all courts was about \$1,900. Most bail amounts for remanded prisoners were set at less than \$2,500, and about 60% of the cases were set at \$500 or less. However, even at these low levels, it is not unusual for defendants to remain in jail for many days prior to their release, as indicated below.

The courts most likely to set more restrictive bail were the following: County Court, with its more serious charges, with an average bail amount of more than \$4,300; Southport justice court,

CGR

² The actual number and percentage of cases which originated in both City Court and justice courts are actually higher than the numbers reported here, depending on how many of the 18% of unsentenced cases remanded from County Court were first arraigned in, and remanded from, one of the lower courts.

with an average bail of almost \$5,000 and half of the cases in our sample having either no bail set or bail amounts of \$10,000; and City Court, with a large proportion of low bails, but also 35% of the defendants with either no bail set or bail amounts of \$5,000 or \$10,000.

Time in Jail Prior to Release

Although most defendants remanded to the jail are released within a few days, many are detained for longer. Including subsequent sentences, the average inmate spends about 25 days in jail per admission. The average defendant admitted to the County jail was incarcerated an average of 25 days before being discharged from the facility (29 days for felonies, 26.5 for misdemeanors, almost 12 for violations). Not surprisingly, the 27% of the inmates in our sample who were ultimately sentenced to jail or prison had the longest stays in the jail. Those who were sentenced to prison spent an average of almost four months in the County jail before being convicted and transferred to a prison facility. Those initially remanded to the jail and subsequently also given a jail sentence spent an average of 90 days in the jail (combined unsentenced + sentenced time), versus those who had not been incarcerated prior to the disposition of their case but were subsequently sentenced to jail: their sentenced time averaged 48 days per case.

Those defendants who were released on bail (about 28% of all admissions) spent an average of 9 days in jail prior to their release. A few were detained for lengthy periods of time prior to making bail, but 90% were released within a week of admission to the jail, including 73% within two days. Those released on court orders (about 37% of all admissions), including release to the supervision of the Project for Bail program, spent an average of 11 days before being released, but 75% were freed within a week, including 59% within two days.

Thus most of those who are released prior to disposition of their case are not detained for many days. However, the significant volume of defendants who are detained for even a few days—combined with those who are released but only after one or two months as an unsentenced inmate—adds up to significant numbers of beds occupied on a given day, even before factoring in the addition of sentenced prisoners.

There is relatively little variation across courts in average time spent in jail per inmate, with the exception of County Court, which is understandable given its processing of more serious cases. The average time for County Court cases in jail is about 43 days, while the other courts typically average between 20 and 25 days per case.

Holds Preventing Release

In many jurisdictions it is not unusual to have substantial proportions of jail inmates being detained because of holds or detainers on other pending criminal cases. Although certainly a factor in some cases, this does not appear to be a major issue in Chemung. Only about 13% of all inmates remanded (unsentenced) to the jail during our snapshot periods had active holds affecting their release. This relatively low proportion of cases contributes to the fact that most defendants are able to be released within a few days while awaiting disposition of their cases. However, even without holds, and even with low bails and relatively less serious charges, significant numbers of defendants each week have been convicted of nothing, but remain in jail for lengthy periods of time.

Low-Hanging Fruit: Early Reductions in Jail Population A very conservative review of cases in our snapshot samples indicates that in an average week, at least four defendants are remanded to the jail on misdemeanor or even violation charges, have no holds, and bail set at \$500 or less—and yet remain in jail an average of 12 days each before being ultimately released on bail or court order, without ever being sentenced to jail. Multiplying that single week's average by 52 indicates a total of about 2,500 days in jail accounted for by such undramatic cases, but cases which combine to account for the equivalent of 6.8 beds occupied each night of the year in the aggregate. Most of these cases originate in City Court, though over a few weeks a few also enter from various justice courts.

It is conceivable that there may have been extenuating circumstances that cannot be captured in a jail database, but on the surface, especially given that these individuals were all ultimately released and never sentenced to jail, these would appear to be defendants with little reason to be held in jail for an average of almost two weeks. Most probably should have been released within at most two or three days, but even assuming that their time in jail could be cut in half on a consistent basis in the future, this would free up an average of 3.4 beds each night.

And this is being very conservative. Expanding the bail amount only slightly to \$1,500 would bring in other defendants who were ultimately released, with no jail sentences, but only after several days of seemingly unnecessary detention. Releasing such cases in half

the time, and including those earlier releases with bails of \$500 or less, would easily reduce the jail population by at least five inmates each night of the year. Thus simply modifying existing procedures, at no added costs to the system, to revisit cases remaining in jail beyond a few days with no detainers and low bail could reduce the average daily population in the jail, without any disruption to the judicial system or any negative impact on community safety.

Similarly, our snapshot samples identified several cases where bail was not set, but there were no holds, no subsequent incarceration sentences, and the defendant was ultimately released by court order, yet only after spending two, three or four months in jail. The cases we identified averaged 80 days in jail prior to being released. In each of our weekly snapshot periods, we identified one or more such defendants who went on to eat up significant jail time before being released. If the jail time of just *one* such admission each week could be reduced by 50% through more timely processing of cases (as discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters), *one such case a week across the year could free up* 5.7 beds per night in the jail.

None of the discussion thus far includes the potential for processing more rapidly the relatively few cases that have holds on them. More timely consolidation of such cases could also lead to earlier safe release of defendants who are eventually released now, but only after weeks of sitting in jail.

Adding these different easily-attained possibilities together, it is realistic to assume that within the next six months, revised procedures should be fully in place, at no added costs to the criminal justice system, to enable a reduction of at least a dozen inmates per night in the jail, simply by earlier release of defendants already being released, but much later now than necessary to ensure court appearances or public safety. (Revisions in procedures are discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters.)

Of the 6,994 residents who were remanded to the jail in the past three years as unsentenced inmates, jail reports and snapshot data indicated that 19% were subsequently sentenced to either the jail or state prison. Thus the reality is that more than 80% of those who are admitted to the County jail as unsentenced inmates do not also subsequently get convicted and sentenced to incarceration on the same charge.

By revising existing system procedures at no added costs, the jail population can be reduced by at least a dozen inmates per night simply by releasing defendants earlier than they are currently released.

Few Inmates Are Sentenced to Incarceration

Almost 75% of all inmates are only in the County jail as an unsentenced defendant, and do not get sentenced to jail or prison on the charge that got them admitted to the jail.

Disproportionate Incarceration of Lesser Offenses

Unsentenced Jail Admissions

In Chemung, 72% of all unsentenced admissions are for misdemeanor and violation charges, compared to 47.5% in Steuben County.
Chemung jails 6 times more unsentenced defendants on lesser charges per year than does Steuben.

And of all the more than 8,000 County residents who have been admitted to the jail either as unsentenced or sentenced inmates in the past three years, just over one-fourth (27%) ever were sentenced to jail or prison on the charge that got them admitted initially to the jail (including those who entered when sentenced plus those who received a jail sentence following their unsentenced time).

Thus it is clear that the overwhelming majority (almost 75%) of all Chemung County residents who ever enter the jail each year do not wind up serving either jail or prison time as a sentenced inmate. That is, the only time about 75% of each year's inmates spend in the jail is as an unconvicted defendant (many are subsequently convicted, but not sentenced to jail or prison, as discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters of the report).

As noted earlier, Chemung County has a much higher rate of incarceration per arrest than does adjacent Steuben County. Many of these inmates are incarcerated for very short periods of time, but that notwithstanding, enough remain in jail long enough to result in an average of about 40 more inmates per day in Chemung than in Steuben. This differential appears to be largely due to significantly higher rates in Chemung of incarcerating people on misdemeanor and violation charges.

As indicated earlier, of the almost 7,000 unsentenced inmates who have been admitted to the Chemung jail over the past three years, 1,954 (28%) were admitted on felony charges. These not surprisingly represent virtually all of the felony arrests made in the County during that time. But well over half of all unsentenced defendants (more than 3,800 during the three years, or 54.5% of the total unsentenced admissions) were admitted on misdemeanor charges, with another 1,227 (17.5%) admitted on various other lesser charges, such as violations or vehicle and traffic offenses.

By contrast, in Steuben County, with similar numbers of felony arrests each year, 52.5% of all unsentenced admissions in 2003 and 2004 (2005 data were not available) were admitted on felony charges, compared to 40.5% on misdemeanors and only 7% on lesser charges. An average of 67 unsentenced defendants a year were incarcerated in Steuben on traffic infractions and violation charges, compared with an average of 409 a year in Chemung.

Defendants arrested on misdemeanor charges are just over 2.5 times more likely to be jailed predisposition on the charge in Chemung than in Steuben County.

dramatically: In Chemung, there were 5,901 arrests on misdemeanor charges in 2003 through 2005. During the same time, 3,813 defendants were admitted to the jail on misdemeanor charges, a ratio of 646 incarcerations for every 1,000 arrests. By contrast, in Steuben, in 2003 and 2004 (2005 not available), there were 3,092 misdemeanor arrests, but only 774 jail bookings on misdemeanors—a ratio of 250 incarcerations per 1,000 arrests. Defendants arrested on misdemeanor charges in Chemung County are thus about 2.5 times more likely to be incarcerated predisposition of their cases (i.e., admitted as an unsentenced inmate) than are defendants arrested on similar charges in Steuben County. (For context, it should be noted that Steuben has also been experiencing significant increases in their jail population in recent years, and should not be considered "soft on crime" as an explanation for these differential rates between counties.)

A comparison of misdemeanor arrests to jail bookings on

shows

the

differences

charges

misdemeanor

Sentenced Jail Inmates

Even among those receiving jail sentences in Chemung County, the sentences are disproportionately meted out to defendants convicted of misdemeanor or violation offenses.

Of those sentenced to jail terms during the past three years in Chemung, two-thirds were serving time on charges adjudicated as misdemeanors (including both cases that began as misdemeanor arrests, as well as those that began as felony arrest charges but were reduced during the judicial process to misdemeanors), with 12% serving felony jail sentences and 22% serving sentences on other types of minor traffic infractions and violation charges. During the three years, there were 159 more jail sentences on such lesser infraction and violation charges in the County than on felony charges (370 to 211).3

More Chemung
residents are
sentenced to jail on
traffic and violation
charges than on felony
charges. 6 times more
defendants per year
are sentenced to jail on
lesser charges in
Chemung than in
Steuben.

By contrast, in Steuben, an almost identical proportion (two-thirds) of the sentenced inmates served time on misdemeanor charges. However, 27% of the sentenced admissions were serving felony jail sentences, and only 7% were sentenced on charges involving traffic offenses and violations. *In Steuben, an average of 20*

³ These data only apply to jail sentences. Other defendants in the criminal justice system were sentenced to state prison, as discussed below.

inmates a year are sentenced to jail on traffic and violation charges, compared with about 123 per year in Chemung.

Clearly very different decisions about incarceration are being made in Chemung County than in Steuben County. The decisions, and the criminal justice system practices and surrounding circumstances contributing to them, are not necessarily better in one county than the other. But clearly they are different, and have different consequences. Subsequent chapters of the report explore in more detail the factors that contribute to these different decisions and outcomes.

Sentencing Patterns

In addition to jail sentences, some additional defendants booked into the Chemung County jail ultimately received prison sentences. As noted above, 27% of all inmates received some type of incarceration sentence. Based on our sample analyses, those included 23% sentenced to the jail and 4.4% to state prisons.

Given that most of the incarceration sentences involved misdemeanors and violations, it stands to reason that the vast majority of incarceration sentences were pronounced in lower courts. In particular, based on sample data, 57% of incarceration sentences involved City Court, 12% County Court, and 31% various justice courts. As with unsentenced remands, the justice courts most likely to sentence residents to jail are Southport (9% of the sentenced cases), Big Flats (9%), and Horseheads (8%).

Other than the state prison sentences, which have typically been for 1 to 3 years, relatively few defendants have received jail sentences of significant length. With the maximum county jail sentence by law capped at one year, only 7% of all sentenced inmates in the Chemung jail during the past three years received full one-year sentences. About 87% were sentenced to less than 6 months, including about 69% with sentences of 3 months or less and 37% of one month or less.

As emphasized throughout this chapter, jail *sentences* have not been used extensively in Chemung County, and have not been responsible for the growth in the jail population in recent years. When used, sentences tend to be relatively short, designed to provide measured punishment and get the defendant's attention. However, the average jail sentence is nonetheless significant—

Almost a third of all jail sentences are ordered in justice courts.

Sentences to the County jail account for an estimated 45,000 jail days per year.

Key Questions and

The Chemung jail would need to house 53 fewer inmates each night if misdemeanors were remanded to jail at the same rate as in Steuben County.

Observations

almost four months (118 days)—even when reduced by one-third for "good time." Even at almost 80 days of actual time served on these jail sentences, with an average of 570 jail sentences in each of the past three years, the sentencing impact on the jail is significant—and indeed accounts for far more actual jail days (an average of more than 45,000 days per year) than does the unsentenced population (about 33,000), even though the latter represents many more individuals (but at fewer days per case). Ways of reducing, or eliminating, some of these sentences thus becomes important in any effort to reduce the jail population, and strategies for doing so are discussed later in the report.

Numerous factors impact on the jail population. Among the issues and questions they raise:

- The jail population has grown faster than the arrest rate in Chemung County. Why? What policies, practices, demographic and societal trends contribute to this trend? What can begin to reverse it?
- * Why does the unsentenced jail population continue to grow, and why are disproportionately large numbers of defendants remanded to the jail on misdemeanor and violation charges, compared to neighboring Steuben County? If the unsentenced incarceration rate for misdemeanor arrests in Chemung could be reduced to the comparable rate in Steuben, all other things being equal, the jail population could be reduced by about 53 inmates per night.
- * Can the criminal justice system implement relatively simple processing changes that could facilitate earlier releases of low-bail, minor-charge, no-hold defendants who currently spend substantial time in jail before being released without jail sentences? An estimated dozen fewer jail beds per night would be needed if so.
- Can any accommodations be made with the state to facilitate more rapid processing of parole violators through the system and out of the jail?
- ❖ What should be the County's policies and practices related to housing prisoners from other counties and from federal penitentiaries? Would the County prefer to use any reductions in jail days resulting from this study to reduce the scale, staffing and costs of the current jail, or to expand revenue-producing boarding-in of prisoners, or some combination of both?

- Are there actions that can be taken to reverse the recent growth in female jail inmates, thereby potentially enabling a jail unit (post) to be closed at savings to taxpayers?
- Would expanded use of appearance tickets in the County, and especially within its largest jurisdiction and court system in Elmira, help to reduce the jail population? Would that make sense, would it be feasible, and if so, what would need to happen to make that a reality?
- ❖ Is it possible to change the patterns of incarceration currently in place in the County, and to reduce the jail population in the future, consistent with community safety and efficient court operations? The remaining chapters of the report focus on the various key components and practices within the criminal justice system that can potentially play a part in answering such questions.

4. THE IMPACT OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY

Once arrests have occurred, the District Attorney (DA) plays the pivotal role in determining which cases get prosecuted at what levels, and with what commitment of resources. Decisions made by the DA, the Chief Assistant DA and the Assistant DAs (ADAs) shape much of what happens at both lower court and County Court levels, and have significant influence on the length of time it takes to resolve a case, how it gets resolved, and if and for how long a defendant stays in jail as an unsentenced inmate—and beyond that, what sentence will be imposed if he/she is convicted.

Data related to the DA function are limited, both within the County and in terms of comparisons with the rest of the state, to prosecution of arrests that originate as felonies, regardless of their ultimate dispositions. Although the DA's office also prosecutes cases that originate as misdemeanor arrests (and even some violations), neither it nor the NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services (DCJS) tracks the dispositions and sentences of those non-felony arrest cases, as they do for felony arrests. Thus, although it would be preferable to have prosecution data on all types of arrests, the discussion of data that follows is necessarily focused only on felony arrest cases.

Prosecution of Felony Arrests

As indicated in Table 6 on the next page, the DA's office has in recent years prosecuted at the County/Superior Court felony level about 320 felony arrests, on average, per year—roughly 55% of the felony arrests each year. The vast majority of these prosecutions involve Grand Jury Indictments, with fewer than 10% typically being filed through Superior Court Informations (SCIs). The proportion of felony arrest cases prosecuted as felonies at the County Court level has typically been about a dozen percentage points higher in Chemung than among all Upstate felony arrest cases, and has been roughly comparable most years to the proportions in Steuben County, whose number of felony arrests has been similar to Chemung's totals in recent years.⁴ The remaining initial felony arrest cases were typically prosecuted and

CGR

⁴ NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, "Dispositions of Felony Arrests, Chemung County, Steuben County and Upstate New York" reports.

resolved (usually by pleas) as misdemeanors in lower level courts (Elmira City Court and the County's 15 town/village Justice Courts).

Table 6: Chemung County District Attorney Felony Prosecutions, 2002 - 2005

Year	Felony	Superior Court Filings	0/0 ***
	Arrests	(with SCI #'s)**	
2002	575	323 (28)	56.2
2003	573	309 (32)	53.9
2004	629	331 (25)	52.6
2005*	632	269 (18)*	NA*

Source: NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services Office of Justice Statistics and Performance, "New York State Felony Processing Reports, 2002 - 2005 (Preliminary Report, September 2005)".

*2005 Felony Arrest data are complete for the year, but the Filings data only include information through September. Thus no percentage is provided in the final column for 2005, as it would understate the proportion for the year.

** Total number includes number of Superior Court filings (felony level prosecutions at the County Court level), which include both Grand Jury Indictments and Superior Court Informations (SCIs). SCIs are identified separately

*** % refers to the number of Superior Court Filings as a % of all felony arrests for the year. In some cases, filings may begin in a different year from the actual arrest.

The use of SCIs represents a collaborative process between prosecutors, defense attorneys and judges that helps move felony arrest cases more rapidly through the criminal justice system, with

Under-Use of SCIs

particular potential value in helping to expedite the transitioning of cases between lower and upper court levels, as discussed in more detail in Chapter 6. As shown above in the table, SCIs are not widely used in Chemung County. Between 2002 and September SCIs are used in only 2005, SCIs were the felony prosecutorial instrument, rather than going to the Grand Jury, in only 8% of all felony filings.

8% of all felony filings in Chemung, compared to 36% in Chemung's Judicial District counties, and 61% in Steuben.

Chemung's rate of usage of SCIs is among the lowest of any county in the state, and over the 10-year period from 1994 - 2003, was by far the lowest of the 10 counties in the 6th Judicial District. By contrast, SCIs are used in about 35% of all felony filings in the remainder of Upstate New York counties (36% in the Judicial District). Five of the 10 Judicial District counties had SCI usage rates well in excess of 40%. Even closer to home, in Steuben County, which has similar numbers of felony cases to prosecute, 61% of all felony prosecutions were handled by SCIs in 2004.

SCIs Can Significantly Expedite Case Processing Time

Disposition of average SCI cases is almost four months quicker than in typical Grand Jury cases.

Outcomes of Felony Arrest Cases Data on case-processing time illustrates the value of SCIs in expediting cases through the system far more quickly than through use of the Grand Jury system. Granted, many variables and circumstances factor into the decision as to which felony filing (prosecution) approach to use, but such factors notwithstanding, Chemung County data are clear and consistent from year to year: The time from arraignment to final disposition in the relatively rare cases in which SCIs have been used has been an average of almost four months shorter (116 days) than in Grand Jury cases. Typically SCIs in the past four years have been completed within an average time of about a month per case, compared with the four to five months or more for Grand Jury cases. The Chemung findings are confirmed by composite Upstate county findings, where the differences are even more pronounced in favor of SCI processing of cases, and in a recent study of the Steuben County criminal justice system.⁵

As described in more detail later in the chapter, there are legitimate reasons why Grand Jury indictments are often preferred to SCIs, and such processing of cases is a long tradition among District Attorneys in Chemung County. But if SCIs are used much more frequently in nearly all other counties of the state, and to good effect in expediting cases, it may behoove Chemung to consider making increased use of this approach in appropriate circumstances, as the District Attorney has expressed a willingness to do.

As County felony arrests declined between 2000 and 2001, a decline in felony case dispositions would be expected. But as felony arrests increased the following year, leveled off, and then increased again in 2004, it would have been reasonable to expect increases in both dispositions and convictions to follow. Increased incarceration rates might also have been expected. But as shown below in Table 7, none of these expectations has occurred. Indeed, trends have been in the *opposite* direction from what might reasonably have been expected. What can these data tell us, and what questions do they pose for policymakers?

⁵NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services Office of Justice Statistics and Performance, "New York State Felony Processing Reports, 2002 – 2005 (Preliminary Report, September 2005)"; CGR, Strengthening Alternatives to Incarceration Programs and Criminal Justice System Practices in Steuben County, November 2005.

Table 7: Outcomes of Felony Arrest Cases in Chemung County, 2000 - 2004

Action	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
Felony Arrests	635	543	575	573	629
Dispositions	548	485	457	442	428
Convictions	450	363	367	338	329
Conviction Rate	82.1%	74.8%	80.3%	76.5%	76.9%
Prison Sentences	133	76	75	60	61
Jail Sentences	163	123	134	123	117
Incarceration Rate	63.6%	54.8%	56.9%	54.1%	54.1%

Source: NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, "Dispositions of Felony Arrests, Chemung County."

NOTE: Conviction Rate = % of Dispositions resulting in convictions. Incarceration Rate = Prison + Jail Sentences as % of Convictions.

Declining Dispositions and Convictions

Earlier data in Table 6 showed the numbers and proportions of felony arrest cases that were initially prosecuted at the felony level. The data on dispositions in Table 7, on the other hand, indicate the total numbers of felony arrest cases prosecuted *at any level*, i.e., at both the County Court level as felony cases, as well as initial felony arrest cases prosecuted on reduced charges as misdemeanors at lower level City and Justice Courts.

Since dispositions reflect all cases that were prosecuted, including both successful convictions as well as cases that were dismissed or resulted in acquittals, one might reasonably expect that total numbers of dispositions would approximate the numbers of initial felony arrests. That expectation isn't completely reasonable, in that disposition of many arrests may not occur until a subsequent year. But even allowing for that reality, one would not logically expect a decline over time in the total numbers of cases prosecuted, as measured by dispositions, when felony arrests were increasing.

And yet total dispositions have declined each year since 2000. In 2000 and 2001, the ratio of dispositions to felony arrests was between .85 and .89, but by 2004, that ratio had steadily shrunk to .68. These data would seem to suggest that growing numbers of initial felony arrests are simply not being prosecuted for various reasons. As such, presumably both law enforcement agencies and the District Attorney's office would seem to have incentives to review these data and use them to help determine what each needs to do to ensure both that "better arrests" are made which can hold up under prosecutorial standards, and that such arrests will receive sufficient attention and

The ratio of prosecuted cases/dispositions to felony arrests has been declining, suggesting that the DA and law enforcement agencies may need to strengthen procedures to ensure more "good arrests" that hold up under prosecution.

resources to ensure effective prosecution. This may suggest the need for more attention from the DA's office to be devoted to training and working even more closely with law enforcement officers to make sure that sufficient attention is given by officers to the quality of their arrests, witnesses and corroborating evidence.

In addition to declines in prosecuted cases, more opened cases have also been dismissed as the cases proceeded, in proportions higher than in most other counties. As dispositions have gone down, it is not surprising that numbers of convictions on those dispositions would also decline. What is more troubling, however, is the fact that the *rate* or proportion of the dispositions resulting in convictions has also declined, from about 82% in 2000 to 77% in 2003 and 2004. As conviction rates have declined, the numbers and proportion of cases dismissed at both lower and County Court levels have increased. As recently as 1999, only about 10% of all felony arrest cases/dispositions were dismissed each year. Since then, the proportions have increased, to the point where DCJS data indicate that in three of the four most recent years, between 18% and 20% of all felony arrest dispositions have been dismissed—compared to an average over those years of about 16% in Upstate counties, and about 10% in Steuben County.

Nearly all convictions in lower courts are the product of pleas, with very few trials. However, at the County Court level, the proportion of convictions reached via pleas has been declining, from as high as 95% in 2000 to 79% in 2004. Upstate and Steuben County comparable proportions during those years have consistently been between 95% and 97%. During this period, more County Court cases have gone to trials, with increases from 17 in 2000 to as many as 49 in 2004, including 14 jury and 35 non-jury/bench trials. Most of the increases have been in the non-jury trials, which typically involve presentation of stipulated facts to a judge, in cases somewhat similar to guilty plea cases. Many of these cases could potentially have been candidates for SCIs, typically with fewer court appearances and motions as a result.

Factors contributing to these data trends are discussed in sections of this chapter that follow the discussion of the data.

CGR

⁶ DCJS, "New York State Felony Processing Reports, Chemung County, 2002 – 2004," DCJS, "Dispositions of Felony Arrests, Chemung County."

Declining Sentenced Incarceration Rates for Felony Arrests As indicated in Table 7 above and in more detail in Table 8 below, both prison and jail sentences for initial felony arrest cases have been declining, both in terms of specific numbers of sentences and as a proportion of all convictions. *Prison sentences declined by 54% between 2000 and 2004, and jail sentences declined by 28% during that time, with a drop in overall incarceration rates from 64% of all convictions to 54%.*

Table 8: Sentences Imposed on Felony Arrest Cases in Chemung County, 2000-2004

Sentences	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
Prison	133	76	75	60	61
Total Jail	163	123	134	123	117
Jail Alone	114	78	95	94	82
Jail + Prob.	49	45	39	29	35
Probation Alone	93	90	90	71	85
Fine or CD	69	67	63	82	66
TOTAL CONVICTIONS	450	363	367	338	329

Source: NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, "Disposition of Felony Arrests, Chemung County."

NOTE: "Total Convictions" also includes an average of about 2 additional "Other" or "Unknown" sentences per year not shown in the table. CD=Conditional Discharge.

Despite the decline in sentenced incarceration rates in recent years, the overall rates have remained around 55% of all felony arrest convictions in the past few years, which has continued to exceed by several percentage points the incarceration rates in neighboring counties and the Upstate combined rates for most years. What is perhaps most interesting about the overall declines in sentenced incarceration during this period in the County is that the rates have gone down even though the overall daily numbers of sentenced prisoners in the County jail have remained relatively constant during these years, except for 2004 when they increased. The numbers of persons sentenced to jail on initial felony arrest charges reached its *lowest* number in the past five years during 2004 (117)—the year the average daily number of sentenced jail inmates was at its *highest* in this decade (see earlier Table 3 in Chapter 3).

This seems illogical on the surface, except for the realization that the bulk of jail sentences were meted out to defendants convicted on misdemeanor and violation charges, as discussed earlier in Chapter 3. Thus, although unfortunately there are no DA statistics on the numbers or outcomes of original misdemeanor

The County has historically imposed jail and prison sentences for felony arrests at somewhat higher rates than most other counties, but both types of sentences have declined in recent years, even as the overall County jail sentenced population remained steady or increased, suggesting the disproportionate impact of misdemeanors and violations on the sentenced jail population.

arrest cases, it would appear that as jail and prison sentences decline among those initially charged with felonies, these are apparently being offset with increasing numbers of jail sentences for those initially arrested on lesser misdemeanor and violation charges.

Rate of Alternative Sentences Increasing

Opportunities appear to exist for more extensive use of alternatives to incarceration sentences to help reduce the jail population.

DA Practices

Staffing and Other Resources Compared to the reductions in the use of prison and jail sentences, numbers of probation sentences and sentences for fines and conditional discharges have held relatively constant over recent years, thereby representing increasing proportions of dwindling numbers of annual convictions. Some probation sentences involved specific alternatives to incarceration programs operated by the Probation Department and discussed in subsequent Chapter 7. Together, these trends would seem to suggest that if higher proportions of convictions on initial felony arrests are resulting in sentences to non-incarceration options, consistent with community safety standards, additional use of alternatives to incarceration should be considered in the future as viable options to the currently-significant use of jail sentences for misdemeanor and violation charges within City and Justice Courts. Obviously such sentencing decisions are heavily influenced by the District Attorney, but also by defense attorneys, judges, pre-sentence investigations, and the perceived quality of alternative programs, all of which will be discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters.

Beyond the data related to District Attorney and court practices, other issues surfaced during the study's various interviews concerning the DA's office and practices. These are summarized below.

The DA current staff includes 11.5 full-time equivalent (FTE) positions: the full-time DA and Chief Assistant DA, four other full-time Assistant DAs, three part-time ADAs, two part-time investigators, and three full-time clerical support staff. Although making frequent use of student interns, the staff has not included paralegals, as do many other DA offices.

This DA staff configuration has remained virtually the same for the past five years. During that time, as noted above, the numbers of felony filings have also remained relatively unchanged. The DA's office maintains no annual statistics on numbers of cases prosecuted in the lower courts, but data for Elmira City Court, by far the highest-volume court in the County, suggest that numbers of new criminal filings have fluctuated up and down from year to year from about 2,600 in 2001 to highs of about 2,950, and back in 2005 to about the same level as in 2001. No data are available for Justice Court cases. On balance, the data that are available suggest that the overall workload of the office has remained relatively consistent over the five years, suggesting to some that maintenance of current staffing levels over that time may have been appropriate.

Advocates and even some critics of the DA's office argue, however, that additional resources may be needed to enable the office to effectively represent the public. The combination of expanded full-time Public Defender plus Public Advocate attorneys is viewed by some as tipping the resource balance somewhat away from the DA, especially in coverage of lower courts, and even more specifically in terms of City Court, which is staffed routinely by only one full-time ADA. Others argue that more non-attorney support staff are needed, given the absence of voice mail within the office, and given the continued heavy reliance on manual records and little computerization in the office of non-felony cases.

workloads have remained relatively consistent over the past five years. How internal office issues such as absence of voice mail and inadequate electronic case tracking mechanisms are addressed will determine future needed staffing configurations.

Staffing levels and

By way of comparison with Chemung, the DA's office in adjacent Steuben County has one fewer full-time attorney, but two paralegals and two additional clerical support staff. offices prosecute similar numbers of felony arrest cases, but comparable data were not available for criminal misdemeanor and violation cases in the lower courts. But it was estimated that, across all courts, about 5,000 criminal cases were initiated in Steuben County in 2004. In Chemung, more than 3,000 cases were initiated in County and City Courts, but the numbers in the iustice courts are unknown. Steuben ADAs must cover 38 separate justice courts, compared to 15 such courts in Chemung (involving 23 separate justices). But Chemung has a much highervolume court in Elmira than any in Steuben. Given some important missing information, it is difficult to make direct comparisons of appropriate staffing levels in the two counties, but based on the information that is available, there would appear to be rough equity in staffing between the two offices.

However, workloads are affected by other resources available within offices. The adequacy of staffing must also be assessed in the context of the following realities currently part of the DA office landscape: absence of voice mail in the Chemung office; the lack of an effective electronic method for processing and tracking the progress of misdemeanor and violation cases prosecuted by the office; the resulting emphasis on paper/manual files and records to track such cases, coupled with the fact that felony cases originating in lower courts often wind up shifting back and forth between two or more attorneys within the office; and the sheer volume of City Court with its single ADA. These issues are discussed below. How they and other related issues are addressed will ultimately determine what staffing patterns are needed in the future.

Concerns with Management of Office

Although most of those interviewed throughout the criminal justice system expressed appreciation for the volume of work carried out by the DA's office, and acknowledged the quality and efficiency of the work of most of the staff, a number of concerns were also raised about how effectively the office is managed, and about delays in processing cases that directly affect the outcome of many of those cases at all court levels. Many of these concerns were expressed not just by outsiders, but also from within the DA's office, including in some cases from the District Attorney directly. Many of the expressed concerns came with recommended actions in response. Many recommendations are presented in the final chapter of the report, but the concerns themselves are first summarized below, as we heard them. We include concerns we heard independently in numerous discussions and/or we were able to independently verify through observation or data analyses. The perceptions expressed may not be completely accurate in all cases, but they are typically strongly felt, and as such, the perceptions become reality in that decisions are currently being made and actions taken based on them.

The leadership staff in the DA's office were often portrayed as too nice and/or too unwilling to institute tight management structures to manage either the overall office or its large caseloads effectively: "The DA should be in control, and has the power to shape how efficiently cases are processed, but too often it gets frittered away, and cases fall through the cracks and take forever to get resolved."

Inconsistent Communications

- The DA's office sends inconsistent messages to defense attorneys from case to case, and too often within the same cases at different times. Even just within the DA's office, inconsistent and often contradictory messages are expressed concerning policies, practices, standards and emphases. Externally, messages supposedly conveyed consistently to defense attorneys concerning guidelines and standards and expectations for pleas are often interpreted with disbelief and completely opposite reactions by the defense attorneys on the receiving end.
- lacktriangle More specifically, "firm, best offers" of plea agreements presented by DAofficials are often discounted or ignored by defense attorneys who cite example after example of cases where the offers were ultimately changed in the defendant's favor the longer the case remained open. Indeed, many of those cases were ultimately dismissed with no convictions, as documented in the statistics reported above. Communications problems also result in increases in trials and reductions in pleas, as noted above—often the result of poor case management and the lack of trust between DA and defense attorneys. Numerous examples were also cited of agreements reached in principle by defense attorneys in discussions with one ADA, only to have another ADA subsequently involved in the case who was not aware of the first discussion and preliminary agreement. Such examples were most prominent in felony arrest cases initiated in a lower court, with communications problems arising in the transition of the case between the ADA representing the lower court and a different ADA prosecuting the case at the County Court level. Often defense attorneys are not sure to whom they should be talking, and may get conflicting signals from different ADAs.
- Poor communications within the DA's office and between DA staff, defense attorneys and police officers often result in case dismissals, trials rather than pleas, and delays in case dispositions.
- Few staff meetings appear to occur within the DA's office either to go over strategies and policies, or between lower court and County Court/felony ADAs to discuss smooth transitions of cases between different courts.
- Although there is frequent communication between the DA and his staff with law enforcement officers concerning cases, it often occurs late or in too cursory a fashion to enable problems with a case to be resolved in a timely fashion enabling the integrity of the case to be preserved. Too many cases wind up being dismissed or pled at a lower level than anticipated because actions were not taken soon enough, or with sufficient guidance from the DA, to meet standards for prosecution. Dismissals and

acquittals also leave the officers frustrated, and they don't always know why the cases were not successfully prosecuted. If cases do not go forward because of inadequacies in the initial arrest case, the officers need to know that and cases need to be used more effectively as "teachable moments" to help them learn so as to avoid similar problems in the future.

Dearth of Consistent Standards, •• Training and Accountability

- There appears to be little in the way of written standards or policies governing the practices or guidelines concerning the prosecution of particular types of cases, and little formal training or orientation of new attorneys concerning appropriate and/or consistent approaches. Attorneys tend to learn through on-the-job training, often in the cauldron of the high-volume, high-stress environment of Elmira City Court, with little backup support or guidance provided as a rule.
- * Other than occasional anecdotal information, there is no formal evaluation or accountability system in place to assess the performance of attorneys, or the office as a whole, as judged by those throughout the criminal justice system with whom the DA staff interact on a regular basis. Heretofore there has been little direct observation by DA leadership of ADAs in most courts. The DA has indicated that during 2006 he will be making a concerted conscious effort to hold his office and its individual staff more accountable, and that cases will be tracked more carefully to reduce the incidence of cases being dismissed after long delays and periods of inactivity. He also has indicated that more emphasis will be placed on training, consistent principles, observations of attorneys in court, and offering direct guidance and support as needed.
- ❖ Even though a computer system tracks felony arrest cases, there continue to be cases "lost" within the office, and in particular in the transitions between lower and County Court levels, where different attorneys are involved. As described in more detail below, far too often cases reach legal deadlines for actions that result in dismissal of cases and/or release of cases from jail simply because actions were not initiated in a timely fashion by attorneys within the DA's office

Lack of Screening and Strategic ❖
Approach to Cases

There is only limited initial screening of cases as they are initiated within the office. Such initial screening or review of a case, as occurs in many DA's offices in other counties, can be helpful in shaping subsequent actions, possible plea agreements, potential pretrial release and subsequent sentencing strategies—and, perhaps most

Early, more consistent and thorough screening of cases by DA leadership could help expedite the processing of cases and reduce the number of dismissed cases. important, can provide clear, consistent guidelines for the timely processing of the case that transcend misinterpretation or different philosophies or approaches different attorneys assigned at different points in the process might otherwise bring to the case.

Most of those interviewed commented on the lack of any apparent guiding consistent philosophy at the heart of the DA's office, with "too much being made up on a case-by-case basis, with little effort to devise a rational overall set of guidelines to shape the office's practices across cases, courts and attorneys." Too many important decisions, with little overall guidelines, are left to individual attorneys "who may have their own approaches or axes to grind, or feel they need to 'make their mark' by acting in certain ways." Felony cases in particular need to be assigned sooner to the felony attorneys who will ultimately prosecute the case, so they can begin to formulate their strategies sooner, rather than, as is now often the case, at the last minute before a court deadline is imminent. Better early screening, and clear assignments made in a timely manner, can have a major impact in expediting cases and in reducing the number of cases which are now dismissed.

- In the past, often new ADAs in City Court have been too adversarial "before they learn how things operate and before they're secure themselves in how to get things accomplished." The current City Court ADA incumbent is viewed as being more reasonable and willing to negotiate in resolving cases. But with the volume of cases in City Court (between 2,500 and 3,000 new criminal cases a year, plus some traffic cases that need attention), and only one ADA covering the entire caseload, it is very difficult to make rational decisions on a case-by-case basis, or to have sufficient time in advance to work out agreements with defense attorneys—although that is becoming easier to do with less emphasis on assigned counsel, and more focus on full-time attorneys in the Public Defender and Public Advocate offices. Nonetheless, there is a need for more guidance in determining consistent approaches and for more training and support from experienced attorneys to supplement the work of the ADA assigned to City Court.
- **Outmoded Technology**
- * The problem of lengthy delays in processing cases is not helped by the absence, for cases with misdemeanor and violation charges, of any comprehensive computerized record of the cases, court schedules, pending motions, or other key aspects of the cases. Even with felony cases, even

though a computerized system is in place, it is described by leadership and staffers in the DA's office as a "second-class system." The combination of inadequate systems and poor management use of the data that are available has resulted in poor tracking of cases and inefficient allocation of resources to address prosecutorial needs in a timely fashion.

The lack of a voice mail phone system within the office has reduced the efficiency of the DA support staff while exacerbating communications problems within the staff and especially between DA and defense attorneys.

Too Many Cases "Thrown Out" Most of those we interviewed described cases in which legal deadlines for prosecution were not met, with significant consequences for the cases. (1) In one set of cases, defendants had been held in jail unsentenced for 45 days with no required actions taken to indict the case, at which point the defense attorney can file motions to have the defendant immediately released from the jail, although the case would still be able to proceed. (2) In other cases, no Grand Jury Indictment or SCI had been filed within the legally-required 180 days from court arraignment, thereby inviting defense attorneys to file for dismissal of the case.

Unfortunately, repeated requests through the DA's office, judges and court clerks' offices failed to produce precise data about the extent to which cases were affected by these legal deadlines. However, we received relatively consistent estimates from knowledgeable people at various levels and positions within the judicial system concerning how frequently defense motions were made based on the deadlines not being met.

45-Day Motions to Release Defendants from Jail

Given problems outlined above regarding communications and poor management and tracking of cases in the DA's office, it is apparently not unusual for defendants to sit in jail for 45 days with no movement to indict their cases, or for movement to only occur just prior to the 45-day deadline. Some argue that this is a conscious strategy on the DA's part, at least in some cases, to obtain "as much jail time as possible for punishment" on cases where the prosecution's case is weak or not likely to result in a jail or prison sentence, even if convicted. In such cases, time officially considered *unsentenced* jail time is for all intents and purposes, if not

legally, more like sentenced time. To what extent "punishment" is a motivating factor in such cases cannot be determined, and most of those who raised this issue thought the bigger problem in most cases was not so much seeking informal punishment but simply the problems noted above of "sloppy case management and not paying enough attention to the status of the case until it is too late." Either way, in such cases, defendants are ultimately released from jail after 45 days who could just as easily have been released many days earlier if more timely action had been taken sooner within the DA's office.

Evidence suggests that at least some of the missed deadlines on the 45-day prosecution requirement while in jail is due to cases in which there are significant delays awaiting drug lab tests needed for the prosecution to proceed. The state lab is often backed up with tests, so it is not unusual for results not to have been returned within the 45-day limit. However, most attorneys believe that if there is a reasonably viable case, it should be possible to obtain a Grand Jury Indictment in most circumstances even without the lab results. Others mentioned that if the need was serious, emergency lab reports could be requested on an expedited basis. Thus while this is considered a factor in the delays, it is not considered a complete excuse for not proceeding in a more timely manner.

The most prevalent estimates CGR heard as to the frequency with which defendants are released from jail due to the 45-day restrictions ranged from about 3 to 5 a week to about 10 a month. Using the more conservative estimate, this could be as many as about 125 per year. Even if one assumes that part of the strategy in keeping people in jail for that long without taking action on the case is to exact a measure of punishment, that same goal could still be met through earlier efforts to either indict the case or release the defendant earlier. If 125 such cases a year were expedited and the release time were cut in half, defendants would still have received just over three weeks of "jail as punishment," and the jail population would have been reduced by 2,812 days a year—the equivalent of almost 8 beds freed up every day of the year. Conscious strategies to manage these cases more effectively in the future could have a significant impact on the jail population without compromising the ability to prosecute the case, which could go forward regardless of whether the defendant was in jail as the prosecution proceeded or not.

If cases released from jail for lack of prosecution after 45 days were released in half the time, almost 8 fewer inmates would need to be housed every day of the year.

Case Dismissals for Failure to Prosecute

A recent focus of the Supreme Court District's Chief Administrative Judge over the past year or so has been placed on "cleaning up" files on old felony cases that were still considered active on court calendars but which had long-since exceeded the 180-day Standards and Goals deadline for prosecution, after which cases can be legally dismissed for failure to prosecute in a timely manner. These cases may or may not have been incarcerated presentence, so it is not always clear that there are consequences for jail-day reduction in dismissing such cases. It is reasonable to assume that many of these cases may have been in jail awaiting action on their cases, but data were not available to document the extent to which cases were released from jail as their cases were dismissed.

Regardless of whether jail days are involved or not, the larger issue is the extent to which substantial numbers of cases have remained, and continue to remain, on court caseloads for 180 days or more, in some instances requiring court and attorney time along the way, but with no ultimate apparent intent on the part of the DA to actively prosecute the case. Several options would appear to be more responsive to needs of the defendant and of the overall justice system, including: deciding to reduce the charges and prosecute at a misdemeanor level; dropping the charges altogether much earlier if the case is weak; or going forward with a plea offer on the original charge based on whatever evidence is available.

Often cases are ultimately dismissed because evidence becomes stale, witnesses disappear or refuse to cooperate, or other reasons that are time-related. The advantage of simply going forward with the case in a timely manner, or reducing the charges and prosecuting at a misdemeanor level, is that it takes advantage of whatever evidence and witnesses exist, and at least attempts to make a case on that basis, rather than simply having the case "thrown out" with nothing to show for it.

Conscious decisions to dispose of cases prior to the 180-day deadline have many public policy, court and jail reduction benefits.

Having significant numbers of dismissals for failure to prosecute on the public record would seem to have no benefit, so expediting the processing of such cases, as the DA has indicated he is interested in focusing on more aggressively in the future, would seem to be good public policy while helping to streamline the justice system and, at least in some of the cases, reduce the jail population as well. Furthermore, judges pointed out that in some of these cases, other charges were attached, so additional criminal cases would be disposed of as well with more timely prosecution, or dismissal, of the primary charge.

Estimates earlier this year were that as many as 26 active cases were eligible for dismissal for failure to prosecute in a timely manner.

DA-Defense Attorney Working Relationships

As suggested above, the DA's office and defense attorneys have not always worked together as effectively as possible in the past to expedite and craft resolutions to cases, in large part because of a historical combination of relatively small District Attorney and Public Defender staffs, and a large number of assigned counsel (AC) attorneys making it difficult to operate efficiently. In addition, defense attorneys have not always believed or trusted what they heard from the DA's office, and conflicting messages exacerbated the problem. With the creation in the past couple years of the Public Advocate's office to supplement the efforts of the Public Defender, and the resulting reduction in emphasis on multiple AC attorneys, both the DA and PD/PA offices believe there should be greater opportunities for the development of improved working relationships and trust between the offices and individual attorneys, including development of at least informal understandings and guidelines, and more effective oversight of cases, both felony and misdemeanor, by leadership in each office.

Expanded Use of SCIs?

The potential value of making more extensive use of Superior Court Informations (SCIs) as an alternative to prosecution via Grand Jury Indictments was noted above, with particular reference to the significant savings of almost four months in the resolution of SCI cases, compared to the typical time needed to complete dispositions of GJ cases. But how realistic is it to expect significant expansion of SCI usage in the future?

Historically in
Chemung County, the
justice system has
favored the Grand Jury
system, with little
focus on use of SCIs.

Clearly a change in culture would be needed, to overcome years of history. Whereas the culture in nearby Steuben County has encouraged the steady growth of SCIs in recent years, several administrations of District Attorneys in Chemung County have relied on presenting cases to the Grand Jury in order to obtain indictments, with few efforts expended on obtaining plea agreements in the context of brokering SCIs. Judges have also historically been proponents of the GJ focus. Overcoming the

long-standing culture that says Grand Jury, not SCIs, is likely to take time.

Perhaps an equally important impediment to making a radical shift from Grand Jury Indictments to SCIs has to do with the issue of trust between DA and defense attorneys and between attorneys and judges. As noted above, defense attorneys have often been suspicious of what they have been told by attorneys in the DA's office, and have believed, with reason, that they could often obtain a better deal for their client by holding out and not accepting the first plea offer put on the table by the DA. Yet the premise of the SCI process is that agreements are reached earlier in the processing of a case whereby all parties agree to waive the process of accessing the Grand Jury in favor of the alternative SCI approach, and agree to terms of an agreement affecting the plea, the negotiated charge, and terms of a sentence.

If the defense attorneys continue to believe that there is no benefit to their client in terms of a reduction in charge or consequences and/or that there is often a better deal "around the corner if we're just patient enough to wait for it," then the ability to negotiate SCI agreements in a timely manner is unlikely. The need by defense attorneys for an agreement with the DA to provide earlier discovery in selected cases may also be key to significant expanded use of SCIs. Also, the affected County Court judges would have to be willing to enable the process to work, and not try to micromanage or unintentionally undermine the plea process. These each could represent serious barriers to overcome.

The District Attorney
has indicated a
willingness to initiate
discussions to expand
the use of SCIs.
Defense attorneys and
judges have also
indicated their
willingness to
seriously consider the
issue.

On the other hand, the District Attorney—though traditionally a supporter of the Grand Jury process and a skeptic of how well the SCI process can work, given the barriers to change—has expressed a willingness to sit down with the Public Defender, Public Advocate and judges to attempt to establish parameters for at least a pilot test of expanded use of the SCI approach. The defense attorney leadership has also expressed similar concerns about how well the process can work, and whether it would typically be in their clients' best interests, but is also willing to discuss the issue and try to find ways to make it work. Court and judicial leadership, especially Judge O'Shea, have indicated the belief that there are clear benefits to the system of moving forward with expanded use of SCI filings, including the potential for reduced court

time; fewer motions; reduced time spent in preparing for, conducting and recording Grand Jury proceedings; and potentially shorter periods of pre-conviction incarceration.

Need for Strengthened Relationship with Law Enforcement Officials

Because everything the DA and others in the judicial system do flows ultimately from the initial arrest decision, the District Attorney and the law enforcement leadership and individual officers must "be on the same page." Evidence presented earlier, along with what we heard in interviews, suggest that this has not always been the case in recent years. Even though the DA indicates that he and his attorneys work closely with police officers in the development of the initial arrest documents and evidence, there are strong indications that officers often overcharge in filing the initial arrests, and that often evidence and witnesses do not hold up well enough for prosecution to proceed at the level of the initial charge, if at all in some cases. Some of those we talked with suggested that in too many cases the police officers and investigators were guiding and controlling the DA, when in fact the prosecution should be "calling more of the shots." As one judge emphasized, "The DA should represent the public and not the police. The two don't have to be incompatible, but when in doubt, the public's [prosecutor's] interests should be dominant. That may not always be the case now." The DA may need to devote greater time and effort to the process of making sure the police and the prosecutor are working together to ensure that arrests can hold up under scrutiny more effectively than has often been the case in recent years.

Community
Prosecution Program

This new crime prevention initiative from the District Attorney is in its early stages of creating partnerships between the DA, community residents and various community organizations both within and outside the criminal justice system. The initiative is designed to expand community resources in the fight against crime, and to respond to concerns of neighbors in selected areas of the community by addressing issues they raise, intervention approaches agreed to in cooperation with neighborhood groups. The DA has spent substantial time in helping to create this initiative in the past year or so, and hopes that as the initiative gets underway, he will be able to devote less time to it and more time to the internal management and policy guidance issues raised above.

Key Questions and Observations

Numerous factors impact on, and in turn are influenced by, the District Attorney's office. Among the issues and questions they raise:

- There have been recent declines in felony case dispositions, convictions and pleas, with increases in case dismissals and cases going to trial. Why? What policies and practices of the DA contribute to these trends, and what changes can the DA implement to expedite cases and strengthen the functioning of the judicial system?
- How can the DA improve internal and external communications and working relationships with the Public Defender and Public Advocate offices to improve trust levels and to help expedite the processing of cases in a timely fashion?
- ❖ What can the DA's office do, in conjunction with defense attorneys and judges, to increase the use of SCIs to levels more consistent with those of most other counties, in order to reduce the time needed to dispose of felony arrest cases?
- ❖ What should the DA do to improve communications and working relationships with law enforcement officers to strengthen arrest cases and reduce the number of cases dismissed due to overcharging, poor evidence and/or unwilling witnesses?
- ❖ How can the DA improve internal procedures to ensure more consistent standards and training, strengthened accountability, more effective processing of cases between lower courts and County Court, fewer "cases falling through the cracks," and fewer case dismissals because of not meeting legal requirements for initiating timely prosecution of the cases?
- Similarly, how can the DA improve internal procedures to reduce unnecessary unsentenced jail days in cases that currently miss 45-day requirements for prosecution of cases remanded to jail?
- ❖ Jail and prison sentences have been declining for initial felony arrest charges. How can the DA collaborate more effectively with lower court judges and justices, defense attorneys and Probation officers developing pre-sentence investigations to make greater use of alternatives to incarceration to reduce unnecessary use of jail sentences for misdemeanor and violation charges?

Are staffing changes needed within the DA's office, especially to increase internal office efficiency, manage cases more effectively, and expedite cases throughout all levels of the judicial system? What staffing and technology changes are needed to more effectively track and expedite all felony, misdemeanor and violation cases through the system?

These and related questions must, to be sure, be addressed and answered primarily by the District Attorney's office. However, answers to most of the questions must also involve collaboration with and actions by other components of the judicial system. Related roles and responsibilities of these other components are addressed in Chapters 5 through 7, followed by specific comprehensive recommendations addressed to the entire system presented in the final chapter of the report.

5. Costs and Impact of Defense Counsel

Defense attorneys play a key role in determining how the criminal justice system operates. Although their role is primarily to react to actions taken by the District Attorney and decisions made by judges, they have immense influence in determining how smoothly and efficiently the system operates, how well defendant interests are represented, how long and under what circumstances some defendants are remanded to and remain in jail awaiting disposition of their cases, and the length of time it takes for cases to be disposed of by the courts.

Overview of Public Defense Function

Currently the County is perceived as having strong advocates for the defense on the public payroll—defenders who provide aggressive challenges to the prosecution efforts of the District Attorney. But until recent years, Chemung County's legal services for indigent residents were generally viewed as relatively weak and ineffective, with a relatively small Public Defender's (PD) office with significant staffing by part-time attorneys, supplemented by a heavy concentration of Assigned Counsel (AC) private attorneys. Beginning in the late 1990s, that began to change, with movement to more full-time staff in the PD's office. Furthermore, in 2004, the introduction of the Public Advocate's (PA) office began to shift more of the mix and proportion of cases away from Assigned Counsel to greater representation by County-employed defense attorneys.

Some concerns were expressed about public defense attorneys, but generally the two offices received favorable comments about their work.

Although both the current PD and PA staff and leadership received generally positive comments from those interviewed throughout the criminal justice system, some issues were raised by concerning: perceived occasional officials communications and lack of accessibility associated with certain assistant defense attorneys; occasional "no shows" or late appearances without notice at scheduled court dates; lack of contact between court dates; inconsistent approaches; inadequate preparation in advance of court appearances; and occasional lack of sufficient contact with defendants in between court appearances. Some concerns were also expressed that it would be helpful to have an assistant defender from at least one of the PD or PA staffs in City Court each day, which is apparently not always the case now (though defense attorneys indicate they are available

as needed at any time, upon court request). Despite those expressed concerns, which were viewed in general as being "the exceptions to the rule," comments provided by other attorneys, judges, magistrates and court staff were more typically complimentary about the work and flexibility of the PD and PA staffs.

Some of the current PA staff had previously been on the Public Defender staff, and one APD had previous experience as the District Attorney in another county. Thus the attorneys on both staffs have significant experience and know the system, and often each other, well. As such, there appears to be a close working relationship between the two offices, with common standards and practices at least implicit, even if not formally documented. The offices often share various briefs, motions and other materials common to the work of both. Although, as with the District Attorney's office, less experienced attorneys are often assigned to the high-volume Elmira City Court, there appears to be a more conscious effort in the two defender offices to train and provide support for new attorneys in that setting. However, like the DA's office, there appears to be no formal performance evaluation system in place in either the PD or PA office, though informal discussions occur with people in the criminal justice system to obtain feedback about staff performance.

One final issue should be raised about the two defender offices: Their internal case tracking systems appear to be more effective than that of the DA's office in monitoring the status of cases, and in particular knowing case status against 45-day and 180-day legal requirements for prosecution, and the offices are ready in advance to file appropriate motions if such deadlines are missed. However, it should also be noted that the computerized systems in place do not appear currently to be used optimally to generate consistent caseload data for either office, as noted below.

Growth in Public Defense Function

Public sector staffing for indigent legal services in Chemung County has increased by about 67% since the late 1990s—from 6.8 to 11.5 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees overall, and from 4.5 FTE attorneys to 7.5 in 2005.

Full-Time PD Staff Increases, but Remains Below DA Staffing Until the late 1990s, the Public Defender was a part-time position, as were the bulk of the Assistant PD positions. According to the County Budget office, including attorneys, investigator and clerical support staff, the Public Defender office was staffed by 6.8 FTE positions in 1998, compared to 12.9 FTEs within the District Attorney's office. Beginning in 2000, the Public Defender staff increased to 7.5 FTEs, which included expanded full-time attorneys—a level which has continued since, with basically the same staffing pattern in the intervening years: 3 full-time attorneys (the Public Defender and two Assistant PDs), a full-time investigator, 2 full-time clerical support staff, and three part-time (considered half-time) APDs. By way of comparison, during this period, the District Attorney's staff averaged 11.5 FTEs per year.

Each year, the efforts of the PD staff were supplemented by additional indigent legal services supplied by private attorneys under the Assigned Counsel program. Defendants qualifying for indigent defense representation were typically represented by the Public Defender, with the following exceptions: (1) some form of conflict existed in a case, such as with more than one defendant, in which case only one defendant could be represented by the PD; (2) some cases were assigned outright in some lower courts to an AC attorney; and (3) Family Court cases, which until 2004 were routinely represented by Assigned Counsel, due primarily to relatively low AC hourly costs and staffing constraints within the PD's office which made such coverage impossible.

Creation of Public Advocate's Office In 2004, in order to control significantly-expanded costs associated with state-mandated increases that year in rates for Assigned Counsel, the County authorized the creation of a new Public Advocate's office to handle as many of the cases as possible that had previously been represented by AC attorneys. The PA office provides virtually identical services to those provided by the PD function, except that it also provides legal representation for parole violations and selected Family Court cases not previously served by the PD, as well as covering more of the lower court criminal cases and conflict cases previously assigned to AC attorneys.

Once it became fully staffed, the PA office has included four FTE positions: three full-time attorneys (the Public Advocate and two

Assistant PAs) plus a full-time confidential secretary. Initially one of the APA positions was part-time, and there was a part-time investigator, but in the past year that has evolved into a full-time APA and no investigator for the office (though the office has access to the investigator in the PD office).

County Defense and DA Staff Now More Equal Thus, as shown below in Table 9, the District Attorney and Public Defender plus Public Advocate staffing have become virtually identical, both in overall numbers as well as in both functional and full-time versus part-time configurations.

Table 9: Staffing of Public Defense and District Attorney Functions in Chemung County, 2005

Staff Positions	Public Defense*	District Attorney
Leadership	2 (PD + PA)	2 (DA + Chief Asst.)
Full-time Assistants	4 (2 APDs, 2 APAs)	4 ADAs
Part-time Assistants	3 APDs (1.5 FTEs)	3 ADAs (1.5 FTEs)
Investigators	1 full-time	2 part-time (1 FTE)
Clerical Support	3 (2 PD, 1 PA)	3
Total FTEs	11.5	11.5

Source: County Budget Office, and PD, PA and DA offices. *Includes total of Public Defender + Public Advocate staffing.

Numerical parity in staffing is not necessarily indicative of equity or appropriateness of staffing patterns, especially since one FTE in the PA office is devoted to non-criminal case processing (Family Court cases and parole hearings and appeals). On the other hand, the DA function is responsible for all cases being prosecuted, while the two public defense offices only cover those cases that qualify for indigent defense coverage—though partial data presented below suggest that a large majority of both misdemeanor and felony cases in the County are typically represented by public defense attorneys.

equal to the DA's, and
is similar to PD
staffing in Steuben
County—but more
study is needed to
determine if the
number and mix of DA
and defense attorney
staff are appropriate.

Chemung's defense

attorney staffing is

A detailed management study of each of the DA, PD and PA offices was beyond the scope of this project, but such a study would be needed to objectively determine equity of staffing between the prosecuting and defense offices. A variety of factors would need to be considered, such as caseloads, time spent per typical case, time spent on Family Court cases by defense attorneys (cases in which the DA has no responsibility), time spent in court versus other functions, and proportion of cases handled by the different defense offices, compared with AC cases.

Without conducting such detailed analyses, it is difficult to assess the appropriateness of the staffing between the offices, except to suggest that there is presumably greater parity and representation of the public's overall interests by having closer to the current 1:1 ratio of DA to defense attorneys than the roughly 1.5:1 ratio that existed before the addition of the PA function. Moreover, although again comparisons must be made with caution, it is worth indicating that in Steuben County, with previously-noted similarities to Chemung, there are also 11.5 FTE positions in the Public Defender's office, though the staff mix differs somewhat from that in Chemung—five rather than six full-time, and six rather than three part-time attorneys, no investigator, and 3.5 rather than three clerical staff.

Case Volume Appears to be Increasing

Data on volume of cases represented by defense attorneys were inconsistent and incomplete, but what was available appears to indicate increases in numbers of cases. To better understand the appropriateness of staffing levels, it would be important to understand the volume of cases represented by the various defense functions. Unfortunately, we were not able to obtain consistent data to accurately compare the PD, PA and AC caseloads. The most complete data were available for the PD function, but four different sets of data made available by that office for various periods of time each showed significantly different accountings of cases defended per year. Moreover, limited caseload data were able to be obtained for the first full year of the PA office's existence, and only partial data were available concerning the numbers of cases represented by AC attorneys.

Table 10 below presents the most consistent data available concerning defense attorney caseloads over the past few years, subject to the noted limitations. It represents data presented by the Public Defender to the Budget office for the most recent four years.

Table 10: Chemung County Public Defender Caseloads, 2002-2005

Type cases	2002	2003	2004	2005	
Felonies	416	437	469	494	
Misdemeanors	790	1,164	1,269	1,046	
Violations of Probation	80	97	119	116	
TOTAL	1,286	1,698	1,857	1,656	

Source: Chemung County Public Defender data presented to County Budget Office.

The Public Defender appears to represent about 75% of all felony arrests and 60% of misdemeanor arrests.

These data suggest growing caseloads within the PD office in recent years, with the exception of 2005. However, other data presented by the PD office to CGR through November 2005 suggest that the total Table 10 numbers for 2005 may be too low, especially for misdemeanors. On the other hand, the felonies in this table are higher than the other reported data. Regardless of data used, however, the overall trends suggest that the PD workload has been growing since 2002, and that the PD office has been defending about 75% of all felony arrests in the County over the past four years (compared with earlier Table 1). Using data from the same table, the PD's office appears to have also represented about 60% of all misdemeanor arrests over that period.

A significant focus of the Public Advocate office's attention has been devoted to representing parties in Family Court, but it is also responsible for covering cases in lower criminal courts, and in all courts where conflicts are involved that had previously been represented by AC attorneys. For 2005, the PA office indicated that it represented 142 felony and 730 misdemeanor/violation matters in local criminal courts, as well as 206 Family Court cases, 140 parole hearings and "almost 100 parole appeals"—cases which would otherwise have been handled by Assigned Counsel attorneys. Anecdotally, CGR was told that the total numbers of criminal court cases represented by Assigned Counsel have been declining since the PA office was established, but we were unable to obtain data to independently verify those assertions. In fact, Elmira City Court data suggest that AC cases in that court have not varied substantially over the four years from 2002 - 2005: 424, 477, 469, 404. Consistent caseload data over time were not available either from the PA office or to document trends in AC caseloads in recent years, other than the City Court data.

It should also be noted that determination of total cases represented by defense attorneys is complicated by the fact that more than one attorney may be involved in the same case, representing different defendants. Thus a case may be counted more than once in PD and PA totals, though the numbers of separate defendants being represented should not be subject to double-counting.

Overall Defense Costs Up Since New Rates Imposed

In the absence of comprehensive caseload data, it was especially important that data were available concerning budgets and expenditures for the combined defense functions in recent years (PD, PA and AC). Prior to January 2004, Assigned Counsel were reimbursed, according to rates established by NYS, with County tax dollars at the rates of \$40 per hour for court appearances and \$25 per hour for non-court time spent on cases. As of the beginning of 2004, state-mandated rates increased substantially to \$75 per hour for all time spent on felony and Family Court matters, and \$60 per hour for all time spent on misdemeanor cases.

Increased Costs Not Yet Offset by PA Office

Between 2001 and 2003, before the AC rates increased, the County's overall costs for the PD function and for AC attorneys averaged about \$860,000 a year, with about 52% of that amount attributable to the Public Defender office. In 2004, when the increased rates took effect in January, and when the new PA office started operations in the second quarter of the year, the combined PD, PA and AC expenditures increased dramatically, as expected—to a total of almost \$1.5 million. At the time our report was written, available data were not complete for all of 2005, as final expenditures often take a few months into the new year before surfacing. But it appears as if the combined costs for 2005 were likely to be in the \$1.5 million range again, when all expenses were submitted. Thus on the surface it appears as if the creation of the PA office had not yet by itself, by the end of 2005, been able to reduce the overall indigent defense funds expended by the County.

Overall defense costs
have not yet been
reduced by the PA
office, though key data
were not available to
answer important
questions, and
additional steps may
still need to be taken
to reduce future costs.

However, to answer that question more definitively, it would be necessary to contrast comparable cases and determine what AC costs in the past would have been with the new rate structure in effect, and to compare numbers of cases processed by the various courts, and cases (and vouchers, for AC cases) processed by the various defense attorney options, each year prior to and following the introduction of the new rates. But we were not able to obtain such information. By 2006, it seems reasonable to hypothesize that actual combined costs should begin to decline from 2004, when the new rates and the new PA office were introduced, and should decline compared to what they would have been without the new PA office in place to absorb more of the AC cases. It

may be that for sustained cost reduction to occur, additional steps may still need to be taken, as suggested below, to more effectively screen for eligibility for indigent defense services in the first place, and to have greater impact on the most costly source of AC expenditures, Family Court.

Family Court Major Contributor to Defense Cost Increases

An analysis of Assigned Counsel expenditures under both old and new rate structures indicates that Family Court accounted for more than 45% of all Assigned Counsel costs prior to the rate increases, but about 55% of such costs since the new rates went into effect in 2004. Moreover, Family Court is the only one of five specified AC budget cost areas (the others are County Court, Supreme Court, Justice Courts, and Grand Jury) in which actual expenditures every year from 2001 through 2005 consistently exceeded the budget. Although the data for 2005 were incomplete, the data for 2004 and partial 2005 data suggested that the use of AC attorneys in Justice Courts and in Grand Jury proceedings may be declining as a result of PD and PA joint efforts, with possible reductions also seen in the County Court area (though final data from 2005 would be needed to confirm that conclusion). But what is very clear is that, even if there are hopeful signs of impact in reducing AC criminal costs, the Assigned Counsel Family Court costs continue to escalate, both in actual dollars and as a percent of overall defense attorney costs. This seems likely to continue unless additional defense attorneys from the public sector can be used to replace AC attorneys, at reduced costs per case (see below).

Family Court cases are the major driver of Assigned Counsel \$430,000 have been spent on Family Court AC costs in each of the

Thus even with the introduction of the PA office and its focus on Family Court cases, Family Court AC costs increased at faster rates than the overall AC cost increases from 2003 to 2004, when the new rates went into effect: overall AC costs increased by 83% between 2003 and 2004, compared with a 147% increase among Family Court cases. In 2004 and 2005, Family Court AC cases cost taxpayers more than \$430,000 each year. Although specific data were not available to answer the question definitively, it appears that overall Family Court cases determined by judges to need indigent defense attorneys increased substantially since 2003. Partial data from different sources indicate that there were 738 Family Court AC cases in 2003, pre-rate increase, and 860 AC vouchers for Family Court cases under the higher rate structure.

costs. More than

past two years.

Impact of New Public Advocate Function

There are some indications that the new PA office has begun to reduce the costs of criminal cases represented by AC attorneys, but major savings may not be possible until additional investments are made to reduce costly Family Court AC cases.

Although the investment in the new Public Advocate office has not yet resulted in a net reduction in the County's overall expenditures for indigent defense services, it is likely that the total costs are now lower than what they would have been had there been no intervention, given the PA's impact on criminal, Family Court and parole cases that would otherwise have been handled by Assigned Counsel. Unfortunately, as suggested above, CGR did not have access to data needed to make that definitive However, it is encouraging to note that actual AC expenditures even after the substantial rate increases appeared to be as low or <u>lower</u> than before the increases, both within Justice Courts and Grand Jury proceedings, and may have been lower or only slightly higher for County Court (depending on final voucher submissions). Furthermore, looking forward, data are presented in the section below (on further refinements needed in the public defense system) that suggest that significant overall cost reductions should be possible, especially within Family Court, if certain additional investments and enhancements are made to the staffing model currently in place.

In addition to future direct savings to taxpayers, NYS began in 2005 to reimburse counties for at least a portion of their added costs associated with the mandate to increase AC rates. For 2005 (and presumably future years), this should add about \$180,000 to County revenues. This should mean, when all expenditures and revenues have been totaled for 2005, that the net costs of defense attorneys to County taxpayers would be between \$1.3 and \$1.4 million.

In addition to any current and future fiscal benefits of the County's decision to reduce its reliance on Assigned Counsel, a number of other benefits are likely to result, including:

It should now be possible to undertake more extensive and consistent training and orientation with defense attorneys within the PD and PA offices than could ever happen with multiple AC attorneys with no central oversight. More routine internal review and discussion of criminal cases should also be possible between the PD and PA staffs, which should result in more consistent and flexible approaches and strategies for negotiations with ADAs and judges.

- As a result, most observers we spoke with expect more coordinated, consistent defense representation to occur, on a more timely basis, with fewer unnecessary court delays and adjournments, and more focus on cases than often occurs with AC attorneys.
- * Court cases, pleas, bail decisions, etc. should be expedited and accomplished with fewer delays than has previously been the case, given the combination of fewer AC cases and more consistent oversight of the PD and PA offices and operations. Time should be reduced in the now-often-lengthy periods of transition between lower and County courts. More cases should be able to be resolved sooner, creating greater efficiencies in the courts at all levels, and potentially reducing time spent by defendants in jail awaiting case dispositions. As one observer noted, "It is easier to meet with one attorney to settle 10 cases rather than several Assigned Counsel attorneys to settle one case at a time."
- The Public Defender and Public Advocate should be able to hold their attorneys more accountable for their actions and decisions, how they spend their time, and the ways in which they interact with other "players" in the system.

Further Investment May be Needed in Public Defense System

As indicated above, comments made in interviews with several attorneys and judges suggest that the creation of the PA office has begun to result in reductions in numbers of criminal cases in which AC attorneys are involved. Although no confirming data were presented to indicate caseload or AC voucher reductions, expenditure data for 2004 and 2005, though incomplete, seem to suggest that such reductions may in fact have begun to occur. However, those same expenditure data also suggest strongly that unless and until significant reductions can be made in the numbers of Family Court cases represented by Assigned Counsel, the costs to taxpayers will continue to be significant.

Investing to Save Significant Dollars Best estimates available to CGR suggest that at least 860 Family Court cases a year continue to be assigned to AC attorneys, costing the County more than \$430,000 a year. In order to continue to reduce the remaining criminal cases assigned to AC attorneys to the bare minimum, including only those cases in which a conflict exists involving more than two defendants—and in order to handle *all* Family Court cases unless a conflict exists—further investment in additional County defense attorneys is likely

to be needed. Currently one Assistant PA represents one party in many of the abuse and neglect cases within Family Court, as well as in custody/visitation and termination of parental rights cases. But in many of these cases, Assigned Counsel represent the second party, at great cost to the County.

Given the needs and the savings potential, it may make sense to hire one additional Assistant attorney in both the PD and PA offices, since many of the Family Court cases will need representation for two parties. If the goal is to reduce AC representation to a minimum, while also ensuring quality legal services for those who are eligible, hiring one additional full-time defense attorney in each office would seem to be justified. Two full-time staff in Steuben County's PD office are devoted exclusively to Family Court, and between them have served an average of about 1,100 cases a year. With at least 860 AC vouchers reported for Family Court cases a year, plus additional criminal cases to also be represented, hiring two additional attorneys would seem to make sense, one per office. An additional FTE secretary is probably also necessary to provide additional clerical services, probably split into two half-time positions, one per office.

Hiring two new defense attorneys should result in net County savings of about a quarter million dollars each year.

If two attorneys were hired at \$42,500 each (with 50% benefits), and two part-time secretaries at \$14,000 each (with 20% benefits), total salary plus benefits would equal \$160,600. PD/PA leadership believe it should be possible to eliminate all but about 60 to 75 Family Court cases from AC representation with appropriate PD/PA staffing. Based on current AC Family Court costs of more than \$430,000 a year and elimination of all but 60 to 75 cases at an average of about \$500 per case, about \$400,000 of AC costs should be eliminated per year if all other Family Court cases are represented by Assistant PD or PA attorneys. Thus County taxpayers would receive a net reduction of about \$240,000 a year just in Family Court costs, after investment in salaries and benefits are factored in. In addition, further reductions would be likely as a result of additional cuts in AC criminal cases that could be covered with the same additional County defense attorney staff.

Potential Value of Central Screening Function The County may also wish to consider a pilot test of a proposal that has been suggested for the creation of an "Indigent Defense Screener" position. It has been hypothesized by a number of officials within the criminal justice system that potentially significant numbers of defendants now receiving indigent legal services in the criminal justice system—and perhaps even larger proportions of those currently receiving public defense services in Family Court—may not technically meet financial eligibility requirements for defense services. There have been no uniform standards for determining eligibility, and typically individual judges make the decisions, often on the basis of cursory information at best. Since a court case in 2001, judges have been reluctant to reject any request for appointed counsel in Family Court cases. A central eligibility screening function could create uniform eligibility standards and apply them consistently throughout the various courts in the County's judicial system.

In addition, such a central screening function could make attorney assignments or at least suggest assignments to judges of attorneys on a rational basis, rather than leaving the assignments to individual judges who may be unaware of efficiencies possible under a centralized system. For example, a judge may be unaware of cases pending for a defendant in other jurisdictions. Under current arrangements, such a defendant may be assigned by different judges to multiple AC attorneys, thereby virtually ensuring inefficiencies, court delays, and added costs to the system. Similarly, a town or village justice might assign several different attorneys to several different cases on the same court date, rather than considering assigning a single attorney to several cases, thereby helping to reduce the costs of separate travel time and time billed by several attorneys waiting for their cases to be heard.

A pilot project to test the feasibility of a central screening and attorney assignment function may result in cost savings and efficiencies across courts. Furthermore, with AC vouchers currently submitted to separate judges, there is no mechanism in place to analyze billing patterns and to compare costs against attorneys and courts. A central screening function could screen defendants for eligibility, assign attorneys rationally, and review vouchers (and even potentially be responsible for subsequent collection of fees if some Family Court cases were accepted for legal representation on a sliding-fee scale basis). As such, this function could potentially add to savings in public defense/indigent legal services expenditures each year.

With no experience to date in doing any of these screening and assessment functions, there is no way to realistically estimate whether the savings or other potential benefits would be sufficient to justify the costs of implementing such an approach, over and above savings likely from adding attorneys, as suggested above. Thus the idea of initiating a pilot project for a limited period of time to test the proposition seems worth exploring. If it proves to be cost effective, it could then be implemented on a permanent basis. If, on the other hand, the test does not justify the costs—or perhaps proves not to be needed if most AC cases have already been removed from the system via other approaches—the screening function could be eliminated following the pilot test, at no additional costs.

Public Defender-DA Working Relationships

As noted in Chapter 4, cases often sit in jail or remain on court calendars for long periods of time before action is taken, or the case is dismissed for failure to prosecute. This results, in some cases, in defendants sitting in jail in officially "unsentenced" status, which for all intents and purposes may be no different than an unofficial "sentence" or punishment for that defendant. This approach, when accompanied by the DA's historical reluctance to use Superior Court Informations as an alternative to Grand Jury Indictments, can have the practical effect of limiting a defendant's and defense attorney's options, and can certainly be the basis for contention between the parties.

DA and defense attorney decisions often have the practical effect of keeping unsentenced defendants in jail on unofficial "sentences." To be fair, however, defense attorneys are often willing partners to such discussions. They often counsel their clients to "sit tight" and spend unsentenced time in jail, because it *may* result in a "better" outcome, i.e., a better plea agreement and sentence than they would obtain otherwise, or even a dismissal of the case. Thus separate DA and defense attorney decisions, along with those of the defendant and in many cases the judge, often have the realistic effect of "sentencing" defendants to "theoretically unsentenced" jail time, deemed to meet the needs and best interests of all parties—except, perhaps, those of the jail and local taxpayers.

The DA's office and defense attorneys have not always worked as effectively together as they should have to expedite and craft resolutions to cases, in part because of the historically large number of AC attorneys making it difficult to operate efficiently. With the creation of the Public Advocate office, and gradual reduction in

Opportunities exist to build trust and more effective working relationships between PD, PA and DA offices, including the potential for expanded use of SCIs. emphasis on AC attorneys, the PD, PA and DA offices are open to possible opportunities for the development of improved working relationships between the three offices, including the expansion of the use of SCIs as a potential way to reduce court processing (and in some cases jail) time. As suggested in the DA chapter, the key to such discussions, and the potential for future improved working relationships between the offices, is the establishment of enhanced trust between the leadership and the attorneys in the different offices. All key parties indicated in our interviews the willingness to embark on a process to build on and improve existing working relationships.

Key Questions and Observations

Various factors affect the future of indigent defense services in Chemung County. Among the key issues and questions raised in this chapter are the following:

- It may make sense to consider the establishment of an overall computerized tracking system with built-in efficiencies between the PD and PA offices. Both offices could benefit from better means of accurately and consistently monitoring and tracking over time such variables as numbers of cases, caseloads per attorney, outcomes, and time spent per type of case in both offices, and for cases represented by Assigned Counsel attorneys. Uniform definitions of cases would be needed for such a system to be effective. An enhanced case management system is expected to be installed in the PA office later this year.
- * Taxpayers and the overall justice system may benefit from the establishment of consistent standards for determining eligibility for indigent defense services, and from development of a process for consistently assessing the eligibility of cases in courts throughout the County. What is the potential value of establishing a central eligibility screening function which could also help in the efficient assignment of attorneys to defendants and review of vouchers and potential collection of fees? Should the County consider a pilot project to test such approaches?
- ❖ Family Court accounts for the highest, and fastest-growing, Assigned Counsel costs. There is more flexibility in determining eligibility for Family Court indigent defense representation than is true in criminal cases. Eligibility issues deserve special scrutiny.
- Hiring two additional staff attorneys, one per PD and PA office, offers the potential for net taxpayer savings of a quarter of a

- million dollars or more annually, compared to current spending levels, particularly in reduced Family Court AC costs.
- ❖ How can the Public Defender and Public Advocate work with the District Attorney to improve trust levels and working relationships to help expedite the processing of cases in a timely fashion?
- Similarly, what can the PD, PA and DA's office do, in conjunction with judges, to increase the use of SCIs to levels more consistent with those of most other counties, in order to reduce the time needed to dispose of felony arrest cases?

6. IMPACT OF EXISTING COURT PRACTICES

The efficiency, speed and manner with which cases are processed through the courts/justice system have a direct impact on the jail population. These factors, as well as the perceived fairness of the process, also have direct impact on the lives of the defendants who come before the courts, as well as on the attorneys who prosecute and defend them, and on various alternative programs that interact with and are influenced by court decisions. This chapter focuses on the impact these various components of the criminal justice system have on the courts, and vice versa.

Information presented in this chapter was available from a number of sources. In addition to the insights obtained from a wide range of interviews, a variety of specific data were obtained from the NYS Unified Court System, a special analysis of a four-month sample of Superior Court Filings (indictments and Superior Court Informations) filed in County Court from September 1 through December 31, 2004, and a special analysis of Probation data on pre-sentence investigations.

By way of overview, what we know about criminal court cases in Chemung County on an annual basis is the following:

- An average of about 320 new felony filings (indictments and SCIs) have been initiated in recent years in County Court.
- ◆ From 2001 through 2005, an average of 2,785 new criminal felony, misdemeanor and violation filings were initiated in Elmira City Court, ranging between 2,600 and about 2,960 each year.
- We were unable to determine from the justice courts any data on the numbers of criminal cases initiated in the town and village courts within Chemung County. However, we know from jail data previously presented, and from PSI data presented below, that about a quarter of all remands to the jail and a similar proportion of PSIs requested each year originate in the justice courts. Although those proportions are not necessarily indicative of total cases prosecuted, their consistency suggests that it is reasonable to speculate that about

a quarter of all criminal court cases initiated in the County in a given year originated in the town/village courts. If that is the case, an average of about 1,035 criminal cases would have surfaced annually in recent years in the justice courts.

◆ If the justice court estimates are reasonably accurate, an annual average of more than 4,100 criminal court cases have been initiated in recent years in all County, City and justice courts throughout Chemung County.

In addition to the prosecution of these cases by the District Attorney's office, those criminal cases generated the following workloads for other key components of the criminal justice system (not including jail data, which were presented in Chapter 3):

- An average of more than 1,700 criminal cases were represented by the Public Defender's office in each of the past three years, in addition to almost 875 criminal cases in 2005 in which defendants were represented at public cost through the Public Advocate office, and unknown numbers of cases represented by Assigned Counsel attorneys (we know from partial data that these totals represent several hundred cases per year).
- ◆ Typically about 960 or more cases are under active supervision at any given time under the auspices of the Probation Department.
- ◆ Pre-sentence investigations (PSIs) may be requested by judges/justices before sentence is pronounced in criminal cases. Subject to applicable waivers under specified circumstances, PSIs are required for felony convictions, youthful offenders, and for misdemeanor convictions if probation sentences or jail sentences of more than 90 days are anticipated. Thus cases in which PSIs are requested tend to reflect the more serious cases being disposed of by courts at all levels throughout the system. Probation data indicate that an average of 855 PSIs have been completed each year from 2001 − 2005, with relatively little variation from year to year (ranging from a low of 833 to a high of 885 during that period).

County Court Felony Cases

Although a relatively small proportion of all cases in the County's criminal justice system, County Court cases (all of which originated as felony arrest charges) have a disproportionately large impact on the rest of the system. The attorney and court staff

resources these cases require, their impact on the jail, and their impact on lower courts before they are prosecuted at the upper/County Court level, are all out of proportion to their relatively small numbers.

Most felony cases originate at one of the City or town/village lower courts, where the cases are arraigned and decisions made that determine whether the defendants will be initially detained, and if so, if and when and under what circumstances each defendant may subsequently be released. The time between those decisions made shortly after the defendant's arrest and the ultimate disposition of the case is typically exceedingly long and drawn out.

CGR analyzed 85 County Court cases filed between September and the end of December of 2004 (a sample thought by County Court officials to be representative of the full year's 331 case filings).

More than half of the cases prosecuted as felonies in County Court were not held in According to Court records, about 23% of the cases were filed directly with County Court. Just over half were initiated in City Court, and 26% were arraigned initially in one of the justice courts. Eleven percent waived Grand Jury proceedings and were filed as SCIs (slightly higher than the 8% figure for the entire year). About 55% were released into the community while awaiting disposition of their cases—half of those on bail, and the other half split about evenly between Release on Recognizance (ROR) and release to Project for Bail. More than a third (35%) were detained in the County jail throughout the processing of their cases, with another 7% detained in a state correctional facility (having been charged with crimes allegedly committed while already an inmate in that state prison).

Long Delays Processing Felony Cases

custody prior to

sentencing.

As shown below in Table 11, of the County Court cases, the average amount of time from lower court arraignment to the final court date for sentencing was 283 days—more than nine months. Only 16% of the cases were resolved within six months and, at the other end of the spectrum, more than half (54%) of the cases took more than nine months from arraignment to final disposition, including a quarter which took more than a year.

The average County
Court case took more
than 9 months from
lower court
arraignment to
disposition. A quarter
of the cases took more
than a year to resolve.

Jail Custody Cases Expedited

Court processing time was significantly reduced for cases of defendants remaining in custody; still, the average case in custody took 7 months to complete.

Lengthy Delays in Lower Courts

About three months of the average felony case were spent in a lower court prior to filing at the County Court level.

Table 11: Average Days Between Events in Proceedings of Chemung County Court Cases with Filing Dates Between 9/1/04 and 12/31/04

Court Process Stage	Total	Jail	Non-Jail
L.C. Arraignment to Disposition	283	218	308
L.C. Arraignment to County Crt. Filing	95	50	119
County Court Filing to Sentencing	177	154	196
PSI Request to Sentencing	69	47	83

Source: CGR analysis of sample data from Chemung County Court..

NOTE: L.C. = lower court (City Court and town/village justice courts); Jail and Non-Jail refer to custody status during processing of criminal case. The second and third rows may not equal the "L.C. Arraignment to Disposition" total due to missing data in a few cases. The fourth row is a subset of the third.

Despite the lengthy court proceedings, efforts were apparently made at various key points in the process to expedite cases of defendants who remained in custody, either because they were held without bail, were not able to make bail, and/or were not released ROR or through Project for Bail. As discussed in more detail below, at each of several junctures in the court proceedings, the court cases of those remaining in jail moved significantly faster than those cases in which the defendants had been released from the jail on bail, ROR or Project for Bail. This suggests some conscious effort on the part of various combinations of District Attorney, defense attorneys, judges and Probation to attempt to reduce the court processing time of defendants remaining in custody. Nonetheless, even with such efforts, it took seven months (218 days) to bring the average case of defendants in jail to closure, from lower court arraignment to sentencing.

About a third of the time needed to dispose of the average court case—95 days—was spent with the case remaining under the responsibility of the lower court. That is, it took an average of just over three months for cases to move from lower court arraignment to filing at the County Court level (either with a Grand Jury Indictment or an SCI date being set). About 38% of the cases took more than four months to reach the County Court filing stage, including 25% which took five months or more.

Cases of defendants who were detained in jail during lower court proceedings were processed more rapidly on average than were those who had made bail or been released either ROR or through the Project for Bail program. Defendants who remained in jail in Lower court cases in custody are processed much more rapidly than those which are released. But many fail to meet the legal 45-day deadline for prosecution; earlier prosecution decisions could reduce the average jail population by 8 beds per night.

lower courts had their County Court cases filed within an average of 50 days, compared to 119 days for those who had been released. This is presumably directly related to the legal requirement for prosecution to begin within 45 days for felony cases which remain in custody. Nonetheless, one-third (six) of the 18 sample cases in custody were not released until after the 45-day deadline, and another four (22%) remained in custody for between 40 and 45 days before being released. Thus, even with the efforts to prosecute custody cases more rapidly to meet legal requirements, many defendants remain in custody right up to, or beyond, the legal deadline. As suggested in Chapter 4, as many as 8 beds per night could safely be freed up in the jail if the 45-day deadline were more carefully adhered to, and prosecutorial decisions made and acted on earlier in the process.

Felony cases originated in Elmira City Court typically took less time to reach County Court than did the average justice court case: cases opened in the City Court took an average of 86 days (including both those in custody and those released), compared to an average of four months (122 days) in the town/village courts.

Once cases reached, or began in, County Court, it took an average of almost another six months (177 days) from filing to final sentencing, with an average of 5.8 court appearances per case, including the final sentencing date. There were often delays of two to three weeks between the filing and arraignment at the upper court level. Although cases going to the Grand Jury reached County Court faster than SCI cases, once there they took much longer to resolve, as noted in Chapter 4. SCI cases involved an average of 3.4 court appearances, compared to 5.9 for GJ cases.

As also shown in Table 11, cases involving custody reached final disposition and sentencing an average of 42 days sooner than did the cases of defendants who had been released. Cases of one County Court judge with the reputation for streamlining and expediting cases reached final disposition an average of 50 calendar days sooner than the typical case for the second County Court judge. Just over half of the second judge's cases took more than seven months to be completed, compared to 16% of the first judge's; by contrast, 44% of the first judge's cases had reached

Almost 6 Months to Process Average Case in County Court

Once a case reaches
County Court, it takes,
on average, almost 6
months to complete,
from filing to
sentencing, with
significant differences
by judge. SCI cases,
and those involving
custody, were
processed more
rapidly than other
cases.

final disposition and sentencing within four months, compared to 17% of the second judge's cases.

Much of the time between County Court filings and sentencing is spent between PSI requests and final sentencing, with custody cases being completed more rapidly.

Issues Affecting Court Delays

Delays in reaching disposition of cases in County Court are attributable to a variety of systemic issues that need to be addressed across all components of the criminal justice system. Of the average of 177 days from County Court filing to sentencing, almost 40% of that time was typically spent between the time a verdict was reached, and the final sentencing date. That is, an average of 69 days was spent between the time a Pre-Sentence Investigation (PSI) was requested and the final sentencing date for these County Court cases. Again, as discussed in more detail below, there appears to be an effort to expedite the processing of PSIs for cases remaining in custody, with the time from request for a PSI to the final sentencing date taking about 36 fewer days for those in custody than those already released to the community.

Clearly a significant proportion of the felony cases prosecuted in Chemung County Court take several months to wend their way from arrest and lower court arraignment to final disposition and sentencing. The issue is systemic in nature. As noted above, a significant portion of the delays in resolving cases has been between the lower courts and County Court—i.e., getting the cases onto the County Court dockets in the first place. Even longer portions of the delays have to do with processing cases within County Court itself, including significant periods awaiting completion and processing of PSI reports in many cases. (This topic is covered later in this chapter.)

Thus the overall length of time to process cases cannot be attributed to one or two simple issues that can be easily resolved. Making any significant reductions in the length of time currently needed to dispose of criminal cases in the County requires addressing a number of systemic issues, and will need the active support of people and agencies across all levels of the system. Among the issues that will need attention are the following:

Strengthening the Public Defender's and Public Advocate's offices with additional full-time attorneys is key to earlier and more consistent defense representation. As long as substantial numbers of criminal cases need to be represented by Assigned Counsel—with little ability of anyone in the criminal justice system to effectively manage the time and quality of such representation, and little ability to enforce consistent standards—there will continue to

Continuing to reduce the County's reliance on Assigned Counsel should help expedite cases and reduce unnecessary detention of unsentenced defendants.

be more delayed cases and more defendants detained in custody than need to be there to meet community safety goals. Creation of the Public Advocate office has begun to chip away at this issue, but further expansion of the PD and PA offices appears needed to fully resolve it, and save County dollars at the same time.

- Because lower court judges (City and town/village) cannot set bail or accept pleas on certain felony charges and/or charges in which defendants have two or more prior felony convictions, and because judges do not always have the information to even know in many cases what the defendant's prior record is, some defendants may be detained unnecessarily. Some defendants who do not have prior felony charges may be good candidates for release, but if the local judge does not have the necessary information to determine the criminal history in a timely fashion, the judge may exercise understandable caution and remand the defendant to jail pending additional information. A defendant detained at arraignment may not appear again before the judge for several days or even weeks in some courts. Judges and justices may reconsider release/bail decisions between court appearances, but this does not always happen. Defendants in some cases remain in jail longer than necessary as a result.
- Such concerns early in the judicial process are exacerbated at times by the problems inherent in limited staffing of both the PD/PA and DA offices, combined with multiple courts covered by these attorneys, which can lead to attorneys not being present at all of the limited appearances of certain courts, in turn leading to additional adjournments and further delays at the lower court levels. There is currently no systematic way for the courts to routinely review the custody status of cases, other than through the attention of individual judges or attorneys, and cases can easily languish not by design or bad intentions, but simply because of the nature of the current system and the stresses it places on each of its components. There is currently no central leadership pushing the various components of the system to collaborate more effectively to try to find ways of expediting cases and minimizing those that need to be in jail.
- And, on top of these issues, there are the issues referenced above of poor communications and conflicting signals historically between the District Attorney's office and public defense counsel,

There is currently no central leadership to push for changes needed throughout all components of the criminal justice system.

especially concerning terms of plea agreements and how firm they are perceived to be. In particular, the historic lack of use of SCI filings has added significantly to court time, compared with other counties.

There are significant differences between courts and individual judges in efficiency, personality, style and court management that affect time spent to dispose of cases and time spent in jail awaiting case disposition.

Relationship Between Detention and Sentencing In our four-month sample of County Court cases, two-thirds of the defendants wound up convicted on a felony charge, with about a third reduced to a misdemeanor. Two-thirds were also sentenced to incarceration, including 47% to a prison sentence and 18% to jail. About 30% received combinations of probation, work order, fines, conditional discharge or other types of non-incarceration sentences. About 5% of the cases had not yet been sentenced at the end of the data collection period.

These sentences were clearly significantly correlated to their custody status while awaiting disposition of the cases. For example, of the 19 defendants who received a probation sentence, 18 had been released on their own recognizance, through Project for Bail, or had posted bail. On the other hand, of 40 defendants sentenced to prison, 27 had been detained in jail through the court process. Of the 15 receiving a jail sentence, their unsentenced custody status had been mixed, with 5 spending at least some time in jail, and 10 released in various ways.

Looked at from the opposite perspective of their custody status prior to sentencing, of the 30 who had been detained pre-sentence, all but two received either a jail (7, including 3 for time served) or prison (21) sentence. Of the 46 who had been released ROR, on Project for Bail, or by posting bail, almost half (22) received a probation or other non-incarceration sentence, although 14 were sentenced to prison and 9 to jail (one sentence unknown).

needed to send a sentencing/punishment signal to the defendant?

Clearly at the felony charge level, there is a strong relationship between the custody status and the ultimate sentence. What is less clear is the cause-effect relationship: Do the judge and DA have a projected sentence in mind when the pre-sentence custody determination is made, and if someone is considered a good risk for release or low bail, does that suggest that prison or jail is not

A defendant's custody status awaiting felony case disposition is clearly related to subsequent sentence received. The cause and effect relationship is less clear. Or does it operate the other way, such that the custody or release status at the time of sentencing helps to influence what happens to the defendant as the sentencing decision is made? Or some combination of both effects?

Many of those who are in jail pre-sentence appear to be the harder core defendants, particularly those who are prosecuted on felony charges. The DA position, and one we even heard from some defense attorneys, is that most of those in jail on felony charges as unsentenced inmates are there for reasonable reasons, and are by and large likely to "need" a more serious sentence involving at least some incarceration. It may be that some of these defendants could in the future be released through expanded use of alternatives to incarceration, as discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters, and/or some could perhaps have reduced levels of incarceration in conjunction with other alternatives at the sentencing stage.

But it is fair to say that most of those we interviewed expressed the view that the majority of defendants in jail awaiting disposition of *felony* charges at the County Court level would probably continue to need to be held in custody in the future for at least some period of pre-sentence time, no matter what ATI options are in place. Those expressing such opinions typically added their views that there are others within the jail pre-sentence, on less serious charges from lower courts, who in some cases may not need to be there.

City Court Cases

As noted earlier, by far the highest volume of criminal cases in Chemung County originates in Elmira City Court. In each of the past five years, between 2,600 and just under 3,000 criminal cases have been filed in that court. We were able to obtain from the NYS Unified Court System selected data on the cases initiated in City Court for each year from 2002 – 2005.

Most Arrests for Misdemeanors and Violations

Over the four years, about 13% of all the cases arraigned each year in City Court originated on felony charges—an average of about 350 cases per year, representing between 55% and 60% of all felony arrests in the County each year. About 53% of each year's arrests originated as misdemeanors—an average of 1,390 a year, which represents about 70% of each year's misdemeanor arrests.

Another 31% of the arrests were for violations (about 814 a year), and about 90 a year involved arrests on infractions.

Release/Custody Status

About 11% of City Court cases remain in custody prior to case disposition; others are released only after being detained on relatively high bail amounts. Most City Court cases are released from jail pending dispositions of their charges. Over the four years we analyzed, about 11% of all the cases remained in custody throughout the pre-disposition period—an average of about 280 defendants per year. That proportion expanded significantly among felony arrests, to about 40% of all such arrests which were either held without bail or had a bail set that defendants could not post. About 60% of all defendants were released on their own recognizance (presumably including Project for Bail releases, which were not separately identified), with another 29% released at some point after posting bail.

A number of the stakeholders CGR interviewed expressed the view that City Court judges tend to frequently set disproportionately high bail or not set bail at all. The data suggest that both judges in City Court frequently set relatively low bail amounts, but about 35% of the unsentenced inmates in the jail from City Court did have either no bail set or bail amounts of \$5,000 to \$10,000 or more—amounts that are at the high end for typical unsentenced jail inmates. One judge indicated that he typically sets low bails, but added that he occasionally uses higher bail or no bail as a means of "getting a defendant's attention."

Dispositions and Sentences of Cases

Nearly two-thirds of the City Court cases each year are resolved by pleas, with trial verdicts typically in fewer than 20 cases a year. About a quarter of all cases are dismissed, including cases adjourned in contemplation of dismissal. Each year about 7% of the cases, about 185 a year, that originate as felony arrests in City Court are eventually filed through indictments or SCIs with County Court, thereby being removed from City Court jurisdiction unless some subsequently return with charges reduced to a misdemeanor.

Once convicted, relatively few cases receive jail sentences. Almost 45% receive various combinations of fines and restitution, sometimes combined with other non-incarceration sentences. Another third receive some type of conditional discharge, with 5% receiving probation sentences. About 18% over the four years, about 305 per year, received jail sentences. Those sentences

About 18% of City
Court cases result in
jail sentences—
typically of 3 months
or less. Jail sentences
outnumber probation
sentences by 3.6 to 1,
suggesting relatively
little use (partly due to
little current
availability) of
alternatives to
incarceration by City
Court judges.

averaged about 3 months in length for a straight jail sentence (which would result in actual sentenced time of about 60 days once "good time" is applied); sentences involving jail in conjunction with something else, such as probation or a fine, averaged just over two months in length (about 66 days before good time). About 40% of all these jail sentences involved 30 days or less, with about 5% exceeding six months.

Although the proportion of jail sentences is relatively low, jail sentences outnumbered probation sentences by 3.6 to 1, which seems unusually high for a court which sentences defendants convicted of only misdemeanor and violation charges. Moreover, more than 85% of all those initially held in custody while their cases were being resolved wound up also serving additional jail time as part of their sentences. This proportion is comparable to what would be expected for felony charges, as noted above in the County Court discussion, but appears to be high for a misdemeanor court. With the relatively small number of cases sentenced to probation per year (an average of about 84 a year from City Court), it appears that City Court judges make relatively little use of probation or Work Order. Other alternative sentencing opportunities such as intensive supervision and electronic home monitoring are not currently available to lower These issues will be explored in more detail in the next chapter.

Time to Disposition of Cases

Felony arrest cases originating in City Court typically remain there for three months or more before prosecution begins at the County Court level. Misdemeanor and violation cases that begin and end in City Court are typically processed more rapidly than felony cases. Time from arraignment to final disposition (not including final sentencing) averages just over two months (65 days) for all non-felony cases. Misdemeanors average about 83 days per case, and violations about half that.

Half of all misdemeanor and violation cases are disposed of within 24 days, and a third within a week, including 17% on the same day as the case is filed. On the other hand, 22% of all cases over the past four years have taken more than 90 days to resolve, including 10% more than 180 days. Those proportions seem relatively low, but given the volume of cases in City Court, these represent about

Despite significant numbers of cases taking more than 90 or 180 days to resolve, overall cases in City Court are being disposed of more rapidly in recent years, including shorter processing times for cases held in custody pre-sentencing. 600 cases a year that exceed 90 days, and 271 in excess of 180 days (and 68 exceed a year before disposition is reached).

More encouraging is the fact that, as with felony cases, cases in which the defendant is in custody awaiting case disposition are completed within an average of about 50 days, compared to 63.5 if released on recognizance or 83 if on bail.

In addition, there have been clear reductions in case processing time in the past four years. In 2002, the typical City Court case averaged about 79 days from arraignment to disposition. By 2004, the average was 61 days, and in 2005, the average case was completed within about 45 days. The data offer no explanations as to why this significant 40% reduction has occurred over such a short period of time, and the reductions were not alluded to by anyone familiar with the courts in our interviews. One possible explanation for at least part of the reduction could be related to the current ADA assigned to City Court. He is universally viewed as being much more reasonable and easier to work with than some of his predecessors, and as more willing to explore reasonable resolutions to cases. It may be that that is having some impact in reducing the time cases remain open, although reductions of such magnitude are likely to have other contributing causes as well, including conscious actions by the presiding judges.

The time from disposition of cases to sentencing in City Court has been reduced by almost 50% since 2002.

In addition to reductions in time needed to reach disposition of City Court cases, the time from disposition to sentencing has also been reduced over time. The average time over the past four years has been 17 days, but that has gradually declined from 21.5 days in 2002 to 11.9 in 2005. In almost three-quarters of all cases, disposition and sentencing occur on the same day. But if not, the time becomes considerably longer, presumably because PSIs have been requested. Thus 11% of the cases need more than 60 days between disposition and sentencing—an average of almost 180 cases per year. Further discussion of PSIs and their impact follows later in the chapter.

Issues Facing City Court

The issues affecting court delays that were discussed in the context of County Court also apply to City Court, and therefore will not be repeated here. Additional issues germane specifically to City Court are briefly summarized below:

- ❖ In the District Attorney chapter, the issue was raised of the number of cases that have exceeded the statute requiring prosecution of a felony case within 180 days of initial arraignment. Separate Elmira City Court data indicate that this issue is not limited to County Court. Typically between 10% and 20% of pending felony cases still in City Court exceed the 180-day goal, but the 90-day misdemeanor goal in the past three years has also been exceeded in sample months in between 30% and 40% of the pending misdemeanor cases across the two City Court judges.
- The issue of appropriate levels of bail needed to ensure court appearances should be addressed in City Court. Although bail amounts are typically set at a very low level, there are other cases where no bail is set at all, or is set at levels higher than might be expected given the charge and lack of holds against the defendant. Obviously the data available to us in a research capacity cannot replace the range of information and experience available to a judge, so this comment should not necessarily be construed as a criticism of judicial decisions. But given the numbers we have seen, and comments made in numerous interviews, we simply raise the issue to invite reflection about judicial practices and decisions that clearly impact on the jail population.
- Issues were raised about City Court scheduling and the effective use of attorney time. Recognizing the difficulty of scheduling in a high-volume court, exacerbated at times by the relative inexperience of attorneys serving the court, nonetheless the issue was raised in frequent interviews concerning whether there might be more efficient ways of scheduling blocks of court time, so that attorneys can plan their time more effectively—both in terms of coordination with clients and opposing attorneys, as well as to minimize time spent waiting, reportedly not infrequently for more than an hour, for cases to be called. A related issue was the expressed desire to have more clarity from the bench in terms of what is expected, by whom, and by when prior to the next scheduled court appearance.
- ❖ The issue of inexperienced DA and PD/PA staff in City Court was a recurring theme, although concerns about this seem to be muted at the current time due to perceived strengths of attorneys currently assigned to the Court. Historically, however, the need for more experienced attorneys on both prosecutor and defense

sides has been an issue, and in general the number of attorneys covering such a large court continues to be a concern.

Several of those interviewed suggested that fewer City Court defendants would need to be held in jail if the City of Elmira made more extensive use of appearance tickets for minor offenses. No data were available on the extent of current use or the potential future impact of expanding their use, but it may be worth discussing the potential value of increased future use of such tickets in the City.

Pre-Sentence Investigations

By law, written Pre-Sentence Investigations (PSIs) are required before a sentence can be pronounced on all felony convictions, youthful offenders and for misdemeanor convictions where a jail sentence of more than 90 days or a probation sentence is anticipated. They can also be requested in any other case, regardless of the requirements. Mandatory PSIs can be waived by consent of the affected parties if imprisonment can be satisfied by time already served, a probation sentence has been agreed to by all parties, or a previous PSI has been prepared in the preceding 12 months. As noted earlier, the Probation Department has been averaging more than 850 completed PSIs each year since 2001, with a high of 885 in 2002. Typically about two-thirds of the PSIs are completed for misdemeanor charges and one-third for felonies.

Administratively, the completion of PSIs involves most of the Probation staff who supervise adult criminal offenders. Most Probation officers complete PSIs for individuals on their caseloads, as well as doing additional PSIs as needed, rather than having designated PSI officers, as is the case in some counties. Estimates within the Probation Department are that, on average, a PSI takes a full person-day to complete, including investigations, victim impact statements and report writing.

PSIs Increasingly for City Court and for Defendants Not in Custody

CGR's analysis of more than 2,400 PSIs undertaken by the Department during the three years from 2003 through 2005 indicated that, across all court levels, PSIs have been carried out primarily for defendants who were not being held in custody at the time of the PSI request. As indicated below, almost 75% of all PSIs were completed for defendants who had been released on

Almost three-quarters of all PSIs are requested for defendants who have not been detained in custody. their own recognizance, released through the Project for Bail release program, or made bail.

Type of Release/Custody Status	% of PSIs
ROR	40
Bail	22
Project for Bail	11
Jail custody	21
State prison custody	4
Unknown	2

It is not clear that the PSI database from which these numbers were derived was always clear about the distinction between ROR and Project for Bail. But assuming that those categories were clearly distinct from release on bail, more than half of all defendants for whom PSIs were completed were considered safe enough risks to return to court that they were released with no financial conditions.

Even though it is by far the highest-volume Court, City Court orders only slightly more PSIs than the much smaller County Court, given the reality that proportionately, County Court is much more likely to be ordering incarceration sentences. However, it is significant that from 1997 through 2000, County Court consistently ordered about 45% of all PSIs each year—an average of 390 per year. In the past five years, that average has declined by 21% to about 307 per year—about 35% of all PSIs annually. While justice courts have remained virtually constant in averaging about 235 PSIs a year during those comparative periods, City Court has increased its annual average 22%, from 256 through 2000 to 313 in the years since then—from 28% of all PSIs to 37% in more recent years. This would appear to be consistent with the trend noted earlier for fewer incarceration sentences to be pronounced in County Court, and more in lower courts, and raises questions about whether PSIs for City Court cases could at least become more of a vehicle for recommending greater use of alternative sentencing options.

It is also worth noting that around the time of the increase in requests for PSIs in City Court, a practice ended whereby a Probation Officer was assigned to City Court to screen cases, interview defendants and provide background information to the

Increasingly, PSI
requests come from
City Court, though the
vast majority of
County Court
dispositions lead to
PSI requests.

Court's ADA, who was often able to use the information to help craft plea bargains involving non-incarceration sentences on the spot. Unless there was a lengthy criminal history and the likelihood of a jail sentence, the need for PSIs could be avoided in many cases.

Time Needed to Complete PSIs and Sentences In the earlier discussion of County Court cases, our analyses indicated that it took an average of 69 days from the request for a PSI to final sentencing for felony cases. Because of longer delays in responding to PSIs in the justice courts, the average across all courts is 78 days from request to final sentencing. It is important to break out the different components of the process.

It takes about 7 weeks to complete a typical PSI, but courts have typically taken an additional 4 weeks to schedule and impose sentencing. In the past 3 years, however, courts have reduced time from completion of PSIs to sentencing from 31 to 24 days.

The actual time needed by the Probation Department to complete PSIs has remained relatively constant over the past three years—about 51 days, or roughly seven calendar weeks. However, it has typically taken another four weeks after that for final sentencing to be scheduled and completed by the courts. This amount of time has been declining over the past three years, from 31 days in 2003 to 24 days on the average in 2005. Thus courts have been responding more quickly to PSIs once they are completed, but it should still be possible to expedite the process even more rapidly, knowing how long it typically takes Probation to complete the PSI document. Once a PSI is ordered, it should be possible to schedule a court date for the sentencing to coincide much more closely with the actual completion of the PSI.

Sentencing in justice courts typically occurs a full month after PSIs are complete.

Some courts are clearly better at linking sentencing schedules to PSI completion than others. County Court sentencing typically occurs about 20 days after PSI completion, but City Court has an average of 26 days between the two events (though declining in recent years), and justice courts on the average lose a full month between PSI completion and the sentence court date.

PSIs Expedited for Defendants in Custody Although Probation officials indicate that, given workloads, they are not typically able to give priority to completion of PSIs for defendants in custody, the data suggest that they have been able to expedite completion of such PSIs by about a week per case. That is, rather than the overall average of about 51 days, average completion time for cases involving inmates in custody has been about 44 days (and 38 days for those in state prison custody, as PSIs for prison cases require less documentation and are faster to

PSIs are completed in one week's less time for defendants in custody.

complete). And as noted above, courts have also begun to shorten the time from PSI completion to sentencing, but further reductions are possible.

Potential for Saving Jail Days

Shortening time to complete PSIs for those in custody has potentially significant implications for reducing inmate jail days. Only about 20% of all PSIs ultimately result in jail sentences. And the County can even benefit from shortening jail custody time for those inmates receiving prison sentences, as the sooner a defendant in the local jail can be transferred to the responsibility of the State Division of Correctional Services (DOCS), the less the cost to Chemung County.

Specifically, in County Court, out of 30 defendants in our fourmonth sample who had been retained in custody in the jail pending disposition of their cases, 21 wound up being sentenced to prison, two to non-incarceration sentences, and three to time already served. Only four received additional sentences to the County jail. Thus, shortening the time spent in the jail pre-sentence awaiting PSI completion could have had the practical effect of saving jail time in 26 of those 30 cases. (It is assumed that shortening PSI time for those in custody who were subsequently sentenced to jail would have had no net impact in reducing jail time, since they would have received credit for that time otherwise spent in custody against their subsequent sentence.)

Projected across each year, the implications of further reducing the time between ordering a PSI and final sentencing could be substantial for the jail. If resource changes were made within the Probation Department, as recommended in the final chapter of this report, CGR believes that it would be possible to significantly reduce the length of time needed to process and complete PSIs for the detained population. It is already a week less than for other cases. We believe that it should be possible to further reduce the average time for PSI completion in the future to 20 calendar days for any defendant who is in jail at the time his/her PSI is requested (subject to a few cases taking slightly longer due to unavoidable delays, e.g., in obtaining victim statements as part of the PSI process). Moreover, we believe that by simply having courts pay more careful attention to scheduling, it should be possible, with no change in resources, to reduce the time between PSI completion and final court sentencing by at least 10 days per case in each court. If that combination

By targeting PSIs for defendants in jail presentence, reducing the time for PSI completion to 20 days, and reducing time from PSI completion to final sentencing, the County could reduce the jail population by almost 16 inmates every night of the year.

of circumstances becomes feasible and the norm for all detained defendants (and we believe these assumptions may even be on the conservative side), the following would be possible, based on the three years of PSI data we analyzed:

For each of 170 detained cases a year for which PSIs are ordered, an average of 24 days could be saved in the Probation PSI completion process (from the current 44 to 20), and an additional 10 days could be saved by shortening the court time between PSI completion and sentencing date. Thus a total of 34 days per case should be able to be reduced from the pre-sentenced detention "waiting period." Multiplied by 170, this would reduce the number of jail beds in use by 5,780 during the year—an average of 15.8 fewer inmates every night of the year.

PSIs could also have a further impact in reducing the jail population if they recommended sentencing alternatives to incarceration more often. Several judges and attorneys expressed the hope and belief that in the future, PSIs would more aggressively and more frequently recommend the use of specific ATI options in lieu of jail sentences. Such options are discussed in more detail in the next chapter.

Justice Courts

We were unable during the course of the study to obtain specific data on the numbers of criminal cases processed by each of the County's 15 town/village justice courts, or on the time spent processing cases or the use of incarceration in each court. Nor were we able to obtain information about the budgets and clerical support available for each of the courts. However, we were able to piece together some information about these important components of the justice system, based on selected partial data from various sources, as well as what we learned from our interviews with various magistrates and attorneys who work in those courts.

As indicated earlier in this chapter, we estimate that about 1,035 criminal cases per year are initiated across the County's justice courts. The town courts of Big Flats and Southport and the village courts of Elmira Heights and Horseheads appear to be among the largest courts, based on the information available to us.

Using PSIs requested as a surrogate measure for overall court cases processed each year, the volume of criminal cases in justice courts appears to be relatively unchanged from year to year. Over the past several years, the number of PSIs requested by justice courts has consistently averaged around 235 per year.

Cases initiated in justice courts typically take longer than other cases to reach County Court for prosecution, and time from PSI completion to sentencing typically takes longer in justice courts.

In the aggregate, felony cases originated in town/village courts appear to take longer to reach County Court for prosecution than do cases initiated in City Court. Our sample County Court data indicated that justice court cases take an average of about four months to be filed in County Court, compared to just under three months for City Court cases. Similarly, the average time from completion of PSIs to the final sentencing is longer in justice courts than in either City or County Courts: an average of a month in justice courts, compared to 26 days in City Court and 20 in County Court.

The justice courts vary in number of scheduled court dates and clerical support, depending on volume of cases processed. Several people interviewed during the study indicated that "the quality of justice you get can be affected by where you get arrested and what justice court you get arraigned in." Lower-volume courts typically meet infrequently, and often there is little communication between attorneys and justices in between the scheduled court dates. In several courts, if an attorney misses a scheduled court appearance, an adjournment can mean a potential delay of several weeks in moving the case forward. In some cases this can contribute to defendants spending lengthy periods of time in custody awaiting disposition of their cases, though defendants can be released in between court appearances if information is made available to the presiding justice by Project for Bail and/or defense attorneys in the interim.

In order to provide more consistent justice and processing of cases at the local level, some of those we interviewed suggested that consideration be given to grouping the town/ village courts into one or two larger district courts in the county. Although the idea is appealing from the perspective of consistency of justice, and enabling more efficient use of ADA, APD and APA attorneys, it is not likely that such an idea could be implemented, as it would require State approval and would face considerable opposition from the magistrates association and other local officials, who understandably value the local connections that would be lost with

any move toward more centralized courts. There is also concern about the creation of a high-volume, less convenient court if the district court idea were to be implemented. On the other hand, some local officials view district courts as a way to reduce local costs and shift much of the cost burden of local courts to the state.

Given the political realities that on balance make the idea of eliminating justice courts and consolidating them into district court(s) unlikely, at least in the short term, town/village and criminal justice officials may at least wish to consider creating one or more voluntary pilot projects in which combinations of two or more neighboring justice courts consider how they can share services by combining resources in various ways. Such efforts may start with something as simple as sharing clerical support services, or sharing the same justice, as occasionally happens now. Consideration might be given to sharing "on call" services so that at least one justice from neighboring courts is available in between court dates to receive and process new information for any of the collaborating courts that becomes available during interim periods. The towns of Baldwin, Erin and Van Etten have already entered into a service sharing agreement that may be a model for other justice courts.

There may also be value to having periodic meetings of justices and possibly justice court clerks with representatives of other components of the criminal justice system to improve communications and consistent practices between all components of the system.

Key Questions and Observations

Among the key questions and issues raised in this chapter that need addressing are the following:

- ❖ Court officials and representatives of the District Attorney and defense attorney offices should meet to consider ways of expediting cases through the court system, with particular focus on reducing the time felony cases languish in lower courts awaiting prosecution. To what extent is it feasible to expand the rate of use of Superior Court Informations rather than Grand Jury processing as a means of reducing court processing time?
- More careful monitoring is needed to reduce the number of cases in which 45-day and 180-day case prosecution deadlines for the

- prosecuting of cases are exceeded, thereby often resulting in defendants spending unnecessary time in jail.
- ❖ What needs to happen to process and complete PSIs more rapidly, especially for those in custody at the time of the request? Are fewer PSIs needed, consistent with legal requirements, and/or could simplified PSI reports be used more frequently to shorten the process? Significant reduction in jail days could result from expedited processing of PSI requests for those in custody. More frequent PSI recommendations for the use of ATI sentences could also help reduce the jail population.
- More careful attention to scheduling of sentencing dates could expedite closing of cases and also save significant jail time during the year, with no public safety implications.
- Courts and individual judges should examine their practices to consider ways of building on strengths while at the same time acting to expedite cases through their courts to help streamline the overall justice system while at the same time reducing the jail population where possible, consistent with community safety.
- Could the expanded use of appearance tickets for minor offenses help to reduce the jail population? Should this option be explored within the City of Elmira?
- Are there opportunities and benefits that would result from expanded sharing of resources across neighboring justice courts? Are there opportunities for intermunicipal agreements that should be explored?

Recommendations related to these issues are presented in Chapter 8.

7. IMPACT OF ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION PROGRAMS

Most of the discussion to this point in the report has focused on a variety of systemic, cross-cutting issues affecting, and affected by, key components of the overall criminal justice system. At this point we shift attention to the impact of the County's alternatives to incarceration (ATI) programs.

ATI programs, if used appropriately, can help the various components of the criminal justice system (e.g., the courts, DA and PD/PA offices, the jail) operate effectively and efficiently. By the same token, alternative programs have only limited impact if the context in which they operate—the overall system and its key components—are not strong and working effectively together. The previous chapters have suggested that elements of such a strong system are in place, albeit with areas in which performance can be significantly improved—and improvements appear likely in the future given the openness to change indicated by many throughout this study process.

This chapter focuses on how each of the County's ATI programs works with other components of the system, the specific impacts each has on the jail population, and potential opportunities for strengthening the programs individually and collectively. The programs addressed are Project for Bail, Intensive Supervision Program, and Work Order/Community Service. The potential value of Electronic Home Monitoring is also discussed. In addition, although Drug Court is not always considered an ATI program, we discuss the County and City Drug Court programs, given that they do operate as alternative options available to selected individuals within the system.

OVERALL PROBATION PERSPECTIVE

We were not asked to evaluate the Probation Department and what in some ways is the ultimate alternatives program—basic probation supervision. Such a broad assessment of the department was beyond the scope of this study. Nonetheless, it is impossible to address the alternatives programs and the overall criminal justice system without making reference to, and offering suggestions about, the Probation Department,⁷ given the crucial and wide-ranging impact it has throughout the system.

In the late 1990s, about 865 criminal cases were under active probation supervision at any given time. Since then, the annual average has increased by some 12% to about 965 active supervision cases a year. The number of adult criminal cases supervised has remained very consistent since 2001, ranging between 952 and 963 except for a high of 1,006 cases in 2003.

According to Probation annual reports, adult criminal staff peaked in 1999, with a total of 14 (a Supervisor, three Senior level and 10 regular Probation Officers). Each year since 2001, there have been 13 adult/criminal staff (with varying combinations of Sr. POs and POs). Probation officials point out that increasing numbers of staff each year have been dedicated to specific caseloads needing specialized attention, including intensive supervision, sex offenders, and a transition caseload of young offenders between the ages of 16 and 19 who have aged out in some cases from the juvenile system and entered the adult criminal justice system. The sex offender program began in 2005, with a PO dedicated exclusively to that caseload. Both the intensive supervision and transition programs also added additional POs in 2005. Thus the officers dedicated to specific target population caseloads increased from two to five in one year.

As a result of these changes in staff allocations over the years, the average caseload of regular POs not assigned to specialized caseloads increased over time from 75 in 1999 to 96 in 2005, according to annual report data. More recently, according to the Probation Director, concerted efforts have been made in early 2006 to balance personnel requirements and realities with supervision needs and requirements, thereby resulting in the removal of an estimated 10% to 15% of the cases from active caseloads. A number of these cases were officially closed, given their progress and PO perceptions that supervision was no longer needed; other cases were removed to supervisory levels with no regular reporting

The number of active criminal probation supervision cases has remained consistent in recent years, but average caseloads had recently increased, due to the impact of having more specialized target programs where caseloads are smaller. However, due to accelerated case closings in 2006, average caseloads for regular Probation Officers have again declined closer to earlier levels.

⁷ The previous chapter provided an overview of the Pre-Sentence Investigation process operated by the Probation Department.

requirements. The net effect of these reductions has been to reduce active caseloads from the 96 average in 2005 back to closer to 80 active cases per Probation officer.

Probation is currently considering establishing a more formal process for accelerating case closings where active Probation services are perceived to have no ongoing value, and where both Probation and the defendant's oversight judge concur.

These staffing and caseload shifts should be kept in mind in the discussions about ATI programs that follow. They will also be factored into the discussions in the final chapter concerning specific staffing recommendations. (Note: comparison analyses of Probation's juvenile staff and programs are included in the companion report on the County's juvenile justice system.)

We begin the alternatives discussion at the front, or pre-sentence, part of the system with the Project for Bail program.

PROJECT FOR BAIL

The Project for Bail (P4B) program is designed to reduce the incidence of unnecessary incarceration by facilitating the non-financial release of low-risk defendants who might otherwise be held in custody while awaiting disposition of their cases—and to help ensure that those released appear for all scheduled court appearances. P4B is an independent agency serving the County via an informal funding relationship with the Probation Department. Even though the program is partly funded by the County, there is currently no direct oversight or supervision of the four-person P4B staff by any County employee or department.

The program is responsible for interviewing unsentenced defendants subsequent to their arrests, either at court arraignment or in the jail during weekdays. Defendants arrested and detained in jail from roughly mid-day Friday through Sunday are not interviewed by the project until Monday, given lack of weekend program staffing and limits on access to the jail during weekends. During the interviews, information is obtained concerning various aspects of the defendant's background, living and employment/school arrangements, criminal history, and other information related to community ties that help the program assess the defendant's probability of remaining in the community and appearing at any scheduled court appearances until his/her criminal case reaches final disposition.

Technically P4B does not make a formal release recommendation to the court, as do most pretrial release programs. Instead, it simply indicates to the court that the person meets the program's "eligibility" requirements for release, based on the information obtained about the defendant's background and current status. The program usually only offers information about defendants considered "eligible." No information is typically conveyed about other defendants unless a judge asks specifically for information about a case. Information about eligibility is forwarded to appropriate courts.

Other than daily Monday through Friday staff interviews of defendants in City Court, and regular Monday and Friday County

P4B offers courts
assessments of a
defendant's eligibility
for release, rather than
specific
recommendations.
These are often not in
writing or in person.

Court staff coverage, program staff typically do not appear in court to present or expand upon the information being presented in the screening summary document, and in many cases a simple verbal "eligible" message is faxed or called into the appropriate court, usually within a day of completing the initial eligibility-assessment interview. In some cases, a follow-up letter may be faxed to the presiding judge indicating eligibility for the program (in some cases suggesting additional supervisory conditions that the judge may wish to consider).

In most cases, in contrast to most pretrial release programs, the information P4B obtains from defendants is accepted at face value, with little independent verification of the information obtained. Despite the absence of verified information, the program has historically had a low rate of failures to appear in court, suggesting that the process it uses is effective in assessing risk of non-appearance.

Beyond the program's important role of gathering, interpreting and presenting information to the courts, P4B also carries out a supervisory role. For defendants assigned by courts to P4B, the program monitors their whereabouts and actions between the time of release to the program and final case disposition. For the most part, this monitoring/supervisory role involves having defendants reporting on their status to the program. For misdemeanors and violations, defendants must report in person to the program once a week. Defendants charged with a felony must report twice a week to the program. Occasionally, especially for more serious charges, additional conditions of release may be added for the program to supervise (e.g., curfews, counseling, involvement with drug/alcohol programs, etc.).

The program was initially created, as the name suggests, as a bail fund to help low-income defendants post relatively small bail amounts (e.g., \$500 or less) that they would otherwise be unable to raise. Over the years, the focus of the program has shifted to helping facilitate releases without actual expenditure of dollars, and the existing bail fund of less than \$10,000 is by board policy only to be used under very rare circumstances; for all practical purposes, the fund does not exist at this point as a tool to effect releases from jail.

The program operates on a small annual budget of about \$120,000, with relatively small salary and benefit levels. The program is housed in a non-County facility, paying roughly \$16,000 a year in rent, building maintenance, phone and utility fees that might be avoided if it were to operate in a County facility. Most of the program costs are reimbursed through TANF funds and state ATI funds funneled to the program through Probation. Roughly a quarter of the P4B budget is paid directly from the County's general fund budget.

P4B is generally well-regarded by key participants in the criminal justice system. Most of those with whom the program interacts believe P4B to be a good investment for the County, and report a high degree of trust in the program's recommendations and supervision of defendants.

Impact of P4B on Court Decisions

P4B has experienced significant problems with its data systems, both internally and with access to jail data of value to the program.

Project for Bail has had difficulty developing and maintaining effective computerized data systems for tracking the status of defendants in the program, linking supervised cases to subsequent sentencing decisions, comparing success and failure status of those deemed eligible for release and subsequently released to the program with those not eligible but released to P4B anyway, comparing court appearance status of those in the program with those released through other approaches, and objectively determining the appropriateness of the assessment instrument currently being used. The program has been particularly hampered by its inability to directly link to the jail's information system to help in assessing a defendant's charges, holds and previous record. P4B and the County have made some progress in this area, but the jail and P4B programs and systems are still not completely compatible.

Given problems with program data, compounded by changes in staff responsible for maintaining the database on defendants released to the program, it is perhaps not surprising that there has been little consistency from year to year in reported indicators of program activity and impact. After many weeks of effort by the program and jail, CGR was able to obtain and analyze information on the release and custody status of all P4B defendants whose program cases were closed in 2004 and 2005. We also analyzed P4B separate hard copy files of partial case information for all

defendants screened and interviewed by the program in 2004 and the first three quarters of 2005. In addition, we had access to data reported by the program to the NYS Division of Probation and Correctional Alternatives (DPCA). Unfortunately, as we compared the data from all three sources, we found major inconsistencies between data supplied to us and data previously reported to the state. Most of the data reported below are based on our analyses of information that was specially prepared for us, used because of the care and consistency with which the information was prepared by P4B and jail officials, and the fact that we could independently verify it. When our analyses revealed significant differences from earlier reported information, we noted them.

Key data on the outcomes of cases screened by the program during all of 2004 and the first nine months of 2005 appear in Table 12.

Table 12: Project for Bail Program Activity and Court Actions, 2004 Through September 2005

P4B Action	2004-05 total 2004 cases		2005 cases*	
Screened	2,405	1,230	1,175	
Interviewed	1,502	856	646	
Eligible	1,033	551	482	
Eligible/	543 (52.6%)	322 (58.4%)	221 (45.9%)	
Released				
Not Eligible/	55	29	26	
Released				
Total Released	598 (39.8%)	351 (41.0%)	247 (38.2%)	

Source: CGR analysis of data supplied by P4B.

NOTE: Eligible/released means P4B considered defendant a good candidate for release, and defendant was released by a judge to P4B program supervision. % equals proportion of eligible defendants who were actually released. Not eligible/released means defendant was released to P4B even though not considered eligible (i.e., a low-risk candidate) for release. Those interviewed represent individuals who had not been screened out for various program or system reasons and/or who had not already made bail or been otherwise released before the P4B process was completed. Total released percentage refers to the proportion of all those interviewed who were released to the program, whether considered by P4B to be eligible or not.

Judicial Acceptance of P4B Recommendations Over the 21 months included in the analysis, just over half (52.6%) of all deemed eligible for release by the program were actually released to P4B by the courts. The proportion was much higher

^{*} Defendants initially interviewed between January 1 and September 30, 2005.

In recent years, judges have released to P4B an average of just over 55% of defendants considered eligible for release by the program; however, that proportion dropped to about 46% in 2005. Of all those interviewed by the program, only about 40% have typically been released to P4B.

One of every 11 P4B releases had not been considered eligible for release by the program.

(58%) in 2004 than in the first nine months of 2005 (46%). Reported data from earlier years was consistently in the range of the 2004 data, so the 2005 data may be an aberration. When all releases to P4B are compared with total numbers interviewed, the proportions from the two years were comparable with each other and with earlier years, at about 40% of those interviewed.8 However, it should be noted that, for unknown reasons, the program interviewed smaller proportions of all defendants in 2005 (55% versus almost 70% in 2004).

Unfortunately, the program's data do not indicate how many of those defendants who were deemed eligible for release but not released to the program wound up remaining in jail throughout the pretrial period, and how many may have posted bail at some point. Thus the actual proportion of defendants who were released from jail at some time prior to their case disposition was almost certainly higher than the numbers in the table would suggest. Nonetheless, the data suggest that the majority of defendants spend at least some time in pre-disposition custody beyond the point when P4B has determined their eligibility, due to significant differences in perceptions of risk of failure to appear for subsequent court appearances between P4B and the judge making the actual release decision.

On the other side of the coin, a number of defendants are released by judges to the program—defendants not deemed eligible for release by P4B. In 2004 through September 2005, 55 defendants—about one of every 11 defendants released to P4B during that period—were released by judges despite not being considered good candidates for release by the program. This suggests a level of comfort among at least some judges with the program's ability to supervise defendants and help ensure their court appearances, even if they disagree with the program's judgment about eligibility.

⁸ It should be noted that the 2004 data supplied by P4B showed significantly different numbers of interviews and releases to the program than data reported in other documents by P4B. Reports to the state DPCA indicated 725 interviews and 509 releases to the program, compared to the 856 and 351 comparable figures cited above. The numbers presented above are more in line with data from earlier years, and are based on precise case-by-case spreadsheets provided by the program, so we are confident in the conclusions reached from our analyses of these data.

No right or wrong/good or bad judgments should be implied by these data. Judges are under no obligation to follow P4B's recommendations, and both parties have different responsibilities in carrying out their functions that make disagreements all but certain. Judges are obligated to take into consideration many factors, legal and otherwise, that are not part of the purview of P4B. And in many cases, they are heavily influenced by arguments from the District Attorney. Most observers indicated that DA recommendations are particularly influential, compared with those of P4B, especially in many of the justice courts.

There are often significant disconnects between P4B eligibility assessments and who actually gets released to the program, suggesting changes that may be needed in how the information about defendants gets processed.

Nonetheless, with less than 60% of the P4B release eligibility judgments followed by judges, and 9% of those who are released to the program involving defendants whom the program did not consider eligible, the data suggest that more effective communications may be needed between judges and P4B, and that it may be time to revisit the criteria and processes used in making the release recommendations. It may also be important in the future to consider having a representative from P4B appear more routinely in courts, to the extent possible, to defend and clarify the rationale behind the release eligibility assessments—as happens in many other pretrial release programs around the country. ability to do so would obviously have significant staffing implications, but clearly the data suggest that at least some serious consideration should be given to determining why, despite high levels of respect among most judges for the program, there is currently a significant degree of disconnect between P4B and judges in determining who gets released, and in what ways, in the County's courts at this time.

Significant Differences by Court and Judge

As shown in Table 13 on the next page, there are wide variations in the extent to which courts and individual judges make release decisions that are consistent with the eligibility assessments of the Project for Bail staff. These differences occur both in the proportion of defendants considered eligible for release who were actually released to P4B and in the numbers of releases made to the program by judges even though the program did not consider the defendants to be good candidates for release. The variations were significant not only across different types of courts, but also between judges within the same court.

Table 13: Differences by Courts and Judges in Extent of Agreement with P4B on Eligibility Assessments, 2004-2005*

Courts/Judges	Eligible &	Eligible but	Not Eligible	% Released
	Released	Not Released	but Released	of Eligible
County Court	91	24	3	79.1%
1st judge	31	12	2	72.1
2 nd judge	60	12	1	83.3
City Court	364	282	37	56.3
1st judge	172	174	24	49.7
2 nd judge	192	108	13	64.0
Justice Courts	91	143	16	38.9

Source: CGR analysis of data supplied by P4B.

* Defendants initially interviewed between January 1 and September 30, 2005.

NOTE: "Eligible & released" means P4B considered defendant as a good candidate for release, and defendant was released by a judge to P4B program supervision. "Eligible but not released" means defendant was considered eligible by program but not released to P4B by a judge. "Not eligible but released" means defendant was released to P4B even though not considered eligible for release. "% released of eligible" equals proportion of defendants deemed eligible for release who were actually released to P4B (e.g., in County Court, 91 is 79.1% of the total of 91 + 24 eligible defendants).

The level of agreement is highest by far among County Court judges. Both judges agree with well over 70% of the eligible assessments, and very rarely release defendants to P4B who have not been considered eligible by the program. This high degree of agreement reflects respect for the program's judgment by the judges, but is also a reflection of the fact that many of these release decisions by County Court judges are ratifications of release decisions previously made at lower court levels and then reconsidered once a case is filed at the County Court level.

There is wide variation in decisions to release defendants to P4B by the two City Court judges.

There is considerable variation between the two City Court judges in their use of the program and its eligibility determinations. One judge (judge 2) releases to P4B almost two-thirds of all defendants whom the program deems eligible for release, while the first judge releases just under half of those who are eligible. On the other hand, Judge 1, although less likely to follow the program's judgment, is also almost twice as likely to release non-eligible defendants to the program, believing that its supervision can make their release viable. The judge whose decisions are less in sync with P4B acknowledged in an interview that he tends to use the program less than in the past, citing a need for more pre-decision verification of information and especially a desire for expanded program supervision.

Town/village justices are far and away the least likely to follow the release assessments of P4B. Several magistrates/justices and attorneys indicated in interviews that many of the justices are highly likely to be more influenced in their release decisions by the District Attorney's recommendations than by what P4B suggests. Moreover, several indicated that they rarely see anyone from P4B and receive little or no rationale in support of a defendant's release other than a faxed page or a phone message suggesting that the defendant is eligible for release. Justices in many of the courts admitted that they do not always give serious consideration to the eligibility assessment, and indicated that more visibility in their courts on the part of P4B staff, and occasional reminders of what the assessment means—along with a reminder of how few defendants released through the program fail to appear for scheduled court appearances—would be helpful in getting them to pay more attention to the messages from the program. P4B staff indicate that they are happy to appear before justices if asked to do so, but that happens only rarely, and is not likely to happen often without initiation from the program itself.

Currently, fewer than 40% of the defendants deemed eligible for release in justice courts actually are released to the program. As noted above, we have no way from the program data of knowing to what extent those not released through P4B wind up remaining in jail versus ultimately posting bail or being released in other ways, but it is clear that the program has considerable work to do in strengthening its impact among most of the town/village courts.

Less than 40% of defendants eligible for release are actually released to P4B in justice courts, while other "non-eligible" releases are made. These patterns are consistent across justice courts.

Of the seven justice courts (involving 12 different magistrates/justices) that use P4B most often, not a single one released to P4B as many as half of the defendants considered by the program to be eligible. Some were close to 50%, but most were closer to releases of a third or even fewer of the eligible defendants. In one of the seven courts, out of 16 defendants considered eligible during the 21 months being analyzed, only two were released to the program.

Not only are the justices unlikely to release "eligible" defendants to P4B, but they are also most likely to disagree with the program when it does not consider a defendant eligible. That is, justices are disproportionately more likely to release defendants to the program despite P4B's determination that they are not suited for release. Village courts in Elmira Heights and Horseheads were

most likely to release non-eligible defendants for supervision by the program.

Program Success Rates

The P4B program has consistently reported relatively low failure-to-appear rates.

Data were not available to enable CGR to independently assess the rate at which defendants released to P4B fail to appear (FTA) for scheduled court sessions, but data reported by the program to the state indicate that fewer than 5% of the defendants in each of the past four or five years have failed to make court appearances. FTA rates should be the program's primary measure of success, given its goal of ensuring court appearances. Such an FTA rate is low, and therefore good compared with most other similar kinds of pretrial release programs nationally.

Program data suggest that the proportions of released defendants terminated due to a rearrest while under supervision were similar to proportions terminated because of failure to adhere to program requirements, and to FTA rates. It is not typically clear from program data how serious the degree of non-compliance must be to warrant a recommendation for program dismissal, although program staff indicate that they try to give each defendant every benefit of the doubt before termination occurs. Unfortunately, we did not have the data needed to determine FTA rates and rates of other types of termination for defendants released to the program who were "eligible" versus those released despite being "non-eligible," nor has the program calculated such differential rates to date.

Relatively "Safe" Releases?

P4B is viewed as often being overly cautious in its approach to release recommendations and advocacy on behalf of defendants. Several of those we interviewed suggested that P4B does not take full advantage of the respect that it has among most key "stakeholders" in the criminal justice system. Those comments tended to focus on suggestions that the program could be more aggressive in making "actual release recommendations, rather than just a more passive eligibility determination," and that a more frequent visible presence and vocal advocacy may be called for in the future. Program staff acknowledged that they are likely to err on the conservative or overly cautious side in their approach, given their perception that the future of the program is tenuous (this was voiced in particular at a time when the TANF funding was in doubt, before being resolved in favor of the program). Empirical documentation, noted below, supports the implied criticism that P4B is overly cautious.

We have already indicated the need for different approaches to inform and motivate various judges and justices to make more extensive and appropriate use of P4B. One City Court judge has indicated some of what he needs to see, or at least a conversation he needs to have with P4B officials, to make more extensive use of the program in the future. In addition, town/village justices have indicated the need for the program to be a more distinct presence in their courts for them to consider using it more often.

For those defendants who have been released to the program in the past two years, the following at least suggest some indications that the program, and perhaps some judges making decisions about the use of the program, have been somewhat reluctant to take significant risks in who gets released to it.

Pre-Custody Releases

One-third of those released to Project for Bail had not been in custody prior to the release decision.

For most other pre-trial release programs nationally, defendants are released through their efforts in nearly all cases after the defendants have been detained in custody for at least a minimal period of time. However, in our analysis of cases closed from P4B in the past two years, fully a third of the releases to the program had not been held in custody prior to entering P4B. In some cases, these "releases" reflected simply transferring a case already released to the program from a lower court to County Court, with the release status simply being ratified and continued by a County Court judge. In some other cases, a release to the program occurred at arraignment prior to custody, such as with the use of an appearance ticket.

Raising this issue is not to minimize the importance of such releases, since at least some of them could easily have resulted in incarceration without the existence of the program. However, data do suggest that a substantial proportion of the defendants released through the program were not likely to be incarcerated while awaiting disposition of their cases. Our analysis also suggests that at least some of the cases counted as "releases" may be double-counts of defendants who are simply transferring from one court to another, since they currently get counted as a new release when a new judge continues the existing release status. The program should separately track the numbers of such continuation cases, without treating them for reporting purposes as if they were new cases.

Disproportionate Releases of Younger Defendants

Almost a third of those released to P4B (31%) over the past two years were 20 or younger. By contrast, of those admitted to the jail overall, about 16% to 18% were in that age range. Releases to the program appear to be disproportionately younger, presumably less hardened and with less experienced criminal backgrounds than the average jail inmate. It is clearly logical that such defendants might be considered more desirable candidates for safe release, but the data at least raise the question of whether greater proportions of older defendants should also be released under appropriate supervision.

Females Disproportionately Released to P4B

About 19% of the unsentenced jail inmate population have been women in recent years. Among the population of defendants released to P4B in the past two years, the corresponding proportion is 31%. The factors considered in the determination of release eligibility, and the factors that influence judicial decisions whether or not to release a defendant prior to disposition of his/her case, apparently tend to favor women. Again, this is not to question the logic or appropriateness of such decisions; rather, the question is whether the program and judges are making these appropriate "safe" releases without giving sufficient consideration to other defendants who may not seem as desirable on the surface, but may be just as likely to appear in court if released.

Fewer Black and Hispanic Releases to P4B?

There may be slightly fewer black and Hispanic defendants released to the program than would be expected by the overall jail inmate population, but it is difficult to make a definitive determination because no data were available on the racial/ethnic composition of the unsentenced portion of the jail population. The only data available were for the combined unsentenced and sentenced population. Using that profile, about 31% of the inmates in recent years have been black, and about 3% Hispanic. Among those released by judges to P4B, about 25% in the past two years were black, and 1.6% Hispanic. Better comparisons with the jail's unsentenced inmates would be needed before drawing any conclusions, but these partial data at least raise the question of whether minority defendants may inadvertently be somewhat less likely to be released to the program and more likely to have to make bail or remain in jail than white defendants. To determine if there are any patterns of unintended bias operating here, it would be important to contrast P4B profiles with those of other types of releases, such as ROR and posting bail, with charges and previous records also taken into account. Such data were not available.

Overly Cautious About Releasing Defendants with History of Non-Compliance and Fines?

As a rule, when P4B initially screens defendant cases to determine who will be interviewed, defendants with known histories of noncompliance with the conditions of the release program in the past are considered automatically ineligible. Similarly, defendants with previous bench warrants or failures to appear in court are not interviewed to determine eligibility. While the history of bench warrants and FTAs is logically an obvious indicator of potential similar future behavior, many other pretrial release programs at least interview such defendants to determine if there may have been extenuating circumstances and/or if more circumstances may help offset a prior FTA, especially if it was an isolated event several years in the past. The program indicates that it takes such factors into consideration, but if some cases are screened out from consideration based on prior FTA history without even the possibility of an interview, which appears to be the case from program spreadsheet data, some legitimate opportunities for safe releases may be missed.

P4B may miss
legitimate release
opportunities by not
interviewing
defendants with
previous isolated
FTAs, non-compliance
with program
requirements, and
unpaid fines.

With regard to the screening out of cases for previous non-compliance with program guidelines and expectations, there appear to have been about 33 such cases that were not considered for eligibility in 2004. Of those, six or seven were apparently released to the program anyway by judges overriding the absence of an eligibility determination. Thus in almost 20% of those cases, judges saw no reason to let the previous behavior confine the defendant to unsentenced jail time. This would seem to suggest that such cases should be interviewed and not routinely screened out from any consideration of release eligibility.

Similarly, between 25 and 30 cases in 2004 were screened out from P4B interviews as a result of unpaid fines (or occasionally restitution) from one or more previous charges. Again, there may be a logic to detaining such a defendant in hopes of getting the fines paid, but having the person detained may be the last thing that would be conducive to any likelihood of paying a previous debt. And if the person gets out on bail, the defendant would be unsupervised and therefore have little likelihood of being motivated to pay up. It seems at least plausible that releasing a defendant

under P4B supervision could provide a greater likelihood of influencing the person to make arrangements to pay off any obligations than would either incarceration or other forms of unsupervised release.

"Gut-Level" Eligibility Determinations

The program may be missing opportunities to safely release some defendants as a result of ignoring its own point scores relatively frequently.

Impact on Jail

The program admits to using a relatively "gut-level" approach to many of its release eligibility determinations. Although in theory, a point scale is used to determine who meets program criteria for eligibility—with a minimum of 4 points needed to be eligible, given various combinations of work, education, arrangements and various ties to the community—that standard is routinely overridden by staff based on other information or gut reactions that transcend the point score. This is not necessarily bad, as a certain amount of discretion is needed in any good pretrial release program. But a wide range of defendants with point scores of well above 4 (as many as 10 points or more) were routinely not considered eligible for release by the program, although some of those were released to the program by judges anyway. The program may be missing opportunities to safely release some defendants as a result of ignoring P4B's own point scores relatively frequently. It may make sense for the program to undertake a pilot project of recommending release for more of those with high scores who have previously been considered as not meeting release standards, and tracking what happens to them over a six-month period, to see if more of them could be safely released in the future.

Determining the impact of Project for Bail on the jail population is difficult. It is reasonable to conclude that some—perhaps most—of those released to the program would, in the program's absence, have ultimately made bail or been released in other ways prior to disposition of their cases. Thus the program undoubtedly contributes to a reduction in jail days, but not a total prevention of custody in such cases. Also, defendants who are released but subsequently sentenced to jail may have only postponed their incarceration days, since had they been held in custody prior to disposition of their case, they would have received credit for that time against their subsequent sentence. Since there is no way of knowing if and when the defendant would have made bail without the program, and since the program maintains only partial data on subsequent dispositions and sentences imposed upon conviction,

Average Days on Release

More than 39,000 days per year were spent on release by P4B defendants in the past two years, an average of about 106 days per defendant. it is not possible to make precise determinations of jail days reduced as a result of being released to P4B.

Such caveats notwithstanding, we know that for those whose P4B release cases were closed in 2004 and 2005 and whose cases had been disposed of, the average length of time on release was about 106 days. The average for those released through County Court cases was more than that, about 126 days (ranging from 192 days for one judge to 91 for the other); about 100 days for City Court (averages of 85 and 113 for the two judges); and about 117 days across the justice courts. Taking the average of the two years, for those released to the P4B program, about 39,230 days per year were spent between the release date and the closing of the case.

For those individuals released to the program without ever being in custody, the average time from release to case closing was 110.5 days, compared with 103 days for those who had been booked into the jail prior to being released to P4B. For those who had been in custody, each had already spent an average of 4.3 days in jail before being released. In almost half of these cases, the release occurred within a day of admission to the jail, and almost threefourths were released within three days. On the other hand, almost 10% spent 10 days or more in jail before being released. In general, the program and courts operate fairly efficiently in expediting releases for those who do get released to P4B. It may be possible to save a few days here and there in releasing a few of the defendants sooner, but by and large, any additional impact on the jail for existing releases would be minimal. As noted above, the bigger potential impact would be by being able to gain release to the program for those who are currently eligible but not released, or being more aggressive in recommending release for those not meeting current program standards for eligibility.

Wide Range of Estimates of Jail Days Saved In an attempt to come up with some conservative, yet realistic estimate of jail days saved per year by the P4B program, we made the assumption that all defendants released to the program without any pre-release custody time would have been released with or without the existence of P4B. It is highly unlikely that none of these roughly 125 defendants in each year would have spent no unsentenced time in jail without the program, but we make that conservative assumption for estimation of jail days

saved. After eliminating this group, the total days spent on release for the remainder of the P4B defendants—about 250 per year who had been booked into the jail prior to being released to the program—was about 25,500 per year.

Developing realistic estimates of jail days saved as a direct result of the P4B program is very difficult, given many unknown factors. Depending on assumptions made, it seems safe to estimate that without P4B, as many as 56, but more realistically 14 to 28, additional beds would be occupied in the County jail each night of the year than is now the case.

Our analyses of PSI and P4B data indicate that about 20% of those released to P4B subsequently received jail sentences. We applied that percentage to the average 250 P4B defendants per year who had been in custody, and estimate that about 50 of them would likely have served sentenced incarceration time. further assume that these 50 would have been sentenced to at least the average of 103 days that group spent on pretrial release (an assumption borne out by partial available data), and that those 103 days would therefore have not been saved but would have been spent in jail as part of the sentence, then their 5,150 days (50 defendants times the average of 103 days on release) would need to be subtracted from the 25,500 days on release for all the released-from-custody defendants, thereby leaving about 20,350 days in jail potentially saved. This represents the equivalent of almost 56 fewer inmates in jail every day of the year as a result of P4B efforts.

Even with our conservative assumptions noted above, CGR assumes that number still significantly overstates the direct impact of the P4B program, based on the assumption that most of the defendants would eventually have obtained release at some point by making bail. But even if only a quarter of those days saved could legitimately be attributed to the impact of P4B, it is certainly reasonable to conclude that significant numbers of jail days have been saved as a result of P4B's existence.

Likely Future Impact

Whatever the current number of beds saved per night, it seems reasonable to assume that P4B could have even more impact than it is currently having. There are a number of actions the program could take to expand its impact, such as:

- becoming more aggressive in making formal recommendations rather than offering only eligibility assessments;
- becoming a more visible presence in various courts;

Whatever P4B's current impact on the jail population, realistic changes should make possible a further reduction of at least 5 fewer inmates per night within the next year.

- working more closely with the District Attorney and defense attorneys to get agreement on release recommendations on "tougher" cases; and
- becoming less restrictive in the use of program eligibility criteria and standards.

With such a combination of changes in place, program efforts should be able to account for a further reduction in the jail population of at least five fewer inmates per night, over and above the current impact. Furthermore, as discussed below, CGR believes more people could also be released safely into the community, pre-disposition under supervision, if electronic home monitoring were to begin to be used within the criminal justice system.

CGR also points out that P4B's efficiency has been hampered by limited hours of access to the jail and courts to interview defendants, and by a computer system that has not been able to interface with the jail's computerized management information system. The report's final chapter addresses these types of issues, along with other recommendations and staffing implications designed to help make greater impact of the P4B program a reality.

WORK ORDER/COMMUNITY SERVICE SENTENCING

The County's Work Order program (WO) is ostensibly an alternative to incarceration, designed to provide punishment, a positive learning experience for the defendant, and a level of accountability for the defendant's criminal activity, while benefiting community agencies. The program is designed to have defendants assigned to specific work sites where they carry out assigned tasks, under supervision of a work site supervisor and, at least in theory, the overall supervision of the WO program director. The program, which has been in existence for many years, was designed to serve two different groups sentenced to probation:

- ❖ Individuals sentenced to serve Community Service time, under supervision, in lieu of going to jail (Work Order as an ATI).
- Individuals sentenced to Community Service time as a form of "penalty," but not as an alternative to jail (Work Order as a sentencing option).

The program in recent years, however, has been used about 90% of the time as a sentencing option, according to the recently-retired director, rather than as an alternative to incarceration.

Virtually all programs like WO are probation programs, but that has not been the situation in Chemung County. The program director was not required to report to anyone in the Probation Department. The WO director technically reported to the County Executive's office, based on an arrangement created by a previous County Executive. In practice, Work Order had become a self-contained operation, with no oversight of its records or performance. The WO director, who recently retired in his eighties, had worked two hours daily, did not make site visits, and rarely appeared in court to remind judges of the program's existence.

Loss of Program Credibility

Not surprisingly, given the circumstances, the program has lost considerable credibility and visibility within the criminal justice community. For example, when individuals were sentenced to Work Order they were able to choose whether to serve their time on weekends or during the week, depending upon their work or babysitter needs. On weekends, workers would report to the jail and be met by a supervisor who would oversee them as they worked on road or park or other projects. The weekend supervisor would notify the director if individuals did not show up as assigned. But during the week, individuals would report to work sites (e.g., Volunteers of America, Red Cross, animal shelters) on their own and the sites were responsible for reporting if someone didn't show up as assigned. Often, sites failed to report such absences.

The former director recognized that many individuals failed to fulfill their Work Order sentences, but he had come to believe that filing violations on participants who failed to show up for work assignments was useless, because courts did not take action. Many in the court system and in Probation, on the other hand, reported

that they had lost faith in the program and could not rely on the accuracy of hours reported as served. Many judges throughout the County reported that they had turned to developing their own Community Service programs. Some judges and justices now assign an individual to Community Service and tell him/her to perform the service at a charity of choice and bring back a letter on the organization's letterhead saying the assigned hours have been completed, rather than using the WO program as a sentencing option.

The program in theory has as many as 50 to 60 work sites where sentenced individuals can be assigned to carry out their community service. However, with the lack of attention and oversight in recent years, many of those sites no longer are active, and the number of functioning placement sites has become a fraction of what it once was.

CGR reviewed available Work Order records for 2000 through 2004. Table 14 on the next page provides numbers on participants and outcomes for the five-year period, and shows that with each passing year the program has involved fewer and fewer individuals. In 2004, there were 45% fewer participants assigned to the core weekday program than had been the case in 2000. The number of hours assigned and completed declined even more dramatically over the same period, by 71% each. Over the five-year period only 55% of assigned hours were actually completed, and by 2004 that proportion had dwindled to 50%. During this period of time, use of the WO program declined substantially among all four County and City Court judges. Only justice courts, in the aggregate, maintained use of the program at consistent levels throughout the five years, with two or three village justices making significant use of the option in the past three years.

Dwindling Program Impact

Between 2000 and 2004 there was a significant erosion in the use of the Work Order program.

	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	TOTAL
# on Weekdays	157	136	109	104	86	592
# on Weekends	34	28	39	39	29	169
Hours Assigned	37,683	23,564	16,004	16,203	10,949	104,403
Hours Completed	19,319	13,608	9,388	9,811	5,498	57,624
% Completed	51%	58%	59%	61%	50%	55%
# Who Completed Hours	115	97	82	73	54	421
% Who Completed Hrs	73%	71%	75%	70%	63%	71%
# Violated	40	37	25	13	9	124
# Not Comp No						
Violation Filed	2	2	2	19	23	48

Table 14: Work Order Participants & Outcomes, 2000-2004

Source: Chemung Work Order Program

Program Impact on Jail

With appropriate leadership and rebuilding of the WO program, increased program visibility and credibility, and PSI recommendations for its use where appropriate, WO has the potential to have a modest impact as an ATI.

WO Future Being **Planned**

Although the previous program director indicated that the program in recent years had been used as a true alternative to incarceration only about 10% of the time, an item in the program's database suggests that that proportion may have been closer to one-third of all referrals to the program in 2003 and 2004. There is no way of knowing from the data or our conversations with the former director how accurate the numbers are. But the data do suggest the possibility that WO can be a viable ATI program in the future, with appropriate leadership, oversight and promotion of the program.

In particular, CGR was told by some judges, justices and attorneys that there is real potential to save jail days by using a revamped Work Order program as an ATI if the program is strengthened and effectively promoted and monitored. Some suggested the importance of having this option recommended more frequently in pre-sentence investigation reports as an ATI. One attorney in particular made reference to WO's potential as an alternative, for example, to the seven days of jail time that are often almost automatic in certain cases for individuals found guilty of "2nd or 3rd degree aggravated unlicensed operation of a motor vehicle." Apparently in the past, WO was frequently used as an alternative to such jail sentences in City Court, but has since fallen out of favor. Presumably the potential is there for renewing that option.

The Work Order program was being revamped at the time of this report. CGR recommends that the person put in charge be a Probation officer reporting through the Probation line of command, with all historical connections to the County Executive

severed. The director of the program needs to make this program a priority, be accessible during all court hours, and make site visits and periodic appearances in court to remind court personnel of the program's existence and value. The WO program needs to be periodically and rigorously assessed so that the County can determine whether it actually saves jail days and reduces costs, as we believe is possible. Its cost to the County has been relatively small (total annual costs of less than \$42,000, with \$16,000 of that covered by state funds, leaving the County with only about a \$26,000 investment in the program in previous years). See Chapter 8 for further discussion of recommendations related to this program.

Intensive Supervision Program

The Intensive Supervision Program (ISP) operated by the Probation Department is designed to provide more intensive, targeted supervision with a smaller caseload than individuals assigned to "regular" probation. The ISP program receives State funding, since it is focused on keeping prisoners out of jail and especially state prison. In recent years, the County has received \$63,400 annually from the State, and the total has covered a little over half the cost of the program. The County share in 2006 will be about \$60,000.

Program Size Has Varied

The number of individuals assigned to ISP has varied significantly in recent years, from as many as 44 new admissions (2001) to as few as 17 (2003), but has been around 25 in each of the past two years. Although the Probation Department has long had two ISP officers, for most of the past five or six years both officers also had other duties, including regular Probation caseloads and responsibilities for writing PSIs. In mid 2005, for example, at least one of the ISP officers had a total caseload of 50 individuals.

Late last year, with vacant positions having been newly filled in Probation's criminal unit, the department was moving to streamline caseloads for the two ISP officers and to limit the caseloads to high-risk offenders. The overall goal was to reduce each officer's caseload to a point more in keeping with state guidelines, which CGR was told is "21 ISP offenders per caseload." At another time, CGR heard the goal stated as 30-35 offenders per ISP officer. Regardless of the final number, CGR believes the change to a pure ISP program, with fewer offenders per supervising officer, will lead to expanded and more effective use of this ATI. For example, in an interview conducted when Probation caseloads were still mixed, a judge noted that he would use ISP more if the program was designed so that a "defendant was really feeling Probation on the back of his neck."

Users of ISP in 2005

Historical breakdowns of ISP program performance were not available from Probation officials. However, the Department was able to provide a breakdown for the 26 new entrants to the ISP program for 2005, all of whom were convicted of crimes in County Court (including two cases from other counties). Of the 26 entrants, three had been convicted of A-level misdemeanors, two of C felony crimes, and the remaining 21 of D and E felonies. About half were convicted of DWI-related charges, and three others of a charge of Aggravated Unlawful Operation of a Motor Vehicle. The rest fell into many different charge categories. A significant majority (15) had not had previous felony convictions.

Eleven of the 26 had not been incarcerated for any time on the charge that led to the ISP sentence, seven had been detained for between one and four days at some point prior to being put on ISP, and three were incarcerated from 8-13 days. There were four individuals, however, who had been incarcerated for very significant periods of time prior to entering the program: 124, 106, 76, and 47 days respectively.

Individuals typically are put on ISP as the result of a PSI recommendation made by Probation to County Court. In 2005, 21 were recommended for the program by Probation, and three were not recommended but were put on ISP anyway by County Court judges. (Two other individuals were put on ISP by judges in other counties, and their cases were transferred.)

Program Impact on Jail

There is no way to determine exactly how many individuals would have gone to the local jail, and how many to state prison, had the alternative ISP program not existed. However, based on the 15 of the 26 individuals admitted to ISP in 2005 were identified by Probation officials as having been diverted from County jail because of ISP. If just under half of them complete the program successfully, they will have reduced the County jail population by 4.3 inmates each day throughout the year.

information Probation provided to CGR, the program likely will have had a significant impact on reducing local jail days as a result of the 26 admissions to ISP in 2005, assuming that about half of the program participants successfully complete the 18-month program (they could be incarcerated if they do not successfully complete the program). Probation officials indicated that they believe 15 of the 26 individuals admitted to ISP last year (58%) were diverted from County jail because of the program (13 for a one-year sentence and two for an estimated six months each). The other 11 were identified as offenders likely to have received prison sentences. Thus the County appears to be doing a good job of balancing the state's requirements for a program that helps divert offenders from the prison system with local desires to reduce the County jail population.

Factoring in the assumption that only two-thirds of a sentence would be completed if it had to be served (due to "good time"), and conservatively assuming that only seven of the 15 "in lieu of jail" offenders successfully complete the program and thereby avoid a jail sentence, a total of about 1,560 jail days would be avoided by the program's 2005 entrants—the equivalent of about 4.3 fewer inmates every night throughout the year. Higher successful program completion rates would of course increase that impact.

More to the point, expansion of the "pure" ISP program, along the lines we have discussed with Probation officials, would have even greater impact. Assuming a doubling of ISP admissions in future years, to roughly 50 a year, and assuming that PSIs continue to make frequent recommendations for admission to ISP, it seems reasonable to project that by 2007, when most of the expanded number of ISP admissions in 2006 will have completed the program, ISP will be responsible for reducing the jail's sentenced population by about nine inmates each night of each year, even if the program is only successful with half its admissions. With more focus on program participants than has been the case in the past, this may prove to be a conservative assumption. This would represent a substantial return on the County's \$60,000 annual investment in this program, and this added impact should occur with no additional program costs.

Time Spent in Local Jail While on ISP Of the 26 program entrants in 2005, at year end only three had spent time in the County jail for violating the conditions of their

dedicated focus on ISP caseloads, it seems reasonable to assume that by 2007, there will be at least 9 fewer sentenced inmates in the County jail each night as a result of ISP efforts, with no added costs to the County.

With expanded

Probation. One had spent four months in jail, another 45 days. The third person, after six months on ISP, had had his Probation revoked and been sentenced to a year in the County jail. That sentence has already been discounted and factored into the projected jail savings outlined above.

Projected Future of ISP Program

The overall data, since it is limited to 2005, does not allow CGR to draw a great many conclusions about this ATI. However, it seems reasonable to conclude that the more focused version of ISP should result in significantly reduced jail days for the County in future years, as long as the current balance of jail-reduction and prison-reduction strategies remains intact. The current balance seems appropriate and fair to both County and state funders of the program.

As the program expands, it would also be prudent for Probation to build in a careful assessment of the impact of the more focused ISP approach on overall caseloads, jail days and dollars saved over time. Such an assessment should also analyze the types of offenders with whom ISP has the greatest likelihood of being successful, and Probation should share the findings with County judges. Such an assessment, along with PSI recommendations based on such information—and judicial decisions based on the recommendations—should have the effect of continuously improving the program's track record with high-risk offenders in the future.

ELECTRONIC HOME MONITORING

Electronic Home Monitoring (EHM) uses technology that can monitor the whereabouts of pretrial defendants as well as convicted offenders. Electronic devices send signals to determine if the person is where he/she is supposed to be at any given time, as matched against an approved schedule. EHM can be a cost effective, safe alternative to housing defendants/offenders in jail, and can be available as both a pretrial and sentencing option to all criminal courts.

However, in Chemung County, EHM is currently only used in the juvenile justice system. Many other counties use the technology to enable persons who would otherwise be confined in jail to remain in the community, carrying out most basic activities of life, but with restrictions on where they can and cannot be at specified times. EHM enables the person being monitored to retain a job, tend to family obligations and, as approved, attend services or treatment, but with appropriate restrictions designed to limit any "unproductive" activities.

Nearby Steuben County leases 35 electronic units for use in criminal courts, as well as occasionally for persons involved in Family Court proceedings. The program is monitored under the supervision of the Probation department. In recent years, use of the electronic devices has been almost equally divided between unsentenced and sentenced cases. A recent CGR study documented that the Steuben County EHM program is currently reducing the daily jail population by an average of almost 15 inmates per day, with the potential at no added costs to expand EHM use to make possible a further reduction of seven additional inmates per day. It is reasonable to anticipate a similar impact in Chemung County, at relatively low operating costs.

Many of the judges and attorneys interviewed during this study expressed a desire to explore the notion of adding EHM to the County's array of ATI options in the criminal justice system. The few concerns raised related mostly to costs and staffing needed to monitor the program. But those concerns were typically offset by the perception that the potential benefits to the County and jail reduction strategies could far outweigh any additional cost or staffing allocations.

Moreover, as suggested in the juvenile justice companion report to this document, there is considerable unused electronic monitoring capacity in the juvenile system, with only one-third capacity utilization in 2005. With 10 units currently leased by the County for use in the juvenile system, six or seven units might often be available for other uses. We suggest in the juvenile report and in the final chapter of this report that the County should engage in a pilot project to shift these underutilized resources into the criminal justice system. Appropriately used, CGR has little doubt that they could almost immediately have an impact in reducing the average daily jail population. Beyond a pilot project to test

EHM is used by many counties, but not Chemung, for unsentenced defendants and sentenced offenders, and can have a significant impact in reducing jail populations. Based on estimated impact in Steuben County, it is realistic to assume at least 20 beds per night could be saved in Chemung using EHM. that proposition, we believe that it would make sense for the County to invest in additional electronic units, as a cost-effective means of having an even greater impact on inmate-reduction strategies, as discussed further in Chapter 8.

DRUG COURTS

Although not technically considered among the County's alternatives to incarceration programs, Drug Courts are increasingly options for offenders in the criminal justice system at both County and City Court levels. The County Criminal Drug Court began in mid-2003, and the City Court program was beginning to enroll defendants in early 2006. (Family Court also has a separate Drug Court, which has had almost no activity since it began in early 2005; it is outside the scope of this study.)

County Drug Court

The County Drug Court (DC) program is overseen by a County Judge, who conducts the court once a week. The program is administered on a day-to-day basis by the Drug Court Coordinator under the State's Unified Court System. As such, her position is entirely State-funded. She is responsible for coordination of all three Drug Court programs, with the aid of an assistant hired during 2005. She is also responsible for the supervision of offenders in the program, a role typically provided in drug courts in other counties by the Probation Department, which has chosen not to be involved in the Chemung program (see below).

Drug Court is designed as an intensive four-phase program which takes at least 12 months to complete. Components of the program include, among others, reporting to DC on a regular basis as required, participation in recommended alcohol/drug treatment programs, random unannounced drug and alcohol screening tests, and involvement with various life skills, health, employment or education programs as directed. Following an admission of guilt, defendants must sign a contract agreeing that failure to meet the program requirements will result in a return of the case to the

regular criminal court docket for sentencing, which typically would involve incarceration in state prison.

Program Enrollment

The County program is targeted primarily at non-violent felony offenders with a history of alcohol and substance abuse problems and unsuccessful treatment. Although the program is designed to address alcohol and substance abuse problems, those admitted to Drug Court need not be facing explicit drug/alcohol-related charges, and indeed, most are not. Alcohol and substance abuse problems are, however, considered as contributing to the defendant's criminal behavior. Most of those in the program have lengthy criminal histories, although that is not a prerequisite for admission. No defendants charged with sex offenses or the distribution of drugs are admissible to the program. Defendants must be at least 16 and Chemung County residents.

By the end of 2005, the County Drug Court had enrolled 67 defendants: 18 in 2003, 23 in 2004 and 26 last year. Of those, 30 remained active in the program at the close of 2005.

Program Impact

The program expects to successfully graduate about 60% of its enrollees over time. At this point, it is not reaching that level of success, though it has improved substantially since its first year of operation. In addition to the 30 active cases, 37 had completed DC by the end of 2005. Of those, 16 had graduated and been successfully terminated from the program, 19 had been unsuccessfully terminated, one had died, and one was listed in program records as having "transferred."

Of those who have completed Drug Court to date, 16 have successfully graduated, and 19 failed and were sent to prison. One-third successfully graduated in the program's first year, two-thirds since.

More encouragingly, the program's rate of successful graduates has improved since its entering class of 18 in 2003. Of that group, only six (33%) graduated. Of 15 who have completed the program since entering in 2004 or 2005, two-thirds have graduated, with five sentenced to prison.

Impact on Jail

Because the alternative sentence for participants is viewed as prison, the program does not have significant immediate impact on reducing the County jail population, other than perhaps helping to prevent recidivism and subsequent admissions to the jail. In fact, it is not unusual for participants to receive sanctions while in the program, some of which involve short jail time "to get their attention" (about a third of all program participants thus far).

The most significant future impact the DC program could have on the jail population would occur if it were able to shorten the time between referral to the program and the completion of an alcohol/substance abuse evaluation and subsequent admission to treatment. Of the program's 67 participants, 37 (55%) had been in the local jail at the time of referral to Drug Court. From the time they entered jail to their release upon actual admission into a treatment program, those defendants collectively accounted for more than 4,400 jail days, mostly waiting for program screening, evaluation and treatment admission to occur.

Incarcerated
defendants referred to
Drug Court have spent
about 3.5 months in
jail awaiting
completion of the DC
and treatment
admission process.

An average of 107 days elapsed—about three and a half months—from the date that incarcerated defendants were initially referred to the Drug Court for consideration, to final admission to treatment. Most of those defendants spent that entire time in jail, and were only released when they were formally admitted to treatment. The following breakdown provides an indication of the amounts of time in various phases of the program admission process:

37 days from referral to initial screening for program eligibility (including a few days for legal issues to be resolved in about a third of the cases)

9 days from initial eligibility screening to evaluation/assessment 31 days from evaluation to contract/Drug Court entry 30 days from Drug Court entry to treatment admission 107 days from initial referral to treatment admission

With the workload of the Drug Court Coordinator (a single position for most of the life of the program, but now two positions) compounded by difficulties in accessing defendants in the jail in a timely fashion (see below), well over a month's delay typically occurred between the time a case was initially referred to DC to determine eligibility and the actual completion of the eligibility screening process. Once a determination was made that the defendant met the program eligibility criteria, subject to meeting the substance abuse requirements, a formal alcohol/substance abuse assessment was requested. That typically took a little over a week to be scheduled and completed. But even after the assessment was complete and service and treatment needs determined, it took an average of two additional months to formally access the needed treatment. There was a month

between the assessment and formal admission to Drug Court, and then another month before the treatment could be started.

The delays are primarily a function of DC staffing shortages, timely access to the defendants in the jail, the need for timely District Attorney case screening and signoff, and the fact that service providers do not begin treatment without an approved payment process. For defendants in jail, the latter often becomes a major barrier, as often those who may have been on Medicaid may have had that coverage ended while in jail, leading to delays in reinstating such coverage before treatment can be authorized.

The practical effect of all this is that the 15 offenders admitted to Drug Court in 2005 who had previously been detained in jail had spent a total of just over 1,600 days in jail awaiting various decisions along the way to ultimately being admitted to DC and required treatment services. This represents an average of 4.4 persons in jail every night of the year.

With changes in the Drug Court screening and admissions process, it should be possible to save about 900 jail days per year (2.4 beds per day), and perhaps more if the efficiencies lead to other referrals in the future. Potential expansion could have staffing implications for the program.

With improved DC staffing, better access to the jail, and a process in place to prevent the removal of Medicaid coverage for defendants in jail and/or to expedite the reinstatement of Medicaid once a defendant becomes a candidate for Drug Court admission, it should be possible to reduce the composite time from referral to treatment by at least 60 days, to a total elapsed time of about a month and a half. It should be possible, for example, to initiate practices across DC staff and the DA's office to expedite front-end processing of potential DC cases in which the defendant is in custody. These estimated reductions would have the combined effect of cutting the equivalent of 900 jail days over a year's time—about 2.4 beds per day. In addition, such changes should make it possible to accept expanded numbers of referrals to Drug Court. We understand that such referrals are not now being made, or are being delayed, in part because of the lengthy backlogs.

Concerns with Drug Court

Although Drug Court has many supporters, a number of concerns have been raised about the program. Concerns have been raised both by detractors from and supporters of the program. Among the major concerns:

Some officials believe the program is working with offenders in the criminal justice system who have already failed in various

settings, and DC represents a waste of County resources. On the other hand, supporters say it is precisely the fact that these offenders have a history of failure, and that nothing else has worked, that necessitates a new approach designed to get at the underlying problems, and provide an incentive to avoid what would be a lengthy state prison sentence. Supporters also argue that nearly all the direct costs associated with operation of the program are not charged to County taxpayers (staff and judges are paid for out of the State budget). On the other hand, the DC does require time commitments from County employees in the DA, PD and PA offices. And jail sanctions imposed by the DC can add to local costs. One partial resolution of this dispute would be to track over time the success rates of different types of defendants in the program to determine if some are more successful than others, as a means of helping to guide future referrals to the program, as well as to suggest needed changes.

Chemung is one of very few counties in the state that does not

- provide Probation supervisory support for the Drug Court program. Probation officials have expressed concerns about the program and its ultimate value, and believe that it is not a good use of their resources to be involved in supervision of participants in the program, especially since some of them have already been unsuccessful on probation supervision in the past. As a result of the lack of Probation support, the Coordinator of the program spends time providing direct supervision that is not spent by most DC Coordinators in other counties. Realistically, given other job requirements and differences in professional training, case supervision does not receive the same level of attention that it would if Probation were involved. Supporters of Drug Court argue that it would be more successful if Probation were more directly involved. Detractors suggest that the program is not that successful anyway, and that there are limited local benefits since the alternative to the program for most defendants would be state prison rather than the local jail, so why should local Probation
- A few concerns were raised about the timeliness of response on some cases from the District Attorney's office, which is the ultimate "gatekeeper" for the program. Defendants are only admitted to the program with the approval of the DA's office, and delays in review of cases can affect not only access to the program

staff be allocated to the program anyway?

Chemung County is one of few counties in the state in which Probation has chosen not to participate in supervising Drug Court participants, given philosophical concerns and other staffing commitments.

but, as we have seen, the length of time defendants must remain in jail custody. Others have expressed concerns that the DA may use Drug Court as a means of salvaging some cases that are considered relatively weak and might otherwise be dismissed or pled to less serious charges. CGR could determine no evidence to either support or refute this concern.

- ❖ The Medicaid coverage issue is viewed as having major implications for delays in accessing services needed to make the Drug Court program viable. Finding a way to maintain access to Medicaid services and/or to expedite reinstatement of the coverage when it is to everyone's benefit to do so could increase the DC's ability to impact the local jail population.
- Limited hours when the jail is made accessible to attorneys and staff such as the DC Coordinator contribute to delays in screening inmates for DC eligibility. This issue also affects Project for Bail access, as noted earlier.
- Supporters of the program are concerned that even with the recent addition of a DC support position, the introduction of City Drug Court, once it is fully operational, will create staffing problems all over again, with at least one additional staff person needed, and/or a different means of providing case supervision support.

City Drug Court

Elmira City Drug Court is in its early months, with a focus on city misdemeanor crimes where drug/alcohol abuse is a precipitating factor. The two-person DC staff who oversee County Drug Court are also responsible for the City program. The assumption is that the City program will have a greater impact on the local jail than does the County Court program, since by definition it is dealing only with misdemeanor offenses where prison is not a sentencing option. Those with concerns about the viability of the City Drug Court program wonder if there will be sufficient incentives for defendants to commit to a year or more of intense activities and treatment in order to avoid a jail sentence. Since the program was just beginning as our study was ending, no comments are possible on the implementation and impact of the program.

KEY QUESTIONS AND OBSERVATIONS

Among the key questions and issues raised in this chapter that need addressing are the following:

- What are the implications of the issues raised and the possible changes suggested for future Probation staffing and how staff are allocated across functions?
- More effective data processing and management and tracking of cases are needed across all ATI programs.
- Although Project for Bail appears to have significant impact in getting defendants released from custody, its impact varies by court and judge. How can it, and/or should it, become a less cautious, more aggressive advocate for defendants who are not now recommended for release by the program?
- What level of staffing and program changes will be needed to reestablish the Work Order program as a viable ATI program?
- Will the recent Intensive Supervision Program approach of having two Probation Officers fully dedicated to an ISP caseload enable the program to be expanded, increase the proportion of successful completers of the program, and generate the expected reduction in jail days?
- * Electronic home monitoring offers the realistic potential to reduce the jail population by 20 or more inmates per night if the County purchases additional electronic units. Is the County willing to consider a relatively small investment to make this possible? Can a pilot project be implemented to test the hypothesis by making electronic units previously used exclusively in the juvenile system available for use within the adult criminal justice system?
- Does Drug Court justify the resources directed to it, and are even more resources needed? What are the implications for Probation and other staff?

8. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Chemung County's criminal justice system includes many strong distinguishing components. Several innovative criminal justice practices are in place or under consideration. County leadership and key officials of many of the components of the criminal justice system are committed to improvement and considering new directions and changes in current practices where it makes sense to do so—and indeed have made a number of suggestions for ways of strengthening the existing system.

Most of the recommendations that follow have been at least alluded to in the earlier chapters. Most important for their credibility and potential for implementation is the fact that most of them were suggested in one form or another in our discussions with knowledgeable stakeholders in the County. CGR has been impressed with the insights, suggestions and openness to considering improvements that we have heard in virtually all of the discussions we have had throughout the course of the project.

Overall Conclusion

Our recommendations build on significant existing strengths. The challenge is how to modify existing programs and practices where necessary, and add new practices and approaches where appropriate, to create an even stronger, more cost-effective system for the future.

The major conclusion is that significant reductions in the jail population are possible—and, we believe, relatively easy and cost effective to implement. Table 15 on the next page summarizes promising, realistic jail-reduction strategies and opportunities that have been previously discussed. Based on our analyses and experiences in other communities, we believe that each of these strategies/approaches and the reductions in the jail population are not only feasible but also conservative, in most cases, in their underlying assumptions.

Table 15: Summary of Proposed Inmate-Reduction Strategies and Estimated Jail Bed Days Saved

Strategy/Opportunity	Average Beds Saved per Day	
1)Revise existing procedures to effect earlier	6-12*	
releases of people in jail on low bails, low risks		
2)Expedite earlier releases for defendants released	4-8*	
after 45 days for lack of timely prosecution		
3)Expedite PSI processing for defendants in jail, &	16	
schedule sentencing closer to PSI completion		
4)Changes in Project for Bail practices	3-5*	
5)Expanded dedicated focus on Intensive	9	
Supervision Program caseloads		
6)Creation of Electronic Home Monitoring	20	
capability within criminal justice system		
7)Streamline Drug Court screening and admission	2	
process		
Total impact	60-72 beds	

^{*} Range reflects potential for duplication. See text below for explanation.

Table 15 does not include expansion of the Work Order (WO) program as an inmate-reduction strategy, but we believe that when fully restructured WO will have some additional jail-reduction benefits. Other approaches discussed in the previous chapters and in the recommendations below may also expand the numbers shown above.

On the other hand, even though we believe our individual strategies and targets shown in the table are based on generally conservative assumptions, it is likely that there is some overlap in the impact of the different approaches. Four of the seven strategies (3, 5, 6 and 7) are relatively stand-alone approaches, and their jail inmate-reduction savings do not overlap with others. But the strategies that specifically refer to earlier releases of relatively low-risk defendants at points prior to the disposition of their cases (approaches 1, 2 and 4) may involve some overlaps in assumptions and affected defendants. If we assume as much as 50% overlap in those three strategies, their combined inmate-reduction target of 25 would be reduced by 12.5. Rounded off, that would leave a projected overall impact of 60 fewer occupied beds per day (plus any additional reductions likely but not included in our assumptions, such as jail bed savings achieved as a result of restructuring WO, or the EHM potential, once fully-integrated into the adult side of Probation, to achieve what we believe will be more than 20 beds saved per night).

Proposed inmatereduction strategies should reduce the average population in the jail by at least 60 inmates each day, or 21,900 inmate days per year—a 29% reduction from 2005 levels. Over the course of a year, a reduction in inmates of that magnitude would represent a 29% reduction in the average daily population of the jail—from an average of 205 in 2005 to an average of 145. This would represent about 21,900 fewer inmate days in jail over a year. The cumulative effect of the recommended changes should become fully apparent within a year of implementation of new and modified practices, with partial effects apparent within months.

Our primary recommendations follow:

Recommended Jail Inmate-Reduction Strategies

The County should implement each of the inmate-reduction strategies outlined above during 2006.

Responsibility for implementation of the various strategies/opportunities varies. In some cases, the responsibility resides primarily with a single entity, such as Probation, the District Attorney, or Project for Bail. Most, however, will involve collaborative efforts across various components of the criminal justice system, as suggested throughout the report. (Note: oversight responsibility for implementation is covered in a subsequent recommendation below.)

- ❖ Implementing the strategies should enable the County to implement one of the following cost-saving initiatives within the jail:
 - (1) Close two or more units (posts) within the jail, at estimated annual savings of about \$500,000.
 - * (2) Use the added space created by the reduction in local jail inmates to generate more revenues for the County by converting 40 of the 60 reduced beds per night into beds to house inmates from other counties and/or the federal government, at \$80 per bed per night. At 40 additional boarding-in inmates per night, the County would generate additional revenues of \$1,168,000 each year, once fully implemented.
 - (3) Implement a combination of the two approaches, closing one unit and boarding in 30 additional inmates,

With the implementation of proposed inmate-reduction strategies, the County should be able to generate benefits to local taxpayers of more than \$1.1 million a year in added revenues and/or reduced jail expenditures.

for savings of \$250,000 and added revenues of \$876,000, for a combined taxpayer benefit of \$1,126,000 per year.

Jail officials have indicated that if it were possible to reduce the size of the jail population by as many inmates as projected above, it should be possible to close at least two posts of the jail. The specific number and size of the units to be closed would of course need to be determined by jail officials consistent with various state-mandated inmate-classification categories and requirements for how inmates of various characteristics can be grouped within units. Jail management and budget officials have indicated that closing of any unit would involve a reduction of about five fulltime staff per unit, at average salary and benefit costs of about \$50,000 per person. The number of staff would be the same regardless of the size of the units closed. Five staff per post are the number of positions needed to staff a unit 24/7 every day of the year, including coverage for time off for such things as vacations, sick pay and training. Thus we estimate savings of about \$250,000 for each unit closed (not including any possible additional savings that might accrue resulting from reduced overtime). We suggest that closing of units and reductions in staff occur through natural attrition, without layoffs.

In addition to the projected savings, the jail reduction strategies may have added taxpayer benefits, as the result of not having to hire additional corrections staff. The State Commission of Correction has ordered the County to create eight new positions to meet State standards for the jail, given the current configuration and recent inmate population growth. Three of those positions have been created, but it is likely that the need for at least some of the remaining five positions could be avoided if the inmate-reduction opportunities we have proposed are realized.

We believe generating revenues by housing inmates from other jails or prisons is a viable option. Even without the proposed inmate-reduction strategies, the jail averaged 23 boarded-in inmates per night during the first half of 2005, exceeding 40 inmates from other counties and federal prisons on some nights during 2005. Although some counties that in the past have housed their inmates in the Chemung jail are now building their own new or expanded facilities, there are other counties that need to use other out-of-county jails. Moreover, jail officials indicate

that there is the potential to house numerous federal prisoners within the Chemung jail on a regular basis. We believe our estimates of the potential market for housing inmates from other jurisdictions to be realistic, given our discussions with jail officials in Chemung and other counties. Jail officials have also expressed their belief that jurisdictions housing prisoners in other facilities tend to be careful in whom they send, in order to ensure minimal disruption in the receiving jail.

The County should work with other counties to advocate for changes in the NYS practice of housing parole violators in county jails with maximum daily reimbursement of \$35 per inmate.

This amount is well below the County's costs, and less than half of what is paid by other jurisdictions for housing their inmates. It is also less than it would cost the State to house these prisoners in their own facilities. Thus, the State has no incentive to change this practice. It will require a groundswell of criticism from counties across the state, and even then, it may not be possible to change the basic policy and practices. Advocacy over time, however, may at least create sufficient momentum to (1) expedite the processing of such cases to reduce the time they occupy County jail beds and/or (2) increase the daily reimbursement levels for counties in the future.

* The County should initiate discussions with Elmira officials concerning the possibility of having City police increase the use of appearance tickets for arrests on minor charges. The jail is currently used as a City lock-up to house inmates arrested by the Elmira Police Department. The City currently pays the County a lump sum of \$25,000 per year to cover the housing and booking costs. By proposing to convert instead to a per diem per inmate charge, the County may help create an incentive for Elmira officials to reduce their costs via additional use of appearance tickets, thereby helping to reduce the number of City inmates in the jail/lock-up.

Sheriff and jail officials in Chemung estimated that as many as three to six jail inmates per night could be avoided if appearance tickets were used more frequently in the City. CGR has no way of independently verifying the extent to which appearance tickets are currently used in the City, or of the accuracy of the claims for the potential impact on the jail population of expanding appearance ticket use. But given what we know about the extent to which unsentenced inmates are routinely in the Chemung jail for short periods of time on minor charges, it is worth exploring the issue with Elmira officials to determine whether changes in current practices among arresting officers are warranted and feasible, and whether any such changes would be likely to have an appreciable impact on the jail population. The Elmira Police Department has in place an extensive set of policies and procedures for the issuance of appearance tickets, so there would be considerable experience and practices to build on. The suggested discussions would be for the purpose of determining if it would be possible to modify the existing policies and practices to enable even greater use of appearance tickets to prevent jail bookings, consistent with the assurance of public safety and the needs of the Elmira City Court and Police Department.

The jail should explore with representatives of Project for Bail, Drug Court and defense attorneys opportunities for expanding their access to defendants in the jail.

Because of jail staffing limitations, it is common practice to limit access to defendants to certain restricted hours. For example, lunch hour is closed to outsiders, and access is limited after about 2:30 p.m. Since access is so restricted, Drug Court, Project for Bail and defense attorneys compete with pastors and other visitors to get access to defendants under the jail's time and space restrictions. With the projected reductions in the inmate population over the next year or so, some additional staff time may be freed up to supplement the efforts of existing jail staff to make it possible to expand access to the jail for those in positions to help expedite the earlier release of defendants, thereby contributing to the reduction of the inmate population. Even working out procedures whereby persons needing to have access to particular defendants could call ahead and ask for the inmate to be available at a specific time could help. Some options that could be explored include: (a) creating additional access times each day, (b) creating an additional block of hours on a specific day of the week, and (c) making expanded use of part-time deputies to help cover Post 14, where interviews occur.

Criminal justice officials should explore the value of circulating and following up on a weekly list generated by the Jail Management System of all unsentenced jail inmates, detailing their circumstances (e.g., including criminal charge, prior record, bail amount, detainers, status of court proceedings, time in jail, changes in status and dates of such changes).

Such a list may already exist, but it is not routinely used throughout the County. Such a list could be used by judges, Project for Bail and defense attorneys to flag inmates where there may be conditions conducive to developing a release strategy, and/or where circumstances may have changed (e.g., a hold removed, changes in bail status) that might trigger new discussions about conditions for release. One justice suggested that it might make sense to put such a list on a website with restricted access, so that it could be easily reviewed without necessarily generating paper copies.

Recommended Coordination of Implementation Plan

Since the recommendations cut across the entire criminal justice system, the County should appoint a person to oversee the process of reviewing report findings and recommendations, establish a process to determine the County's highest priorities, create a strategic action plan, and monitor implementation of the plan. This person should be someone in, or directly reporting to, the County Executive's office. Although it could be an existing respected County employee, we recommend the County consider hiring a full-time Criminal Justice Coordinator to work with all components of the system to ensure that they follow through on the recommendations and action plan.

It is likely that such a position will not be a long-term appointment, and probably should not be. But we believe the implementation of the changes suggested in this report, and the establishment of strategic directions and an implementation plan, will initially need dedicated centralized leadership and direction. A coordinated plan, with an identified leader, is essential. It may be possible to assign such responsibilities to an existing County official, but we believe that the tasks may require full-time attention, and that this function should not be assigned to anyone with current responsibilities within the criminal justice system.

The Coordinator's responsibilities should include monitoring the progress of jail reduction strategies, and documenting the impact various approaches are having in strengthening the criminal justice system, improving the impact of ATI programs, and reducing the number of inmates in jail, including documentation of the cost and revenue implications of changes that have been implemented. The individual selected to fill this position should have experience that demonstrates significant knowledge and use of technology and management skills that include extensive use of data.

The County should reactivate and strengthen the Criminal Justice Council to guide the process of implementing needed changes within the system.

Although the Council previously existed, it has not met for some time. Potential changes in the criminal justice system provide the perfect opportunity to recreate the Council to provide perspective and guidance in the development and monitoring of an action This group should meet regularly with, and advise, the proposed new Coordinator. The Council chair should be appointed by the County Executive and have a clear understanding of the criminal justice system, but not be directly connected with any of its component parts. If desired by the County, the Council could also be charged with discussing juvenile justice issues, and Council membership could reflect that broader perspective. Council members would presumably include persons such as the Sheriff, Jail Superintendent, District Attorney, Public Defender, Public Advocate, Probation Director, representatives of Supreme, County and City Court judges (and Family Court if juvenile issues were to be included within the Council's purview) and of justice court magistrates, DSS Commissioner, Mental Health Director, Project for Bail Director, and the City Police Chief.

❖ Each agency, program practitioner and judge/justice affected by this report should be urged to carefully review it for insights about current practices and how those practices might be changed to expedite court processing and jail reduction strategies. Ongoing efforts should be implemented to more effectively educate attorneys, judges and justices concerning the status of programs and practices within the criminal justice system, and their implications for courts at all levels.

Many in the criminal justice system rightly have considerable discretion in how they make decisions, but the data and observations included in the report may offer insights that individual judges, program practitioners, attorneys and agency heads may find helpful in considering possible future changes that could be beneficial to the entire system. Thus, the findings from this report should be the basis for forums involving key people from all components of the system concerning what is currently available, what changes may be forthcoming, and how they could impact on judicial proceedings and decision-making at all levels across system components. Updates (e.g., through meetings, written materials, website) should be provided on an ongoing basis of the status of programs and practices, and the extent to which there are openings in various ATI programs in the future.

District Attorney * Recommendations

The District Attorney, Public Defender and Public Advocate should meet to discuss ways they can promulgate policies and practices throughout their offices and the overall criminal justice system that are consistent with their competing roles yet responsive to the need to expedite cases more efficiently at all levels.

With the recent creation of the PA office and reduced emphasis on Assigned Counsel attorneys, the timing is right for such "summit" discussions that could help shape how business is conducted in the future by attorneys at all court levels. Court proceedings and jail population makeup could be significantly affected by such discussions.

The District Attorney should convene discussions with the PD, PA, County Court judges and representatives of City Court and justice courts to discuss ways of more effectively expediting cases between lower courts and County Court, including the potential for expanded use of Superior Court Informations.

As noted earlier, many cases languish within lower court levels before ultimately being filed at County Court, and Chemung County is consistently near the bottom of all counties in the state in its use of SCIs. All key parties indicated in interviews with CGR a willingness to put the SCI information on the table for serious consideration, and the District Attorney indicated a willingness to

convene an initial meeting. Because of the long time involved in processing many felony cases, the fact that processing of SCI cases is typically much faster than Grand Jury cases, the fact that many cases ultimately get dismissed or pled to lower charges, and the fact that many defendants spend lengthy periods of time in jail prior to being released after 45-day deadlines for prosecution are not met, all combine to suggest that the timing is right for such a discussion on expediting cases and potentially expanding the use of SCIs where appropriate and mutually beneficial to all parties within the criminal justice system.

* The District Attorney should routinely screen cases promptly as arrest charges are initiated in the office, in order to expedite the processing of cases, establish priorities for prosecution, establish guidelines for sentencing (including expanded use, where appropriate, of alternatives to incarceration), and reduce the numbers of cases dismissed and/or failing to meet prosecution deadlines.

Early and consistent review of case files, as occurs in many DA's offices, can have significant impact in shaping subsequent actions and strategies within the DA's office, in framing possible consistent plea strategies, and in providing clear guidelines for the successful and timely prosecution of cases that help avoid misinterpretations and inconsistent approaches by different attorneys within the office. Development of more consistent prosecutorial strategies and practices can help develop trust, improved communications, and improved relationships and decision-making between DA staff and defense attorneys.

The DA should develop, and make more extensive use of, expanded internal training/orientation manuals and techniques, as well as internal evaluation procedures, as a means of ensuring consistent approaches by staff attorneys that meet high standards of performance.

With the overloads faced by attorneys, and the fact that some are part-time, it is understandably difficult to make time to provide training/orientation updates for staff, but several observers, including some within the DA's office, acknowledged the need to have such approaches in place. Also, the office should have more comprehensive personnel performance evaluation systems,

including a "customer satisfaction" scale regarding responsiveness, that enables the DA to monitor and assess the performance of each attorney, as viewed by those with whom they come in contact throughout the system (excluding defendants).

More effective communication, training and orientation, and feedback are needed between the DA's office and law enforcement officers concerning what is needed in the arrest documents and evidence to ensure that cases meet standards for effective prosecution.

Currently too many cases are dismissed, delayed in prosecution, or pled to lower levels than anticipated because of initial overcharging and/or insufficient or inadequate evidence, or because of insufficient guidance from the DA's office in working with the arresting officers or investigators early enough in the case to correct any initial problems. It is important to take the time needed to ensure that the police and prosecutor are working effectively together to ensure that arrests will hold up under scrutiny more frequently than has been the case at times in the recent past. If there are problems in the prosecution of cases, feedback should be provided to the law enforcement officers in terms of what should happen in the future to prevent cases from faltering due to evidentiary problems that might have been avoided.

The DA should consider establishment of a better internal management system such as computerized procedures for tracking status and progress of all cases through the system.

The office has a rather antiquated system in place for tracking progress of felony cases and where they are in the system at any given time, and no ability to efficiently track misdemeanor cases. There is little ability to compare the processing and outcomes of cases in the aggregate to determine if there are patterns related to particular types of cases, particular attorneys, or particular courts or judges, that might prove helpful for taking corrective actions.

❖ The District Attorney should hire an Office Manager to more effectively manage the flow of cases through the office, with particular focus on 45-day deadlines related to prosecution of defendants in custody and 180-day deadlines for failure to prosecute cases. An office manager/case manager can help to create office efficiencies, ensure the effective use of computer systems to track and record and report on the status of cases, create and maintain effective measures of performance for judging the effectiveness of attorneys and of the office as a whole, and help ensure consistency of approaches between different attorneys who may be responsible for the same case at different times. Too many cases now "fall through the cracks" within the DA's office, with implications for the rest of the system. CGR believes that an investment in this position can have significant benefits throughout the system, including reduction of jail days and expedited court cases, that will more than justify the expenditures involved.

More attention should be given to the training, supervision and support of inexperienced attorneys typically assigned to City Court. Serious consideration should be given to hiring an additional attorney, at least part-time, to help deal with the high volume of cases in City Court.

At the very least, more nurturing and hands-on support is needed to help new attorneys, who are typically thrown into the cauldron of City Court with little or no training, to negotiate the early weeks in that setting, in order to minimize bad decisions and bad impressions being made simply due to lack of experience and understanding of how the system operates. Such training and supervision occur now to some extent, but they are generally regarded as being too little and inconsistent to be of much real value.

Defense Attorney * Recommendations

The Public Defender, Public Advocate and District Attorney should meet to discuss ways they can promulgate policies and practices throughout their offices and the overall criminal justice system that are consistent with their competing roles yet responsive to needs to expedite cases more efficiently between lower courts and County Court, and throughout the system at all levels. These discussions should include the potential for expanded use of Superior Court Informations.

For more discussion, see the similar recommendation in the DA section above.

* The PD and PA should develop, and make more extensive use of, expanded internal training/orientation manuals and techniques, as well as internal evaluation procedures, as a means of ensuring consistent approaches that meet high standards of performance across attorneys in the offices.

Again, the issues are similar to those discussed in the context of the District Attorney recommendations.

❖ Both the PD and PA offices should consider establishment of better internal management systems such as computerized procedures for tracking status and progress of cases through the system. It may make sense to establish a single system across the two offices, but with data for the two maintained separately and not accessible to the other. Ideally the system would also enable tracking of performance of Assigned Counsel attorneys as well as those in the PA and PD offices.

As with the DA's office, the defense attorney offices have systems that were not able to produce effective, consistent management data for purposes of this study, and even where data could be produced, several different reports, ostensibly discussing data on the same indicators, each produced significantly different numbers. Better management systems are needed to provide the ability to track the overall performance of the two offices, as well as for individual attorneys.

Currently there appears to be little or no ability to compare cases in the aggregate to determine if there are patterns related to particular types of cases, particular attorneys, particular courts or judges, or to compare workload and performance of PD and PA attorneys with Assigned Counsel attorneys. Such information is necessary in order to identify issues for which corrective actions may be needed. Consistent definitions are needed (e.g., what constitutes a case, and how are cases tracked when both PD and PA are involved in representing different defendants in the same case?). The PA's office has budgeted for the installation this summer of a state-of-the-art computerized case management system, which can hopefully be the key building block for making this recommendation happen.

We recommend that the County hire two additional defense attorneys, one each in the PA and PD offices (and a part-time Expansion of the PD and PA offices would yield net benefits to County taxpayers of about a quarter of a million dollars per year in reduced Assigned Counsel Family Court costs alone, plus anticipated additional smaller savings in reduced costs in criminal courts.

secretary per office), to represent most of the remaining criminal cases still represented by Assigned Counsel, but mostly to focus on reducing the significant costs associated with representation by AC attorneys of Family Court cases. Even with the costs of this investment, we believe the County will save almost a quarter of a million dollars each year, just in reduced Family Court costs.

Although key data needed to make the case for this recommendation were not available in full, enough data were available to give CGR confidence that the costs of this investment would be returned many times over, almost immediately. Based on data made available to us, total salaries and benefits of the recommended positions would total about \$160,600, against our estimates of about \$400,000 a year in AC Family Court costs that could be eliminated as a result of the work of the new attorneys. Further savings would be likely as a result of additional reductions in AC criminal cases that the additional PA/PD attorneys would cover.

• We also recommend that the County establish a pilot project to test the feasibility and potential value of a central screening and attorney assignment function that could result in additional cost savings and efficiencies across courts.

Many criminal justice officials have postulated that many of those receiving indigent defense services in the County, particularly those in Family Court, may not technically meet financial eligibility requirements for the services. There have been no uniform standards for determining eligibility, and typically the decisions are left to individual judges to make, usually on the basis of unverified A central screening function could offer the information. potential for creating uniform standards and applying them consistently throughout the County's various courts. Although we heard considerable support for the creation of this function, we believe it would be premature to create a full-fledged screening function without first testing it, as it may not prove necessary or cost effective. On the other hand, we believe there is sufficient merit to the idea to test the concept for a six-month period, with the results carefully tracked during that time, prior to making a decision about whether function final the should institutionalized.

Court ** Improvement Recommendations

Court officials and representatives of the District Attorney and defense attorney offices should meet to discuss ways of more effectively expediting cases through the court system, especially between lower courts and County Court, including the potential for expanded use of Superior Court Informations.

See the DA recommendations.

* Consideration should be given to setting up a tracking mechanism linked to the local courts and DA and PD offices that would identify lower court felony cases when they are arraigned and/or come to the DA's attention. This should be followed up with assignment (and further tracking) of each case to a specific County Court judge, who would in turn call together the attorneys for each case after a specified period (e.g., one or two months, or prior to the 45-day deadline for prosecution for cases in custody), if no previous Grand Jury or SCI actions had occurred by then, in order to understand what is needed to move the case forward.

Now cases often languish in the lower courts with no central oversight of their status, leading to the long delays discussed earlier in the report. Bringing these cases before the upper court level for a review at a specified time should add accountability to the system, force attorneys to provide attention to a case in a timely manner, help ensure that cases don't languish simply because they are in a lower court (that may rarely meet), and help ensure that if there are problems with the case, or a long period of detention that may not be necessary, there is a way of identifying and discussing actions that may help resolve these issues.

* Courts at all levels should be conscious of the dates when pre-sentence investigations are requested, and expedite the scheduling of follow-up sentencing dates as soon after the targeted PSI completion date as possible. If the PSI recommendation below is followed to guarantee completion within 20 days for defendants in custody, it should be easy for courts to schedule sentence dates for soon after the PSI is due. Court requests for PSIs must also be conveyed to Probation immediately rather than waiting for several days to

process the request, as sometimes happens with some smaller justice courts.

Sentencing for the average case for which a PSI is requested does not occur until four weeks after the PSI is completed (though the time had been reduced to 24 days in the past year). We assume it should be possible in most cases to reduce the time lag to no more than 14 days, or even less. If that were to occur, significant jail days would be saved, as noted earlier, for those in custody while awaiting sentencing. There will be some times when the 20-day period cannot be met, and Probation should communicate such delays as soon as they are known, so a new feasible court date can be scheduled.

• Judges should examine their court scheduling/calendaring approaches and see if scheduling can be done more efficiently to minimize, as much as possible, wasted time of attorneys and defendants.

Court scheduling appears to be far less of a concern in Chemung than in many other counties. However, particularly in the context of City Court, several stakeholders suggested that if cases could be scheduled in blocks for a certain hour, rather than having all defendants come at the same time and sit potentially for hours, attorney, defendant, victim and others' time might be more appropriately spent, rather than wasted waiting unproductively in court.

The Administrative Judge for the 6th Judicial District should encourage courts and individual judges/justices to examine their practices to consider ways of building on their respective strengths while at the same time utilizing the data in this report to initiate corrective actions to help expedite cases through their courts, help streamline the overall justice system, and reduce the jail population where possible, consistent with community safety.

As this report documents, there are major differences on a number of dimensions between courts and between judges within the same courts. The differences do not necessarily imply better or worse, but the sheer magnitude of some of the differences hopefully will spur constructive reflection on practices and productive changes that will be beneficial to courts and the overall justice system. The Administrative Judge should consider convening judges as a group to discuss the implications of the report, and meeting with individual judges to consider actions each could take to improve aspects of the criminal justice system over which they have control.

Town supervisors, village mayors and town/village justices in nearby jurisdictions may wish to consider pooling resources to establish pilot projects whereby voluntary "minidistrict" courts or shared service projects are set up to determine if it might be possible to establish better use of resources between neighboring justice courts.

Short of being able to establish a full-fledged district or regional court, which is politically unlikely and which may have other liabilities as well, the idea of pooling resources seems worth testing, potentially enabling justices to be formally on call to cover for more than one court, to enable rotating justices to deal with issues that arise between regular court appearances, to share clerical support, and other similar ways of pooling resources. The model recently adopted by the towns of Baldwin, Erin and Van Etten for a service sharing agreement may be a model other justice courts may wish to examine.

Also, as a means of improving communications, education and information sharing between justices and clerks of the justice courts with the more centralized "players" in the criminal justice system, it may make sense to convene periodic meetings involving the justice courts, DA, PA and PD, Probation, Administrative Judge, County and City Court judges and clerks, Project for Bail, and other appropriate officials.

Pre-Sentence Investigation Recommendations

Probation and court officials should agree to expedite the completion of PSI reports within 20 calendar days for defendants who are in custody at the time of the PSI requests. If this were to occur routinely, in conjunction with commitments to schedule court appearances for sentencing within about two weeks of SCI completion, the jail population could be reduced by about 16 inmates per night.

Focus on these cases should include deliberate attention to ATI options that might be realistic alternatives to a jail or prison sentence. With the expedited PSI process and more attention on

ATI options, it is possible that even more than the estimated reduction of 16 jail inmates per day could result.

It is recognized that for the 20-day goal to be met, courts must convey the PSI request immediately to Probation, as noted above. Probation should accept email and fax requests for PSIs, and these requests should trigger the 20-day time period, even if official paperwork is needed and arrives later via interoffice or U.S. mail. Proper procedures will need to be developed for this new approach to be successful.

Some PSIs may take slightly more than 20 days due to unavoidable circumstances such as inability to obtain a victim's statement in a timely manner or delays in reports from other agencies which may influence recommendations, but such delays should clearly be the rare exception. For full inmate-reduction savings to occur, both Probation and all court levels must cooperate in a systemic approach to expedite PSIs and sentencing dates for all defendants in custody at the time of the PSI reports.

❖ Judges should be encouraged to use PSIs only when absolutely required, and only when they have legitimate needs for more information before pronouncing sentences. "Short-form" or Conditions of Probation PSI reports focusing on just the basic information needed to make a sentencing decision should be used wherever possible. At the same time as there is a desire to reduce the number of PSIs requested, wherever possible, the PSI reports that are done should explicitly encourage the use of ATI options, where possible. The two objectives need not be incompatible, as long as judges focus their requests for PSIs on any cases in which ATIs may be viable options that they are willing to seriously consider.

Probation may wish to discuss with judges/justices what information is needed, under what circumstances, and offer options concerning full PSIs, "short-form" PSIs or "conditions of Probation."

❖ Data on PSIs should be tracked electronically and analyzed more carefully in the future to determine their outcomes, the extent to which ATIs are recommended, the extent to which the recommendations are or are not used by specific judges, and the extent to which PSI recommendations are or are not consistent with ultimate sentencing decisions.

Recommendations Specific to ATI Programs

To accomplish inmate-reduction strategies and other systems improvements, a number of specific changes are recommended for each of the current and potential ATI programs. They are indicated below, by program. A summary of the staffing implications for the Probation Department follows at the end of this section.

Project for Bail

Organizationally, we recommend that Project for Bail remain an independent agency. However, the County should contract with P4B and develop performance standards against which the program can be judged on an annual basis. Performance standards should include numbers screened, number and percent interviewed, number and percent eligible (and recommended), number and percent released to the program consistent with eligibility/recommendations, number and percent released to the program despite not being eligible, FTA rate, and non-compliance rate. As the agency responsible for ATI programs within the County, Probation should coordinate with P4B and monitor the P4B contract on behalf of the County. Overall performance and program accountability should be monitored by the proposed Criminal Justice Coordinator, who should meet with the Probation Director and the P4B director monthly to go over program goals, performance against goals, and opportunities to strengthen the program.

Some of those we interviewed suggested that P4B should be reconstituted as a County government program as part of the Probation Department. But there would be no financial benefits to the County to doing so, and we do not see any major service benefits either. To the contrary, some believe, probably with good reason, that the program may have more credibility with defendants if it is not viewed as being "another government program." CGR believes that the program can be most effective by continuing as an independent entity, but with a closer working relationship for performance monitoring purposes with the County, which should routinely monitor program performance

against contractual expectations and outcomes, as should be the case with County contracts with any outside agencies.

Sufficient additional funding should be allocated by the County to P4B through the contract allocation process so that the agency can raise staff salaries. Staff salaries and benefits are low compared with those of comparable County employees, and a significant adjustment can help get them closer to comparable County employee levels. Additional funds are likely to contribute to staff retention and reward staff for their historical role in keeping defendants out of jail, and recognize the level of work expected of staff in response to recommendations to strengthen the program.

A number of changes are recommended below which will ask more of program staff than has been expected in the past. We believe the changes can be accomplished with existing program staffing levels, through greater efficiencies tied to improved technology and reallocation of some responsibilities across staff.

When the current P4B lease expires at the end of 2006, consideration should be given to housing the program, as a non-profit contract agency, within a County facility in close proximity to the jail and to City and County Courts.

Even though the program should remain as an independent agency, we believe it makes sense to have it housed within a County facility to enhance program security and in order to save money currently budgeted for rent, building maintenance, phone and utility fees that might be avoided, or at least reduced, in a County building. The potential savings of about \$16,000 could be reinvested in computer/technical improvements for the program and/or in additional salaries and benefits to create incentives to help retain staff within the program.

* The program's computer system should be upgraded and made compatible with the County system and with the jail's management information system, so greater program access and efficiencies can occur, thereby helping free up staff time for additional assignments.

Information Technology staff from the County have been working with the program in recent months to help make the program's

computer system and terminals compatible with the jail and other County offices. Some progress has been made, but the goal of complete accessibility and compatibility with other agencies is not yet accomplished. The ability to access jail system data is critical, as it would enable the program staff to make some screening decisions without having to actually go to the jail. Given limited jail access hours in general, the more P4B can do to collect needed information without having to actually be physically present at the jail, the more productive the staff can be.

* The program should become more aggressive in making explicit recommendations that defendants be released, rather than simply indicating that defendants are "eligible for release." It may be that the program's relatively low rate of releases compared to "eligibles" would be increased if judges knew that they were receiving a formal recommendation rather than simply a more passive statement that a defendant is eligible.

This issue should be discussed in some detail with judges and justices by P4B staff. Some judges and justices indicated that in the past they were not always clear what information they were receiving from the program, and how they were supposed to respond to it. In some cases the information received was simply a phone call or phone message indicating that a defendant was eligible, with no further context. A more explicit recommendation, where possible delivered in person, would be a more forceful statement. National pretrial release standards recommend that programs make explicit release recommendations, and more than three-quarters of programs nationally do so in most or all cases.⁹

Consistent with making formal recommendations, the program should also be a more visible presence in as many courts as possible when recommending release, to "put a face on Project for Bail." Now staff are present primarily in City and County Courts, with limited presence in justice courts, where release rates are by far the lowest. Even

-

⁹ See Pretrial Services Programming at the Start of the 21st Century: A Survey of Pretrial Release Programs, July 2003. See also John Clark and D. Alan Henry, "The Pretrial Release Decision Making Process: Goals, Current Practices and Challenges," November 1996 (Pretrial Services Resource Center).

though being present in such courts may be less convenient for staff, consideration should be given to making at least periodic appearances in at least the larger justice courts as often as possible when release recommendations are made, to provide opportunities to explain the underlying rationale behind P4B decisions.

Several justices indicated that they would have a better understanding of P4B and its services, and be inclined to pay more attention to its recommendations/eligibility assessments if they were delivered in person, with a supporting statement reminding the court of what the finding was based on and what the program would be doing to support their recommendation. indicate that they are happy to respond to a justice's request to appear in court, but such requests are rare, and P4B should be responsible for taking the initiative to appear on their own as often as possible, especially in the higher-volume justice courts. frequency, nature and potential value of these appearances, and under what circumstances they would be most helpful, should be discussed between P4B staff and justices. Because of the hours of most justice courts, staff appearances at these courts may mean the need to adjust work schedules, but we believe the time spent in the courts would be better spent than comparable time in the office in terms of increasing release rates, particularly in the justice courts. We also believe that greater computer-related efficiencies can help to free up additional time of staff to make possible other ways of allocating time to tasks of value to the program.

* Consideration should also be given to undertaking a pilot project whereby staff would go to the jail early in the morning, say at 6:30 or 7, to conduct as many interviews with defendants as possible prior to appearing at City Court at 8 or 8:30. This may enable more defendants to be interviewed each day, and for more formal recommendations to be made, rather than having to interview defendants while court is in session. It is especially important to be able to conduct early interviews on Monday mornings, even if other days are not feasible, given the typical backup of cases from the weekend.

It is possible that early morning interviews would not add appreciably to the total numbers of interviews that could be completed each day, or the numbers of defendants released to the

But it is worth testing for three to six months to determine whether the program has more impact by conducting earlier, pre-court, than it has under current arrangements. Earlier interviews may also enable the program to do more verification of information obtained in the interviews prior to taking information to court. Conducting interviews in jail during early mornings, prior to court sessions, is typical of what many release programs routinely do. It is recognized that this would also represent a change in staff hours, at the opposite end of the day from the recommended evening justice court hours. This is one of the reasons why we suggested increases in remuneration for staff, in part in anticipation of changing expectations of their work. But it is also why we suggest that early hours be initiated on a pilot basis, with results carefully monitored, before any final decisions are made about whether this approach should be made permanent or not. If it has no demonstrable impact on program performance indicators after a reasonable test period, the program could go back to its current approach.

The program should be more aggressive in interviewing higher proportions of defendants than it currently interviews. We recommend that it not automatically screen out defendants with detainers from other charges, unpaid fines, history of non-compliance, or even those with previous FTA histories (unless they are excessive). Program data suggest that a number of defendants with such characteristics ultimately get released anyway, suggesting that judges believe that these indicators should not be automatic knockout factors in terms of assessing risk of failure to appear in court.

Interviewing higher proportions of defendants would be consistent with national pretrial release standards, which recommend that *all* defendants in custody should be interviewed, even if interviewed by the program in the past, even if all obligations have not been met in the past, and even if immediate release is not likely, since circumstances may change, and information should be collected in anticipation of the possibility of a future release opportunity. Although we are not recommending that all defendants be interviewed, we do encourage the program to be less restrictive than it is now concerning the types of

characteristics noted above, as consistent with discussions in Chapter 7.

❖ P4B should use lists of jail inmates (see proposed weekly circulation of list under jail recommendations) to periodically review the status of all defendants who are detained. We suggest that this occur every two weeks, with the focus on reassessing any defendants whose circumstances may have changed in the meantime and/or on assessing whether the DA and judge may be more willing to consider release under supervision after a defendant has spent some time in jail with no sign of being able to post bail.

Again, national pretrial standards argue that programs should routinely review the status of all detained defendants, although most do not do so on a regular basis.

❖ The program should compare court appearance rates for defendants recommended and released with those released to P4B without having been considered eligible. It should also determine, via access to jail data, what happens concerning subsequent release or jail status to those not released through P4B.

Electronically tracking and analyzing such information would provide the program with important understandings of what impact it is having with particular types of defendants, what happens to cases not released through the efforts of the program, and where there may be opportunities to push more aggressively for "safe" releases for other defendants in the future.

Work Order

* The staffing of this program should be strengthened, with primary focus on expanding the program, adding work sites, providing strengthened supervision of participants and of the work sites, restoring program credibility and convincing judges that it is a viable sentencing option and an effective alternative to incarceration, as long as it is effectively monitored. The coordinator for the program should clearly be a Probation employee, and be responsible to the appropriate Probation Supervisor, rather than continuing the historic relationship with the County Executive's office.

Such expansion and monitoring have not been possible with the limited staff time devoted to Work Order in recent years. suggest that the program initially be staffed with a .5 FTE Sr. Probation Officer splitting time with another assignment (see Aggressive use of half a senior PO's time should be sufficient to get this moribund program back off the ground and functioning as a viable ATI program. However, it is not likely that this program will ever be a major contributor to reduction of jail days, based on reactions of stakeholders we interviewed. On the other hand, it may prove under new leadership to be a viable sentencing alternative which provides courts with a means of holding defendants accountable for their actions without a jail sanction. It seems plausible that it could contribute to perhaps one to two beds saved per day during the course of a year. If the program shows the potential for growth beyond what can be managed by a half-time coordinator, the function could evolve into a full-time position, but we believe that half-time should be more than sufficient to get the program restored as a viable alternative program.

Intensive Supervision ***** Program

CGR endorses the recently-adopted model of two full-time POs (at least one a Senior level PO) fully dedicated to an ISP caseload. This model offers far more promise than the previous approach of having dual caseloads including both ISP and regular probation offenders. Maintaining this service delivery model should be able to lead directly, by 2007, to a reduction of nine sentenced inmates a night from the jail, and perhaps more if the program's successful termination rate exceeds 50%.

A 50% success rate seems to be a reasonable conservative goal for the initial year of this new dedicated-caseload approach. To the extent that a higher rate of successful program completions can be achieved, the impact on the jail could also grow, assuming that half or more of the successful participants would have been headed for jail instead of prison in the absence of ISP (as was the case as the new approach to the program was launched in 2005).

Probation should carefully assess the impact of the more dedicated ISP-cases-only approach on overall caseloads, jail days and dollars saved over time. Such an assessment should also analyze the types of offenders with whom ISP

has the greatest likelihood of being successful, and Probation should share the findings with County judges.

Assuming positive findings, and PSI recommendations in support of use of the program, this program should have no problem operating at capacity, and continuing to divert offenders from both jail and state prison.

Electronic Home Monitoring

Significant unused capacity in the County's juvenile justice system electronic home monitoring devices should be used and tested on a pilot basis, at no cost to the County, to assess their potential impact in reducing the jail population. Currently the County is not using EHM as an ATI option at all within the criminal justice system, though other counties have been using it as a true alternative to jail.

Assuming the County and funders approve the use of unused juvenile units in the adult criminal system, we expect that the introduction of EHM to adult cases will quickly verify its potential as a significant contributor to inmate-reduction strategies. Extensive use of the alternative in Steuben County, with both unsentenced defendants and sentenced offenders, has already resulted in about 15 fewer inmates per night in the jail, with further expansion projected to result in an additional seven fewer inmates per night in 2006. CGR believes that similar numbers should also occur in Chemung, once a program is fully implemented.

* Assuming that the pilot test proves successful, CGR recommends that the County purchase additional EHM units, with the goal of approaching by 2007 the projected impact of 20 to 22 fewer inmates per day. We recommend that Probation be responsible for monitoring the program once fully implemented. Many attorneys and judges we met with during the study expressed enthusiastic support for having this alternative added to the County's ATI programs. We recommend that the units be used as an alternative to incarceration for both unsentenced and sentenced cases. We believe that the projected level of impact can be obtained with a total of about 35 leased EHM units.

Total costs of leasing and monitoring that many units should not exceed about \$25,000 per year, based on the experience of Steuben

County and Chemung DSS with regard to the juvenile justice system. This relatively small cost would be recouped many times over in savings to taxpayers resulting from anticipated reductions in the jail population. Fully implemented, the staff implications are likely to be one full-time Probation Officer, or a combination of a half-time PO and a half-time Probation Assistant.

Drug Court

While there are insufficient data to date to justify definitive conclusions about the ultimate value of the Drug Court programs in the County (given the length of time it takes to successfully complete the program), the reality is that significant commitments have been made to these programs by local and state judicial officials. Given that reality, and given the recent extension of the model to City Court, the programs should have the resources they need to prove their worth. Accordingly, the County should urge the State to add one additional staff person to support the Drug Court Coordinator function, if the City Court program grows rapidly, as some expect. Otherwise, there will be insufficient resources to expedite referrals and supervise participants in the City program.

Current staffing levels are barely adequate to cover the existing County Court program and a modest City program, in the absence of participant supervision support from Probation. If the City program expands rapidly, levels of supervision for those in both adult programs will become stretched too thin, to the detriment of program impact in both cases.

Similarly, as long as the State commitment to the programs exists, Probation should be providing direct case supervision for at least one, if not both programs (depending on the ultimate size of the City DC program). It has chosen not to participate, as a result of philosophical concerns about the program, and as a result of staffing constraints. But if Drug Court programs are to continue, and have any chance of being viable in the long run, the County must commit to having an active supervision role played by Probation. At least one PO should be dedicated to Drug Court programming, with the potential for two if the City Drug Court grows rapidly.

Chemung is one of very few counties in the state where Probation is not an active participant in Drug Court programs. Regardless of the merits of any arguments for or against Probation's involvement in either the County or City program in Chemung, the programs cannot survive successfully, in our judgment, unless Probation is actively involved in at least one if not both of the programs (its degree of involvement in the City program could also be influenced by the level of Coordinator support staffing provided by the State, i.e., Probation's involvement in the City program may be less necessary if the recommended additional State-funded staff position is created, as recommended above). As long as the State continues its emphasis on Drug Court, we believe the County must make this Probation commitment or be willing to accept a program that will never fulfill its promise. Some counties have been able to fund such supervision partially with TANF funds, and this option should be explored by Chemung County.

CGR recommends that the County conduct an independent evaluation of its County Drug Court program.

It is a relatively common practice for Drug Court evaluations to be undertaken when they have been in existence for about three years, thereby providing sufficient experience to adequately determine how well the program is performing.

❖ In order to reduce unnecessary days spent in jail by persons admitted to Drug Court who are unable to access treatment services in a timely manner, the Drug Court staff and DA's office need to expedite the front-end screening process to determine eligibility for the program, and the County should put in place a process to keep Medicaid status for jail inmates on an "inactive" status (rather than closing the cases when they enter jail) and/or to expedite the process of reinstating Medicaid coverage so that a person can be admitted to treatment immediately upon admission to Drug Court.

Long delays are currently occurring while treatment providers delay admitting a defendant into treatment until Medicaid eligibility is reinstated. We believe that procedures should be able to be developed relatively easily that should reduce or eliminate this problem. Expediting access to the program and to treatment could reduce the jail population by two to three persons per day.

In order to expedite access to treatment, as well as initial assessment of an inmate's alcohol/substance abuse status and treatment needs as part of the process of determining eligibility for Drug Court, the County and DSS may need to expand the funding available for a Certified Alcohol and Substance Abuse Counselor in the jail to process cases and help do the paperwork needed to access treatment. DSS currently funds 10 hours a week of such services in the jail, but the workload is closer to a full-time position. Although CGR was not able to fully assess the costs and benefits of funding such a position, consideration should be given to this possibility, as a partial solution to moving cases out of jail more rapidly.

Summary of Implications of Recommendations for Probation Staffing Summarizing the staff implications of these recommendations for the Probation Department, we offer the following conclusions, followed by summary recommendations:

Probation recently has been faced with increased mandated requirements from the State. As part of its efforts to respond to these mandates and to other changing needs, and as part of its ongoing efforts to operate as efficiently as possible, Probation has been undertaking an internal review of its staffing and caseloads, with an eye to finding ways to improve its services to probation supervisees in the most cost-effective manner possible.

One result of these efforts has been, as noted in Chapter 7, the earlier-than-scheduled removal of an estimated 10% to 15% of offenders from active caseloads by closing a number of cases and moving others to supervisory levels with no regular reporting requirements. These actions, which occurred earlier this year, have reduced active caseloads for regular Probation Officers from about 96 in 2005 to closer to 80 active cases per PO. At the same time, these changes have impacted the proportion of the active Probation caseload where the requirement for face-to-face contact is minimal. Prior to the actions described above, about 80% of the active regular probation caseload required only minimal in-person contact. Since most of the recent case closings were from this group, Probation officials, during this transition period, were not

able to estimate the current proportion of the remaining regular caseloads which need only minimal (i.e., once a month) supervision and face-to-face contacts.

Probation officials have also considered, for the remaining group requiring minimal supervision, providing group incorporating valuable educational and support services in place of one-on-one meetings. Such a step would limit the amount of time each Probation Officer would need to spend with such offenders, but would allow Probation to meet reporting requirements and also provide useful information in a consistent manner to large groups of probationers. This approach has not been implemented, and has met with some reservations among POs, but is still under consideration, and in CGR's judgment is worth considering as a cost-effective use of staff and probationer time.

Also under consideration is the establishment of an ongoing process under which POs and their Supervisor would periodically (e.g., every other month or quarterly) systematically review their caseloads and cull from active rolls (with court approval) any for whom active services no longer have value (in effect institutionalizing the process used earlier this year to reduce active caseloads).

Probation should be commended for the process it has undertaken to restructure its resources, given changing demands for finite resources. As related to overall ATI staffing needs as outlined above, we offer the following overall recommendation, followed by staffing recommendations for specific programs:

* Probation should continue to review its caseloads and strategies for supervising probationers in the most costeffective manner possible, including a review of how time is best spent in meeting probationer needs within staffing constraints. Based on what we know at this point, we recommend that the ATI staffing needs be met with the addition of one new Probation Officer position, and absorbing the other tasks through reallocation of resources among existing staff. These initial staffing assumptions should be evaluated at the end of this year to see if any changes are needed in the assumptions and resulting allocation of staff resources.

Probation has been reassessing its caseloads and staffing allocations. Based on reallocation of resources likely to result, we believe the additional recommended ATI program staff can be covered by adding one new PO and by reallocation of assignments involving existing Probation Officers.

We believe, given Probation's creative approaches to case management, that these staffing assumptions are viable. But a process should be in place by the end of the year to assess our assumptions and the ways in which staff resources have been allocated. This review process should probably be undertaken by the Criminal Justice Coordinator, in conjunction with the Probation Director. If necessary, new staffing may be added at that time. But even if the worst case scenario occurs, and two additional projected staff positions need to be newly-created, the costs would still represent a small investment compared with the potential savings to taxpayers of more than a million dollars a year, as outlined at the beginning of this chapter.

More specifically, to summarize our previous staffing recommendations: We recommend the following concerning Probation staffing for ATI programs:

One Probation Officer position should be split between directing the reinvigorated Work Order program and providing expedited pre-sentence investigations for defendants in custody when those reports are requested.

We believe the Work Order program can be strengthened and managed on a half-time basis, and that the targeted PSI efforts for those in custody can also be done on a half-time basis, given the numbers of incarcerated defendants awaiting PSIs on an annual basis.

• We recommend that a full-time PO position be dedicated to the Drug Court initiatives.

Given the State and County commitment to the Drug Court programs, and given existing and potential restructuring of other caseloads within the Department, we believe the resources exist and should be allocated to enable Probation to devote one position to Drug Court.

❖ If the recommended pilot project to test the impact of Electronic Home Monitoring is successful, and our full EHM recommendations are eventually implemented, one additional FTE person would be needed to oversee that program—either a full-time PO or Senior PO, or a full-time equivalent position split between a PO and a Probation Assistant to handle the more clerical aspects of the program.

Assuming a pilot test of the program would last into the latter portion of 2006, a fully-functional EHM program, with staffing implications, would probably not begin until 2007. We recommend, however, that the *Drug Court, expedited PSI and Work Order staffing changes should be implemented in 2006*.

Note: The companion juvenile report identifies many of the technology deficiencies that now exist in Probation and other areas within the juvenile justice system. Addressing these needs will have a positive impact on Probation staff efficiency. The companion report also recommends moving supervision of the two Probation Officers supervising adolescents (16-19) to the Juvenile Supervisor, thereby balancing supervision responsibilities more effectively between adult and juvenile components of the Probation Department, and freeing more time of the adult criminal Supervisor to oversee changes outlined in this report.



STRENGTHENING ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION PROGRAMS AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM PRACTICES IN STEUBEN COUNTY

Prepared for: **Steuben County Legislature**

Donald E. Pryor Project Director

One South Washington Street Suite 400 Rochester, NY 14614 Phone: (585) 325-6360

Fax: (585) 325-2612

100 State Street Suite 930 Albany, NY 12207 Phone: (518) 432-9428 Fax: (518) 432-9489

www.cgr.org

November, 2005

© Copyright CGR Inc. 2006 All Rights Reserved

STRENGTHENING ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION PROGRAMS AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM PRACTICES IN STEUBEN COUNTY

November, 2005

SUMMARY

Steuben County is currently planning a jail expansion because the daily jail inmate population has grown rapidly in recent years, often reaching levels that force the County to "board out" inmates to jails in surrounding counties. To help ensure that its new facility will meet local needs for the foreseeable future, Steuben County hired CGR (Center for Governmental Research Inc.) to assess the county's alternatives to incarceration (ATI) programs and overall criminal justice system practices to determine their impact on the county's jail population.

CGR conducted extensive interviews with more than 50 key policymakers and criminal justice officials throughout the county. A wide range of quantitative data, from the State, County, courts, jail, Probation and other areas involved in the criminal justice system were analyzed. CGR was impressed with the insights, suggestions and openness to considering improvements that we heard in virtually all our discussions.

Steuben County has many strong distinguishing components that characterize its criminal justice system. It has a strong array of Alternatives to Incarceration programs that compare favorably with similar counties around the state. A number of innovative criminal justice practices are in place or under consideration.

But a number of changes were also recommended throughout the study process, with many of the recommendations coming directly from those with whom we met. CGR recommends a variety of steps be taken by Steuben County that we conservatively estimate would cumulatively reduce the jail population by at least 30 jail

If recommended changes are fully implemented, Steuben should be able to reduce its jail population by a minimum of 30 inmates per day.

inmates per day. CGR believes if the recommended changes were to be adopted, their full impact would be felt within one year of implementation, with initial impact apparent within months.

30 fewer inmates per day would translate to 10,950 fewer inmate days per year at County expense—an estimated \$876,000 savings annually for County taxpayers.

If there were 30 fewer inmates a day (in jail or boarded out), there would be 10,950 fewer inmate days per year at County expense. Taking into account various factors, this would translate to an annual estimated reduction of \$876,000 in jail-related costs for County taxpayers.

Reducing the jail census in this manner would also have the added effect of making it possible to do one of two things with the expanded jail facility: 1) eliminate the need to open the second wing of the jail, saving more than \$200,000 annually or 2) open the second wing and use it to board in inmates from other counties and/or the federal government. CGR estimates that 20 boarded-in inmates per day could potentially generate about \$350,000 in net revenues for the County annually, after factoring in staffing costs.

Core Recommendations

CGR makes a number of wide-ranging recommendations in the final chapter of this report. Some recommendations would involve utilizing a small portion of the identified savings to pay for a few new staff to help achieve the jail census reductions outlined above.

CGR's major recommendations include the following:

- ❖ The County should hire a Coordinator to focus on Jail Inmate Reduction. Responsibilities would range from conducting, within 20 days, pre-sentence investigations requested for jail inmates to following up on unsentenced jail inmates and determining if there are conditions conducive to helping facilitate a release strategy.
- One new position should be created in Probation split between Intensive Supervision and Community Service.
- The Senior Probation Officer position responsible for Electronic Home Monitoring and Community Service should shift focus full-time to EHM.

- The County should hire at least one additional Certified Alcohol/Substance Abuse Counselor (CASAC) to address evaluation and treatment delays now impacting the jail.
- * Responsibility for ATI programs should be shifted from the current split of three separate Probation Supervisors to one Supervisor to oversee all ATI programs.
- ❖ Both the District Attorney and Public Defender should place particular emphasis on attempting to move felony cases as expeditiously as possible from lower courts to County Court as well as misdemeanor cases which remain in the lower courts, and to build in procedures, along with the new Coordinator, to monitor cases routinely to make sure they are not lagging. Tracking mechanisms are also recommended.
- County Court judges should commit to developing and implementing a unified court schedule and calendar designed to eliminate current, and significant, inefficiencies and case delays.
- ❖ A pilot project should be implemented for 3-6 months with one County Court judge to test whether involving Probation in Superior Court Information plea conferences will help expedite cases and further streamline PSI requests.
- The County should build on its recent efforts to shift as many defense attorney cases as possible from Assigned Counsel to County Public Defender and/or Conflicts Office staff, at reduced costs to County taxpayers.
- ❖ Town supervisors, village mayor and town/village justices in nearby jurisdictions should be encouraged to undertake a discussion to consider a pilot project tied to better use of resources between neighboring justice courts.
- ❖ The County should consider designating a person for the next 1 to 2 years who is specifically charged with overseeing the improvements to the criminal justice system that are outlined in this report.

Context for the Recommendations

From 1999 to 2004, overall arrests in the county fell 25%.

In a period of declining arrests, the jail population increased significantly.

Our key findings about the context in which Steuben County operates follow:

- ❖ Total arrests in Steuben County have declined every one of the past six years, from nearly 2,660 in 1999 to just under 2,000 in 2004. Over the six-year period total arrests were down by 25%.
- ❖ Between 2001 and 2004, while arrests were declining, both the total number of inmate days in jail and the average daily jail census increased steadily year to year. Over the course of the three years, inmate days in jail increased by more than 12,000 days, and the average *daily* inmate census grew by 33 inmates.
- ❖ In addition to these jail census numbers, additional inmates have been boarded out to other counties, typically at a cost of about \$80 per night. While there was only an average of one jail inmate boarded out in all of 2002 and 2003, substantial increases in boarded out inmates began in early 2004, and peaked in an average of 37 inmates boarded out every night during the first three months of 2005. In part because the State has allowed the County to convert jail "program" rooms temporarily to beds, the boarded-out numbers have fallen, but by August, there were still an average of 11 inmates being housed daily in other county jails.
- ❖ In round numbers, the *average* number of inmates for whom the County has been responsible (in jail + board-outs) was:
 - o 2001 122 inmates
 - o 2004 165 inmates
 - o 2005, 1st quarter 198 inmates
 - o 2005, April through August about 177 inmates
- ❖ As the jail population has rapidly expanded in recent years, the County has lost both a source of revenues (board-ins from other counties) and added substantially to its out-of-pocket costs (board-outs). CGR estimates that in the first half of this decade, based on current projections, the County jail will have experienced about a \$1.25 million shift from income generator to net cost to the County.

Increases in the Unsentenced Population is Key Driver in Inmate Numbers The increases in the average daily population have been fueled primarily by substantial increases in recent years among the unsentenced population. The number of unsentenced inmates increased 37% between 2002 and August 2005 – from 93 to 127. During this same period the sentenced inmate census (typically 30-35 daily) remained relatively stable.

CGR looked at unsentenced jail populations for 2004 and 2005 for Steuben, the non-NYC portion of the state, and 10 comparison counties identified by top Steuben officials. This comparison showed that usually 75%-80% of the inmates in the Steuben County jail each month were unsentenced versus the statewide-outside-NYC typical rate of 65% - 70%. In addition, Steuben generally exceeded 9, and often all 10, of the comparison counties.

Sentenced Incarceration Rates Are Also Up Steuben County has historically had significantly higher felony conviction rates relative to the rest of Upstate NY, but until 2004 they did not translate into higher incarceration rates. Put another way, the County has traditionally imposed jail and prison sentences at lower rates than most other comparable counties, but in 2004 both jail and prison sentences increased significantly, which also contributed to the recent rapid increases in the jail census.

Delays in the Criminal Justice System Also Impact the Jail Population Many factors contribute to the fact that there can be lengthy delays in moving cases quickly through the criminal justice system. CGR found the following are among the most significant:

- ❖ Felony cases represent a fraction of the criminal cases processed in the County, but their impact on the jail and on the lower courts before they are prosecuted at the County Court level are out of proportion to their relatively small numbers. We found:
 - o The average County Court case required 7 months to complete, from lower court arraignment to final sentencing date.
 - On average, almost four months of that time was spent at the lower court level.
 - Of the three months from the time a case was filed in County Court until the sentencing date, much of the

For felony cases, the time from lower court arraignment to final sentencing is 7 months, with 4 of those months spent at the lower court level. time was spent awaiting Pre-Sentence Investigation (PSI) reports.

- o In recent years, about 20% of pending County Court cases at year end were open beyond the state Standard and Goal (S&G) target of 180 days.
- O The issue of having cases beyond S&G targets was not limited to County Court. Hornell and Corning City Courts were typically 15% to 20% over S&G for felony cases, and 40% of Hornell 60% of Corning misdemeanor cases were typically beyond 90-day S&G for misdemeanors.
- ❖ Elements of what CGR refers to as "intentionality" played a critical role in delays. In the view of the Steuben County District Attorney, his office's "best" pleas are often, especially in felony filing cases, negotiated with the current reality of jail hanging over the defendant. By negotiating a plea that factors in existing time served, the DA operates with the assumption that the defendant is more likely to agree to the plea than otherwise. Defense attorneys, for their part, often counsel their clients to "sit tight" and spend the additional time in jail, because it will result in a "better" plea agreement and sentence than they would obtain otherwise. Moreover, the Public Defender or other defense attorney, and the defendant, are often just as happy to have the defendant sit in jail building up "time served" to be counted against a negotiated prison sentence, for example, where the defendant prefers to spend as much of that sentence as possible in the jail, rather than at the more distant and hostile environment represented by prison. Thus the DA and defense attorney are often, in effect, complicit along with the defendant and at times a judge, in making decisions which have the effect of "sentencing" defendants to "theoretically unsentenced" jail time. This scenario can meet the needs of many parties—but not the needs of the jail or County taxpayers.
- ❖ Issues related to scheduling in County Court are significant. Various approaches to developing rational schedules have been proposed and tried (and efforts to adjust are on-going), but no one approach has met with universal support. Simply put, the

Significant numbers of cases in County and City Courts remain open beyond state
Standard and Goals.

Significant amounts of "unsentenced" jail days, in essence, become initial portions of incarceration sentences.

current approach basically has each court and judge establishing a court- and/or judge-specific calendar that attorneys are forced to fit into. In effect, that often has meant that attorneys (e.g., Assistant District Attorneys, Assistant Public Defenders, Assigned Counsel) are often expected to be in more than one courtroom at the same time. As a result, waiting in court for attorneys to arrive is a common occurrence.

- ❖ The Probation Department has been averaging well over 750 completed PSIs each year since 2000, with a high of 851 in 2004. Over the past two full years, due to resources available in Probation, PSIs, which can be mandatory or discretionary for a judge to request depending on the case, have taken an average of 8 weeks to complete. They were completed more rapidly for defendants in custody, but the average length of time even for inmates is currently 40 days. CGR's analysis found that by targeting PSIs for defendants in jail and reducing the time to complete them to 20 days, the jail could have about 11 fewer inmates per day, at boarded-out savings of more than \$300,000 annually.
- ❖ The sheer number of courts and the size of the county contribute to inefficiencies in the court system. Many of the 32 town and six village justice courts have few criminal cases a year, little clerical support, and infrequent court sessions. That means, for example, a delay in a court case can mean weeks of time and related time spent by some inmates in jail.
- ❖ Delays for evaluations for potential Drug Court participants are lengthy, and contribute daily to the jail census.
- Delays result because there is currently no central leadership to push for changes needed in various components of the criminal justice system.

Specific Impact of Probation's ATI Programs & the Drug Court on the Jail CGR found that Steuben County has a strong array of ATI programs that compare favorably to similar counties around the state. CGR also found that there is potential for greater use of ATIs and a need for certain changes. Key findings, by program, included:

Pre-Trial Release (PTR):

- ❖ Judges release fewer than half of all defendants recommended for release by PTR, and one quarter of all individuals released to PTR by judges were not recommended by the program. CGR suggests this disconnect be addressed. There is wide variation in release rates across courts, and there is also concern by many in the criminal justice system about a new screening tool currently being used by PTR.
- ❖ PTR has experienced a low failure-to-appear-in-court rate—
 1% for those the program recommended for release, and 8% for those on release who were not initially recommended for the program.
- ❖ Although clear indications are not available, a very rough estimate is that as many as about three dozen fewer people may be in jail each day as a result of PTR. Changes recommended in the report should in 1 to 2 fewer inmates in the jail per day.

Community Service:

- ❖ Community Service program usage has been on a downward trend since peaking in the late 1990s, in part due to low visibility for the program. Low visibility is related to the fact that only 20% of a Senior Probation Officer's time is dedicated to oversight of the CS program, due to Probation resource constraints.
- ❖ CGR estimates the program currently reduces the County jail population by 1.5 inmates per day, with an additional 1 to 2 posible with recommended changes.

Intensive Supervision Program (ISP):

- ❖ Depending upon the assumptions used, ISP reduces the jail population by between 1.7 and 4.7 inmates per day, based on current program success rates. Because of limited resources, there is only one probation officer assigned to ISP.
- ❖ Judges expressed interest in using the program more if additional individuals could be accommodated in the program.

With recommended changes, an estimated 3 additional inmates could be eliminated from jail through expanded ISP sentences.

Electronic Home Monitoring (EHM):

- ❖ The use of EHM has declined in recent years, and there is considerable unused capacity today. Only County Court and both City Courts have made significant use of this ATI, but judges in many areas of the county expressed to us an interest in using EHM more.
- ❖ CGR estimates EHM currently reduces the jail population by an average of nearly 15 inmates per day, but even with no additional equipment costs there could be a further reduction of 7 additional inmates per day if this ATI were used to available capacity.

County Drug Court:

- ❖ Drug Court, though not formally among the County's ATI programs, is an alternative to prison, rather than to jail. However, the program does impact the local jail, in part due to the fact that it takes an average of 32 days from request for a substance abuse assessment to its completion for potential Drug Court applicants. Delays are due to understaffing at the County's Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Services office.
- ❖ With recommended changes, Drug Court could expand its impact to 2 to 3 additional beds saved per day.

Recommendations made in the report, mostly based on recommendations from County stakeholders, can have a dramatic impact in reducing time spent by defendants in the criminal justice system, and in the County jail, with significant savings for County taxpayers. A strategic planning process, perhaps supervised by a Criminal Justice Coordinator, is recommended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Strengthening Alternatives to Incarceration Programs and Crimina Justice System Practices in Steuben County	
Strengthening Alternatives to Incarceration Programs and Crimina	al
Justice System Practices in Steuben County	2
Strengthening Alternatives to Incarceration Programs and Crimina	
Justice System Practices in Steuben County	i
Summary	i
Core Recommendations Context for the Recommendations Increases in the Unsentenced Population is Key Driver in Inmate Numbers Sentenced Incarceration Rates Are Also Up	iv v
Delays in the Criminal Justice System Also Impact the Jail Population	vii
Table of Contents	X
Acknowledgments	xiii
1. Background and Introduction	1
The Context	
Focus of the Study	2
2. Recent Reductions in Arrests in County	4
3. Recent Increases in Jail Inmate Population	
Unprecedented Jail Inmate Population in 2004 and 2005 Jail Inmate Increase Primarily Due to Increases in Unsentenced Population Impact of Boarding-Out Increases Characteristics of Jail Inmates Age, Gender and Ethnicity of Inmates Status of Unsentenced Inmates Status of Sentenced Inmates Key Question	8 10 11 14
4. The Impact of the District Attorney	
Felony Cases Prosecuted	

Outcomes of Felony Arrest Cases	
Dispositions and Convictions Up	
Incarceration Rates Up	
DA Practices	
Staffing	
DA-Defense Attorney Working Relationships	
Impact of Plea Strategies on Jail Population	
5. Issues Related to Defense Counsel	24
Growing Public Defender Caseload	
Changes in Staffing Patterns	
Impact of Shift from Assigned Counsel to Public Defender	27
Further Alternative to Assigned Counsel is Needed	
More Rapid Engagement with Defendants and Courts	
Public Defender-DA Working Relationships	30
6. Impact of Existing Court Practices	32
Long Delays Processing Felony Cases	34
Longest Delays in Lower Courts	
3 Months to Process Average Case in County Court	36
Cases Not Meeting Standards and Goals	37
Issues Affecting Court Delays	
Court Efficiencies	
Value of SCIs	
Court Scheduling	
Relationship Between Detention and Sentencing	
Pre-Sentence Investigations	
Time Needed to Complete PSIs	
Relation Between Detention and Sentencing	
Potential for Saving Jail Days	
Impact of PSIs on Judicial Decisions	
Potential for District Courts	
7. Impact of Existing Alternatives to Incarceration Programs	56
Pre-Trial Release Program	57
Impact on Court Decisions	58
Judicial Acceptance of PTR Recommendations	59
Impact of Changing PTR Screening Approach	60
Wide Variation in Release Rates Across Courts	
High Percentage of Recommendations and Releases are Felonies	
Program Success Rates	
Impact on Jail	
Impact of New Screening Approach	64
Community Service Sentencing	65

Declining Use of CS Program	
Users of CS Program	
Successful Completion of Program	
Hours Assigned and Completed	
Program Impact on Jail Days Avoided	
Issues to be Addressed	
Intensive Supervision Program	71
Users of ISP	
Size of Program Limited by Staffing	72
Successful Completion of Program	
Program Impact on Jail	74
Electronic Home Monitoring	76
Fluctuating Use of the Program	77
Primary Users of EHM	
Program Impact on Jail	
Drug Courts	81
County Court	
Target Population	
Program Impact	
City Courts	
Target Population	
Program Impact	
8. Conclusions and Recommendations	
Jail Inmate Reduction Strategies	
District Attorney and Public Defender Recommendations	
Court Improvement Recommendations	
Pre-Sentence Investigation Process	
District Court Recommendations	
Recommended ATI Staffing Changes	97
Other Recommendations Specific to ATI Programs	99
Pre-Trial Release	99
Community Service	100
Intensive Supervision	
Electronic Home Monitoring	
Drug Court	103
Other Potential Alternatives to Consider	
Overall Coordination of Strategic Implementation Plan	104

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

CGR gratefully acknowledges the leadership of Steuben County's Legislature and County Administrator in undertaking this study, and in understanding the value of conducting a thorough review of the criminal justice system at the same time as the County undertakes a jail expansion project. Because of their vision, potential efficiencies and improvements identified throughout this report within and across the various components of the criminal justice system should limit the future operational costs of the expanded jail and/or expand the revenue-generating potential of the new facility.

We particularly thank County Administrator Mark Alger for his vision, guidance and support, and Carolyn Scaife for her logistical support throughout the project.

Many people provided "over and above" help in conducting special data collection efforts on our behalf. We are especially grateful for the efforts of William Deninger and Lisa Preston in the County Clerk's Office; Frank Justice, Diane Argentieri, Joseph Baroody, Eugene Greeley and Bridi Kubiak in the Probation Department; Sheriff Richard Tweddell and Jail Superintendent Chris Lian; Drug Court Coordinator Elaine Gunn; and Kelly Van Skiver, Kelly Wightman and Katherine Mattoon from County Court. Their efforts are much appreciated.

Thanks also to the many department heads, judges, magistrates, legislators and other key staff who graciously gave us their time, thoughtful insights, and suggestions in numerous interviews throughout the project. The information and ideas they offered in these interviews were instrumental in developing this report and CGR's recommendations. We are grateful for their generous contributions, and hope the report justifies their efforts.

Staff Team

This project could not have been completed without the monumental efforts of Vicki Brown, whose contributions are reflected on every page of this report. In addition, Kate McCloskey and Andrew Kurland made major contributions to the data analyses that were critical to our conclusions.

1. Background and Introduction

CGR (Center for Governmental Research Inc.) was hired by Steuben County to conduct an assessment of the county's alternatives to incarceration (ATI) programs and overall criminal justice system practices, and to determine their impact on the county's jail population.

The Context

Steuben County's daily jail inmate population has been growing at a steady pace within the past few years. Most alarming to the County Legislature and Administrator, and New York State Commission of Correction officials, is the fact that the number of inmates has frequently exceeded the jail's capacity on many nights over the past two years, thus forcing jail officials to house (board out) increasing numbers of inmates in other county jails, at significant cost to Steuben County taxpayers.

As a result, County officials have initiated plans to expand the County's existing jail capacity by building an extension onto the current facility. But even as plans for the new construction are being drawn up, the Legislature, Administrator and criminal justice officials have sought to take steps to ensure that the expanded jail would be able to meet the County's needs for many years into the future, without becoming overcrowded shortly after its completion, as has happened in some new jail facilities in other jurisdictions.

As part of the County's efforts to limit the size of the new facility, while ensuring that it would be able to meet local needs for the foreseeable future, the Legislature requested this study of the County's criminal justice system practices, including an assessment of the impact of those practices and its ATI programs on the jail population. The study was designed with a particular focus on identifying changes that may be needed to streamline aspects of the criminal justice system and to limit the numbers of persons who need to be incarcerated in the future, consistent with community safety.

Focus of the Study

At the request of the County, the following key issues were addressed during the study:

- Historical analysis of trends in characteristics of the Steuben County jail population;
- Examination of current and historical patterns of sentenced and pre-sentenced populations in the jail to identify potential ways of facilitating more expeditious processing of cases at the various Justice, City and County Court levels;
- Review and analysis of current alternative to incarceration programs operated by the County, including recent statistical trends;
- Overview of criminal justice system practices within Steuben County, and related issues of time involved at various stages of the criminal justice process;
- ❖ Determination of the impact of existing programs and practices throughout the criminal justice system on the County's jail population to date, and likely in the future; and
- Examination of opportunities for enhancement of existing alternative programs and system practices, and/or identification of new programs and practices for County consideration.

Among the key questions addressed by the study were the following: Are there opportunities to reduce the future costs to local taxpayers of the jail and other parts of the criminal justice system? At the same time can the County institute strategic changes to improve the functioning and working relationships of the various components of the overall system? CGR views the study as an opportunity for Steuben County to affirm and build on the significant strengths of its existing programs and practices, while identifying strategic improvements that may be needed to prepare for the needs of the future.

Methodology

CGR's assessment focused on obtaining a clear understanding of the range of criminal justice system practices and alternative to incarceration programs currently in place within Steuben County, and their past and likely future impact on the County's jail population. Our approach combined qualitative information, obtained in detailed interviews and group discussions, with

- quantitative analysis of empirical data, obtained from New York State, the jail, alternative programs, and the courts.
- ❖ Much of the information that shaped CGR's understanding of the programs and practices currently in place, and many of the ideas and insights that helped us reach our conclusions and recommendations, were derived from extensive interviews with more than 50 key policymakers and criminal justice officials. Those interviewed included the County Administrator; the Chair of the County Legislature; the Chair of the Legislature's Public Safety and Corrections Committee; County, Family, Surrogate and City Court judges; 12 magistrates/representatives from the town/ village Justice Courts; the Sheriff and the Major in charge of the jail; Director of Probation; the District Attorney; the Public Defender; Court administrators, clerks and other key court officials; Director and key staff of the County Office of Community Services; Commissioner of the Department of Social Services; and selected key staff from various agencies, County and both City Drug Courts, and ATI programs (including Pretrial Intensive Supervision, Release, Community Service, Electronic Home Monitoring).
- A wide range of quantitative data were analyzed from the NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, NYS Commission of Correction, NYS Office of Court Administration, the County jail, and the various agencies and programs included in the study. Where possible, comparisons were made between Steuben and other counties, and data were compared over several years in order to determine trends and their implications.
- ❖ The analyses of the quantitative/empirical data and of the information obtained in the interviews are summarized in this report. Based on those analyses, CGR developed a series of conclusions, implications and recommendations for the County's consideration. Those conclusions and recommendations are presented in the report's concluding chapter.

2. RECENT REDUCTIONS IN ARRESTS IN COUNTY

In order to put the discussion of criminal justice practices, ATI programs, and jail inmate trends in perspective, it is first important to examine the recent patterns in criminal activity in Steuben County. Since arrests drive what happens in the rest of the criminal justice system, it is instructive to analyze arrest totals for recent years. Table 1 below indicates the number of reported adult arrests in the County from 1999 through 2004.

Table 1: Felony and Misdemeanor Adult Arrests in Steuben County, 1999 - 2004

year	total arrests	felonies	misde-
			meanors
1999	2,659	614	2,045
2000	2,558	585	1,973
2001	2,419	547	1,872
2002	2,187	533	1,654
2003	2,160	560	1,600
2004	1,995	567	1,428

Source: NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services

In the past decade, 1999 represented the peak number of arrests in any given year. Since then, the number of annual arrests in Steuben County has declined in every year. *The number of arrests in 2004 was 25% lower than in 1999*. The decline in number of arrests in the County was substantially greater than in the non-New York City portion of the state. During the same period of time, non-NYC arrests declined slightly, by 1.3%.

Closer to home, in the six counties bordering Steuben (Allegany, Livingston, Ontario, Yates, Schuyler, Chemung), total arrests during the six-year period either increased or remained virtually unchanged, except in Ontario, where total arrests in 2004 were 14.3% lower than in 1999.

At the felony level, annual arrest totals in Steuben have fluctuated somewhat, but the totals in each year from 2000-2004 have been lower than in 1999. The 2004 total of 567 was 7.7% lower than the 1999 total, although the number of felony arrests for violent crimes was about the same in 2004 as in 1999. Statewide,

Total arrests in
Steuben in 2004 were
25% lower than in
1999, compared with
slight declines or even
increases in arrests in
adjoining counties and
in the non-NYC
portion of the state.

excluding NYC, the number of felony arrests during the same period actually increased by 3.3%. Four of the six adjoining counties also experienced increases in felony arrests during that time, with only Ontario and Schuyler joining Steuben in experiencing fewer felony arrests.

During the same six-year period, the number of misdemeanor arrests in Steuben steadily declined by 30%, compared to a 3% decline in the non-NYC portion of the state. Misdemeanor arrests also were down (by proportions much smaller than in Steuben) in three of the six surrounding counties during that time, and were up in the other three.

Steuben in recent years has had proportionally fewer felony and misdemeanor arrests entering the criminal justice system than many adjoining counties and NYS outside NYC.

Bottom line: at a time when the rest of the state outside NYC—and the counties immediately adjoining Steuben—were experiencing relatively small reductions in numbers of arrests, or even increases, Steuben was consistently reporting substantial reductions in the numbers of arrests that ultimately start the process of determining who winds up before judges with criminal charges and, of those, who winds up in jail.

3. RECENT INCREASES IN JAIL INMATE POPULATION

Despite recent declines in arrests in the County, the jail population has continued to increase.

During the same period of time as arrests have been declining in the County, the number of jail inmates has been increasing at a rapid rate. As indicated in Table 2 below, the total number of inmate days spent in the jail per year increased by more than 12,000 between 2001 and 2004, according to data supplied by jail officials. The total number of inmates housed and the average length of stay per inmate fluctuated from year to year, but the total number of days spent in jail and average daily inmate population have continued to increase steadily from one year to the next.

Table 2: Steuben County Jail Inmate Population, 2001 – August 31, 2005

Year	inmates	days in	avg. daily	alos/
	housed	jail	Census	inmate
2001	1,239	44,636	122.3	36.0
2002	1,140	49,990	137.0	43.9
2003	1,355	52,002	142.5	38.4
2004	1,320	56,665	155.2	42.9
2005*	1,016	39,065	160.7	38.4

Source: Steuben County Jail.

NOTE: "Inmates Housed" and "Days in Jail" represent annual totals. "Average Daily Census" = average inmates housed per day. "ALOS/Inmate" = average length of stay per inmate housed during the year.

Unprecedented
Jail Inmate
Population in 2004
and 2005

Between 2001 and 2004, the average daily census (number of inmates housed per day) increased by 27%. In 2004, the jail was housing an average of 33 more inmates *each day* than it was just three years earlier. And averaged across the first eight months of 2005, the average daily 2005 census had increased by an additional 5.5 persons per day—31% more per day than in 2001.

Moreover, between January 2004 and August 2005, the average daily census increased by 21, or 14%—from 147 to 168 inmates (not including additional inmates boarded out to other county jails). In seven of the first eight months of 2005, the average daily census exceeded that of the comparable month in 2004 (in three of those months, the average increased by more than 10 inmates per day). In 10 of the past 12 months through August 2005, the

The County jail inmate census has reached unprecedented levels in the past 12 months.

^{*} Data through 8/31/05.

average daily census was 160 or more, an average never reached in the years before that.

Furthermore, the total population line only reflects those housed in the County jail itself. To understand the true total of inmates for whom the County was responsible on a given night, one must add together inmates housed within the jail and inmates boarded out, i.e., those housed in other county jails, but paid for (typically at \$75 or \$80 or more per night) by Steuben County. As shown below in Table 3, substantial increases in boarded-out inmates began in early 2004, peaking in an average of 37 inmates boarded out every night during the first three months of this year.

Table 3: Steuben County Jail Average Daily Population, 2002

– 2005, by Selected Categories of Jail Inmates

inmates	2002	2003	qtr 2-	qtr 1-	qtr 2-	july	Aug. '05
			04	05	05	' 05	
Total	136	145.1	155.7	160.7	158	161.3	167.8
Unsentenced	93	106.1	116.6	121.5	115.2	122.3	127
Sentenced	35	30.1	31	32.2	38	35.1	36.3
Federal	8	8.2	7	6	4.6	4	4.4
State-Ready	4	3.3	1.6	0.9	1.4	3.2	2.3
Parole Violators	9	10.9	14	15.3	16.8	16.5	14.4
Boarded-In	6	1.4	0	0	0	0	0
Boarded-Out	0	1	11.2	37	18.4	16.7	10.7

Source: NYS Commission of Correction Daily Population Count Reporting System.

NOTE: QTR refers to quarter of year, e.g., QTR2-04 refers to the second quarter of 2004. Note also that the Total average daily census numbers for 2002 and 2003 in Tables 2 and 3 vary slightly. These differences reflect two different data sources and slightly different ways of calculating the averages, but the differences are slight and have no practical significance for planning and analysis purposes. "Boarded-in" refers to inmates housed at the request of other counties, as opposed to housing for federal, state-ready and parole violator inmates listed separately.

Between April and August of 2005, the County has had to house and pay for an average of 55 more inmates per day than was true in 2001.

Although that dramatic first-quarter 2005 boarded-out number has subsided in the months since March, in part due to a State-approved conversion of jail program rooms into space for up to 12 additional beds on a temporary basis, an average of almost 11 inmates per night were still being housed in other county jails in August. The bottom line: the average number of inmates for whom the County jail and taxpayers have been responsible each day increased steadily from 122 in 2001 (Table 2) to about 165

throughout 2004 to as many as an average of 198 per night in the first quarter of 2005, before then settling back to an average between about 176 and 178 from April through August. Thus Steuben has been responsible for about 55 more inmates each day between April and August of 2005 than was the case as recently as 2001.

Jail Inmate Increase Primarily Due to Increases in Unsentenced Population

The number of unsentenced inmates increased 37% between 2002 and August 2005, from 93 to 127. This accounts for most of the increase in the County jail census (including board-outs).

The proportion of unsentenced inmates in Steuben County typically far exceeds the non-NYC state proportion and that of comparable counties.

As shown in Table 3 above, the increases in the average daily population have been fueled primarily by substantial increases in recent years among the unsentenced inmate population. While the sentenced inmate census has remained relatively stable since 2002 (typically averaging between 30 and 35 inmates daily), the unsentenced population has increased significantly. The total average daily population for which the County jail was responsible (including boarded-out prisoners) increased by an average of 42.5 inmates between 2002 and August 2005 (from 136 to 178.5, a 31% increase). Most of that increase was accounted for by the unsentenced population, which increased by 37% during that same period, from an average of 93 to 127

Monthly comparisons for 2004 and 2005 with all non-NYC counties in the state indicate that the Steuben County jail has consistently housed higher proportions of unsentenced inmates than nearly all other counties. In each month, the proportion of unsentenced inmates in Steuben County has exceeded the non-NYC statewide proportion, typically by 10-12% or more. Usually, between 75% and 80% or more of the inmates in the Steuben jail each month are unsentenced, compared with statewide (outside NYC) proportions in the 65% to 70% range. Compared with 10 counties identified by the Legislature and County Administrator as comparable in size of population and size of jail, Steuben's unsentenced inmate proportion each month typically exceeds nine and often all 10 of the comparison counties.

The other major contributor to the recent growth in the daily jail population has been the increased number of parole violators housed in the local jail. Although these inmates are violators of parole subsequent to release from state prisons, increasing numbers of such violators are housed in the local jail awaiting resolution of the violation in the courts (which often takes months). They can be housed locally even if, as is often the case,

Parole violators
housed in the local jail
have increased in
recent years, with little
local ability to control
the numbers.

there are no local charges accompanying the violation. As shown in Table 3 above, the number of parole violators housed in the Steuben jail has grown from an average of 9 per day in 2002 to a daily average of about 16 thus far in 2005. These are inmates over whom the local jail or criminal justice system has little direct control.

Finally, in examining the makeup of the local jail population (Table 3), there continue to be a few federal prisoners housed in the County jail, even as it is boarding out large numbers of inmates arrested locally. The County is paid a daily fee for their housing, comparable to what the County pays out for its boarded-out inmates, so there is little net cost impact to taxpayers of the decisions to house federal prisoners, although it obviously leads to added displacement to other county jails of some prisoners arrested locally. County officials indicate they prefer to respond to federal requests for housing to maintain good relationships that they hope will lead to larger numbers of federal prisoners, at expanded revenues for the County, once the expanded jail facility Nonetheless, as the overall jail census has is in operation. increased and more local prisoners have been boarded out, the number of federal inmates has been reduced somewhat from an average of 8 per day in 2002 and 2003 to about 5 a day thus far in 2005.

Impact of Boarding-Out Increases

As the jail population has rapidly expanded in recent years, the County has lost a source of revenues (board-ins), while adding substantially to its out-of-pocket costs (board-outs).

According to County jail data, between 2000 and 2002, the local jail housed an average of almost 200 inmates per year from other jurisdictions—state, federal and other-county prisoners. During the same time, it boarded out an average of about 30 individuals per year. As indicated in Table 3, as recently as 2002, not counting parole violators, for whom NYS pays minimal per diem costs (and none if local charges are also pending), the County was housing an average of 18 inmates per night from other jurisdictions (eight federal, four state-ready, and six from other counties). By 2004, inmates boarded in from other counties had virtually disappeared, and by 2005, the number of federal and state-ready prisoners had declined to a daily average of about 6 or 7 inmates.

With boarding-out costs for the first 7 months of 2005 already exceeding such costs for all of 2004, projections indicate that the jail will have experienced a shift since 2000 of about \$1.25 million from net revenue generator to net costs to County taxpayers.

Characteristics of Jail Inmates

Most inmates spend their only time in the County jail as an unsentenced defendant, and do not get sentenced to jail time on the charge that got them admitted to the jail.

As a result, the County has shifted from net revenues, resulting from housing prisoners (and boarding out only a few), of almost \$850,000 in 2000 and almost \$630,000 in 2001 to a net projected outflow (boarding-out costs exceeding boarding-in revenues) for 2005 of almost \$400,000 (which may be a conservative estimate). Boarding-out payments to other counties in the first seven months of 2005 had already exceeded total boarding-out costs for all of 2004 by more than \$100,000.¹ Thus, in a span of only half a decade, the County jail will, based on current projections, have experienced about a \$1.25 million shift from income generator to net costs to the County—all of that shift borne directly by local taxpayers. Much of the discussion in the remainder of the report will focus on what has contributed to this revenue/expenditure shift, and on ways to reverse at least a portion of it.

As noted above, at any given time, between 75% and 80% or more of the Steuben jail's population is typically made up of unsentenced inmates. Focusing only on the 2,188 new admissions to the jail during the last two full years (2003 and 2004), 87% (1,910) entered the jail unsentenced, with the other 13% (278) entering as a result of sentences. Unsentenced inmates can wind up also spending subsequent time in the jail after being sentenced, but the reality is that most of those who spend unsentenced time in the County jail do not also get sentenced to jail time on the same charge.

Although information on ultimate convictions and sentences was not available from the County's jail data for all who entered as unsentenced defendants, we know from data presented in Chapter 4 that a substantial proportion of felony arrests wind up sentenced to prison, and roughly a quarter to jail. Yet even among felony cases only, more than half of all dispositions wind up with non-incarceration sentences. Although relevant data were not available, it seems highly likely that that proportion would increase among misdemeanor arrests. Thus it seems clear that the majority of individuals who enter the Steuben jail each year do not wind up serving time in the jail as a sentenced inmate.

¹ Data based on County "Department Revenue and Expenditure Detail" reports for the jail, from 2000 through August 2005 (special report of September 9, 2005).

Age, Gender and Ethnicity of Inmates

Descriptive information about inmates is available from the jail on an annual basis for all new inmates admitted during the course of the year, although most of the information is not broken out by sentenced versus unsentenced inmates.² For 2003 and 2004 combined (with no significant differences from year to year), the following characteristics can be noted about all new admissions to the Steuben jail:

- The overwhelming majority of the inmates are white (84.5%), with 14% classified as black and 2% as Hispanic.
- Females made up 14% of the unsentenced population in the past two years, but only 8.4% of the sentenced population.
- The age breakdowns were as follows:
 - ◆ 288 of the inmates admitted in the past two years were 18 or younger (13.2% of the total);
 - ◆ 28.1% were between the ages of 19 and 24;
 - ◆ 26.2% were between 25 and 34;
 - ◆ 21% were between 35 and 44;
 - ◆ 11.5% were 45 or older.

Thus the majority (54%) were between the ages of 19 and 34, and three-quarters were between 19 and 44; 41% were younger than 25.

Status of Unsentenced Inmates

Of the 1,910 unsentenced inmates who have been admitted to the County jail over the past two years, 1,002 (52.5%) were admitted on felony charges. These represent the vast majority of the 1,127 felony arrests made in the County in the last two years (see Table 1 in Chapter 2). Another 774 defendants (40.5% of the new unsentenced admissions) were admitted on misdemeanor charges, with another 134 admitted on various other charges, such as violations or vehicle and traffic offenses.

With the assistance of County jail officials, CGR was able to undertake analyses of two "snapshots" of the jail population, representing all inmates (including those boarded out) at two different points in time: 159 inmates on June 4, 2004, and 205 on

CCR

 $^{^2}$ "Steuben County Jail Sheriff's Annual Report for the Calendar Years 2003 and 2004"

January 25, 2005. After factoring out federal inmates and those held on parole violation charges, there were 237 unsentenced inmates in the two snapshot samples. The following statements can be made about the combined unsentenced inmate population on those two dates (generally the proportions were similar within each snapshot):

- ❖ About 44% of the unsentenced inmates were booked on charges before a County Court judge. It could not be determined from the data if any of those inmates might previously have been booked into the jail while their cases remained in a lower level court, and simply rebooked when the case reached the County level.
- ❖ Of the cases known to have been booked by judges at lower court levels, the largest numbers, as would be expected, were from the two City Courts: 27 from Corning and 24 from Hornell (21.5% from City Courts). More than a third (35%, or 82 cases) surfaced in the town/village justice courts. The Bath village court was most likely to book unsentenced defendants into the jail, with 33 cases in the two snapshot periods. This represents a ratio of about one unsentenced inmate for every 20 criminal cases to come before that court in 2004. By contrast, 49 unsentenced inmates came from all the other justice courts, representing about one of every 69 criminal cases before those courts.
- Of the unsentenced inmates, 48% had been in jail for more than two months when the snapshot was taken, and 36% had been incarcerated for more than three months.
- No bail had been set for almost half of the unsentenced cases at the time of the snapshots (113 of the 237 cases). The majority of those 113 cases (67) were cases before a County Court judge, with the defendant held in jail without bail being set. Two-thirds of the unsentenced inmates with cases in County Court were held without bail. About half of the unsentenced inmates from the Hornell and Erwin courts, and just over a third of those from the Bath village court, were held without bail, compared with about 20% of all such cases in all other lower courts. It seems likely that many of these defendants were held without bail because of legal restrictions placed on the ability of lower court judges to set bail on certain felony cases, and on cases in which the defendant had two or more prior felony convictions, although data to enable us to determine the extent to which this was the case were not

There were significant differences among courts in the extent to which unsentenced defendants were detained, and in the rates of holding defendants without bail.

- available from the jail records. Whatever the reasons, these data raised questions for CGR as to whether there may be ways of expediting at least some of these cases in the future, as many had been in jail for more than three months at the time the snapshots were taken.
- Almost 60% of the unsentenced inmates (138) had no detainers or holds on them, including some who were being held without bail. About 60 of those with no detainers were arrested on misdemeanor charges, and 50 without detainers had been held in jail for at least two months at the time the snapshots were taken. It is reasonable to at least speculate whether some of these could have been released safely at no risk to the community or to their future appearances in court.
- ❖ Of those for whom bail had been set, significant numbers (42 of the 237 unsentenced inmates, or 18%) remained in jail with relatively low bails of \$2,500 or less, including 32 who had no detainers, about two-thirds of whom were on misdemeanor charges (and most of those with felonies were D and E level charges). There were 24 of these cases in one of the snapshots, and eight in the other. All but five of these cases were booked by judges in lower courts, including 11 in the village of Bath, eight in Corning City Court, and the rest in scattered local courts.
- The 32 defendants in jail on low bail with no detainers or holds from other cases included 17 cases with bail set at \$1,000 or less, and 7 with \$500 or less. There certainly may have been extenuating circumstances that cannot be captured in a jail database, but on the surface, these would appear for the most part to be defendants with little reason to be held in jail. At the time of the snapshots, the 32 defendants had been in jail for a total of 1,150 days, or 36 days per case, and since the cases were all still open on the snapshot date, those numbers would have been higher, perhaps substantially so in some cases, before the cases were resolved. In 14 of the 32 cases, the defendants had been in jail for more than 35 days at the time of the snapshot, including six in for more than two months. Establishment in the future of a process for revisiting cases remaining in jail for substantial periods of time with no detainers and low bail could in all likelihood help to reduce the average daily population in the jail, without any disruption to the judicial system or any negative impact on community safety.

In the two snapshots,
there were 32
defendants who had
been held in jail for
significant periods of
time with relatively
minor charges, low
bail and no detainers.
They would appear to
be reasonable
candidates for release
from jail at little risk to
the community.

Status of Sentenced Inmates

Including inmates carryied over from the previous year, a total of 550 defendants spent time in 2003 and 2004 as sentenced inmates in the County jail. Based on the jail data reported to the state, and the two snapshots described above, the following statements can be made about these sentenced inmates:

- Almost two-thirds of the sentenced inmates (361) were serving time on charges adjudicated as misdemeanors (including both cases that began as misdemeanor arrests, as well as those that began as felony arrest charges but were reduced during the judicial process to misdemeanors), with 150 (27%) serving felony jail sentences. Another 39 inmates were serving sentences on other types of charges.
- ❖ Consistent with those proportions, the vast majority (61%) of the sentenced inmates were serving sentences pronounced in lower courts, including 39% in the justice courts. Corning and Hornell City Courts (11 and 7 jail sentences each in the two snapshots), and Bath village and Erwin town courts (9 and 7 jail sentences, respectively) were most likely to sentence defendants to jail (an average of about one jail sentence in our snapshot samples for approximately every 80 criminal cases before their courts), compared with one of about 160 cases in the other justice courts combined.
- As noted above, the majority of defendants sentenced in Steuben County, even for felonies, have not historically received jail or prison sentences. Furthermore, even among those who do receive jail sentences, relatively few receive sentences of significant length. With the maximum county jail sentence by law capped at one year, only 8% of all sentenced inmates in the Steuben jail during 2003 and 2004 received full one-year sentences. Almost three-quarters (72%) were sentenced to less than 6 months, including 61% with sentences of 3 months or less and 37% of one month or less. Sentences of 10 days or less were handed out to 62 of the 550 sentenced inmates (11%).

Thus jail sentences in the County are generally not used routinely, and when used tend not to be "draconian," consistent with statements made consistently by judges and magistrates during our interviews, and with the view expressed by the District Attorney that relatively short sentences are often as effective as longer ones in getting the person's attention and providing the needed

Few sentenced prisoners receive full year sentences in the Steuben jail; in the past two years, 72% were sentenced to less than 6 months in jail, including 61% with sentences of no more than 3 months. Even further reductions of some sentences may be possible in the future.

punishment, especially with offenders not likely to be "career offenders." To that point, significant numbers of jail days are represented by the 151 inmates sentenced to 6 months to a year in jail over the past two years, and the additional 62 with sentences of between 3 and 6 months. Ways of reducing some of these sentences, consistent with community safety, may be feasible, and possible ways of doing so will be discussed later in the report.

Key Question

Is it possible to change the patterns of incarceration currently in place in the County, and to reduce the jail population in the future, consistent with community safety and efficient court operations? The remaining chapters of the report focus on the various key components and practices within the criminal justice system that can potentially play a part in answering such questions.

4. THE IMPACT OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY

Once arrests have occurred, the District Attorney plays the pivotal role in determining which cases get prosecuted at what levels, and with what commitment of resources. Decisions made by the DA and his Assistant DAs (ADAs) shape much of what happens at both lower and County Court levels, and have significant influence on the length of time it takes to resolve a case, how it gets resolved, and if and for how long a defendant stays in jail as an unsentenced inmate—and beyond that, what sentence will be imposed if he/she is convicted.

Data related to the DA function are limited, both within the County and in terms of comparisons with the rest of the state, to prosecution of arrests that originate as felonies, regardless of their ultimate dispositions. Although the DA's office also prosecutes cases that originate as misdemeanor arrests, neither it nor the NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services (DCJS) tracks dispositions and sentences of those cases, as they do for felony arrest cases. Thus, although it would be preferable to have data on all types of arrests, the discussion of data that follows is necessarily focused only on felony arrest cases. However, from the standpoint of helping to understand implications for the jail population, the good news about this potential data limitation is that the felony arrests are those that have the biggest impact on the largest component of the jail population—the unsentenced defendants—as well as on many of the longest jail sentences.

Felony Cases Prosecuted

Although felony arrests in Steuben County declined steadily from 1999 through 2002, as indicated in Chapter 2, the number has begun to rise again in the past two years, though it remains below the 1999 peak. As indicated below in Table 4, the recent increase in arrests (up 6.4% from 2002 to 2004) has been accompanied by a more significant increase during those same years (18.5%) in the number of felony prosecutions at the County/Superior Court level, and an increase in the number of prosecutions initiated by a Superior Court Information (SCI), as opposed to a Grand Jury Indictment. The number of Superior Court filings (felony-level prosecutions) increased by 31% between 2001 and 2004, from 288 to 378, and the proportion of felony arrests resulting in felony

prosecutions at the County Court level increased during that time from 53% in 2001 to two-thirds of all felony arrests in 2004.

Table 4: Steuben County District Attorney Felony Prosecutions, 2000 – 2004

year	felony	superior court filings (with	% **
	arrests	SCI #'s)*	
2000	585	350	59.8%
2001	547	288	52.7
2002	533	319 (174)	59.9
2003	560	335 (190)	59.8
2004	567	378 (232)	66.7

Source: Steuben County District Attorney.

The proportion of felony arrest cases prosecuted at the County Court level on felony charges is routinely 10 to 12 percentage points higher in Steuben than is true for all upstate felony arrest cases.³ The increase in proportion of felony level prosecutions reflected in Table 4 also means that smaller proportions of initial felony arrest cases are being prosecuted and resolved (typically by pleas) as misdemeanors (from a high in 2001 of 259 to 189 in 2004). An average of a half dozen or fewer cases a year get dismissed at the County Court level, with an average of about 40 cases dismissed at the lower court levels (about 20% of all felony arrests prosecuted within the lower courts). The transitioning of cases between lower and upper court levels is often accompanied by lengthy delays, as indicated in more detail in Chapter 6. The need for expediting such cases and reducing the time needed to move cases from one court level to another represents a promising area for change in the future.

The use of SCIs represents one way of moving such cases along more rapidly. Between 2002 and 2004, as the total number of felony filings (prosecutions) increased by a total of 59, virtually all of the increase (58) was accounted for by a growth in SCIs, while

•

^{*} Total includes number of Superior Court filings (felony level prosecutions at the County Court level), which include both Grand Jury Indictments and Superior Court Informations (SCIs). For the three most recent years, SCIs are broken out separately in parentheses.

^{** %} refers to the proportion of Superior Court Filings as a % of all felony arrests for the year. In some cases, the filing may begin in a different year from the actual arrest.

³ NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, "Dispositions of Felony Arrests, Steuben County and Upstate New York" reports.

SCIs have increasingly
been used in the
County as an
alternative to Grand
Jury Indictments, in an
effort to expedite the
processing of cases
through the criminal
justice system.

Outcomes of Felony Arrest Cases

Felony arrest
dispositions,
convictions and
incarceration
sentences have all
increased in the past
two years.

Dispositions and

Convictions Up

Grand Jury Indictments remained virtually constant. The total number of filings grew by 18.5% during that period, while the use of SCIs grew by 33%, representing a growth from 54.5% of all filings in 2002 to 61.4% in 2004 (232 of 378).

The significance of the increase in recent years in the number and proportion of SCI filings is that this collaborative process between attorneys, defendants and judges at least in theory expedites the processing of cases through the criminal justice system. The vast majority of all felony arrest cases (more than 90% of all County Court prosecutions and more than 95% of all felony arrest convictions in all courts) are resolved in pleas, with only about a dozen cases tried each year—and those pleas are typically negotiated earlier in the process when SCIs are involved than is usually the case when Grand Jury Indictments are involved. (See Chapter 6.)

As County felony arrests declined earlier in this decade, so logically did total dispositions and convictions. Incarceration rates (proportions of convictions resulting in either jail or prison sentences) also declined. But as shown below in Table 5, each of those totals has increased in the past two years, as arrests increased, with especially significant increases in 2004—thereby helping to fuel the rapid increases in the numbers of jail inmates in 2004 and 2005.

Table 5: Outcomes of Felony Arrest Cases in Steuben County, 2000 - 2004

		<i>J</i> ,			
Action	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
Dispositions	595	440	427	432	514
Convictions	518	389	362	371	461
Conviction Rate	87.1%	88.4%	84.8%	85.9%	89.7%
Prison Sentences	86	63	62	66	110
Jail Sentences	117	86	96	99	133
Incarceration Rate	39.2%	38.3%	43.6%	44.5%	52.7%

Source: NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, "Dispositions of Felony Arrests, Steuben County."

NOTE: Conviction Rate = % of Dispositions. Incarceration Rate = Prison and Jail Sentences as % of Convictions.

Dispositions on felony arrests (including both County Court and lower court dispositions) increased by 20% between 2002 and 2004. Convictions increased 27% during that time, as the

proportion of dispositions resulting in convictions increased from about 85% in 2002 to 90% in 2004. Conviction rates in Steuben County have typically been 10 to 12 percentage points a year higher than the upstate NY rates.

Of even greater significance is the fact that convictions in County Court, i.e., convictions on felony charges, increased by 41%, from 210 in 2002 to 296 in 2004. The proportion of convictions on felonies has traditionally been 12 to 15 percentage points higher each year in Steuben than the upstate rate, and the Steuben proportion grew from 55.8% in 2002 to 60.5% in 2004.

Incarceration Rates Up

With the rapid increases in recent conviction rates, especially on felony charges, it is not surprising that incarceration rates also increased dramatically. As shown in Table 6 below, the number of prison sentences increased by 77% between 2002 and 2004, and jail sentences increased 38.5% for the same period (and 55% since 2001).

Table 6: Sentences Imposed on Felony Arrest Cases in Steuben County, 2000-2004

Steasen Gounty, 2000 2001					
sentences	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004
Prison	86	63	62	66	110
Total Jail	117	86	96	99	133
Jail Alone	53	32	45	44	57
Jail + Prob.	64	54	51	55	76
Probation Alone	181	158	131	119	136
Fine or CD	126	81	72	85	80
TOTAL CONVICTIONS	518	389	362	371	461

Source: NYS Division of Criminal Justice Services, "Disposition of Felony Arrests, Steuben County."

NOTE: "Total Convictions" also includes an average of about 2 additional "Other" or "Unknown" sentences not shown in the table.

Despite the historically significantly higher conviction and felony conviction rates of the Steuben DA, relative to the rest of upstate, they did not translate into higher incarceration rates in the past. From 1997 through 2002, Steuben's rate of incarceration sentences (jail plus prison), as a percentage of convictions, averaged about 8 to 10 percentage points *lower* than the comparable upstate rates, and was even further below the proportions of five of its six adjoining counties. But in 2004, not only did the numbers of jail and prison sentences increase as the

The County has historically imposed jail and prison sentences at lower rates than most other counties, but both types of sentences increased significantly in 2004, contributing to the rapid jail census increases in 2004 and 2005.

number of convictions increased, but the overall *rate* of incarceration also increased, so that for the first time in the DCJS recorded historical data, the County's incarceration rate exceeded 50% (see Table 5), and for the first time, Steuben's rate was comparable with the overall upstate rate.

Steuben County's relatively low overall rate of incarceration sentences over the years—even as the felony conviction rate has been relatively high compared to other counties—has been consistent with the DA's stated emphasis on getting as many felony convictions as possible, but without exacting punitive jail or prison sentences beyond what is deemed appropriate and necessary to get the defendant's attention, given his/her criminal history and perceived probability of future criminal behavior. Historically, between 55% and 60% of all County Court cases—typically the most serious cases prosecuted by the DA's office—have resulted in jail or prison sentences, compared with about 20% of felony arrest cases that are prosecuted at lower court levels as misdemeanors. Cases that begin and end as misdemeanors presumably have even lower incarceration sentencing rates, though data are not available to document this assumption.

It seems clear that the 2004 increase in proportion of convictions resulting in incarceration sentences has contributed significantly to the rapid increase in the jail's census in 2004 and 2005. A key question in planning for the future becomes one of whether 2004 was a one-year "blip" or aberration in the use of expanded jail and prison as sentencing options in the County, or whether the DA and judges will revert back to the historical trends of lower incarceration rates. And, if the latter, with what alternative sentences used instead?

In most years, between 30% and 35% of all convictions on cases that originated as felony arrests have involved sentences to probation (excluding combination "probation plus jail" sentences). Some probation sentences were to specific ATI programs operated by the Probation Department and discussed in subsequent chapters. In addition, as shown in Table 6, more than half of all sentences to the County jail (between 55% and 60% in most years) have also involved a combination of jail and probation.

Although around 60% of all felony cases processed in County Court are sentenced to jail or prison, that proportion drops to about 20% of felony arrests ultimately prosecuted as misdemeanors, and presumably lower proportions for arrests that started as misdemeanors.

Including regular probation sentences with those involving a combination of jail plus probation, an average over the years of close to half of all convictions involving initial felony arrest cases have involved some degree of probation in the sentences. How the use of formal ATI programs has factored into that mix, and what impact they may be able to have in affecting future incarceration rates, will be discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters.

DA Practices

Beyond the data related to DA practices, other issues surfaced during the study's various interviews concerning the DA's office and practices. These are summarized briefly below.

Staffing

The DA currently has a staff of four full-time and two part-time ADAs, in addition to the full-time DA, two paralegals, an investigator, and five clerical support staff. This relatively small staff is responsible for covering more than 40 courts in a county geographically as large as the state of Rhode Island. Because of the workload and access issues faced by a small staff needing to cover such a large territory and so many courts, there is little time for training and orienting the attorneys concerning consistent practices, policies and standards.

Attorneys are often expected to be in more than one court at the same time, and considerable time can be spent in transportation to the various courts. Some issues were raised during the study about communications and accessibility issues, inconsistent approaches, and occasional inflexibility of some of the DA staff. Nonetheless, on balance, despite those occasional concerns and the hurdles faced by the DA staff, comments provided by other attorneys, judges, magistrates and court staff were generally complimentary about the quality and efficiency of the ADA staff.

DA-Defense Attorney Working Relationships The DA's office and defense attorneys have not always worked effectively together in the past to expedite and craft resolutions to cases, in large part because of a combination of the large numbers of justice courts, relatively small District Attorney and Public Defender staffs, and a large number of assigned counsel (AC) attorneys making it difficult to operate efficiently. With the hiring this year of two new Assistant PD attorneys and gradual reduction in emphasis on AC attorneys, both the DA and PD offices believe there should be greater opportunities for the development of

improved working relationships between the two offices, including development of understandings and guidelines between the District Attorney and Public Defender (see further discussion in Chapter 5).

Impact of Plea Strategies on Jail Population The County District Attorney is on record advocating incarceration "only for people who need to be there," and the data indicate that County rates of jail and prison sentences have been historically low relative to other areas of the state, at least prior to 2004.

However, the DA's emphasis on hard-nosed negotiation of pleas, and a virtual unwillingness to plea SCI or Grand Jury Indictment cases to anything below felony charges, has led to the use of jail as a negotiating tool to motivate/coax pleas resulting in sentences that would otherwise be more severe were the defendant not in jail while the plea deal was being negotiated. That is, in the view of the DA, "best" pleas are often, especially in felony filing cases, negotiated with the current reality of jail hanging over the defendant, with the implicit if not explicit threat that if the person were not in jail, the offered sentence would be less favorable. By negotiating a plea that factors in existing time served, the DA believes that the defendant is more likely to agree to the plea than otherwise, thereby helping to move the case along more rapidly.

As such, some of the ostensibly "unsentenced" jail time becomes in effect a "down payment" or preliminary phase of a sentence, thus suggesting that some of the high proportion of "unsentenced" jail time in the County, compared with elsewhere in the state, is in reality a form of unstated sentenced time. That is, if some of the defendants currently in jail on unsentenced status were to be released prior to disposition of their cases, they would be likely to receive comparable—or more—jail time added to their sentences. This issue and its implications for the jail population are discussed in more detail in Chapter 6 and in the subsequent discussion of the pretrial release program and its actual and potential impact on the jail's unsentenced population.

The implications of DA practices suggest little willingness to negotiate reduced bail amounts or releases from jail prior to resolution of felony cases prosecuted at the County Court level. On the other hand, in the majority of other cases prosecuted at lower court levels, where prison sentences are not considered and

Significant amounts of the County's "unsentenced" jail days appear, in effect, to be equivalent to initial portions of incarceration sentences. jail sentences are less likely, the DA is less likely to use jail as a negotiating strategy. Thus there are presumably opportunities for defendants in these lower court settings to seek earlier release, with less resistance from the DA's office, without jeopardizing plea negotiations. However, there are indications that this implicit, unstated "guideline" is not always consistently followed in practice by all ADAs, given the lack of consistent orientation or training of new ADAs, or update reminders to veterans. This is due in large part to workload issues raised above, e.g., the lack of time for anything other than "getting the job done through on-the-job training," as one ADA described the day-today reality of meeting the demands of the office and the judicial system.

5. Issues Related to Defense Counsel

Although defense attorneys do not play as pivotal a role in driving the judicial system as the District Attorney plays, they have immense influence in determining how smoothly and efficiently the system operates, how well defendant interests are represented, how long and under what circumstances some defendants are remanded to and remain in jail awaiting disposition of their cases, and the length of time it takes for cases to be disposed of by the courts.

Historically Steuben County has had a relatively small Public Defender's (PD) office, staffed for the most part by part-time attorneys, supplemented by a heavy concentration of Assigned Counsel (AC) private attorneys. Within the past year, a shift has begun to occur in the mix and proportion of cases represented by the Public Defender and Assigned Counsel.

Growing Public Defender Caseload

As indicated below in Table 7, the number of cases represented by the Public Defender office has grown substantially since 2002. (Data are not presented for 2000 and 2001, due to inconsistencies in the way the data were categorized; however, the overall numbers of cases represented appear to have been similar to the 2002 numbers, so the growth seems to have occurred primarily in the past two years.)

Table 7: Steuben County Public Defender Caseloads, 2002 - 2004

Type cases	2002	2003	2004
Misdemeanor/Violations	1,150	1,232	1,219
Felonies	72	112	140
Family Court	940	1,132	1,200
Prob./Parole Viol'ns + Risk Assessment	107	76	92
TOTAL	2,269	2,552	2,651

Source: Steuben County Public Defender Annual Reports.

The total number of cases represented by the Public Defender office grew by 16.8% between 2002 and 2004. Much of the growth was in the office's Family Court practice, managed primarily by two full-time attorneys. Family Court cases increased by almost 28% in those two years. Misdemeanor/violation cases

Cases represented by the Public Defender office increased by 17% from 2002 to 2004, including dramatic increases in the felony caseloads. increased by 6%, even though misdemeanor arrests in Steuben County declined by 8.8% during those two years (see Table 1 in Chapter 2). Meanwhile, as felony prosecutions increased in the DA's office (see Table 4), the number of felony cases represented by the PD office almost doubled between 2002 and 2004. Moreover, with the addition of new full-time PD attorneys to take over more of the responsibility for primarily D and E felony cases previously represented by Assigned Counsel (see below), Public Defender felony cases had already exceeded the 2004 total by almost 75% through August of this year (a total of 243 cases represented by that time).

During this same period of time, Assigned Counsel attorneys represented substantial numbers of cases as well. Historically, based on PD annual reports, AC have represented defendants in about half as many cases each year as the totals reflected in Table 6 above, i.e., between about 1,150 cases in 2002 and 1,325 in 2004. Defendants qualifying for indigent defense representation were typically represented by the Public Defender unless: (1) some form of conflict existed in a case, such as with more than one defendant, in which case only one defendant could be represented by the PD; or (2) the case was a D or E felony charge. Until this year, all D and E felony cases were routinely represented by Assigned Counsel, due primarily to relatively low AC hourly costs and staffing constraints within the PD's office which made such coverage impossible until this year, when the County Legislature funded additional staff to represent defendants in such cases.

Changes in Staffing Patterns

Historically the Public Defender office has been staffed largely by part-time attorneys who also maintained a part-time private practice. Even the head of the office, the actual Public Defender, operated as a part-time position until less than two years ago, when the current Public Defender was appointed full-time. Until this year, the only other full-time positions in the office have been, and continue to be, two attorneys who focus almost exclusively on the PD's large Family Court caseload. In addition, two part-time Assistant Public Defenders have traditionally handled the A and B felony cases assigned to the office, and four part-time Assistant PDs have split the large misdemeanor caseload in the more than 40 separate city, town and village courts scattered throughout the county.

This year, in order to control costs associated with the statemandated increases in rates for Assigned Counsel, the County authorized the hiring of two additional *full-time* APDs to focus almost exclusively on handling D and E felony cases previously represented exclusively by Assigned Counsel. One of those attorneys began work with the office in April, and the other started in August. Even with the cumulative equivalent of less than six full months of actual representation of cases across these two attorneys, 140 cases have been represented during that short period of time—all cases that would have been represented by AC attorneys in previous years.

Unlike the District Attorney staff, the Public Defender office does not have paralegal support, nor does it have an investigator on staff. Like the DA, the PD attorneys are responsible for crisscrossing the large county and its broad array of large and small courts. Because of all the transitions within the PD office, the lack until recently of a full-time PD, the fact that much of the defense attorney work has been done by Assigned Counsel outside the PD office, and the workload issues faced by a relatively small staff needing to cover so many courts across such a large territory, there has been little time for any consistent training and orientation of the attorneys concerning common practices, policies and standards. The same issue was noted as a concern within the District Attorney's office.

As with ADAs, PD and AC attorneys are often expected to be in more than one court at the same time, and considerable time can be spent in transportation to access the various courts. Partly as a result, some issues, often significant ones, were raised during the study by various officials in different positions across the criminal justice system concerning: perceived poor communications and lack of accessibility associated with certain APDs; "no shows" or late appearances without notice at scheduled court dates; lack of contact between court dates; inconsistent approaches; inadequate preparation; and occasional lack of sufficient contact with defendants in between court appearances. Nonetheless, on balance, despite those concerns, comments provided by other attorneys, judges, magistrates and court staff were often complimentary about the work and flexibility of the APD staff. The Public Defender is aware of the issues he inherited, and most

of those we interviewed expect that once staffing stability has occurred within the office, and fewer cases are being processed outside the office by AC attorneys, more consistent standards and practices will be in evidence across the PD office, with fewer of the problems noted in the past.

An issue that was raised by several of those interviewed has to do with whether the PD office should continue its primary reliance on part-time APD staff, as opposed to hiring a greater proportion of full-time staff. It is generally perceived that many of the part-time attorneys are providing more than half-time work for their part-time pay, so the County may be receiving good returns on its investments. On the other hand, part-time APD responsibilities are balanced against their private practice demands, which may lead to conflicts resulting in court delays. Since the County already pays full benefits for its part-time APDs, the added costs of converting at least some of the part-time positions at some point in the future may be relatively small, with potential significant resulting benefits in terms of consistent, timely defense representation.

Impact of Shift from Assigned Counsel to Public Defender

Prior to January 2004, Assigned Counsel were reimbursed, according to rates established by NYS, with County tax dollars at the rates of \$40 per hour for court appearances and \$25 per hour for non-court time spent on cases. As of the beginning of 2004, state-mandated rates increased substantially to \$75 per hour for all time spent on felony and Family Court matters, and \$65/hour for all time spent on misdemeanor cases. As noted earlier, the County Legislature responded by shifting the responsibility for representing defendants on D and E felony cases from AC attorneys to two full-time APD attorneys hired directly by the County.

Early results appear promising. As noted above, in less than six months of full-time equivalent coverage, 140 felony cases otherwise represented at the higher rates by AC attorneys had been represented by APDs. In addition, the Public Defender through August had represented 37 felony cases, mostly at the C felony level. Based on previous experience equated to the current hourly rates, the PD assumption is that representation of these

cases by AC would have averaged costs to the County of about \$1,000 per case.

Projected to full staffing for a full year, the PD estimates that between 275 and 300 felony cases will be represented annually by PD attorneys that would otherwise have been assigned to AC attorneys, at an annual estimated cost of \$275,000 to \$300,000. Estimated annual salary and benefits for the two new full-time APD attorneys would total about \$104,000. Thus, estimated annual savings of between about \$175,000 and \$200,000 are expected to result. Such savings may be even greater, given the assumption that the AC costs of representing C felony cases now covered by the PD may have exceeded \$1,000 per case. Either way, the County appears to have made a wise decision to shift as much responsibility as possible for felony cases away from Assigned Counsel.

Shifting responsibility for D and E felony cases from Assigned Counsel to new fulltime APDs should save the County about \$200,000 a year, compared with not making the change. In addition, the County is now receiving about \$190,000 annually from NYS to further offset added AC-related costs.

In addition to the direct savings to taxpayers, beginning in 2005, NYS has begun to reimburse counties for at least a portion of their added costs associated with the mandate to increase AC rates. For 2005 (and hopefully future years), this will add about \$190,000 to County revenues through the PD office. Thus the net fiscal effect of the two actions—the decision to add PD staff and the state decision to help pay for the added mandated AC-related costs—will be a reduction in annual costs to County taxpayers of between about \$365,000 and \$400,000, compared to what they would have been without the changes, based on current assumptions and continuation of state payments.

In addition to the fiscal benefits of the County's decision to reduce its reliance on Assigned Counsel, a number of other benefits are likely to result, including:

- It should now be possible to undertake training and orientation with defense attorneys within the PD office. More routine internal review and discussion of felony cases should also be possible between the APDs and the PD, which should result in more consistent and flexible approaches and strategies for negotiations with ADAs and judges.
- As a result, most observers we spoke with expect more coordinated, consistent defense representation to occur, on a more

- timely basis, with fewer court delays and adjournments. In addition, there should be better coordination and ongoing working relationships with judges and the District Attorney's office.
- Court cases, pleas, bail decisions, etc. should be expedited and accomplished with fewer delays than has previously been the case, given the combination of fewer AC cases and more consistent oversight of the PD office and operations. Time should be reduced in the now-often-lengthy periods of transition between lower and County courts. More cases should be able to be resolved sooner, creating greater efficiencies in the courts at all levels, and potentially reducing time spent by defendants in jail awaiting case dispositions.
- The Public Defender should be able to hold his attorneys more accountable for their actions, decisions, time, and the ways in which they interact with other "players" in the system.

Further Alternative to Assigned Counsel is Needed

Despite the benefits to date, and anticipated, of the shift of D and E felony cases away from Assigned Counsel to internal APD staff, the Public Defender expects that there will continue to be substantial number of cases that will need Assigned Counsel, because of co-defendants or other conflicts that prevent representation by the PD. Just as it is proving to be cost effective to shift D and E felony cases from AC to full-time PD attorneys, the Public Defender believes that all but about 5% of the remaining cases now covered by AC could be represented by a newly-created County Conflicts Office (CO), separate and distinct from the Public Defender's office. By creating an office of attorneys distinct from the PD, with its own separate staff and management, the PD believes that it could offer legal representation for most cases where conflicts exist with the PD office, at less cost to the County than if AC hourly rates had to continue to be paid. Neighboring Chemung County has begun the establishment of such an office, which is expected to generate significant savings for Chemung taxpayers.

Preliminary figures presented by the Public Defender suggest that this approach could be cost effective in Steuben as well, with projected costs of staffing the potential Conflicts Office less than the anticipated costs of having the same services provided by Assigned Counsel. The assumptions underlying the outline of a CO proposal shown to CGR are at this preliminary stage too

vague to make definitive judgments. More detailed budget figures and estimates are needed of numbers of cases expected to be covered by each attorney, and of the expected numbers to be shifted away from AC, before final conclusions can be drawn. However, the concept appears promising, and should be seriously considered, with a more detailed proposal drawn up before any final decisions are made.

More Rapid Engagement with Defendants and Courts

Partly because of the large number of cases represented by Assigned Counsel in the past, and in part because of poor communications and poor follow-through by previous Public Defender administrations—and in some cases lack of adequate information provided by various courts—there appear to have been significant numbers of cases over the years in which there were delays of several days or even a week or more in getting indigent defense counsel identified and linked up with defendants. Such delays often were detrimental to the processing of the defendant's case, and to the defendant's options for avoiding or minimizing the time spent in jail awaiting disposition of his/her case.

An administrative court order from the NYS Unified Court System in the spring of 2005 placed requirements on all town and village court justices to immediately inform their Public Defender about any cases that might require legal representation provided by the public. That requirement, in conjunction with reduced use of AC attorneys and more attention to details by the current PD administration, appears to be minimizing this problem of delayed representation. Anecdotal evidence (no hard data are available to document the extent of such occurrences) suggests that public defense attorneys are now assigned more efficiently and rapidly, resulting in fewer delays in having defense representation at early stages of the judicial process.

Public Defender-DA Working Relationships

As noted in Chapter 4, the District Attorney often uses "unsentenced jail" status and/or decisions about bail and pretrial release as part of the negotiation process to motivate defendants to agree to plea deals that they might not otherwise agree to—or that the DA might not otherwise make. Such negotiation tactics can have the practical effect of making "unsentenced" time in such situations for all intents and purposes no different than an

unofficial part of a sentence for that defendant. This approach, when accompanied by the DA's stated policy not to negotiate Superior Court Filing cases to anything lower than a felony, has the practical effect of limiting a defendant's and defense attorney's options, and can certainly be the basis for contention between the parties.

To be fair, however, defense attorneys are often willing partners to such discussions. They often counsel their clients to "sit tight" and spend unsentenced time in jail, because it will result in a "better" plea agreement and sentence than they would obtain otherwise. Moreover, the PD or other defense attorney, and the defendant, are often just as happy to have the defendant sit in jail building up "time served" to be counted against a negotiated prison sentence. For example, a defendant may prefer to spend as much of the sentence as possible in the local jail, rather than at the more distant and hostile environment represented by the prison to which the client is being sentenced. Thus the DA and defense attorney are often complicit, along with the defendant and in many cases the judge, in making decisions which have the realistic effect of "sentencing" defendants to "theoretically unsentenced" jail time, deemed to meet the needs and best interests of all parties except, perhaps, those of the jail and local taxpayers.

Despite such tacit agreements which are often reached by attorneys on both sides to leave defendants in jail to further the respective interests of both parties, the DA's office and defense attorneys have not always worked as effectively together as they should have to expedite and craft resolutions to cases, in large part because of a combination of the large numbers of justice courts, relatively small District Attorney and Public Defender staffs, and a large number of AC attorneys making it difficult to operate efficiently. With the hiring of the new Assistant PD attorneys and gradual reduction in emphasis on AC attorneys, both the PD and DA offices believe there should be greater opportunities for the development of improved working relationships between the two offices, including, as noted in Chapter 4, development of clearer understandings and guidelines between the Public Defender and District Attorney.

DA and defense attorney agreements, ratified by judges, often have the practical effect of keeping unsentenced defendants in jail to offset subsequent sentences.

6. IMPACT OF EXISTING COURT PRACTICES

Data related to court practices and their implications for the jail and the rest of the criminal justice system are most extensive and readily available for felony cases processed at the County Court level. Data are far less available about the processing of cases at the lower/misdemeanor court levels. But enough "pieces" of information were available about each level of the courts—and enough information (factual and perceptions) was obtained from extensive interviews with attorneys, judges/justices and clerks who are intimately involved with the different courts—that we believe the key issues pertaining to how the courts function, and the impact of their various practices on the overall system, can be accurately summarized in this chapter.

Information presented in this chapter was available from a number of sources. In addition to the insights obtained from a wide range of interviews, a variety of specific data were obtained from the NYS Unified Court System; a special analysis conducted in conjunction with the Chief Clerk's office of the County and Supreme Courts of all Superior Court Filings (indictments and SCIs) filed for a 3-month period from September 1 through November 30, 2004; a special analysis by the Chief Clerk's office of cases not meeting standards and goals over several months in 2004 and 2005; and a special analysis of Probation data on presentence investigations, aided by the County's Information Technology Department.

By way of overview, what we know about criminal court cases⁴ in Steuben County on an annual basis is the following:

• An average of more than 310 new felony filings (indictments and Superior Court Informations) were initiated in each of the past two years in County Court and, including cases initiated in earlier years, an average of more than 325 dispositions were completed per year.

CGR

⁴ Family Court issues were typically not within the scope of the project CGR was requested to undertake. Therefore, specific data about Family Court are not presented in this report. However, to the extent that issues pertaining to Family Court are germane to understanding the criminal court system, they are addressed.

- For each of the past two years, an average of about 575 new criminal filings were initiated in Hornell City Court; comparable data could not be obtained from Corning City Court, although we know it is a larger court in terms of cases filed than is Hornell.
- ◆ In 2004, 4,037 criminal cases were reported in the town and village courts within Steuben County. Of those, almost 1,500 (37%) were processed in just three of the 38 reporting courts: 646 (16%) in the village of Bath court, 507 (12.6%) in the town of Erwin, and 340 (8.4%) in the town of Bath. The next highest-volume courts were the town courts of Corning and Addison (265 and 264 cases in 2004, respectively).
- ◆ Thus, had Corning City Court data been included, we know that well over 5,000 criminal court cases were initiated during 2004 across all County, City and town/village courts throughout Steuben County.

In addition to the prosecution of these cases by the District Attorney's office, those criminal cases generated the following workloads for other key components of the criminal justice system (not including jail data, which were presented in Chapter 3):

- More than 1,300 criminal cases represented by the Public Defender's office in each of the past two years, in addition to about 1,000 other cases in which defendants were represented at public cost through Assigned Counsel attorneys.
- ◆ Typically about 800 or more cases under active supervision at any given time under the auspices of the Probation Department. In 2004, more than 1,300 separate cases were supervised at some point during the course of the year.
- Pre-sentence investigations (PSIs) may be requested by judges/ justices before sentence is pronounced in criminal cases. Subject to applicable waivers under specified circumstances, PSIs are required for felony convictions, youthful offenders, and for misdemeanor convictions if probation sentences or jail sentences of more than 90 days are anticipated. Thus cases in which PSIs are requested tend to reflect the more serious cases being disposed of by courts at all levels throughout the system. Probation data indicate that an average of 767 PSIs have been

More than 5,000 criminal cases were processed in the County in 2004.

completed each year from 2000 – 2004, with a high of 851 in 2004.

CGR analysis of 1,559 PSI cases requested/begun in 2004 and the first eight months of 2005 indicated the following breakdowns by levels and locations of courts:

<u>Court</u>	# PSIs	<u>%</u>
County	655	42.0
Corning City	185	11.9
Hornell City	102	6.5
Bath Village	90	5.8
Erwin Town	82	5.3
Bath Town	38	2.4
Other Town/Village	183	11.7
Other Counties	139	8.9
Family Court	<u>85</u>	5.4
TOTALS	1,559	100.0

Thus, using PSIs as a rough barometer of the more serious cases resulting in convictions throughout all levels of the court system, more than 40% in recent months have been convicted in County Court, 18.5% in the two City Courts, and just over a quarter in the town/village courts. Compared with the total numbers of cases filed in each level of the courts, these numbers mean that nearly all of the County Court cases wind up with PSIs requested, but relatively few of the more than 4,000 justice court cases.

Long Delays Processing Felony Cases

Although they represent a relatively small proportion of all cases in the County's criminal justice system, County Court cases have a disproportionately large impact on the rest of the system. The attorney and court staff resources these cases require, their impact on the jail, and their impact on lower courts before they are prosecuted at the upper/County Court level, are all out of proportion to their relatively small numbers.

Nearly all felony cases originate at one of the City or town/village lower courts, where the cases are initially arraigned and where decisions are typically made that determine whether the defendants will be initially detained, and if so, if and when, and under what circumstances, the defendant may subsequently be

released. The time between those decisions made shortly after the defendant's arrest and the ultimate disposition of the case is exceedingly long and drawn out.

CGR analyzed all 86 County Court cases filed between September and the end of November of last year (a sample thought by County Court officials to be representative of a full year's cases); final dispositions had been reached in 85% of those cases by the time of final analysis for this report.

Two-thirds of the cases were filed by waiving the Grand Jury process and filing SCIs. Of the sample, 45% were detained in jail throughout the judicial process (including 30% held the entire time without bail being set, and 15% unable to make bail); 46.5% were released (37% on ROR or Pre-Trial Release, and 9% as a result of making bail); 6% were remanded to jail portions of the time and released at other points during the process; and the custody status was unknown for 2% of the defendants. Thus even among these felony cases, about half of the defendants were released during some or all of the pre-sentence process.

As shown below in Table 8, of the County Court cases, the average amount of time from lower court arraignment to the final court date for sentencing was 210 days—seven months. The median was 192 days.

The average County
Court case requires
seven months to
complete, from lower
court arraignment to
final sentencing date.

About half of the cases

prosecuted as felonies

in County Court were

not held in custody

prior to sentencing.

Table 8: Average Days Between Events in Proceedings of County Court Cases with Filing Dates Between 9/1/04 and 11/30/04

11/30/04						
court process stage	total	gj	sci	jail	non-	
					jail	
L.C. Arraignment to	210	264	186.5	191.5	219	
Sentencing						
L.C. Arraignment to County	116	96	125	102	128	
Crt. Filing						
County Crt. Filing to		168	61	96	87	
Sentencing	93.5					

Source: CGR analysis of sample data organized by Chief Clerk's office of County and Supreme Courts of Steuben County.

NOTE: L.C. = lower court (City Courts and town/village justice courts); GJ = Grand Jury Indictment; SCI = Superior Court Information filing; Jail and Non-Jail refer to custody status during processing of criminal case. The last two rows may not equal the "L.C. Arraignment -> Sentencing" total due to missing data in two cases.

Only 16% of the cases were resolved within four months and, at the other end of the spectrum, a quarter of the cases took more than nine months from arraignment to final disposition, including 8% which took more than a full year.

Longest Delays in Lower Courts

Almost four months of the average felony case was spent in a lower court prior to filing at the County Court level. The majority of that time—55% of the 210 days—was spent with the case remaining under the responsibility of the lower court. That is, it took an average of 116 days for cases to move from lower court arraignment to filing at the County Court level (either with a Grand Jury Indictment or an SCI date being set). About 30% of the cases took more than five months to reach the County Court filing stage, including 14% which took six months or more. Only a quarter of the cases reached the County Court felony prosecution stage in less than two months.

Cases of defendants who were detained in jail were processed more rapidly on average than were those who had made bail or been released either ROR (release on own recognizance) or through the Pre-Trial Release program. Defendants who remained in jail had their County Court cases filed within an average of 102 days, compared to 128 days for those who had been released. Indicted cases were filed more rapidly than were those prosecuted through the SCI process (96 days versus 125, respectively). Felony cases originated in Corning City Court and the Erwin town court took longer to reach County Court, compared to the overall average time (125 and 138 days, respectively, compared, for example, to 96 days in Hornell).

3 Months to Process Average Case in County Court

93.5 days before final sentencing, with an average of 3.6 court appearances, including the final sentencing date. There were often delays of several weeks between the filing and arraignment at the upper court level and the next court appearance, typically in cases involving the Grand Jury. Indeed, although cases going to the Grand Jury reached County Court faster than SCI cases, as noted above, once there they took much longer to resolve (an average of 168 days from filing to sentencing for Grand Jury cases compared with 61 days for SCI cases, which were typically resolved in one appearance, except for final sentencing). Thus, cases involving Grand Jury Indictments get to County Court about a month sooner than SCI cases, on average, but take more than three

Once cases reached County Court, it took an average of another

The average Grand
Jury case takes about
100 days longer to
complete within
County Court than do
SCI cases.

months longer to dispose of once indicted, so that total time from lower court arraignment to sentencing was 264 days for Grand Jury cases, compared with 186.5 days for the average SCI case (see Table 8).

As also shown in Table 8, although there appear to have been some efforts made to expedite the processing of cases for defendants held in custody at the lower court level, no further reductions in case processing time were observed among unsentenced custody cases during the time spent in the County Court system.

Except for Grand Jury cases, much of the time between County Court filings and sentencing is spent awaiting PSI results.

Of the average of 93.5 days from County Court filing to sentencing, two-thirds of that time was typically spent between the time a verdict was reached, and the final sentencing date. That is, an average of 63 days was spent between the time a PSI was requested and the final sentencing date for these County Court cases.

Once cases reached County Court, there was considerable variation between the three judges in the speed with which cases were resolved: the average time from filing to final sentencing, depending on the judge, was 70 days, 101 days, or 176 days. In part these differences were a function of the proportions of cases each had that went to a Grand Jury, but even controlling for that factor, considerable differences remained in their average case-processing times. About 60% of one judge's cases were closed out within two months of reaching County Court, while the comparable proportions for the other two judges were 24% and 11%, respectively. At the other end of the spectrum, 44% of the cases of one judge took more than six months to be completed, compared with 3% and 16% for the other two.

Cases Not Meeting Standards and Goals

Further evidence of the length of time many felony court cases remain open in Steuben County is provided by analysis of Standards and Goals cases (S&G). State standards call for felony cases to be closed/disposed of within 180 days of arraignment. Each 4-week court term, and annually, court data are reported to the state indicating the numbers of cases which have surpassed the S&G goal, i.e., cases remain open after the 180-day period has passed. From 2002 through mid-2005, Steuben has consistently reported higher proportions of pending cases that are over the

180-day limit than similar counties across the state, with one County judge being responsible for most of the over-goal cases.

In recent years, about 20% of the pending cases in County Court at the end of the year have been open beyond the 180-day goal—a proportion that has consistently exceeded the proportions of all but about half a dozen counties in the state (exclusive of NYC counties). Moreover, eight months of 2004-05 court data indicate that even after the cases reach the maximum allowable period, it takes an average of 120 additional days—four additional months beyond the goal—for the cases to be closed, with an average of 3.25 additional court appearances after reaching the goal deadline. One quarter of the cases over goal took more than five additional months on top of the 180 days before the cases were closed.

Significant numbers of cases in County and City Courts remain open beyond state Standards and Goals. In County Court, they often continue to remain open well beyond the 180-day goal.

Separate City Court data from Hornell and Corning indicate that this issue is not limited to County Court. Not only are 15% to 20% of their felony cases typically over goal, but the 90-day misdemeanor goal in recent years has also been exceeded in sample months in between 40% (Hornell) and 60% (Corning) of the pending cases in the two jurisdictions. Both City Court rates were typically higher in the sample months than comparable rates for other City Courts in the 7th Judicial District: Auburn, Canandaigua, Geneva and even Rochester. Thus it appears as if delays in disposing of cases in a timely manner is an issue not only at the County Court level, but also at the two City Courts as well. No comparable data were available at the justice court levels.

Issues Affecting Court Delays

Clearly a significant proportion of the felony cases prosecuted in Steuben County Court take several months to wend their way from arrest and lower court arraignment to final disposition and sentencing. The issue is systemic in nature. As noted above, the major portion of the delays in resolving cases has been between the lower courts and County Court—i.e., getting the cases onto the County Court dockets in the first place. Other shorter, but nonetheless significant portions of the delays have to do with processing cases within County Court itself, including significant periods awaiting completion of PSI reports in many cases.

Thus the overall length of time to process cases cannot be attributed to one or two simple issues that can be easily resolved. Making any significant reductions in the length of time currently

Delays in reaching disposition of cases in County Court are attributable to a variety of systemic issues that need to be addressed across all components of the criminal justice system.

Continuing to reduce the County's reliance on Assigned Counsel should help expedite cases and reduce unnecessary detention of unsentenced defendants.

Lower court judges need criminal justice history more immediately, and justices need better ways of accessing and acting on information between scheduled court sessions.

- needed to dispose of criminal cases in the County requires addressing a number of systemic issues, and will need the active support of people and agencies across all levels of the system. Among the issues that will need attention are the following:
- Strengthening the Public Defender's office with stronger full-time management and more full-time attorneys is key to earlier and more consistent defense representation. However, as long as substantial numbers of defense attorneys need to continue to be hired as Assigned Counsel—with little ability of anyone in the criminal justice system to effectively manage their time and quality of representation, and little ability to enforce consistent standards—the issue of timely and effective representation is likely to continue to be a problem. CGR believes that as long as substantial numbers of cases continue to be represented by Assigned Counsel, there will continue to be more delayed cases and more defendants detained in custody than need to be there to meet community safety goals.
- ❖ Because lower court judges (City and town/village) cannot set bail or accept pleas on certain felony charges and/or felony charges in which defendants have two or more prior felony convictions, and because judges do not always have the information needed from rap sheets or Pre-Trial Release forms to even know in many cases what the defendant's prior record is, some defendants may be detained unnecessarily. Some defendants who do not have prior felony charges may be good candidates for release, but if the local judge does not have the necessary information to determine the criminal history in a timely fashion, the judge may exercise understandable caution and remand the defendant to jail pending additional information. And since many of the justice courts meet only monthly or at most weekly or every other week, a defendant detained at arraignment may not appear again before the judge for several days or even weeks. Some judges and justices reconsider release/bail decisions in between court appearances, but this does not always happen, and some courts do not have fax machines or email access, and/or have them but do not routinely check them in between court appearances. Defendants in some cases remain in jail longer than necessary as a result.

There is currently no central leadership to push for changes needed throughout all components of the criminal justice system.

Expedited discussions of cases between defense attorneys and ADAs can help move cases along faster, while still meeting legitimate goals and needs of all parties.

Court Efficiencies

Such concerns early in the judicial process are exacerbated at times by the problems inherent in limited staffing of both the PD and DA offices, combined with multiple courts covered by these attorneys, which can lead to attorneys not being present at all of the limited appearances of certain courts, in turn leading to additional adjournments and further delays at the lower court levels. There is currently no systematic way for the courts to routinely review the custody status of cases, other than through the attention of individual judges or attorneys, and cases can easily languish not by design or bad intentions, but simply because of the nature of the current system and the stresses it places on each of its components. There is currently no central leadership pushing the various components of the system to collaborate more effectively to try to find ways of expediting cases and minimizing those that need to be in jail.

- And, on top of these issues, there are elements of intentionality that play a crucial role as well. As noted earlier, it is clear that motivations to coax plea agreements on the DA's part, and to obtain the most advantageous sentences and avoid prison incarceration on the defense attorney's part, can and do contribute to delays in processing cases. As such they contribute to defendants sitting in jail to help make possible pleas that attorneys on both sides can be comfortable with. This balancing of objectives is not likely to change, but it should be possible to begin to change the dynamics of the discussions and to find ways to expedite the process by which these decisions get made.
- A significant portion of the delay in resolving cases is related to the length of time it currently takes to have Pre-Sentence Investigations completed on numerous defendants. This is partly a resource issue, but it is one that has the potential to be resolved in ways that can not only reduce the times some cases remain open, but also reduce the jail population without compromising community safety, as discussed in more detail later in this chapter.

County Court judges effectively balance three different sets of court responsibilities (Surrogate, County and Family). CGR analyzed data from the NYS Unified Court System that compared courts across the state on various management measures. On one of the measures, appearances per disposition, the County has steadily increased from 2002 through the first half of 2005—from

3.69 to 4.97 appearances per County Court disposition. The ratio of appearances is fairly comparable to the upstate ratio, but is considerably higher than in the six counties adjoining Steuben. With the increasing use of SCIs as an alternative to the Grand Jury process, it would seem reasonable to expect that the number of appearances per disposition might have actually declined, rather than increased, in the years in which SCI use has increased. On the other hand, the increases coincide with the introduction in recent years of Drug Court, which requires more court appearances as part of the treatment plan. Thus it is difficult to draw conclusions from these data, but it may be worth further analysis by County and court officials to determine what is contributing to these increasing numbers.

A second "caseload management measure" used by the state refers to the number of "dispositions per judge day." Number of dispositions, or closed cases during a reporting period, are compared with the number of judge days in criminal court during that period. For each year from 2002 through mid-2005, the County has averaged about .79 dispositions per criminal court judge day—about 20% lower than the upstate average of 1.0 during that same period of time. The County ratio has also been well below the corresponding ratios in Chemung, Livingston and Ontario counties. The interpretation of these data is not always unambiguous, as many extenuating circumstances need to be factored in. But the data seem to suggest that there may be opportunities for the overall system and its multiple components to operate more efficiently in the future, to expedite cases more rapidly, thereby helping to reduce the backlog of cases exceeding the S&G guidelines, while at the same time making better use of all resources within the system and helping to minimize the jail population. The next few sections discuss some of the ways that such efficiencies may become more feasible, by incorporating the efforts of those in all components of the system.

Value of SCIs

Judges and attorneys have made substantial use at the County Court level of Superior Court Information filings as an alternative to the more time-consuming Grand Jury process, with increasing proportions of felony arrest cases going through the SCI process in recent years. Even though the concept seems well ingrained within the system at this point, and generally seems to meet with the approval of most participants in the system, significant complaints arose from several quarters in our interviews related to the implementation of the concept.

As noted above, County Court cases in our 3-month sample reached County Court sooner through the Grand Jury process, on the average, than did cases filed through the SCI mechanism. However, once the initial filing had occurred, SCI cases moved much more rapidly, with fewer subsequent court appearances and much less time in the system, from filing to ultimate disposition and sentencing. The key question becomes one of whether it is possible to expedite the front end of the process so that SCIs can be filed and the cases moved out of the lower courts sooner than they typically are now.

Most of the complaints we heard about the SCI process had to do with lengthy delays in getting on the SCI calendar. People interviewed in virtually all components of the system routinely complained about lengthy delays of several weeks or more to get on a judge's SCI calendar. Data obtained during the study from judges and clerks suggest, however, that the complaints are not always well-founded.

In the past, the three County judges all shared responsibility for conducting the SCIs, in which ADA, defense attorney, defendant and judge sit down to work out a plea agreement, typically after the ADA and defense attorney have negotiated the outline of acceptable terms of a plea. With the growth of Drug Court, the County Court judge in charge of that initiative no longer retains a major responsibility for SCI sessions, but is available to pick up SCI cases as needed when they can not be fit into the regular SCI schedule.

The two remaining County judges each currently establish specific days each month when they are available for SCI conferences to be scheduled. Their combined schedules typically offer about 18 regularly-scheduled SCI "slots" per month for conferences. Based on the schedules alone, it is true that if all scheduled slots are filled and an attorney is requesting an SCI conference in a month when there are no available times left, there could be a several-week wait until another slot opens up. However, when slots are filled, or as attorneys request times on alternate dates, judges routinely make additional non-scheduled times available to hold conferences.

In the first eight months of this year, through August, CGR analyzed data from each judge's schedule and determined that, complaints about lack of available conference slots notwithstanding, nearly every month available slots on SCI calendars of both judges remained unfilled. And despite that, both judges in virtually every month added unscheduled conferences to accommodate attorneys. Judges appeared to be especially willing to schedule additional sessions when deadlines were approaching and when defendants were being held in custody.

Despite complaints about accessing SCIs in a timely fashion, many scheduled SCI slots are not filled, and judges often add unscheduled conferences. Across the two primary SCI judges, of 152 total scheduled SCI slots through August, only 80 were actually filled (53%). In addition, another 29 were added at unscheduled times, bringing the total conferences held by those two judges to 109, representing 72% of the original scheduled times. In addition, the third judge added 16 unscheduled SCIs to his calendar as well. With all the conferences added together, 125 conferences had been held through this summer, still 27 below what the judges were scheduled for. Thus there appears to be a bit of a disconnect between the perceived need and demand for SCI sessions and the actual scheduling of the conferences.

Some of those we interviewed speculated that attorneys might not always understand that they can request non-scheduled times, and instead wind up settling for a later date, and then complain about the delay. It may be that a better job needs to be done of educating ADAs and defense attorneys about their options related to SCI requests.

Better and more frequent communications between APD and ADA attorneys should help expedite the SCI process. Perhaps the bigger issue is developing better collaboration between defense and prosecuting attorneys that results in discussions earlier in the process to attempt to craft plea deals that can be brought to a judge more quickly than has been the case in the past. With full-time Assistant Public Defenders now on board and responsible for representing defendants with D and E felonies (instead of having Assigned Counsel covering all such cases as in the past), and a conscious effort on the part of the Public Defender to make earlier connections with defendants and ADAs, it should be possible to begin to develop plea agreements that can be taken to judges sooner, thereby helping to accomplish the initial

SCI goal of moving cases from the lower courts into the County Court decision-making arena more rapidly.

Court Scheduling

Very much related to the SCI issue is the issue of overall court calendaring and scheduling. With three different judges responsible for balancing the demands of three separate County-level courts—Surrogate, County and Family—scheduling issues become difficult at best and contentious and inefficient at worst. Numerous approaches to developing rational schedules have been proposed and tried, but no one approach has met with universal support.

The current approach basically has each court and judge establishing a court- and/or judge-specific calendar that attorneys are forced to fit into. Attempts by one judge to establish a unified calendar for all courts appear to be honored more in the breach than in adherence to it. Thus it is not unusual for different judges to be holding criminal court sessions at identical times, virtually guaranteeing that one or both courts will be delayed at some point because two or more attorneys on both prosecution and defense sides are scheduled to be appearing before different judges and courts at the same time. This problem is difficult enough at the "upper court" levels, and has its counterpart in the multiple overlapping courts at the town/village court levels.

At the County level, the scheduling concerns are compounded by the fact that each judge has a secretary and court clerk, Family Court has a Chief Clerk, and County and Supreme Court has a Chief Clerk. At this point, the various secretaries and clerks assigned to specific judges essentially operate as "silos." No one judge, and no one in the clerk's offices, has, or has assumed, the authority to implement a schedule or approach to make the system work more efficiently. However, that is what appears to be needed to minimize the waste of time represented by having defendants and attorneys sitting around waiting for cases to be completed and/or waiting in court for an absent attorney trying to balance needs at two places at the same time.

As one observer commented to us, "The Court needs to be the Court, and not about individual judges or clerks. There needs to be a central schedule that is adhered to, and someone responsible for ensuring that it is." Ideally, the three County judges would

No one has assumed responsibility and authority to impose a master calendar and scheduling that would help ensure a more rational, efficient system to better meet the needs of all participants in it.

agree to commit to an efficient scheduling approach, and then delegate to the Chief Clerks of County and Family Courts the responsibility to develop the details, and hold people accountable for making the process work within the agreed-upon guidelines. With such an approach in place, building on existing calendar efforts that have been tried before, it is likely that cases would be expedited through the system more rapidly, attorneys would be used more efficiently, and fewer cases would exceed the Standards and Goals criteria each month.

Relationship Between Detention and Sentencing

In our 3-month sample of County Court cases (cases opened September – November 2004), three-quarters of the defendants were sentenced to some form of incarceration. About 40% received a sentence to state prison, about 36% received a jail sentence, and about a quarter received a sentence of probation, sometimes combined with a fine or community service. These sentences were clearly significantly correlated to their custody status while awaiting disposition of the cases. They were also related to SCI/Grand Jury filings: Of 32 defendants released ROR or through Pre-Trial Release, only four were indicted, whereas about half of the SCI cases were released without bail.

Of the 17 defendants who received a probation sentence, 14 had been released on their own recognizance or through Pre-Trial Release, and a 15th had made bail. On the other hand, of 30 defendants sentenced to prison, 23 had been detained in jail through the court process. Of the 26 receiving a jail sentence, their unsentenced custody status had been mixed, with 12 spending at least some time in jail, 9 released without bail, and 5 making bail.

Looked at from the opposite perspective of their custody status prior to sentencing, of the 37 who had been detained and had received their sentences, all but two received either a jail (12) or prison (23) sentence. Of the 36 who had been released ROR, on PTR, or by making bail, 15 received a probation sentence, although 7 were sentenced to prison and 14 to jail.

Clearly at the felony charge level, there is a strong relationship between the custody status and the sentence the defendant ultimately receives. What is less clear is the cause-effect relationship: Do the judge and DA have a projected sentence in mind when the custody determination is made, and if someone is

A defendant's custody status awaiting case disposition is clearly related to subsequent sentence received. The cause and effect relationship is less clear. considered a good risk for release or low bail, does that suggest that prison or jail is not needed to send a sentencing signal to the defendant? Or does it operate the other way, such that the custody or release status at the time of sentencing helps to influence what happens to the defendant as the sentencing decision is made? Or some combination of both effects?

Either way, we know from the PSI data discussed below that most defendants are not incarcerated while awaiting case disposition, even though those who are make up a disproportionate share of the County jail population. But many of those who are in jail presentence appear to be the harder core defendants, particularly those who are prosecuted on felony charges. The DA position, and one we even heard from some defense attorneys, is that most of those in jail on felony charges as unsentenced inmates are there for reasonable reasons, and are by and large likely to "need" a more serious sentence involving at least some incarceration. It may be that some of these defendants could in the future be released through expanded use of alternatives to incarceration, as discussed in more detail in subsequent chapters, and/or some could perhaps have reduced levels of incarceration in conjunction with other alternatives at the sentencing stage.

But it is fair to say that most of those we interviewed expressed the view that most of the types of defendants in jail awaiting disposition of felony charges at the County Court level would probably continue to need to be held in custody in the future for at least some period of pre-sentence time, no matter what ATI options are in place. Those expressing such opinions typically added their views that there are others within the jail pre-sentence, on less serious charges from lower courts, who in some cases may not need to be there.

One final note on the relationship between sentencing and custody status. There is not always consistency within and between judges. Of the three County judges, the one who was most likely to have defendants in custody pre-sentence (64% of the cases) was also most likely to pronounce prison sentences (also about two-thirds of the cases) and least likely to sentence to probation (11%). But on the other hand, the judge least likely to have defendants in custody and most likely to have released defendants pre-sentence

without bail (52%) was also quite likely to sentence to prison (44%), although also more likely than the others to use the probation option (28%). The third judge was in the middle on pre-sentence release decisions, but was most likely to sentence defendants to jail (52%), though least likely of the three to use the prison option (28%).

Pre-Sentence Investigations

By law, written Pre-Sentence Investigations (PSIs) are required before a sentence can be pronounced on all felony convictions, youthful offenders and for misdemeanor convictions where a jail sentence of more than 90 days or a probation sentence is anticipated. They can also be requested in any other case, regardless of the requirements. Mandatory PSIs can be waived by consent of the affected parties if imprisonment can be satisfied by time already served, a probation sentence has been agreed to by all parties, or a previous PSI has been prepared in the preceding 12 months. As noted earlier, the Probation Department has been averaging well over 750 completed PSIs each year since 2000, with a high of 851 last year. Typically about half of the PSIs are completed for felony charges and half for misdemeanors.

Administratively, the completion of PSIs is very labor-intensive for the Probation Department. Two Probation Officers are each devoted full-time to exclusively completing PSIs. In addition, most of the rest of the staff, including the Director and the Probation Supervisors, wind up also doing occasional reports. Expectations within the Department are that, on average, a PSI takes a full person-day to complete, including victim impact statements.

A slight majority of PSI requests come from lower City and town/village courts, though the vast majority of County Court dispositions lead to PSI requests.

CGR's analysis of 1,559 PSIs initiated by the Department during 2004 and the first eight months of 2005 indicated that, excluding out-of-county and Family Court cases, just over half of the requests came from lower courts, including 29.4% from the justice courts and 21.5% from the two City Courts. The remaining 49% represented a very high proportion of all dispositions from County Court.

Almost three-quarters of all PSIs are requested for defendants who have not been detained in jail. Across all court levels, PSIs over the past two years have been carried out primarily for defendants who were not being held in custody at the time of the PSI request. As indicated below, almost three-quarters of all PSIs were completed for defendants who had been released on their own recognizance, released through the Pre-Trial Release program, or made bail.

Type of Release/Custody Status	% of PSIs
ROR	60.6
Pre-Trial Release	6.5
Bail	6.5
Jail custody	26.4

It is not clear that the PSI database from which these numbers were derived was always clear about the distinction between ROR and Pre-Trial Release. But assuming that those categories were clearly distinct from release on bail, two-thirds of all defendants for whom PSIs were completed were considered safe enough risks to return to court that they were released with no financial conditions (only 6.5% were released on bail). And, if the ROR/PTR distinction is accurate, most had no reporting or supervisory restrictions on them either.

Despite the high proportions of unsentenced inmates in the County jail, those inmates make up a relatively small proportion of all criminal cases in Steuben. They account for about one of every four defendants for whom PSIs were initiated during the 20 months ending in August 2005.

About 60% of the defendants who had been released pre-sentence (either via ROR, PTR or bail) were involved in lower court cases (City or town/village). By contrast, of those detained during the PSI process, 76% were involved in County Court cases.

The previous chapter indicated that about two-thirds of the time between the felony case filing and the final sentencing in County Court was the time between the PSI request and the sentencing date—an average of about 63 days. That average was slightly higher than the overall average time for all PSIs, regardless of court.

Most defendants in the County who are released awaiting dispositions of their cases were released by lower courts; most of those detained during the PSI process were in County Court.

> Time Needed to Complete PSIs

PSIs over the past two years have taken an average of 8 weeks to complete, though somewhat less in 2005. They are completed more rapidly for defendants in custody, with an average of 40 days in 2005 to date.

year to 51 days to date this year.

Probation has made conscious efforts to produce PSIs more rapidly for those in custody at the time of the request. Over the two-year period, the average days to completion has been 59 for those released to the community, compared to 48 days for those in custody. And this year to date, the average time for those in

calendar weeks.

Relation Between Detention and Sentencing As with the County Court data presented above, across all courts there is also a clear relationship between custody status presentence and the actual sentence handed down.

custody has been further reduced to 40 days, just under six

Across all PSIs initiated in 2004 and through August 2005, the average time to complete the report and return it to the court was

56 days—eight calendar weeks. Thus far in 2005, the time has

been shortened by about a week, from an average of 58.5 days last

About a third of all defendants with PSIs were sentenced to incarceration, including ¾ of those detained pre-sentence, but only about 20% of those released.

Based on the sentencing information available from the PSI database, it appears that about three-quarters of those who were detained in jail awaiting case disposition wound up with an incarceration sentence (about 58% prison and 19% jail). However, of those who were released, only about 6% received prison sentences, and 13% jail, and often the jail sentences were for fewer than 30 days. Most of the sentences for the released defendants consisted of various combinations of probation, conditional discharge, community service, fines and restitution. Across the detained and non-detained groups, a total of roughly a third of all defendants received some level of incarceration as part of their sentence.

Potential for Saving Jail Days

For those for whom PSIs were initiated in 2004, a total of 12,301 days were spent by the 236 defendants detained in jail while awaiting completion of their PSIs. If resource changes were made within the Probation Department, as recommended in the final chapter of this report, CGR believes that it would be possible to significantly reduce the length of time needed to process and complete PSIs for the detained population. We believe that it should be possible to reduce the average time for PSI completion in the future to 20 calendar days for any defendant who is in jail at the time his/her PSI is requested. If that becomes feasible and the norm for all detained

In 2004, more than 12,000 days in jail were spent by 236 defendants awaiting completion of PSIs.

- defendants, the following would be possible, based on sample data from the 2004 PSI database:
- For the estimated 54 of the 236 detained defendants who received probation sentences (23%), 1,800 fewer days in jail would have been possible, based on a reduction from the average of 53 PSI days per person in that group to the proposed norm of 20. That would translate into about 1,800 fewer days in jail per year, or an average of 4.9 beds per day.
- For the 19.2% of the detained defendants (45) who received a jail sentence, a reduction of 2,075 jail days during the PSI process would have been possible, based on a reduction from an average of 66 days waiting for the PSI to the recommended 20. But this reduction in unsentenced days awaiting sentencing would mean nothing unless the sentences themselves were also reduced. Otherwise, days saved while awaiting the sentence would simply be included in the sentence, rather than being counted toward time served. But, as will be recommended in the final chapter, data suggest that about 18 of the 45 defendants in this group were sentenced to a full year in jail, and even the DA suggests that that is usually more than is needed to meet any punishment goals for crimes not serious enough to warrant prison. We believe it is reasonable to conclude that for those 18 sentenced to jail, the sentence could be cut in half, or some other combination of sentence days served, perhaps in conjunction with the use of Electronic Home Monitoring, to be discussed in the next chapter. Such a reduction, even factoring in a one-third reduction in sentencing time for "good time," would be about equivalent to the 2,075 proposed days saved during completion of the PSI process, thus ensuring that these "PSI days" would represent real savings to the jail. This would represent a reduction of 5.7 beds per day throughout the year.

By targeting PSIs for defendants in jail and reducing the time to complete them to 20 days, the jail could experience 10.6 fewer inmates per day, at boarding-out savings of >\$300,000 per year.

This may be a conservative estimate.

Impact of PSIs on Judicial Decisions Together, the proposed reduction in time to process PSIs for defendants in custody at the time of the PSI request—in conjunction with other sentencing adjustments consistent with DA standards, recommendations in this report, and community safety—would have made it possible to reduce the number of inmates in the jail by an overall average of 10.6 defendants per day. Annualized across the entire year, a reduction of that magnitude would have represented an estimated 3,869 defendants who would not have needed to be boarded out to other county jails, at an average of \$80 or more per night. Implementing such a strategy for next year, at \$80 or more per night, could save the County at least \$309,500 during the year, compared with boarding-out costs likely to occur if the status quo continues. ⁵

Since many (and most in County Court) of the PSIs are completed after pleas have been negotiated, the actual impact of many of the PSIs, other than meeting legal requirements, is limited. Most judges acknowledged that once a plea agreement has been reached, the terms are rarely changed. Most add that the pleas and PSI recommendations are usually consistent, but they acknowledge that when they aren't, the initial plea deal is most likely to outweigh the PSI recommendation. Certainly when pleas have not already been negotiated, they have real significance, and judges find them helpful in those situations.

But the general tenor of the discussions with judges was that they wind up requesting PSIs in many more cases than where they are needed or helpful. Several judges said that they are actually already attempting to reduce their requests for PSIs, or will in the future in response to questions raised during this study, to only those where absolutely required by law, and even then to try to find wherever possible opportunities to qualify under the waiver provisions to either eliminate the need for the PSI or to request only conditions of probation, which could substantially reduce the amount of time needed to complete the investigation process.

CGR

⁵ We erred on the conservative side and calculated no savings of jail days for those ultimately sentenced to prison. Many defendants and defense attorneys prefer time spent in jail to count as time served against prison time, thereby reducing actual days spent in prison. However, to the extent that quicker PSI completion expedites the sending of such inmates to prison, this could indeed add to potential jail days saved locally.

It may be possible to place significant limits on the extent to which PSIs are requested in the future.

Judges and attorneys have requested that future PSIs specifically focus on the potential for greater use of ATIs.

Some of those we interviewed from various sectors of the criminal justice system (attorneys, judges, agency staff) suggested that perhaps as many as a quarter to a third of all PSIs could be eliminated in the future. One more extreme perspective regarding how many would be needed in the future is represented by the data suggesting that about one-third of all PSIs conducted in 2004 resulted in jail or prison sentences. Assuming that those sentences would have justified and in many cases mandated the completion of PSIs, one could argue that most of the remaining cases could have dispensed with PSIs, under waiver provisions, or could have settled for a more "bare bones" conditions-of-probation request. Such an extreme position on PSIs is not likely to be considered realistic, but it, along with other suggestions that were made to us during the study, should certainly become part of an active discussion about the extent to which PSIs should be requested, and under what circumstances, in the future.

To the extent that PSIs continue to be requested consistent with law and judges' wishes, several judges and attorneys throughout the county expressed the hope that in the future, the PSIs will more aggressively recommend the use of specific alternatives to incarceration. Several specifically mentioned a desire to consider expanded use of options such as Electronic Home Monitoring, but indicated they often were not aware that the option was available when they were making their sentencing decisions.

Finally, at least at the County Court level, significant discussions have continued concerning whether it would make sense for Probation officers to be part of SCI conferences when plea agreements are being shaped and agreed to, prior to requests for PSIs. Some believe that information provided by Probation staff at such discussions, based on their files on selected defendants, could be invaluable in helping shape the terms of the plea, so that possible disconnects between plea and PSI recommendations might be avoided, and so that the plea can reflect realistic assumptions about what options might be available. Such an approach might even prevent a more thorough investigation from having to be written in some situations. Opponents to this approach suggest that Probation officers in such settings may be asked to provide more information than they would be able to realistically provide, without thorough research and background

Potential for District Courts

Most of the justice courts are small, many with fewer than 25 criminal cases a year, and many with annual personnel budgets of \$5,000 or less.

work that would go into a more formal PSI write-up. Simple resource constraints in terms of officer availability could also be a factor in determining the feasibility of such an approach. It may be that a pilot test of a carefully-designed and limited approach might be appropriate before making any final decision about such an option. More is said about this issue in the final chapter.⁶

As noted earlier, Steuben County is larger geographically than the state of Rhode Island. From a criminal justice perspective, in addition to the County Court and two City Courts, it contains 32 town and six village justice courts, with a total of about 45 different justices/magistrates.

Together the 38 courts processed a total of 4,037 criminal court cases in 2004, an average of 106 per court, ranging from as few as 7 cases to as many as 646. Most of the courts (23, or 60%) dealt with fewer than 75 criminal cases during the course of the year, including 17 with fewer than 50 and 11 with 25 or fewer cases. In addition, the courts processed more than 1,100 civil cases and more than 22,700 vehicle and traffic offenses (nine courts each processed more than 1,000 vehicle and traffic cases during the year).

Most of the courts have one justice, though a few have two, and some towns and villages share justices. Several have little or no ongoing clerical support outside the courtroom. Cumulative personnel budgets for the 32 town courts for 2005 total \$469,625, an average of \$14,676. Nineteen of the 32 town courts (59%) have personal services budgets of \$7,500 or less, including 13 below \$5,000 and six with budgets of \$2,500 or less. Many of the justices view their role as a form of community service, and certainly not as a major source of personal income. (Budget data were not available for the six village courts.)

⁶ Some have also advocated more extensive use of pre-plea investigations (PPIs), which essentially provide similar information as PSIs, but provide the information earlier in the process, in time to more explicitly shape the plea agreement. However, in order to activate PPIs, all parties must agree in advance, and some attorneys have been reluctant to have the information shared at that point in the negotiation process. Data analyzed as part of the PSI analyses indicated that, to the extent PPIs have been used to date, they do not take any more or less time to complete, on average, than do the PSIs. Also, if PPIs were more routinely used, it is likely that PPIs would be done in some cases in which PSIs can ultimately be avoided. However, expansion of PPIs is an option that could be explored further.

Most of the courts have only a single monthly regularly-scheduled court date, with scheduled Assistant District Attorney and Assistant Public Defender appearances, with additional dates scheduled as needed. Some of the larger courts meet more frequently, but the norm for most courts is infrequent scheduled dates.

Several people interviewed during the study indicated that "where you get arrested determines the quality of justice you get in the county." As noted throughout the report, lower-volume courts meet infrequently, and often there is little communication between attorneys and justices in between the scheduled court dates. In several courts, if an attorney misses a scheduled court appearance, an adjournment can mean a potential delay of several weeks in moving the case forward. Some courts make little if any use of email or fax machines to update information in between court appearances, so that opportunities to modify custody status, for example, can be limited.

Justices themselves have little formal legal training. Only four of the more than 40 justices are attorneys. The state, on the other hand, has established a resource center for magistrates that provides support on legal and other issues facing them. Beyond training and orientation provided by the state, and other than monthly meetings of the local magistrates association, which are generally modestly attended, there is little formal orientation and updating of justices on the status of various ATI programs or other practices and initiatives, despite the fact that there is frequent turnover among the magistrates. Little formal orientation is provided by local officials for justices concerning the overall criminal justice system, the interplay of various components within the system, and opportunities for greater collaboration between those components.

the In ca stu vil pe Al of

In order to provide more consistent justice and processing of cases at the local level, several of those we interviewed during the study suggested that consideration be given to grouping the town/village courts into two or three larger district courts in the county, perhaps centered around hubs of Bath, Hornell and Corning. Although the idea is appealing from the perspective of consistency of justice, and enabling more efficient use of ADA and APD

The current justice

court system has the

strengths of being generally inexpensive

and close to the

people, and the

drawback of being

inefficient and

inconsistent in its

application of justice

from an overall systems perspective.

attorneys, it is not likely that such an idea could be implemented, as it would require State approval and would face considerable opposition from the magistrates association and other local officials, who understandably value the local connections that would be lost with any move toward more centralized courts.

Consideration should be given to creating a pilot project whereby neighboring justice courts consider ways of sharing various services and resources.

On the other hand, there is a legitimate question as to whether an exception should be made in a county as large as Steuben, with so many courts of such varying sizes and accessibility. If the reality of creating district courts seems too daunting a prospect to pursue, County, town/village and criminal justice officials may at least wish to consider the potential for creating one or more voluntary pilot projects in which combinations of two or more neighboring justice courts consider ways they can share services by combining resources in various ways. Such efforts may start with something as simple as sharing clerical support services, or sharing the same justice, as occasionally happens now. Consideration might be given to sharing "on call" services so that at least one justice from neighboring courts is available in between court dates to receive and process new information for any of the collaborating courts that becomes available during interim periods. No one we met with offered detailed suggestions for how such a concept might work, but several suggested that the idea was worth pursuing.

7. IMPACT OF EXISTING ALTERNATIVES TO INCARCERATION PROGRAMS

Most of the discussion to this point in the report has focused on a variety of systemic, cross-cutting issues affecting, and affected by, key components of the overall criminal justice system. At this point we shift attention to the impact of the County's various alternatives to incarceration (ATI) programs.

Steuben County has, over the years, developed an array of sound ATI programs that equals or surpasses what many comparable counties have in place. ATI programs are important tools that, used effectively, can help the various components of the criminal justice system (e.g., the courts, DA and PD offices, the jail) operate as effectively and efficiently as possible. By the same token, the best alternative programs will have only limited impact if the context in which they operate—the overall system and its key components—is not strong and working effectively together. The previous chapters have suggested that such a strong system is in place, albeit with areas in which performance can be improved—and is likely to be improved in the future given the expressed interests and openness to change indicated by many throughout this study process.

This chapter focuses on how each of the County's ATI programs works with other components of the criminal justice system, the specific impacts each has on the jail population, and potential opportunities for strengthening the programs individually and collectively. The programs to be discussed are Pre-Trial Release, Intensive Supervision Program, Community Service, and Electronic Home Monitoring. In addition, although it is not always considered an ATI program, we also discuss the County and City Drug Court programs, given that they do operate as alternative options available to selected arrestees within the system.

With the exception of Drug Court, each of these programs is operated under the overall supervision of the Probation Department, and even the County Drug Court program receives significant staff support from Probation. We were not asked to evaluate the overall Probation Department and what in some ways

is the ultimate alternatives program, basic probation supervision. Such a broad assessment of the department was beyond the scope of the study as outlined in the initial request for proposals. Nonetheless, it is impossible to address the alternatives programs and the overall criminal justice system without making reference to, and offering suggestions about, the Probation Department,⁷ given the crucial and wide-ranging impact it has throughout the system.

We begin the alternatives discussion at the front, or pre-sentence, part of the system with the Pre-Trial Release program.

PRE-TRIAL RELEASE PROGRAM

The County's Pre-Trial Release (PTR) program is designed to facilitate the non-financial release of low-risk defendants who might otherwise be held in custody while awaiting disposition of their cases—and to help ensure that those released appear for all scheduled court appearances. The program is operated by a single person, a Probation Assistant, who is responsible for interviewing new unsentenced jail inmates each morning, Monday through Friday. Information is obtained and subsequently verified concerning various aspects of the defendant's background, living and employment arrangements, criminal history, and other information related to community ties that help the program assess the defendant's probability of remaining in the community and appearing at any scheduled court appearances until his/her criminal case reaches final disposition.

Information obtained from the interview with the defendant, plus criminal history checks and any new information obtained in the verification process, is summarized and converted into a score and numerical "Risk Level" on a screening instrument. That information is forwarded on to the court with jurisdiction in the

_

⁷ In addition to the discussion of Probation's ATI programs, the previous chapter also included a discussion of the Pre-Sentence Investigation process operated by the Probation Department.

defendant's case. Typically the information about the defendant's probability/risk of appearing or not appearing for court appearances is mailed or faxed to the appropriate court, usually within a day of completing the initial interview in the jail. The Probation Assistant rarely appears in court to present or expand upon the information being presented in the screening summary document.

Beyond the program's important role of gathering, verifying, interpreting and presenting information to the courts, PTR also carries out a supervisory role. For defendants assigned by courts to PTR, the program monitors their whereabouts and actions between the time of release from custody to the program and final case disposition. For the most part, this monitoring/supervisory role involves having defendants reporting on their status to the Probation Assistant, typically on a weekly basis, usually by phone but occasionally in person, if requested by the judge. Occasionally, especially for more serious felony charges, additional conditions of release may be added for the program to supervise, including electronic home monitoring. The program is able to monitor about 80 released defendants at any one time, with about 60 as the norm.

Impact on Court Decisions

Between 2000 and 2004, PTR was responsible for monitoring/supervising an average of 153 defendants each year, although the numbers of new defendants referred to the program ranged from a low of 107 in one year to as many as 182 in another. Using data supplied by the program, CGR conducted a more detailed analysis of PTR activity during 2004 and for cases interviewed during the first eight months of 2005. They indicate, as shown in Table 9, that the numbers released in 2004 were consistent with the five-year average, though if trends during the first part of the year continue, the 2005 total of releases to the program would decline somewhat to about 147.

Table 9: Pre-Trial Release Program Activity and Court Actions, 2004 Through August 2005

ptr action	2004-05 total	2004 cases	2005 cases*
Interviewed	941	556	385
Eligible	405	181	224
Recommended	428	198	230
Recommended/	192 (44.9%)	110 (55.6%)	82 (35.7%)
Released			
Not Recomm'd/	65	49	16
Released			
Total Released	257	159	98

Source: CGR analysis of data supplied by PTR program, with database created by Steuben County Information Technology Department.

NOTE: Recommended/released means PTR recommended person as a good candidate for release, and defendant was released by a judge to PTR program supervision. Not recommended/released means defendant was released to program even though not recommended. Those interviewed represent those who had not already made bail before the PTR process was completed.

Judicial Acceptance of PTR Recommendations

Over the past 20 months, less than half (45%) of all program recommendations for release from custody have been followed by the courts. Unfortunately, the program's data do not indicate how many of those defendants who were recommended but not released to the program wound up remaining in jail throughout the pretrial period, and how many may have made bail at some point. Thus the actual proportion of defendants who were released from jail at some point prior to their disposition was almost certainly higher than these numbers would suggest. Nonetheless, the data suggest that many defendants spend time in pre-disposition custody beyond the point when PTR has interviewed them, due to significant differences in perceptions of risk of failure to appear for subsequent court appearances between PTR and its risk assessment mechanism and the judge making the actual release decision.

Judges release fewer than 45% of defendants recommended for release by PTR.

On the other side of the coin, a number of defendants are released by judges to the program—defendants whom PTR has not recommended for release. In the past 20 months, 65 defendants—one quarter of all defendants released to PTR during that period—have been released by judges despite non-release recommendations by the program.

One quarter of all PTR releases had not been recommended for release by the program.

^{*} Defendants initially interviewed between January 1 and August 31, 2005.

No right or wrong/good or bad judgments should be implied by these data. Judges are under no obligation to follow PTR's recommendations, and both parties have different responsibilities in carrying out their functions which make disagreements all but certain. Judges are obligated to take into consideration many factors, legal and otherwise, that are not part of the purview of PTR. And in many cases, they are heavily influenced by arguments from the District Attorney. Most observers indicated that DA recommendations are especially influential, compared to those of PTR, in many of the justice courts.

Nonetheless, with fewer than half of the PTR release recommendations followed, and 25% of those who are released to the program involving defendants whom the program did not recommend, the data suggest that more effective communications may be needed between judges and PTR, and that it may be time to revisit the criteria used in making the release recommendations. It may also be important in the future to consider having a representative from PTR appear in courts, to the extent possible, and clarify the rationale behind the release defend recommendations—as happens in many other release programs around the country. The ability to do so would obviously have significant staffing implications, and is made especially difficult by the multiple courts and scheduling issues described earlier, but clearly the data suggest that at least some serious consideration should be given to determining why there is currently a significant degree of disconnect between PTR and judges in determining who gets released, and in what ways, in the County's courts at this time.

Impact of Changing PTR Screening Approach Perhaps of even greater significance is the marked difference reflected in Table 9 above in the 2004 and 2005 program activities and rates of agreement between PTR and judges. Early this year, the program changed its screening procedures and the process by which it determined eligibility for release. The revised procedures have had the effect of making more defendants eligible, and as a result, by the end of August, substantially more defendants had been determined to be eligible, and had been recommended for release, than in all of 2004. (The program each year makes release recommendations for a few defendants who do not meet technical eligibility standards, but who the program believes are good release

Numbers of PTR
release
recommendations are
up this year, but
proportions of actual
releases by judges are

down dramatically.

candidates based on other extenuating circumstances identified during the review process.)

More striking than the increases in recommendations, however, are the numbers and proportions of actual releases. As the number of recommendations has dramatically increased, the proportion of those recommendations to be accepted and defendants actually released by judges has plummeted from about 56% last year to about 36% through August this year. Thus judges are expressing more skepticism about the recommendations than was the case before.

These data reflect concerns expressed by several judges and attorneys with whom we met during the study. Several expressed concerns about the new form, and at least three judges indicated that, because of uneasiness about the information provided under the new format, they had refused to release defendants this year that they were virtually certain would have been released in previous years Concerns about the form are discussed in more detail below.

Wide Variation in Release Rates Across Courts

In many courts, 40% or fewer of the PTR release recommendations are followed by judges, and the proportion has declined even more this year.

Even before the change in the program's screening instrument, many judges were releasing relatively small proportions of the defendants recommended by the program. A few courts over the past two years have released 60% or more of the defendants recommended for release—e.g., Hornell City, Canisteo and Wayland villages, Erwin and Hornellsville towns. But in several other courts, fewer than 35% of the recommendations for release were followed—e.g., in County Court, and the towns of Addison, Bath and Wayland. In large courts such as the village of Bath and the Corning City Court, about 40% of all recommendations were followed. At the same time, judges in Hornell, Bath village and Steuben County courts all released to PTR supervision significant numbers of defendants who had not been recommended for release by the program.

Furthermore, in almost every court with as many as five PTR recommendations thus far this year, the proportion of recommendations actually released to PTR has declined from last year's percentage, often significantly.

It is also interesting to note that in cases in which judges estimated in our interviews what percentage of PTR recommendations they followed in making their release decisions, the actual proportions reflected in program data were almost always considerably lower than the judges estimated.

High Percentage of Recommendations and Releases are Felonies It should be noted that the program and the courts have not shied away from releasing defendants with serious charges facing them. Some 52% of PTR's recommendations to release involved felonies. And among the 257 actual judicial decisions to release a defendant, 57% involved defendants facing felony arrest charges.

Program Success Rates

Of those released to PTR, 86% remained successfully on release without any disqualifying incident throughout the pre-disposition process. Only 2.7% of the defendants were terminated from the program because of a failure to appear (FTA) in court. FTA rates should be the program's primary measure of success, given its goal of ensuring court appearances. Such an FTA rate is quite low compared to most other PTR programs nationally. Another 6.5% of the released defendants were terminated due to a rearrest while in PTR, and 4.9% were terminated because of failure to adhere to program requirements.

The PTR program has experienced a low FTA rate, especially among those recommended for release.

It is interesting to note that the success rate among those defendants actually recommended for release by PTR was 90%, compared to 83% among those released to the program despite a non-release PTR recommendation. In particular, the FTA rate was 8.3% for the non-recommended defendants, compared with 1.1% for those recommended and released. (Note that even the 8.3% rate among non-recommended defendants only represented a total of three defendants failing to appear in 2004 and 2005 to date.)

Impact on Jail

Determining the impact of Pre-Trial Release on the jail population is difficult. It is reasonable to conclude that some of those released to the program would, in the program's absence, have ultimately made bail and been released prior to disposition of their cases. Thus the program probably contributes to a reduction in jail days, but not a total prevention of custody in such cases. Also, defendants who are released but subsequently sentenced to jail or prison may have only postponed their incarceration days, since had they been held in custody prior to disposition of their case,

they would have received credit for that time against their subsequent sentence. Since there is no way of knowing if and when the defendant would have made bail without the program, and since the program does not maintain data on subsequent dispositions and sentences imposed upon conviction, it is not possible to make accurate determinations of jail days reduced as a result of being released to PTR. In addition, the program does not always record whether termination from the program occurs when a defendant agrees to a plea, or continues in the program until the sentencing date.

Such caveats notwithstanding, we know that for those released in 2004 and 2005 whose cases had been disposed of, the average length of time on release was about 107 days. The average was less than that, about 93 days for those released through County Court, around 115 days for the two City Courts, and about 105 days for the combined justice courts. Average days on release differed very little for those recommended versus not recommended for release. For those released to the program in 2004, a total of 17,075 days were spent between the release date

and the closing of the case.

Our analysis of PSI data indicated that about 20% of those released pretrial subsequently received jail or prison sentences. Applying such a percentage to the 159 releases in 2004, that would suggest about 30 of those might have served sentenced incarceration time. If we assume that those 30 would each have been sentenced to more than the average of 107 days they spent on pretrial release, and that those 107 days would therefore have not been saved but would have been spent as part of the sentence, then their 3,210 days (30 defendants times the average of 107 days on release) would need to be subtracted from the 17,075 days on release for the 2004 released defendants, thereby leaving 13,865 days in jail potentially saved. This represents the equivalent of about 38 fewer inmates in jail every day of the year. assuming a further reduction of those totals, based on the assumption that they would not have all been spent in jail because the defendant would have obtained release at some point by making bail, it nonetheless seems reasonable to conclude that significant numbers of jail days have been saved as a result of PTR's existence.

More than 17,000 days were spent on release by PTR defendants in 2004, an average of about 107 days per defendant.

As many as 38 fewer inmates were in jail each day as a result of PTR, though the actual number is probably smaller, given assumptions that many defendants would have made bail without the program.

Impact of New Screening Approach

Some judges have concerns about the new PTR screening instrument, and suggest that it has contributed to fewer releases, particularly because of the absence of criminal history information.

It could not be determined definitively to what extent the reduction in proportion of PTR recommendations actually resulting in releases in 2005 has been a direct result of the introduction of the new screening instrument earlier this year, but it seems highly likely to have been a factor in the decline, based on comments made by judges and attorneys. Several judges specifically referenced cases in which they had made conscious decisions not to release a defendant based on the current form that they were virtually certain would have been released in previous years. In part such decisions were influenced by the fact that, with the current screening form, there is little information provided to judges about number and type of prior convictions. The absence of such information, which was previously summarized in the former screening summary report, may prevent or at least delay release in some cases, where lower court judges are reluctant to release a defendant on felony charges without knowing about prior convictions, given the law which limits what lower court judges can do in felony cases with two or more previous convictions.

Other complaints about the new form centered on the overall lack of detailed information it provides, compared with the perception that the previous form provided more specific information about community ties, sources of information, and other information judges indicated were helpful to them in making their release decisions. A few judges went so far as to say that the new approach undermined their trust in the PTR recommendations, when such trust had always been assumed before. On the other hand, some liked the new risk level scale, even as they expressed concerns about the way in which the scores underlying the scale were derived. Most judges and attorneys expressed the wish that some compromise or hybrid between the old and new forms might be developed in the future.

COMMUNITY SERVICE SENTENCING

The County's Community Service Sentencing program (CS) is ostensibly an alternative to incarceration, designed to provide punishment, a positive learning experience for the defendant, and a level of accountability for the defendant's criminal activity, while benefiting community agencies. Defendants are assigned to specific work sites where they carry out assigned tasks, under supervision of a work site supervisor and, at least in broad terms, the overall supervision of the CS program coordinator. Program oversight is provided by a Senior Probation Officer, who spends about 20% of her time focusing on the CS program, and the other 80% on the Electronic Home Monitoring program discussed later in the chapter.

The program is available to serve all courts throughout the county, and defendants charged with both felonies and misdemeanors are eligible. The program is labeled an ATI, and at least in theory each 100 hours of CS sentencing is the equivalent of 30 days in jail. In some cases the program is in reality an alternative to incarceration, but as will be seen below, it is probably more accurately described as an alternative sentencing option, and the alternatives are often fines or restitution or conditional discharge, and not necessarily incarceration.

Declining Use of CS Program

Several of those with whom we met during the study expressed concerns about declines over the past several years in the use by the courts of the CS option. Two sets of Probation Department data reflect somewhat different numbers of convicted offenders sentenced to participate in the CS program in recent years, but both reflect similar downward trends since the peak program usage in 1998. Since then, as shown in Table 10, both the number of offenders in the program, and total community service hours worked by those offenders, have declined, until a recent reversal in 2004. But analysis of data from the first half of 2005 suggests that even the 2004 spurt may have been short-lived.

Table 10: Use of Steuben County Community Service Sentencing Program, 1998 Through mid-2005

	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005*
Defendants	97	62	58	52	63	46	85	31
in Program								
CS Hours	9738	9655	8607	4740	NA	5192	6613	NA
Served								

Source: Steuben County Probation Department Annual Reports and undated graph; 2005 data based on CGR analysis of CS spreadsheet of program participants from 2002 through mid-2005.

limited staffing.

Given the number of arrests and convictions in Steuben County each year, and the number of separate courts, the number of convicted offenders sentenced to doing community service through the County's program has been very small in recent years.

Some justices/judges indicated that they rarely think of using the

CS program because it has not been very visible in recent years, with relatively little supervision, limited follow-through of program supervision with the offenders or employers at the work sites, and work sites which may not always be easily accessible to offenders, given their locations. Some town/village justices also noted that in some cases they are making use of community service sentencing, but are not asking the County program to monitor program compliance. Several local justices indicated that they assign CS to work sites set up within their jurisdictions, in some cases with local internal monitoring mechanisms set up. Some said that they prefer such arrangements to adding to the burdens of the Probation Department, and that they prefer local community service sites to what they perceive to be relatively limited

Thus it appears that although use of the County CS program has declined in recent years compared with its peak in the late 1990s, CS is actually being used more often as a sentencing option than program data would indicate, when reported local justice court efforts are factored in. Unfortunately, no comprehensive data were available from the local city and justice courts concerning the extent to which such sentences are currently being used and monitored at those levels.

monitoring currently available in the County program due to its

Although the CS
program appears to be
declining in use,
unknown numbers of
community service
sentences are imposed
in courts which
monitor offender
progress directly,
rather than through
Probation staff.

^{*} Data for first half of 2005

Users of CS Program

Analysis by CGR of data supplied by the Probation Department's CS program of participants (from part of 2002 through mid-2005) indicated the following about those sentenced to the County program:

- Offenders were almost evenly divided between those sentenced to misdemeanor and felony offenses: Of the 203 admitted to the CS program during that time, 105 were convicted of felony offenses and 98 of misdemeanors.
- ❖ Of those in the CS program, 52% were sentenced by County Court. The Corning and Hornell City Courts sentenced 28 individuals to the program during those years (15 and 13, respectively), and the town and village courts of Bath and the Erwin town court together sentenced an additional 27 offenders to be assigned to a work site and monitored by the County program. All the other 35 justice courts sentenced a total of only 42 convicted offenders to the CS program during the entire elapsed period of roughly three years—an average of just over one offender per court for the entire period of time. As noted, unknown numbers of additional offenders may have performed community service in other settings, supervised in other ways, in at least some of those courts, including some of those that also continue to use the County program.

Little use is currently being made of the County CS program by the justice courts.

- ❖ The CS option has most frequently been used with younger offenders. Since 2002, 57% of those in the program have been younger than 25 when they entered the program, including 45% ages 20 or younger. Only 8% have been 45 or older.
- The vast majority of program participants, like those in the overall criminal justice system, have been males (81%).

Consistently over the years, and fairly consistently across different courts, about three-quarters of those sentenced to the CS program have met the terms of the CS agreement and successfully completed the terms of the sentence.

Successful Completion of Program

Including all those who had completed their sentence by the time of our analyses, some subgroups appear to have been more successful in completing their CS sentences than others. In particular, 85% of females in the program were successful, compared with 72% of the males (although only 19 females had

been in the program and completed their sentence terms during the study period). Those who were undertaking CS in conjunction with a formal probation sentence were more successful than those completing their CS as part of a conditional discharge sentence. Those convicted of misdemeanors and felonies were similarly successful: 76% and 73%, respectively.

Hours Assigned and Completed

The offenders sentenced to CS under the overall supervision of the County's CS program during the 2002-2005 period of time were assigned a total of about 29,500 community service hours to complete (an average of about 145 hours per offender). Of those whose cases had been closed (either by successful or unsuccessful completion), 21,440 hours had been assigned, with more than 16,000 hours successfully completed. The proportion of hours successfully completed (75%) is consistent with the proportion of offenders successfully completing the program.

About three-fourths of those sentenced to CS successfully complete their sentences. In the case of felony offenders, the more hours assigned, the lower the success rate. Two-thirds of those convicted of misdemeanor charges were sentenced to completion of 100 or fewer hours of community service. Few of those with felony convictions got away so lightly: 27% received 100 or fewer hours, compared with 53% who were sentenced to 200 hours or more.

The number of hours initially assigned clearly had a significant impact on the rate of successful terminations among those convicted of felonies. Of those assigned fewer than 200 hours of community service, 86% were successful in meeting the conditions of the sentence; among those assigned 200 or more hours, 62.5% were successful, and if 250 or more hours were assigned, only 47% were successfully completed. Of the 20 unsuccessful convicted felons sentenced to CS, 15 had been assigned 200 or more hours.

Program Impact on Jail Days Avoided

In theory at least, it should be possible to have a relatively clear indication on the record of the CS impact on jail days saved as a result of community service sentences. Such a record could be possible if judges would state as part of any CS sentences whether or not the sentence is in lieu of jail (and how many days). In fact, there is no such information consistently developed and maintained by the program. So any estimate of jail days saved is left to the discretion of the program, based loosely on the application of the NYS Division of Probation and Correctional

Alternatives formula of 100 CS hours equivalent to 30 jail days saved.

However, based on comments received from a wide range of officials involved in various aspects of the criminal justice system, including those most directly involved in the process of providing information and making decisions about community service sentencing, it is clear that the "one size fits all" nature of the state formula is simply not appropriate for use across all situations, all courts, and all judges. Too many different assumptions, judicial philosophies and individual case factors shape the decisions about each case to be able to apply one formula consistently across the board.

Analysis of the CS data from 2002 through mid-2005 indicates a total of 16,094 community service hours served during that time. Using the 100:30 ratio to start the process of estimating any possible jail days saved by the program, reducing the derived days by a third for "good time," and annualizing the remaining days to come up with an annual number of beds saved per day, yields an estimate of as many as 4.4 beds per day. However, few judges estimated that more than a third of their sentences to CS were true alternatives to incarceration, and some estimated even fewer than that. Thus for planning and resource allocation purposes we suggest that about one third of the formula-derived number be used as a more realistic estimate of the impact the CS program as currently constituted has on the jail population. Using these assumptions, we estimate that the CS program currently reduces the County jail population by the equivalent of about 1.5 inmates per day.

The CS program reduces the County jail population by an estimated 1.5 persons per day.

Issues to be Addressed

Even if the CS program has relatively little impact at this point on the jail population, it should not be concluded that it has little or no value. Our analyses suggest that the program currently has some limited value as an alternative to incarceration, but by all accounts has a much more significant value in addressing needs of individual offenders within the criminal justice system, in providing courts with a mechanism for making offenders more accountable for their criminal actions, and in providing services to numerous agencies throughout the county.

There appear to be opportunities to make more extensive use of the CS option among a number of courts in the future. It would be helpful to develop a means of having judges specify when they actually use CS in lieu of jail time, so the estimates used in this evaluation can either be confirmed or refuted with more accurate data on a systemwide basis.

Our overall conclusion is that at the present time, the CS program is perceived to be an effective sentencing alternative which provides courts with "an accountability tool" which many of them value—but that it currently only rarely acts as a true alternative to *incarceration* per se. It has the potential at all court levels to become more of an alternative to incarceration in the future.

For that to happen, the program will need more attention than it has been able to receive in recent years due to staffing reductions within the Probation Department. As a result, there is currently little visibility for the program. The program coordinator is able to provide very little time on site to coordinate with and monitor progress of offenders sentenced to the program, and little time to coordinate with site supervisors. There has also been little time to develop additional job sites in different areas of the county.

The County should decide how serious it is about maintaining and strengthening this program. It has the potential to expand to reach more offenders, both as a sentencing option and as an alternative which could help keep perhaps another two to three offenders per day out of jail. It seems unrealistic to expect much more than that. But with a combined current plus future savings of perhaps three to four beds per day, along with the other values offered by the program, it may be worth focusing continued attention on the program. If so, expanded staffing would be needed for the program to become viewed as more relevant by those making decisions about sentences within the system. Further recommendations are made concerning the program's future in the final chapter of the report.

Community Service
has value as a
sentencing option, but
has the potential to
become more of an
alternative to jail.

Intensive Supervision Program

The Intensive Supervision Program (ISP) operated by the Probation Department provides more intensive, targeted supervision with a smaller caseload than with "regular" Probation supervision. The County obtains about \$50,000 from the State each year to help offset staff costs related to this program, which is clearly focused on keeping offenders out of jail and especially prison. As opposed to the Community Service program, in which it is clear that many offenders in the program would not have been incarcerated if not in CS, ISP is clearly a true alternative in lieu of incarceration. From the County's perspective, the key question is to what extent the incarceration the program attempts to prevent is a jail or prison sentence. The State's rationale for providing funds for ISP is the assumption that most of those accepted into the program would otherwise wind up sentenced to prison, at added costs to the State.

The program is staffed full-time by a Senior Probation Officer, working with a caseload of 25 to 30 high-risk offenders. Most receive 9 to 18 months of intensive supervision, sometimes supplemented by various types of support services and treatment. For those who are unsuccessfully terminated from the program, the next stop is usually prison. Even those who are successfully terminated typically have additional "regular" probation to complete.

Users of ISP

All of those in ISP have been convicted of felonies in County Court. This is the only ATI program that has no routine connections with any of the other courts throughout the county. All offenders admitted to the program since 2002 have been convicted of D or E felony offenses. About a third have been convicted of DWI charges, and four others of a charge of Aggravated Unlawful Use of a Motor Vehicle. Many have previously also had significant regular supervision by a Probation Officer. Such routine supervision has typically had minimal effect, and intensive supervision is viewed as a last opportunity to avoid an incarceration sentence, in many cases to prison. Although there is no clear documentation of how many of the ISP offenders would have gone to prison were it not for the sentence to the

alternative program, Probation officials have typically estimated about 75%, with the other 25% expected to have been sentenced to jail.

Most of those in the program were recommended for ISP as a result of a Pre-Sentence Investigation. However, program data suggest that of 61 new admissions to the program over the past three to four years, 28 were sentenced to the program by County judges even though ISP was not recommended in the PSI report.

Size of Program Limited by Staffing

Because of limited staffing, judges and ISP have been limited in the ability to admit new offenders into the program. Several years ago, the ISP was staffed by two full-time officers, and the program maintained active caseloads of between 40 and 50 offenders. With Probation staff cutbacks, the ISP caseload was reduced, as positions within the Department were reallocated, and the ISP staffing was cut to one Senior officer, with a targeted caseload of 25 to 30. However, as shown below in Table 11, total numbers of offenders served by the program have stabilized in recent years at around 35 a year, with an average of about 15 new offenders admitted each year, although 17 new admissions had already occurred mid-way through 2005.

Table 11: Offenders Served by Steuben County Intensive Supervision Program, 2001 Through mid-2005

caseloads	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005*
Served During Year	50	NA	35	33	NA
Entered During Year	NA	10	18	14	17

Source: Steuben County Probation Department Annual Reports; data on entrants during the year based on CGR analysis of ISP spreadsheet of program participants, 2002-2005.

NOTE: "Served During Year" refers to anyone served by the program during the year, including carryovers from the previous year. "Entered During Year" are those offenders admitted during the year. They are also included in the "Served During Year" totals. NA: Data not available for that year.

When the program had two staff, each officer had a caseload of 20 to 25, and each covered about half of the county, so that travel time could be minimized. Now, with one staff, the Senior Probation Officer must cover the entire large county, and spends an average of about an hour a day just traveling from place to place. In order to make the schedule work, it becomes somewhat routinized, and the opportunity for surprise drop-in visits has largely given way to more predictable patterns that make it

^{*} Data for first half of 2005.

relatively easy for an offender to avoid detection of suspicious activities, surprise drug tests, etc.

Although the Senior PO currently maintains a caseload of between 25 and 30 at any given time, the "active" caseload is often lower than that. That is, anyone awaiting disposition of a pending violation of probation charge may be jailed and require subsequent limited-to-no ISP services, but still be "taking up space" on the ISP caseload and preventing other offenders from being added to the program. With violations often taking several months to resolve, this means that the program has significant limits placed on whom it can serve, since there is now no flexibility to expand the caseload to, in effect, replace the violator until the violation is resolved. With few incentives for the criminal justice system to expedite the violation case compared to other more immediate priorities, Probation is hampered in its ability to offer additional ISP openings to judges who may be interested in sentencing someone else to the program.

Moreover, because of the time it often takes to access the support services and treatment frequently needed by offenders in the program, they often remain active participants in ISP for long periods of time, thereby further preventing or delaying new admissions. It is not unusual for ISP participants to span two or three calendar years while in the program.

Judges have indicated an interest in using ISP more often if space in the program were known to be available.

The net effect of all these factors is that judges have begun to view ISP as a sentencing option frequently not available to them ("out of sight, out of mind"). Indeed all of the County Court judges indicated that they would use ISP more often if they perceived that it was more available in the future—and would use it in lieu of local jail time more frequently.

Successful Completion of Program

Based on CGR's analysis of data supplied by the program for all offenders admitted to the program since 2002, 40 who have entered during that time have completed the program, with 21 still active at the time of the analyses. Of the 40, 16 (40%) were considered by the program to have successfully completed ISP, not having had any violations of probation, and most had been returned to regular probation, per terms of the ISP agreement. The other 60% had been unsuccessfully terminated, typically because of a violation of probation while in the program. For the

40% of those who have completed ISP were successful, thereby avoiding incarceration.

successful 16, incarceration was successfully avoided as a result of ISP intervention. For those who did not successfully complete the program, jail or prison either ensued, or was likely to occur as a result of the resolution of the pending violation of probation charge against them. In the meantime, most were detained in jail awaiting disposition of their violation charges.

One County judge has been particularly willing to sentence offenders to ISP even though the program was not recommended as part of the pre-sentence investigation. Most of those not recommended did not complete the program successfully, although the overall difference between recommended and not recommended through the PSI process was not substantial: 41% of those recommended were successful, compared with 33% of those not recommended.

CGR suggests that Probation should do a very careful assessment of the types of offenders with whom it has the greatest likelihood of being successful with ISP, and share the findings with County judges. Such an assessment, along with PSI recommendations based on such information—and judicial decisions based on the recommendations—should have the effect of improving the program's track record with high-risk offenders in the future.

Program Impact on Jail

Offenders sentenced to ISP would otherwise be receiving an incarceration sentence of some type, but it is not always clear whether that sentence would be to state prison or to the County jail. Such an indication should be clear from program and/or court records, but judges often do not identify what the ISP sentence is in lieu of. Thus the determination of the impact of the program on the local jail population becomes muddied.

In discussions with the County Court judges, they indicated that the alternatives to ISP would have been a mixture of prison and jail, but it was difficult to determine specific proportions without reviewing the individual case files. CGR's overall impression was that they did not necessarily see the program only being used in lieu of prison, and that it was not unusual to use it as an alternative to a jail sentence. On the other hand, Probation officials estimated, based on their experiences with the program, that about 75% of those sentenced to ISP would otherwise have received a prison sentence.

In our assessment of the program's impact on the jail population, we used the more conservative Probation estimates of 75% of any incarceration days saved accruing to prisons rather than the local jail. That would be fairly consistent with the State's financial support of the program. But the greater limiting factor on the extent to which the program impacts on the jail population is the successful completion rates of those in the program. For the 60% who are currently unsuccessfully terminating from the program, there is no positive impact on incarceration rates and days in custody, either prison or jail. Unless and until the program is able to increase the successful termination rate, the impact on the jail population will be somewhat limited.

That having been said, it is nonetheless true that the program, even at a 40% success rate, does have some impact in reducing the jail population, even if we assume 75% of the incarceration impact is on prisons. The assumption is that all 40% would have been incarcerated somewhere had they not been sentenced to ISP, so for the successful 40%, that success translates directly into reduced days in jail and prisons. Based on our analyses of the data and a series of helpful discussions with and assumptions offered by Probation supervisory staff knowledgeable about the program, after annualizing the data and making allowances for reductions for good time, CGR estimates that under current program operations, ISP reduces the jail population by an average of 1.7 inmates each day.

Depending upon assumptions about sentencing options, ISP reduces the jail population by between 1.7 and 4.7 inmates per day, based on current program success rates.

We also calculated less conservative estimates of jail days saved, based on the more general sense of the judges that they may be more likely to use ISP as an alternative to jail than was assumed by Probation. If the assumption as a result is made that, instead of the 25% jail rate suggested by Probation, half of all sentences to ISP would otherwise have resulted in a jail rather than prison, the number of reduced inmates would increase to 4.7, given current program success rates. With possible future improvements in the program selection and recommendation process, greater adherence by judges to the PSI recommendations concerning ISP, and hopeful future improvements in ultimate program success rates, these numbers could grow even higher.

Offenders terminated from ISP for violations of probation spent an average of 95.5 days in jail awaiting resolution of their violation charges.

It should also be noted that 21 offenders terminated from ISP for violations of probation spent a total of 2,006 days in jail awaiting resolution of their violation charges—an average of 95.5 days per case. Those in the criminal justice system acknowledge that there is little incentive to expedite these cases, as most are assumed likely to wind up in prison on the charges. Defendants (and their lawyers) are often just as happy if they sit in the local jail accumulating time served while delaying the anticipated transfer to prison. However, these defendants represent a significant additional drain on the jail. If the 2,006 days are apportioned across the three-year period covered by the analyses, these days would equate to about 1.8 inmates each day of the year waiting for something to happen.

In light of more than 2,000 jail days spent awaiting resolution of probation violations, for just this one program, it is worth an examination of whether the program, judges and others in the criminal justice system could do anything differently to minimize such violations and their impact on the jail.

Bottom line: The questions for the future of the ISP are not about whether the program is an alternative to incarceration, but about its future success rate, how the program and judiciary can do a better job of making appropriate selections of offenders in the first place, and what types of sentences—and ultimate levels of incarceration—it helps avoid.

ELECTRONIC HOME MONITORING

Electronic Home Monitoring (EHM) uses technology that can be used to monitor the whereabouts of pretrial defendants as well as convicted offenders. The County currently leases 35 electronic devices that can send signals to determine if the person is where he/she is supposed to be at any given time, as matched against an approved schedule. EHM, even with the costs per unit and the staff cost of monitoring the program, is perceived to be a cost effective, safe alternative to housing the defendants/offenders in jail.

EHM is the only County ATI program that helps avoid jail days at both the unsentenced and sentenced/convicted levels. It is available as a pretrial or sentencing option to all criminal courts throughout the county, as well as occasionally to persons involved in Family Court proceedings. The program is designed to enable persons who would otherwise be confined in jail to remain in the community, carrying out most basic activities of life, but with restrictions on where they can and cannot be at specified times. EHM enables the person being monitored to retain a job, tend to family obligations and, as approved, attend services or treatment, but with appropriate restrictions designed to limit any "unproductive" activities. The average person on EHM spends more than 100 days being monitored.

Program oversight is provided by a Senior Probation Officer, who spends about 80% of her time monitoring the activities of those in the program, placing and removing the units when defenders/offenders enter or leave the program, updating schedules, and interacting with Behavioral Interventions, which is responsible for the technological monitoring activities. (As noted earlier, the remaining 20% of her time is spent overseeing the Community Service program.) Users of the EHM devices are charged a fee to help offset the costs of operating the program, and are charged on a sliding-scale basis, depending on income levels. No one is denied access to the EHM option because of inability to pay. Over the past three years, program data indicate that about 20% of those using the monitoring devices paid no fees, with about \$17,000 in fees collected from other users of the program.

Fluctuating Use of the Program

Use of EHM has fluctuated from year to year, both in terms of total users and the proportion of potential days the devices were in operation, as shown below in Table 12. The highest usage of EHM in the past 10 years occurred in 2001, when there were 81 in the program. Usage between 2001 and 2004 steadily declined, dropping 37% to 51 users in 2004. The number of users through July of this year suggests that this year's total may return close to the 2003 level.

Table 12: Users and Amount of Use of Steuben County Electronic Home Monitoring Program, 2001 - 2005

Indicators of ehm use	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005*
# Using Services	81	76	63	51	37
EHM Active Days	NA	NA	9,203	6,721	4,288
% of Potential Use	NA	NA	72.0	52.6	66.3
Average Users per Month	NA	NA	30.8	23.3	28.4

Source: Steuben County Probation Department undated graphs; Active Days based on billing data supplied by Probation; 2005 data and % of use based on CGR analysis of data supplied by Probation.

If all 35 of the County's units were in use and accessible by criminal courts every day of the year, an annual potential of 12,775 EHM days would theoretically be possible, if none ever had to be serviced, if there were no down days between end of one case and opening of another, etc. That theoretical possibility will never be attainable, but it does suggest the maximum potential usage of the existing system. Data for the past three years indicate that actual use of the monitoring devices falls far short of potential. During the first six months of 2003, the program was used heavily, with an average of 36 different users for at least a portion of each month and overall usage reaching 82% of capacity, before falling back to 62% in the second half of the year. Usage continued to decline throughout 2004, when just over half of the combined units' potential capacity was utilized by the courts throughout the county, and the average number of users per month dropped to Some increases occurred in the first half of this year, with proportion of capacity in use rebounding to about two-thirds of potential and an increase in the numbers of users per month.

The use of EHM has declined in recent years, and there is considerable unused capacity within the EHM system.

Primary Users of EHM

In 2003 and 2004, new users of EHM were almost equally divided between unsentenced and sentenced cases: 54 new unsentenced and 57 new convicted offenders were monitored during those two years. During the first half of 2005, the proportions shifted dramatically, with 28 of 37 new EHM cases involving sentenced offenders. Reasons for this shift were unclear, but there was no indication in our interviews of any permanent shift in the use of EHM devices.

Consistently during that same 2003 – 2005 period (for which CGR had the most complete access to detailed program data), three courts were primary users of EHM units: the two City Courts and

^{*} Data through July 2005.

Most EHM cases have involved only three courts, with varying uses in sentenced vs. unsentenced cases. EHM is rarely used in justice courts.

There is considerable potential to expand the use of EHM, and a number of judges requested that it be recommended more frequently.

Program Impact on Jail

especially Steuben County Court. Almost 45% of all EHM cases during that time originated in County Court, with 79% of the 66 County Court cases involving sentenced offenders. In sharp contrast, 18 of 19 cases in which Hornell City Court used EHM were with unsentenced defendants. Corning City's 13 cases were split, with seven unsentenced cases.

Two-thirds of all EHM cases since 2003 have originated in those three courts. Beyond those, only 49 cases have involved the use of EHM across all 38 justice courts. Only 20 of the 38 town/village courts ever used EHM during that time, with most using it one or two times during the entire two-and-a-half years. To the extent the justice courts have used EHM, the use has been split fairly evenly between sentenced and unsentenced cases: 23 and 26, respectively.

Several of the judges we interviewed indicated that they would be open to making more frequent use of EHM, for both pretrial cases and as a sentencing option instead of jail for relatively less serious charges. Several said they assumed the units were generally all in operation, and that there were few additional opportunities to use EHM. Several specifically stated that they would like to make more frequent use of this option, and would do so if it were recommended more frequently as part of formal pre-sentence recommendations.

Clearly, given the significant extent of untapped use of existing EHM units, and the infrequent to nonexistent use by most courts of the EHM option, there is considerable potential to expand the use of this ATI option in the future.

Defendants released pretrial to the community on EHM are clear examples of cases in which jail days are saved as a direct result, consistent with assumptions discussed in the Pre-Trial Release section. For convictions in which EHM is a part of the sentence, the relationship to jail days saved is less certain. The court record rarely states whether EHM is explicitly in lieu of jail, or if it is, how long the jail sentence would have been. In some cases, an EHM sentence of 60 days, for example, is likely to be in lieu of a comparable 60-day jail sentence, but it could be in lieu of what would otherwise have been a longer jail term. For our purposes, based on discussions with Probation officials, we have

conservatively assumed that sentenced EHM days are equivalent to that same number of jail days saved. Beyond that, we are being even more conservative in assuming that the jail days saved should be further discounted by the normal one-third reduction for good time. Thus, we believe our estimates of jail savings as a result of the EHM program are strongly on the conservative side.

EHM currently reduces the jail population by an average of 14.8 inmates per day.

Based on our analysis of program data from the two most recent full years, we estimate that EHM reduces the jail population by an average of 14.9 inmates every day of the year. Our analyses suggest that savings of 7.8 days are attributable to pretrial defendants, and 7.1 to sentenced, after applying the two-thirds good time discount.

In looking to the future, given comments received from judges and other criminal justice officials, we believe it is reasonable to conclude that there is considerable potential for expanding the use of EHM both as a mechanism to make possible some additional releases of pretrial defendants and, to an even greater extent, as a sentencing alternative to incarceration. Few courts in the county have made more than token use of EHM as sentencing options, and the capacity exists within the system to make it feasible to use it much more often in lieu of short jail sentences than it has been in the past.

Averaged over 2003 and 2004, EHM units were in use only 62% of the possible days. Even building in a 10% cushion for needed downtime, units were only in operation in the past two full years 69% of the remaining available days. If the units were used up to the 90%-of-capacity level—and all indications are that there would be sufficient demand for their use to make that a realistic assumption—the jail population could be reduced by at least 7 additional inmates each day of the year, with no expansion of the current number of EHM units.

90% of current
equipment capacity
would enable a further
reduction of 7
additional inmates
from the jail each
day—at no added
equipment costs to the
County. Purchase of
additional units would
lead to even greater
cost savings.

Using EHM at even

If additional units were to be purchased, to enable continuation of the use of EHM units for Family Court plus additional units for criminal courts, we anticipate that even more savings in jail days would result—at savings that would far exceed the costs of the additional units, or any needed staffing adjustments, as discussed further in the recommendations in the next chapter.

DRUG COURTS

Although not technically considered among the County's Alternatives to Incarceration programs, Drug Courts are increasingly options for offenders in the criminal justice system at both County and City Court levels.

The County Criminal Drug Court began in late 2002 and has enrolled more than 60 offenders since then, with about 30 active clients at the time this study was underway. The two City Courts began in the past two years and cumulatively have enrolled about 20 mostly younger offenders to date. Family Court also has a separate Family Treatment Drug Court, which meets in conjunction with the County Court program. (A detailed analysis of the Family Court program was beyond the scope of this project.)

County Court

The County Drug Court is overseen by a County Judge, who conducts Drug Court once a week. A treatment team of some 20 to 25 professionals from the criminal justice system and service/treatment agencies meets each week to review potential new admissions and discuss progress of existing cases. All three County judges are typically involved in these meetings, although primary responsibility for the meeting and the follow-up court appearances resides with the County's senior judge. The same treatment team also reviews Family Drug Court cases at the weekly meeting.

The Drug Court program is administered on a day-to-day basis by the Drug Court Coordinator under the State's Unified Court System as part of the Chief Clerk's staff of the Steuben Supreme and County Courts. As such, her position is entirely State-funded. Supervision of offenders in the program is provided by a full-time Senior Probation Officer, who is funded both by the County and primarily with State Alcohol and Substance Abuse Intervention Program (ASAIP) funds.

Drug Court is designed as an intensive 14-month program in three gradually de-escalating phases of intensity. Components of the program include, among others, reporting to Drug Court on a regular basis as required, participation in recommended

alcohol/drug treatment programs, frequent reporting to the Senior Probation Officer assigned to the program, random unannounced home visits and drug and alcohol screening tests, and involvement with various life skills, health, employment or education programs as directed. Following an admission of guilt, defendants must agree to sign a contract agreeing that failure to meet the program requirements will result in a return of the case to the regular criminal court docket for sentencing.

Target Population

The County Drug Court is targeted primarily at non-violent repeat felony offenders who have been in and out of alcohol and substance abuse treatment unsuccessfully over the years, and for whom Drug Court is viewed as a last chance. Those who fail to meet the program's requirements and are officially terminated from the program are sentenced to prison. Even those successfully discharged from Drug Court still face additional time on probation.

At the time of the study, there were 31 active cases (25 male and 6 female), with seven more about to enter. Two-thirds were over the age of 30, and six were 21 or younger. Over the life of the program, between 20 and 40 offenders have been active at any one time. Program proponents would like it to grow to 60 to 75 active cases.

The total number of cases opened during the life of Drug Court to date is 61, including the 31 active cases. Since the Court opened, 60 offenders have been determined ineligible for the program, and another four declined when given the opportunity to participate.

Although the program is designed to address alcohol and substance abuse problems, those admitted to Drug Court need not be facing drug/alcohol-related charges. Of the 31 currently active at the time of the study, 17 were facing DWI charges, and the others had been arrested on a variety of other offenses; 14 were also facing violation of probation charges.

Program Impact

In addition to the 31 active case, another 30 have completed Drug Court to date. Of those, 20 have successfully graduated and 10 failed to meet program requirements and were sentenced to prison.

Of those who have completed Drug Court to date, 20 have successfully graduated and 10 failed and were sent to prison. The program is an alternative to prison, not the local jail.

The equivalent of 3.75
jail beds per day was
used by inmates
waiting for evaluations
and admission to
treatment programs
before entering Drug
court.

It takes an average of 32 days from request for a substance abuse assessment to its completion for potential Drug Court applicants. Because the alternative sentence for Drug Court participants is viewed as prison, since most are second felons, the program does not have significant immediate impact on reducing the County jail population, other than perhaps helping to prevent recidivism and subsequent admissions to the jail. In fact, it is not unusual for those in the program to receive sanctions while in the program, some of which involve short jail time "to get their attention."

The most significant impact the program could have in the future on the jail population would occur if it were able to shorten the time between referral to the program and the completion of an alcohol/substance abuse evaluation and subsequent admission to treatment. Of the 31 active program participants, 17 had been in the local jail at the time of referral to Drug Court. From the time of initial referral to actual admission into a treatment program, the 17 offenders waited in jail a total of 1,373 days before being released to Drug Court and treatment—an average of more than 80 days each, and the equivalent of 3.75 beds every day of the year.

The first 20 of those 80 waiting days, on average, were spent from the time of referral until the program was ready to make a formal request for an evaluation/assessment. The longest component part of the delay, an average of 32 days, occurred from the time an evaluation was requested and its completion. It took an additional 13 days after completion of the evaluation for Drug Court to review the findings and agree to admit the person into the program, and 16 more days for the offender to be officially admitted to the appropriate treatment program. Some were admitted within a matter of days, but six of the 17 took longer than two weeks to be admitted, including three who had to wait more than a month.

Most of the delays are a function of inadequate staffing within the County's Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Services office under the Office of Community Services. Most of the referrals, and many of the treatment services, are provided by that office, and staffing shortages have limited the ability of the office to expedite requests for evaluations and direct services. Gaps in CASAC staff (Certified Alcohol/Substance Abuse Counselors) lead to lengthy waits in jail for potential Drug Court candidates.

Expanded CASAC staff should shorten waiting times for evaluations and service access, and reduce jail inmates by an average of 1.6 persons per day.

A CASAC is currently working with the Family Drug Court and the treatment teams of both Drug Courts, but is not allowed to conduct evaluations for the Criminal Court.

Most estimates from people knowledgeable about the criminal justice and treatment systems were: (1) the 32-day wait for evaluations to be completed should, with proper staffing, be able to be shortened to one week, and (2) access to services should also be able to be shortened, from just over two weeks to no more than a week in most cases. Those reductions would have the combined effect of cutting the equivalent of 578 jail days over a year's time—about 1.6 beds per day. In addition, expansion of CASAC staff should make it possible to accept expanded numbers of referrals to Drug Court. We understand that such referrals are not now being made, in part because of the backlog in accessing evaluations and treatment.

One other alternative to adding CASACs within the County Substance Abuse office would be to be able to make use of the CASAC who is the Coordinator of the Family Drug Court program. He is certified to do the same types of evaluations required by County Drug Court, and in fact is a member of the treatment team that meets weekly to review cases in both courts, but he cannot do any evaluations connected with the Criminal Court. Apparently officials are concerned that by serving both courts, terms of the Family Court grant could be jeopardized. Meanwhile, defendants spend time in the jail that could be avoided.

As noted, proponents of Drug Court advocate for active caseloads of up to 60 or even 75, which would mean virtually doubling the current number of active cases. This could only become a realistic possibility if CASAC staff were expanded and service access could be expedited to the shorter timelines suggested above, and if Probation staff were expanded to enable a larger caseload to be supervised. Only if this combination of events were to occur would it be feasible for Drug Court to expand, and for the program to have a greater impact than the modest impact it now has on the jail population.

City Courts

Hornell and Corning City Courts both have recently started new Drug Courts. Each is overseen by the judge in each Court. Supervision, rather than being provided by Probation staff as in County Drug Court, is provided by local police officers. Both Courts are administered by a full-time Coordinator in the Unfied Court System's Chief Clerk's office; thus the position is Statefunded.

Target Population

The primary population of the two City Drug Courts is younger defendants with shorter crime histories or treatment experiences than is true for County Drug Court. Defendants facing non-violent misdemeanor charges are eligible for consideration for admission. Many participants to date are in the 16-25 age range, and often this is their first offense. The focus of the programs is primarily on early intervention. If the intervention can prevent subsequent criminal behavior and substance abuse problems, that is obviously in the public interest. On the other hand, some expressed concern that it may be difficult to motivate younger offenders who have not yet had sufficient experience with the system and its consequences for a program of this type to have much impact.

To date, the two programs together have enrolled about 20 offenders. Thus far the programs are limited to residents of their respective cities. The hope is to expand each program to surrounding towns and villages, with each court becoming a "hub court" for their surrounding communities, thereby making more defendants potentially eligible.

Program Impact

It is too soon in the life of both City Court programs to be able to assess their respective impacts. To date there have been a handful of both successful graduates and unsuccessful terminations. To the extent the programs are able to expand, they may ultimately have more impact on the County jail than does the County Drug Court, since alternative sentences for the City Court programs are likely, in many cases, to involve local jail rather than prison sentences. On the other hand, there may be limits on both programs due to staff restriction on the degree of case supervision, as limited Probation resources have thus far prevented any Probation supervision role for either City Court program.

8. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Steuben County has many strong distinguishing components that characterize its criminal justice system. It has a strong array of Alternatives to Incarceration programs that compare favorably with similar counties around the state. A number of innovative criminal justice practices are in place or under consideration. The County is blessed with dedicated strong and committed leadership throughout the various components of the system. And—perhaps most important for the future of the County—the leadership of the County, its criminal justice system and its alternative programs have expressed a willingness to consider new directions and changes in current practices where it makes sense to do so—and indeed have made a number of suggestions for ways of strengthening the existing system.

Most of the recommendations that follow in this chapter have been at least suggested or alluded to in the earlier discussions. Most important for their credibility and potential for implementation is the fact that most of them were suggested in one form or another in our discussions over the past several months with knowledgeable stakeholders in the County. CGR has been impressed with the insights, suggestions and openness to considering improvements that we have heard in virtually all of the discussions we have had throughout the course of the project. Thus CGR's job in pulling together these recommendations has been less to create new ideas than to listen, reflect and attempt to organize and give voice to what we have heard from community, criminal justice system and program leadership.

The overall conclusion is that what follows builds on significant existing strengths. The challenge is how to take programs and practices that are generally already working at a reasonable level and determine how to modify them where necessary, and add new practices and approaches where appropriate, to create an even stronger, more cost-effective system for the future. Our recommendations follow:

Jail Inmate Reduction Strategies

* The County should hire a Jail Inmate Reduction Coordinator who is held accountable for working with various aspects of the system to ensure that all appropriate strategies are in place to limit jail inmates only to those who should legitimately be incarcerated to ensure court appearances and consistent with community safety concerns.

This Coordinator should be created as a new County position which should in a very short period of time yield a multiple return on the investment in the position's costs by reducing jail costs and/or increasing jail revenues in amounts that far exceed costs of salary and benefits of the position. Even though the Coordinator would spend considerable time in the jail, the position should not be on the jail staff. Given the nature of the proposed tasks, we suggest that for day-to-day supervision, the position report directly to the Probation Director, and also make regular reports to the County Administrator and Legislative Public Safety and Corrections Committee. The Coordinator would interface regularly with all components of the criminal justice system.

Specific responsibilities of the Coordinator would include such functions as:

- ◆ Serve as the dedicated person to conduct all PSIs requested for any unsentenced inmate of the jail, with the goal of ensuring that PSI reports are completed and returned to the courts within no more than 20 calendar days for every unsentenced inmate. By expediting PSIs for every jail inmate, the jail population will begin to be reduced by several inmates a day, within two months after the position is created (see below).
- ◆ Create, circulate and follow-up on a weekly list of all unsentenced jail inmates, detailing their circumstances, including criminal charge, prior record, bail amount, detainers, status of court proceedings, etc. This list, updated weekly, should be used by the Coordinator as a flag to identify inmates where there may be conditions conducive to developing a release strategy, which the Coordinator would help to facilitate where appropriate through initiating discussions with key people to determine if agreement can be reached that would be acceptable to all relevant parties.

- Follow-up with town/village justices in between court appearances to ensure that they have the information they need, and urge them when appropriate to make release decisions in between scheduled court appearances.
- ◆ Supplement the efforts of the Pre-Trial Release Probation Assistant by making selected strategic appearances in courts to present PTR release recommendations in person, including timely criminal history information. As needed, the Coordinator might also help with follow-up verification of PTR information when defendants are not released within the first few days.
- Monitor the progress of jail reduction strategies, and document the impact various approaches are having in reducing the number of unsentenced inmates in jail, including documentation of the cost and revenue implications of the implemented changes.
- * The County should implement changes (detailed later in this chapter) in ATI programs and system practices that should lead, once fully implemented, to the following reductions in the jail inmate population. The new Coordinator would be responsible for overseeing the process and monitoring the responsible programs and relevant data to ensure that the following goals are met:
 - Pre-Trial Release: 1 to 2 fewer inmates per day.
 - Release of low-bail, low-risk unsentenced inmates with no detainers: 5 to 8 fewer inmates per day. (Based on reducing the number of 7 to 10 such inmates currently in jail, on average, per day. Target would be to have no more than two such inmates per day.)
 - Expanded use of Electronic Home Monitoring: 7+ fewer inmates per day, without adding any new EHM units.
 Additional reductions would be possible if new units are added by the County in the future.
 - ◆ Targeting of unsentenced jail inmates needing PSIs, with goal of no more than 20 days for PSI completion: 11+ fewer inmates per day.
 - Intensive Supervision Program targeted expansion: 3 fewer inmates per day.

- Community Service Sentencing: 1 to 2 fewer inmates per day.
- Drug Court expansion and expedited assessments and entry to treatment: 2 to 3 fewer inmates per day.

The cumulative effect of the recommended changes should become fully apparent within a year of implementation of new and modified practices, with partial effects beginning to be apparent within months. The overall impact of the recommended changes would be between 30 and 36 fewer inmates in jail every day, compared with pre-change totals, once fully implemented. CGR believes even this range may be conservative, as some further increases also appear feasible. But it is also possible that there could be some overlap in the categories outlined above, though we believe our analyses have factored out most if not all of such potential overlaps. But to be cautious, we will go with the lower end of our range, and estimate that on average, there would be at least 30 fewer inmates (in the jail and boarded out) every night of the year.

Recommended changes should reduce the average daily County jail census by at least 30 inmates per day, or 10,950 jail days a year, for reduced cost to taxpayers of about \$876,000 per year.

The cumulative effect of such reductions would be about 10,950 fewer inmate days over the course of a year than currently exist. Converted to reductions in boarding-out costs and/or increases in potential boarding-in revenues, when fully in place this would translate to about \$876,000 in reduced jail-related costs to County taxpayers (based on assumptions of \$80 a day of costs or revenues per inmate day, whether paid out to other counties or paid to Steuben by other counties or the federal government). Even these financial implications may be conservative, as they do not factor in medical and transportation costs and potential revenues, and they are based on assumptions of \$80 per diem costs and revenues. Those per diems may be conservative.

- * The jail reduction strategies should reduce the inmate population in both the current and expanded jails. They will also have the additional effect of making it possible to do one of two things with the expanded facility:
 - (1) eliminate the need to open the second wing of the jail, with operational cost avoidance of more than \$200,000 a year, or
 - ◆ (2) enable the potential to turn the second wing into a purely income generator. If, in addition to savings or revenue enhancements noted above, 20 additional inmates

were boarded-in each night in the second wing, at \$80 per night, this would generate about \$584,000 annually, against anticipated staffing and related costs of an estimated \$200,000 to \$250,000 per year. This would therefore generate estimated additional surplus revenues for the County of between about \$334,000 and \$384,000 a year. Those numbers could increase if the decision were to board in more than 20 per night, with no expected increases in staffing costs, according to jail officials.

* Efforts should be implemented to more effectively educate attorneys, judges and justices concerning the status of programs and practices within the criminal justice system, and their implications for courts at all levels.

Judges and justices at all court levels indicated that they were often not aware of options available to them, and the extent to which there were openings in various ATI programs. The findings from this report should be the basis for forums involving key people from all components of the criminal justice system concerning what is currently available, what changes may be forthcoming, and how they could impact on judicial proceedings and decision-making at all levels across system components. Updates should be provided on an ongoing basis of the status of programs and practices.

❖ Each agency, program practitioner and judge/justice affected by this report should carefully review it for insights about current practices and how those practices might be changed to expedite court processing and jail reduction strategies, where appropriate.

For example, there are wide variations across courts and judges/justices in such matters as pretrial release strategies, setting bail, sentencing patterns, use of ATI programs, case processing, etc. These differences are not necessarily indicative of "right or wrong" approaches, but simply indicate in many cases reasonable individual differences among officers of the court who by definition have considerable discretion in how they make decisions. Nonetheless, the data and observations included in the report may offer insights that individual judges, program practitioners, attorneys and agency heads might find helpful in

considering possible changes in the future that could be of benefit to the entire criminal justice system.

District Attorney and Public Defender Recommendations

The District Attorney and Public Defender should meet to discuss ways they can promulgate policies and practices throughout their offices and the overall criminal justice system that are consistent with their competing roles yet responsive to needs to expedite cases more efficiently through the system at all levels.

With staffing and leadership beginning to stabilize within the Public Defender's office for the fist time perhaps in the County's history, the timing is right for such "summit" discussions that could help shape how business is conducted by attorneys in both offices at all court levels in the future. Court proceedings and jail population makeup could be significantly affected by such discussions.

* Both the DA and PD should develop, and make more extensive use of, expanded internal training/orientation manuals and techniques, as well as internal evaluation procedures, as means of ensuring consistent approaches that meet high standards of performance.

With the overloads faced by attorneys in both offices, it is understandably difficult to make time to provide training/ orientation updates for veteran staff, or even for new attorneys, but several observers, including some in the DA and PD offices, acknowledged the need for and value of insisting on such approaches being more routinely in place and implemented. Also, both agencies should put in place more comprehensive personnel performance evaluation systems, including "customer satisfaction" scale regarding responsiveness, that enables the agency heads to monitor and assess the performance of each attorney, as viewed by those with whom they come in contact throughout the system (excluding defendants).

* Both offices should place particular emphasis on attempting to move cases as expeditiously as possible from lower courts to County Court, and to build in procedures, along with the proposed Jail Reduction Coordinator, to monitor cases routinely to make sure that they are not lagging, with defendants sitting in jail, for lack of attention.

Many cases take months to move from the lower court to County Court levels, and others languish for long periods of time as misdemeanor charges in the lower courts. Early discussions between ADAs and APDs assigned to particular cases are likely to be helpful in ensuring that cases are receiving appropriate attention initially, as well as on an ongoing basis.

Both offices should consider establishment of better internal management systems such as computerized procedures for tracking status and progress of cases through the system.

Both agencies appear to have rather antiquated systems in place for tracking progress of cases and where they are in the system at any given time. There is little or no ability to compare cases in the aggregate to determine if there are patterns related to particular types of cases, particular attorneys, particular courts or judges, that might prove helpful to know for taking corrective actions in the future.

The County should at least consider for both offices whether a higher ratio of full-time to part-time attorneys would result in better communications and more effective processing of cases throughout the criminal justice system.

With part-time attorneys already receiving full benefits in both offices, the additional costs to hire more full-time attorneys may not be that substantial. This is not an issue we studied closely, but it was raised by a number of knowledgeable people during our interviews. Some believe that it would be cost effective in providing more consistent prosecution and defense representation across the county, while others feel the current system enables the County to receive high quality work, at reasonable cost, and that the system should not be changed. It is worth at least a discussion by the County Administrator, the DA and PD, and the Public Safety and Corrections Committee.

* The County should continue to support and build on its decision to transfer as many cases as possible from Assigned Counsel representation to paid Public Defender staff.

Initial data from the PD's office, and observations obtained during our interviews, suggest that the transition is working well in terms of helping make possible some of the better working relationships between DA and PD noted above, while at the same time saving the County money, compared to what it would be spending had no changes been implemented. The County should continue to move in the direction of transferring as many cases as possible away from the more costly Assigned Counsel system, not only for cost-saving reasons, but also to make consistent defense representation more possible, and to hold defense attorneys more accountable for their performance.

To that end, CGR recommends that the County give serious consideration to the establishment of a Conflicts Office as a parallel to the Public Defender's office. Such an office would take over more of the cases that Assigned Counsel continue to be assigned because of conflicts with the PD office. Preliminary discussions with the PD, and a very preliminary outline of a proposal to create such an office, suggest that it can be cost effective and further reduce over time the costs of providing indigent representation, while at the same time improving the quality of the representation provided.

More work is needed to flesh out the preliminary proposal, but the concept is promising, and deserves further attention. Key issues to be addressed include: determination of realistic estimates of the proportion of remaining Assigned Counsel cases that a Conflicts Office would be able to assume, with what levels of staffing and costs; how much savings can realistically be expected; and whether the County is likely to be able to recruit sufficient high quality attorneys at reasonable costs. Initial cost estimates look promising, but more background information and underlying assumptions are needed before the idea should be endorsed. Discussions with the head of a recently-created similar office in Chemung County should prove helpful in sorting out the issues.

Court Improvement Recommendations

County Court judges should consider how they can develop, and commit to implementing, a unified court schedule and calendar that would reduce conflicts, expedite cases, and reduce the wasted time of judges and attorneys that characterizes the current system.

Every year a comprehensive multi-court schedule (County, Surrogate and Family) has been developed, but it has never been followed by all judges. Hardly anyone seems happy with the current system, yet no serious efforts are underway to put a

permanent, more efficient system in place. Perhaps the County Judges can agree to appoint one of them to work with the Chief Court Clerk's office to design a schedule for their consideration, which also builds in a centralized system or point of entry for scheduling court appearances and SCI conferences, so that each judge's office does not have the responsibility for focusing only on their slice of the schedule, in many cases to the detriment of the overall system.

With leadership from the judges, and delegation of the details for making it work to the Chief Court Clerk's office—and building in accountability for ensuring that it works—it should prove feasible to develop a more workable system. Other counties have done so. Such an improved system should go a long ways toward expediting the timely resolution of cases, reducing the proportion of cases over State Standards and Goals, rationalizing the SCI conference process and scheduling, and reducing inefficient use of time of judges, attorneys and jail officials trying under the current system to balance everyone's needs against multiple courts operating simultaneously.

Consideration should be given to setting up a tracking mechanism linked to the local courts and DA and PD offices that would identify lower court cases when they are arraigned and/or come to the DA's attention, followed up by assignment of cases to specific County judges who would call together the attorneys for each case after a specified period (e.g., one or two months), if no previous Grand Jury or SCI actions had occurred by then, to get a sense of the status of the case and what is needed to move it forward.

Now cases languish in the lower courts with no central oversight of their status, leading to the long delays discussed in the report. Having an ability to bring these cases before the upper court level for a review at a specified time should bring added accountability to the system, force attorneys to provide attention to a case in a timely manner, help ensure that cases don't languish simply because they are in a lower court that rarely meets, and help ensure that if there are problems with the case, or a long period of detention that may not be necessary, there is a way of identifying them and discussing actions that may help resolve any problems.

❖ It is recommended that a pilot project be established under one judge in County Court to test whether total time for SCI conferences and Pre-Sentence Investigations can be reduced. The pilot would call for Probation staff on a trial basis to provide input at SCI plea discussions.

At this point, there are both strong proponents and opponents of the idea of having Probation staff in conference with judge and attorneys as pleas get hammered out. Probation officials tend to be reluctant to be present, because of the resources involved and the concern that they will not have sufficient information at the time without detailed review of the records, as would be part of a more routine PSI process. Some judges, on the other hand, believe that any information a Probation official could make available from the files in early plea discussions, as well as any information about availability of various ATI options, could help ensure that there would be better agreement between plea deals and what might ultimately be recommended by the PSI. Furthermore, it is possible that in some cases, these early discussions might preclude the need for a more thorough written PSI.

We suggest a test and evaluation of this approach, assessing the strengths and limitations of the process, with no final commitments made to the idea until a fair test has been implemented. We suggest a pilot test period of three to six months. To ensure that the best information and broadest perspective be presented by Probation staff, it may make sense to have a Supervisor be the lead Probation person at such sessions.

Pre-Sentence Investigation Process

As noted earlier, the proposed Jail Inmate Reduction Coordinator should be charged, among other things, with completing within 20 calendar days PSIs requested by a judge for anyone in jail awaiting sentencing. The Coordinator in doing the targeted PSIs should carefully consider recommending, where appropriate, possible sentencing ATIs for judicial consideration. Based on the analyses presented earlier in the report, we conservatively estimate that simply expediting these PSIs for the unsentenced inmate population should result in at least 11 fewer inmates per day in the jail.

With the Coordinator focusing attention on the detained cases, and not just having them as part of a larger PSI caseload, cases should be processed more rapidly. Furthermore, we anticipate that a focused attention on these cases will also help ensure that deliberate attention gets paid to ATI options that might be realistic alternatives to a jail or prison sentence. With the expedited PSI process and added attention to ATI options, it is possible that even more than the estimated reduction of 11 jail inmates per day could result.

❖ Judges should be encouraged to use PSIs only when absolutely required, and only when they have legitimate needs for more information before pronouncing sentences. Some judges have indicated they are already trying to scale back their requests for PSIs, and some have suggested requesting use of a more-limited Conditions of Probation form where less information is needed for a case.

Some have suggested that it should be possible to cut back on the number of full-scale completed PSIs by as many as a third over the next year or so. That may be ambitious, but it may be that reductions could be implemented of sufficient scale so that within a year or so, it may be possible to reallocate the time of one of the two current Probation Officers devoted exclusively to doing PSIs, based on anticipated reductions in requested full PSIs, and the dedicated jail-related PSI work of the Coordinator.

At the same time as there is a desire to reduce the number of PSIs requested, there is an equal desire expressed by many judges to have more PSI recommendations encouraging the use of ATI options. The two need not be incompatible, as long as judges focus their requests for PSIs on any cases in which ATIs may be viable options that they are willing to seriously consider. This may mean retaining a greater openness to reshaping the plea deal if ATI recommendations are made that were not contemplated in the original plea discussions. However, a more aggressive request for appropriate ATI options may be worth the wait.

If earlier plea conferences occur, as suggested above, the careful processing of ATI options, even after the initial plea discussions, need not result in longer overall court time to close cases than is currently true. The pilot test recommended above could also shed valuable light on how some of these issues may need to be resolved.

❖ Data on PSIs should be tracked and analyzed more carefully in the future to determine their outcomes, the extent to which they are or are not used by specific judges, the extent to which PSI recommendations are or are not consistent with ultimate sentencing decisions, etc.

District Court Recommendations

Town supervisors, village mayor and town/village justices in nearby jurisdictions should consider pooling resources to establish pilot projects whereby voluntary "mini-district" courts or shared service projects are set up to determine if it might be possible to establish better use of resources between neighboring courts.

Short of being able to establish a full-fledged district or regional court, which is politically unlikely, the idea of pooling resources seems worth testing, potentially enabling justices to be on call to cover for more than one court, to enable rotating justices to deal with issues that arise between regular court appearances, and other similar ways of pooling resources. This may be an idea worth discussing in more detail at a Magistrates Association meeting to see which courts might be interested.

Recommended ATI Staffing Changes

- In order to achieve the jail-inmate-reduction targets outlined at the beginning of this chapter, we suggest the following new positions and reallocation of existing positions:
 - Creation of new Jail Inmate Reduction Coordinator (as previously noted).
 - ◆ Shifting the current Senior Probation Officer position now responsible for both Electronic Home Monitoring and Community Service to full-time EHM supervision. We recommend expanded use of this program, and it will need full-time attention.
 - ◆ As a potential way of helping to expand Drug Court, an optional EHM staffing model could split the full-time oversight position into a half-time Senior Probation Officer and half-time Probation Assistant to handle the clerical aspects of the position. The remaining half of the

- Senior PO's position could then be freed up for use in expanding Drug Court supervision, as discussed further later in the chapter.
- ◆ Creation of one new Senior Probation Officer position split between Intensive Supervision and Community Service. This would mean that, including the current Senior PO in charge of ISP, there would be 1.5 positions devoted to that program in the future, and 0.5 Full-Time Equivalent person assigned to Community Service. Community Service needs more attention than it has been receiving as a 0.2 FTE position, and we believe the equivalent of a half-time position, combined with expansion of the ISP program, will enable more field time for supervision for both programs. Neither program will be a major contributor to reduction of the jail population, but we believe, as noted above, that together they can add a combined 4 to 5 fewer inmates per day to current totals, with these staffing shifts in place.
- Shifting of ATI oversight responsibilities: We recommend that a full-time ATI Coordinator be designated, and that all ATI programs report to that position. Currently, ATI programs and the Drug Court supervisor report to three different Probation Supervisors. There have been sound reasons in the past for such a structure. However, we believe that opportunities for efficiencies and program enhancement are missed as a result. Strong oversight is now provided by the Supervisors, but we believe that a single person responsible for overall leadership and strengthening of these programs makes more sense for the could be accomplished by shifting future. **This** responsibilities across the three affected Supervisor positions, with no increase in number of positions.
- Having a single ATI Coordinator should help link information between programs, enable better monitoring of all ATIs regarding various outcomes, staffing efficiencies, analysis of what works for different types of offenders, needed changes, etc.

Other Recommendations Specific to ATI Programs

To accomplish inmate-reduction strategies and other systems improvements, made possible in part by staffing changes just suggested, other changes are also recommended for each of the current ATI programs:

Pre-Trial Release

❖ Probation officials, the District Attorney, Public Defender and representative judges from all court levels should sit down and determine what changes are needed in the current Pre-Trial Release screening form. Clearly a number of concerns have been raised about it, and it appears to be causing some judges not to release defendants who they indicate would have been released in the past. Thus a careful review, which respects the needs of all components of the system, should be implemented as quickly as possible. Any change should incorporate a way to get more information communicated to judges in a timely fashion concerning the prior conviction history of the defendant.

Such a review is needed to help reverse the recent downward trend in the numbers of PTR recommendations leading to release decisions by judges. Some aspects of the new form seem to have met with favor, but others have generated considerable concerns. The issues do not seem unresolvable, however, and should be able to be corrected, with the development of a hybrid form, if interested parties can come together to share their ideas.

- ❖ Once a new form is agreed to, an evaluation process should be put in place to track the outcomes and decisions made with the form, perhaps contrasting it with the current form, to validate its accuracy in predicting outcomes. To this point, neither the new nor the older form has ever been formally validated in Steuben County to determine what factors and scores actually are directly correlated with successful appearance throughout court proceedings. PTR releases should also be compared with releases through other mechanisms to determine comparative outcomes for each.
- More direct PTR follow-up should occur with judges in the future. This should include follow-up contact in between scheduled court appearances, especially with justice courts, to ensure that information on screening information has

been received, and to suggest that actions be taken on that information. It should also include direct PTR appearances in selected court settings to "put a face on PTR" and to provide opportunities to explain the underlying rationale behind PTR recommendations. Given the not-infrequent differences in judges' decisions and initial PTR recommendations, it would be helpful to have opportunities to discuss reasons behind those differences.

How much such interactions and follow-up activities can take place is obviously in part a resource question. As indicated in our first recommendation, we assume that the Jail Reduction Coordinator would play a key role in supplementing the efforts of the current single PTR staff member in making court appearances where appropriate.

Such follow-up efforts should, we believe, lead to the equivalent of PTR efforts being able to get at least one to two additional defendants released to the program each day throughout the year, as well as additional releases of low bail/no-detainer defendants. PTR efforts will help supplement those reduction efforts, working with the Jail Reduction Coordinator.

Community Service

As recommended above, the staffing of this program should be strengthened, with primary focus on expanding the program, adding work sites, providing strengthened supervision of participants and of the work sites, and convincing judges that it is a viable sentencing option and an effective alternative to incarceration, as long as it is effectively monitored.

Such expansion and monitoring have not been possible with the limited staff time devoted to Community Service (about 20% of one Senior PO's time). We believe by separating CS from EHM and creating a new position split between CS and ISP, with a higher proportion of time devoted to CS than in the past, that both programs will be strengthened, resulting in 1 to 2 beds saved each day through Community Service, and three through ISP in the future...

Intensive Supervision * With the recommended addition of the half-time position, combined with the Community Service half-time position,

ISP would have 1.5 positions devoted to it. We suggest that this would enable an expansion of the overall program caseload to between 40 and 45 active cases at a time. We make this recommendation only on the assumption that the majority of new offenders admitted to the program would be likely to be sentenced to jail if they were not in ISP, rather than the primary prison alternative that has been the program focus up to this point.

The alternative to prison can and should continue, in part because the State will require such a focus to continue to justify its funding for the program. However, since the recommended expansion would be primarily County funded, the benefits should accrue most directly to the County as well. Thus we anticipate reduction of an additional 3 inmates every day as a result.

- * The County should undertake a study of the types of offenders who are most likely to be successful in ISP, and make that information available to judges and the DA. The track record of success has not been high for this program geared to high-risk offenders with long histories of failing within the system, and it will be important as the program expands to provide guidance as much as possible for judges, and for those completing PSIs, on what types of offenders are most likely to be responsive to the program's intense requirements.
- * The County may wish to consider adding a component to the ISP, based on a model that seems to work well in Ontario County: a Commitment to Change component of a larger sentencing program that is designed as a behavioral therapy group focused on identifying and addressing thought processes and behaviors underlying and contributing to the offenders' criminal actions. Further information on that program could be obtained from the Ontario County ATI Coordinator.

Electronic Home Monitoring * This is the ATI program that seems to have the biggest upside potential in terms of building on an already-significant impact on the jail population, and the ability to expand that impact on both pretrial and sentenced offenders. The key to this recommendation is to operate the program to much fuller capacity than has been the case in the past. In

- effect, we believe the goal should be to operate year-round at 90% capacity, rather than closer to two-thirds of capacity in recent years, and as low as 52% last year.
- * To make this work, the program coordinator position needs to become full-time. We have suggested above two possible ways to make that happen: (1) shift the current shared EHM/CS position to a full-time Senior PO position devoted full-time to EHM, or (2) making the current coordinator a half-time position, balanced by half time with other responsibilities (such as Drug Court supervision, as discussed below), supplemented with a half-time Probation Assistant position to handle the heavily clerical support activities of the program.

Only some of the tasks of this program require a high-level Probation staff person. Thus the possibility of splitting the position has some appeal, enabling the Senior PO to do the tasks that require a peace officer to perform, and/or that need a high level person to make house visits, while leaving the other more clerical tasks to a Probation Assistant. Either staffing model could work.

* The County should consider expanding the program further by leasing additional EHM equipment. We estimate that just making fuller utilization of existing units would reduce the jail population by at least 7 additional inmates per day. But judges suggest that they would be willing to make even greater use of the option if it were recommended more often by the PSI process, and if more hardware were available. Even with the added costs associated with leasing additional equipment, we believe the County would quickly recoup the added costs in additional jail reduction savings.

Different potential options for program expansion (shared with CGR on a preliminary basis by Probation officials) suggest added annual costs to the County of from more than \$22,000 a year for 10 units of a Global Positioning System to more than \$31,000 for 22 units of more traditional units. Either way, even if the most expensive leasing arrangement were to result in as few as two additional beds saved every day—and those are very conservative estimates for even just the 10-unit option—those two fewer inmates per day would result in direct boarding-out savings (or

boarding-in revenues) to the County of at least \$58,400—well above the added equipment costs. More to the point, it is far more realistic that the savings in reduced inmates would be several times that figure, as we would anticipate much higher saved jail day totals. If seven additional beds were saved per day, the annual savings would represent more than \$200,000. Thus even if the expansion resulted in the need for an additional monitoring staff position (e.g., an additional half-time Probation Assistant), the increased jail savings would more than cover the added costs.

Drug Court

- * The County should hire at least one additional Certified Alcohol and Substance Abuse Counselor (CASAC) who could be used, either directly or by freeing up existing staff, to conduct drug/alcohol assessments for Drug Court applicants. Expedited assessments should make possible earlier release of more defendants from jail once admitted to the program.
- * We would not recommend hiring an additional full-time Probation officer to enable expansion of the Drug Court program, since most of the direct benefits in terms of dollar savings from the program accrue to the State, through prison inmate reduction. However, some jail savings would be likely if the Probation supervision staff were to increase by a half-time person, which would make it possible, along with more rapid assessment and treatment access, to expand the program's caseload to perhaps 50 or 55 at one time. Such a staffing option might present itself if the EHM split staff option suggested above were to prove feasible. The Senior officer position could lend itself to a split between Drug Court and EHM supervision.

Such an expansion of supervision capacity, in conjunction with expedited assessment and access to treatment, could, we believe, result in 2 or 3 fewer jail inmates per day as a result of additional Drug Court participants.

A third staffing option would be to find a way, rather than hiring a new CASAC by the County, to use the existing CASAC assigned to Family Court Drug Court to do the assessments for Criminal Drug Court as well. This might be the most efficient option, given his familiarity with the

- system already, but it is not clear that any of his time can be shared with the Criminal Court program.
- * Although there are sound reasons for having all three County judges involved in Drug Court (both Criminal and Family Court), it may not be essential to have all three routinely in attendance at each weekly treatment team meeting. Consideration should at least be given to whether freeing up that half day a week in two judges' schedules might make other court efficiencies possible, given that the judge in charge of Drug Court seems to have it well under control.

Other Potential Alternatives to Consider

- * The County may wish to consider establishing a pretrial diversion program for young offenders in their teens and early 20s. This would represent a targeted intervention with young offenders developing an early record of criminal behavior, for whom a relatively early intervention could turn lives around and help prevent future criminal activity. Such a program would focus on issues underlying the young offender's criminal behavior patterns. Wayne County has successfully implemented a similar program, as have Monroe and other jurisdictions around the country.
- Several of those we interviewed suggested the need for special alternatives programming for those involved with domestic violence and the need for increased anger management programs—in many cases, the two may overlap. CGR cannot independently verify the need for either of these programs, but we suggest that consideration be given to either or both, based on the frequency with which they were suggested during the study.

Overall Coordination of Strategic Implementation Plan A number of recommendations have been made that cut across all components of the Steuben County criminal justice system. Some individual or group is likely to be needed to oversee the process of reviewing the recommendations, determining the County's highest priorities, and establishing and monitoring implementation of a resulting strategic action plan. We recommend that the County consider hiring a full-time Criminal Justice Coordinator to oversee the recommendations, and to work with the components of the system to ensure that they follow through and commit to the strategic changes designed to strengthen the system. We

recommend that the Coordinator report directly to the County Administrator.

It is likely that such a position need not be a long-term appointment, and indeed probably should not be. But we believe the implementation of the changes suggested in this report, and the establishment of strategic directions and implementation plans, will need full-time leadership and direction that cannot be provided by anyone with existing responsibilities within the existing system. In addition, we recommend that the current ATI Board be strengthened and take on a stronger leadership role to help ensure that changes occur where appropriate.